T CELL ALTERATIONS IN ADIPOSE TISSUE DURING OBESITY, HIV AND CANCER

EDITED BY: Dorothy Ellen Lewis, Joanne Lysaght and Huaizhu Wu PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2019 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use. ISSN 1664-8714

ISBN 978-2-88963-040-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-040-0

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

T CELL ALTERATIONS IN ADIPOSE TISSUE DURING OBESITY, HIV AND CANCER

Topic Editors:

Dorothy Ellen Lewis, University of Texas Houston, United States **Joanne Lysaght,** Trinity College Dublin, Ireland **Huaizhu Wu,** Baylor College of Medicine Houston, United States

Citation: Lewis, D. E., Lysaght, J., Wu, H., eds. (2019). T Cell Alterations in Adipose Tissue During Obesity, HIV and Cancer. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-040-0

Table of Contents

04 Editorial: T Cell Alterations in Adipose Tissue During Obesity, HIV, and Cancer

Dorothy E. Lewis, Joanne Lysaght and Huaizhu Wu

- 07 The Frequencies of Immunosuppressive Cells in Adipose Tissue Differ in Human, Non-human Primate, and Mouse Models
 Ariane Laparra, Sabine Tricot, Mélanie Le Van, Abderaouf Damouche, Jennifer Gorwood, Bruno Vaslin, Benoit Favier, Stéphane Benoist, Raphael Ho Tsong Fang, Nathalie Bosquet, Roger Le Grand, Catherine Chapon, Olivier Lambotte and Christine Bourgeois
- 21 T Cells in Adipose Tissue in Aging Antu Kalathookunnel Antony, Zeqin Lian and Huaizhu Wu
- 32 Adipose Tissue T Cells in HIV/SIV Infection Celestine N. Wanjalla, Wyatt J. McDonnell and John R. Koethe
- Innate Lymphocytes in Adipose Tissue Homeostasis and Their Alterations in Obesity and Colorectal Cancer
 Manuela Del Cornò, Lucia Conti and Sandra Gessani
- 53 T Cells in Adipose Tissue: Critical Players in Immunometabolism Qun Wang and Huaizhu Wu
- 63 *A Unique Population: Adipose-Resident Regulatory T Cells* Qin Zeng, Xiaoxiao Sun, Liuling Xiao, Zhiguo Xie, Maria Bettini and Tuo Deng
- 77 Regulation, Communication, and Functional Roles of Adipose
 Tissue-Resident CD4⁺ T Cells in the Control of Metabolic Homeostasis
 Haiyan Zhou and Feng Liu
- 89 Identifying a Novel Role for Fractalkine (CX3CL1) in Memory CD8⁺ T Cell Accumulation in the Omentum of Obesity-Associated Cancer Patients Melissa J. Conroy, Stephen G. Maher, Ashanty M. Melo, Suzanne L. Doyle, Emma Foley, John V. Reynolds, Aideen Long and Joanne Lysaght





Editorial: T Cell Alterations in Adipose Tissue During Obesity, HIV, and Cancer

Dorothy E. Lewis^{1*}, Joanne Lysaght² and Huaizhu Wu³

¹ McGovern Medical School, The University of Texas Health Science Center, Houston, TX, United States, ² Department of Surgery, Trinity Translational Medicine Institute St. James's Hospital, Dublin, Ireland, ³ Section of Cardiovascular Research, Department of Medicine, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States

Keywords: T cells, obesity, cancer, HIV, inflammation

Editorial on the Research Topic

T Cell Alterations in Adipose Tissue during Obesity, HIV and Cancer

This collection of articles is designed to foster understanding of the variety and function of T cells in adipose from different species in different disease states. This work originally developed from the obesity epidemic. As the obesity epidemic grew, initial work recognized that adipose was dysfunctional. Work focused on inflammatory macrophages that increase in adipose during over-nutrition to produce inflammatory cytokines (1–3), which also serve to increase the dysfunction of adipose. However, it was soon realized especially in mouse studies that T cells had an increased role, specifically that obesity was associated with an increase in Th1 and Th17 T cells that make inflammatory cytokines (4–9), which also drive adipose dysfunction (4, 10, 11). Recent studies suggest that obesity in cancer patients may be a major risk factor for acquisition Lauby-Secretan et al. (12) but a positive feature in response to certain therapies for certain tumors Wang et al. (13). Because there is widespread adipose dysfunction in HIV infected people, there was also focus on how and why adipose changed, whether it was in response to antiretroviral therapy or due to infection itself (14, 15). This collection of articles are mainly reviews which cover what is known about T cells in obesity, in cancer, and in HIV.

Two articles Wang and Wu, Zhou and Liu and examine the role of T cells in metabolism as well as the interactions with antigen presenting cells in adipose. The review by Wang integrates what we know about T cells and macrophages in adipose and how they function and differ in obesity vs. the lean state. The Liu review nicely shows what happens after over feeding as the cells and resulting molecular consequences in adipose tissue changes. There is an initial response by adipocytes in the first days, followed by induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines and recruitment of T cells and macrophages in the first 2–3 weeks, followed by reduction in Foxp3 at 12 weeks in the mouse. How this develops in humans is not clear, although constant high fat feeding takes very little time to cause major changes in appearance and lipid and liver enzymes as seen in the movie, Super Size Me released in 2004. In the movie, Morgan Spurlock ate only at McDonald's for a month. He gained 11 lbs that took him 14 months to lose.

Another article examines how and why the T cells in aging animals, which are also usually obese, might be different than those found in young obese animals Antony et al. In particular, the differences seem to lie in differences in T reg numbers or function in aging. In particular the numbers of T regs increase in aging and their function changes perhaps as a response to the prolonged lipophilic environment found in aging mice. Work on human adipose in aging remains to be done, but from mouse studies it is clear that the changes in adipose are different in aging than in mere obesity.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Remy Bosselut, National Cancer Institute (NCI), United States

Reviewed by:

Valerie Dardalhon, UMR5535 Institut de Génétique Moléculaire de Montpellier (IGMM), France

*Correspondence: Dorothy E. Lewis Dorothy.e.lewis@uth.tmc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 15 March 2019 Accepted: 10 May 2019 Published: 28 May 2019

Citation:

Lewis DE, Lysaght J and Wu H (2019) Editorial: T Cell Alterations in Adipose Tissue During Obesity, HIV, and Cancer. Front. Immunol. 10:1190. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01190

4

Two articles focus on the role of T regs in regulation of metabolism in obesity and in different species. The review by Zeng et al. covers what is known about the function of T regs in adipose in humans and mice, noting that several studies in humans associated Foxp3 expression with obesity. However, measuring T regs by flow cytometry has produced inconsistent results. There is some concern that variations might be due to fresh vs. frozen tissue observations, since T reg staining is reduced by freezing in some cases. In addition, human CD4 T cells express Foxp3 when they are activated, it is normally transient, therefore results of Foxp3 mRNA studies are confounded by that caveat. Cold also induces T regs in mouse adipose, but it is unknown if the same is true in humans. Finally, the authors present a nice summary of attempts to exploit T regs for obesity therapy. A comparison of adipose from different species (humans, mice, and cynomolgus monkeys) was done by Laparra et al. which clearly indicates that most animals except for the C57 mouse do NOT have increased Foxp3 T cells in the lean state. Adipocyte size is also markedly different between the three species. The dramatic conclusion is that mouse and human adipose tissue have markedly different immune cell compositions which should offer caution when interpreting mouse studies. More studies need to be done on young humans and on feral mouse populations to know whether environmental differences could contribute to these differences.

Two articles concern characteristics of T cells in cancer patients. One (Cornò) examines the information about innate lymphocytes in adipose and how they differ in obesity, as these cells likely act as sentinels to control tumor development Del Corno et al. Most of the work has been done in the peripheral blood and indicates that there is a decrease in many innate lymphocytes in the blood in obesity. In adipose there is some evidence for a decrease but more work is needed to directly

REFERENCES

- Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL, Ferrante AW Jr. Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J Clin Invest. (2003) 112:1796–808. doi: 10.1172/JCI 19246
- Xu H, Barnes GT, Yang Q, Tan G, Yang D, Chou CJ, et al. Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesityrelated insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest.* (2003) 112:1821–30. doi: 10.1172/JCI 19451
- Lumeng CN, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR. Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. J Clin Invest. (2007) 117:175–84. doi: 10.1172/JCI29881
- 4. Wu H, Ghosh S, Perrard XD, Feng L, Garcia GE, Perrard JL, et al. Tcell accumulation and regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted upregulation in adipose tissue in obesity. *Circulation*. (2007) 115:1029–38. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.638379
- Feuerer M, Herrero L, Cipolletta D, Naaz A, Wong J, Nayer A, et al. Lean, but not obese, fat is enriched for a unique population of regulatory T cells that affect metabolic parameters. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:930–9. doi: 10.1038/ nm.2002
- Nishimura S, Manabe I, Nagasaki M, Eto K, Yamashita H, Ohsugi M, et al. CD8+ effector T cells contribute to macrophage recruitment and adipose tissue inflammation in obesity. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:914–20. doi: 10.1038/nm.1964

link these cells to development of cancer. Another paper Conroy et al. reports novel data for the chemokine fractalkine found in omentum as well as its receptor (CX3CR1) in cancer patients and links it to memory CD8 T cell recruitment to the omentum perhaps bypassing the tumor and leading to a mechanism whereby tumor cells are allowed to go unchecked.

A single article reviews human T cells found in HIV and compares the information to the T cell changes in obesity Wanjalla et al. A key difference in HIV is that there are clonal populations of CD8T cells and those cells predominate with reduced CD4T cells. In obesity, although CD8T cells have greater increases in adipose compared to lean (6, 16) there are higher levels of polyclonal memory CD4T cells than CD8T cells (16). In addition, in HIV there are fewer Tregs, with more in obese humans. Finally a key recent observation is that CD4T cells in human adipose express more PD-1 which has implications for adipose as a reservoir for HIV.

In summary, this collection of articles provide the background to focus efforts on preventing the consequences of adipose dysfunction seen in so many disease states.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thanks to all those who submitted articles and to Pamela Love for edits. HW is supported by an National Institutes of Health grant (R01 HL098839), American Heart Association award (AHA16GRNT30410012), and American Diabetes Association award (1-17-IBS-082).

- Winer S, Chan Y, Paltser G, Truong D, Tsui H, Bahrami J, et al. Normalization of obesity-associated insulin resistance through immunotherapy. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:921–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.2001
- Bertola A, Ciucci T, Rousseau D, Bourlier V, Duffaut C, Bonnafous S, et al. Identification of adipose tissue dendritic cells correlated with obesityassociated insulin-resistance and inducing Th17 responses in mice and patients. *Diabetes*. (2012) 61:2238–47. doi: 10.2337/db11-1274
- Deng T, Lyon CJ, Minze LJ, Lin J, Zou J, Liu JZ, et al. Class II major histocompatibility complex plays an essential role in obesity-induced adipose inflammation. *Cell Metab.* (2013) 17:411–22. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013. 02.009
- Khan IM, Dai Perrard XY, Perrard JL, Mansoori A, Smith CW, Wu H, et al. Attenuated adipose tissue and skeletal muscle inflammation in obese mice with combined CD4+ and CD8+ T cell deficiency. *Atherosclerosis.* (2014) 233:419–28. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.01.011
- Khan IM, Perrard XY, Brunner G, Lui H, Sparks LM, Smith SR, et al. Intermuscular and perimuscular fat expansion in obesity correlates with skeletal muscle T cell and macrophage infiltration and insulin resistance. *Int J Obes*. (2015) 39:1607–18. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2015.104
- Lauby-Secretan B, Scoccianti C, Loomis D, Grosse Y, Bianchini F, Straif K, et al. Body fatness and cancer-viewpoint of the IARC working group. N Engl J Med. (2016) 375:794–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMsr1606602
- Caron-Debarle M, Lagathu C, Boccara F, Vigouroux C, Capeau J. HIVassociated lipodystrophy: from fat injury to premature aging. *Trends Mol Med.* (2010) 16:218–29. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2010.03.002

- Wang Z, Aguilar EG, Luna JI, Dunai C, Khuat LT, Le CT, et al. Paradoxical effects of obesity on T cell function during tumor progression and PD-1 checkpointblockade. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:141–51. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0221-5
- Couturier J, Lewis DE. HIV persistence in adipose tissue reservoirs. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. (2018) 15:60–71. doi: 10.1007/s11904-018-0378-z
- Jiang E, Perrard XD, Yang D, Khan IM, Perrard JL, Smith CW, et al. Essential role of CD11a in CD8+ T-cell accumulation and activation in adipose tissue. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2014) 34:34–43. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.302077

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Lewis, Lysaght and Wu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Frequencies of Immunosuppressive Cells in Adipose Tissue Differ in Human, Non-human Primate, and Mouse Models

Ariane Laparra¹, Sabine Tricot¹, Mélanie Le Van¹, Abderaouf Damouche¹, Jennifer Gorwood¹, Bruno Vaslin¹, Benoit Favier¹, Stéphane Benoist², Raphael Ho Tsong Fang¹, Nathalie Bosquet¹, Roger Le Grand¹, Catherine Chapon¹, Olivier Lambotte^{1,3,4} and Christine Bourgeois^{1*}

¹ CEA - Université Paris Sud 11 - INSERM U1184, Immunology of Viral Infections and Autoimmune Diseases, IDMIT Department, IBFJ, Fontenay-aux-Roses, France, ² Assistance Publique Hôpitaux de Paris, Hôpital Bicêtre, Service de Chirurgie Digestive et Oncologique, Le Kremlin-Bicêtre, France, ³ Université Paris Sud, Le Kremlin Bicêtre, France, ⁴ Assistance Publique-Hôpitaux de Paris, Service de Médecine Interne et Immunologie Clinique, Groupe Hospitalier Universitaire Paris Sud, Hôpital Bicêtre, Le Kremlin-Bicêtre, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Huaizhu Wu, Baylor College of Medicine, United States

Reviewed by:

James B. Hoying, Cardiovascular Innovation Institute (CII), United States Dorothy Ellen Lewis, University of Texas, United States

*Correspondence:

Christine Bourgeois christine.bourgeois@u-psud.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 03 August 2018 Accepted: 15 January 2019 Published: 05 February 2019

Citation:

Laparra A, Tricot S, Le Van M, Damouche A, Gorwood J, Vaslin B, Favier B, Benoist S, Ho Tsong Fang R, Bosquet N, Le Grand R, Chapon C, Lambotte O and Bourgeois C (2019) The Frequencies of Immunosuppressive Cells in Adipose Tissue Differ in Human, Non-human Primate, and Mouse Models. Front. Immunol. 10:117. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00117 Although the metabolic properties of white adipose tissue have been extensively characterized, the tissue's immune properties are now attracting renewed interest. Early experiments in a mouse model suggested that white adipose tissue contains a high density of regulatory T cells (Tregs), and so it was assumed that all adipose tissue has an immunosuppressive profile-even though the investigation was limited to visceral body fat in relatively old male mice. This observation was also corroborated by high frequencies of other cell subsets with immunoregulatory properties, such as anti-inflammatory M2 macrophages, and regulatory B cells. Many studies have since evidenced the persistence of pathogens (trypanosomes, Mycobacterium tuberculosis, HIV, etc.) in adipose tissue. However, a recent report identified adipose tissue as a reservoir of memory T cells capable of protecting animals upon rechallenge. The immune potential of lean adipose tissue thus remains to be further investigated. Here, we compared the relative proportions of immune cells (and Tregs in particular) in lean adipose tissue collected from humans, a non-human primate (the cynomolgus macaque), and three mouse models. We demonstrated that the proportion of Foxp3+ Tregs in visceral adipose tissue was low in all models other than the C57Bl/6 mouse. These low values were not linked to correspondingly low proportions of effector cells because T lymphocytes (a main target of Treg suppression) were more frequent in cynomolgus macaques than in C57BI/6 mice and (to a lesser extent) humans. In contrast, the proportions of macrophages and B cells were lower in cynomolgus macaques than in C57Bl/6 mice. We also observed a higher proportion of CD34+CD45- cells (which predominantly correspond to mesenchymal stem cells) in C57BI/6 mouse and cynomolgus macaques than in humans and both for subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissues. Lastly, a microscopy analysis confirmed predominant proportion of adipocytes within adipose tissue, and highlighted a marked

7

difference in adipocyte size among the three species studied. In conclusion, our study of lean, middle-aged, male individuals showed that the immune compartment of adipose tissue differed markedly in humans vs. mice, and suggesting the presence of a more inflammatory steady-state profile in humans than mice.

Keywords: adipose tissue, Treg-regulatory T cell, immunosuppression/immune modulation, human-animal relationships, healthy adipose tissue, age, metabolism and obesity

INTRODUCTION

Adipose tissue (AT) is composed of both adipocytes and a stromal vascular fraction (SVF) that contains a highly heterogeneous range of immune cells (1, 2). A growing body of evidence has revealed the close interplay between the immune cells and metabolic cells in AT, which appear to have synergistic roles in the development and control of obesity and in thermostasis (1–3). Adipose tissue also underpins the regenerative functions (4–6) performed by mesenchymal stromal cells [also referred to as adipose stromal cells (ASCs)] and hematopoietic stem cells. Hence, it is now clear that AT has multiple immune and regenerative functions as well as crucial metabolic activities.

Adipose tissue shows a strikingly high level of plasticity when affected by metabolic disorders-either quantitatively (e.g., with the infiltration of pathogenic cells) or qualitatively (e.g., following functional changes in the resident AT cells). With regard to immune functions, most studies of lean, healthy individuals have designated lean fat as an immunosuppressive site (1). Indeed, the vast majority of immune cells in AT appear to exert an immunosuppressive function. This profile favors the AT's metabolic activity (by limiting inflammation and ensuring tissue-remodeling) but might be less beneficial when considering immune responses to infections. The metabolic and immunosuppressive properties of Tregs in AT have been extensively described in mouse models. It has been found that obesity affects both the proportions and transcriptional profiles of AT Tregs (7-12). In clinical settings, the impact of obesity on the proportion of Tregs in human AT has been indirectly assessed by detecting FOXP3 mRNA; these studies have given more heterogeneous results (13-16). In lean animals, AT contains a low proportion of M1 macrophages and a high proportion of M2 (anti-inflammatory) macrophages (17-21). The accumulation of macrophages and the change in macrophage phenotype are robust markers of obesity in AT, and are observed both in humans and mice (22, 23). Eosinophils (a subset present in lean AT) also exhibit anti-inflammatory properties by favoring the persistence of M2 macrophages and the maturation of adipocytes (24, 25). Studies of other immune cell subsets in AT [such as B cells, natural killer (NK) T cells, $\gamma\delta$ -T cells, and innate lymphoid cells (ILCs)] are also now being performed-principally in mouse models. In lean animals, the B cells in AT include a regulatory B fraction (26), whereas obesity is associated with a greater proportion of B cells with a pathogenic profile (12, 27, 28). It has also been shown that the NK T cells in lean AT have immunomodulatory activities, and protect the AT from metabolic disorders (29–32). Natural killer T cells and $\gamma\delta$ -T cells reside in the AT of lean individuals, and accumulate when metabolic disorders occur (1, 33, 34). Innate lymphoid cells have been studied in both murine and human ATs (35-37). Type 1 ILCs cells can be triggered by signals induced by metabolic stress and are involved in adipose inflammation, whereas type 2 ILCs appear to provide regulatory signals. Murine and human ASCs also exhibit strong immunosuppressive functions (38, 39). Lastly, the immune activity of adipocytes is also under scrutiny. Adipokine production by adipocytes is clearly associated with the development of an anti- or pro-inflammatory environment in AT (40, 41), as assessed, respectively by the secretion of adiponectin and leptin (41-44). Resolvin and other lipid mediators are also involved in the anti- or pro-inflammatory profile (45-48). Adipocytes also express MHC class II, and may therefore have a key role in immune activation (49-51). If metabolic stress is present, the immune properties of adipocytes also change because the cells upregulate their expression of stress markers and can thus generate pro-inflammatory signals (33).

Based on these observations, one can question the ability of AT immune cells to mount an effective local immune response. Although steady-state immune activity might be controlled by the immunosuppressive environment, AT immune cells might be capable of rapid mobilization once danger signals or pathogen have been detected. This type of plasticity (which has been described for metabolic regulation) might efficiently combine immunomodulation (guaranteeing metabolic homeostasis) and a rapid immune response when pathogens are encountered. Alternatively, the striking persistence of various pathogens (52) [e.g., trypanosomes (53, 54), HIV (55-58), and M. tuberculosis (59)] in AT in different species strengthens the hypothesis whereby lasting anti-infectious responses are suppressed in AT. We studied this topic in the context of HIV infection by analyzing the composition of the AT in SIV-infected cynomolgus macaques (55) and then in HIV-infected patients (58). Modest changes in the AT immune compartment were detected: a higher proportion of SVF cells and CD8T cells, and a modest change in the macrophages' phenotype and T cell activation in SIV-infected animals. In fact, one of our most striking observations was that the basal composition of AT in the cynomolgus macaque and in humans did not fully corroborate the data obtained in mice. We have observed remarkably low frequencies of AT Tregs in lean, non-human primates (NHPs) (55), and non-obese patients (58). More recently, it has also been found that AT is a reservoir for memory T cells capable of protecting the host upon infectious re-challenge after adoptive transfer (60). The objective of the present study was to evaluate the basal immune properties of "healthy" AT as a prerequisite for evaluating AT's

anti-infectious responses. To this end, we compared five different experimental models: three murine models (C57Bl/6, the most frequently used model of obesity, CBA and Balb/c strains), the cynomolgus macaque, and healthy human donors. Given that the AT's composition is thought to be strongly influenced by sex, age, and the metabolic context (10, 12), we confirmed these observations in various murine models and then performed comparative analyses of middle-aged male individuals from all species. After using the same protocol for AT dissociation, we performed FACS analyses on the SVF and thus defined the relative contribution of the main immune cell subsets in AT for all the groups tested. We found that a high proportion of AT Tregs was observed in middle-aged male C57Bl/6 mice but not in middle-aged male CBA mice, Balb/c mice, cynomolgus macaques, or humans. Similarly, C57Bl/6 mice had higher proportions of the immune subsets generally associated with immunosuppression (i.e., macrophages, B cells, and $\gamma\delta$ -T cells) and ASCs (but not T cells), relative to humans. These discrepancies suggest that the steady-state immunosuppressive environment in AT differs in the three models. Our present observations may have a major impact on the choice of the most appropriate model for studying immune phenomena in the AT.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Biological Materials Samples From Mice

C57Bl/6 Rj, CBA, and Balb/c mice (Janvier Labs, Saint Berthevin, France), and Foxp3-GFP mice (Charles River, Saint-Germainsur-l'Arbresle, France) were maintained under pathogen-free conditions in the central animal facility at the Paris-Sud Faculty of Medicine (Paris, France) (approval reference: D92-032-02). All procedures were conducted in compliance with French and European Union regulations on animal welfare (agreement B-94-043-12 and license 94-440, delivered by the French veterinary authorities) and had been validated by the local animal care and use committee (*Comité d'éthique en experimentation animale* (CEEA) 27, Paris-Sud University, Paris, France).

We studied male mice aged 2–3, 6, 12 months, and (for Foxp3-GFP mice only) 18–22 months. The impact of sex on the AT's immune properties was investigated by studying 2–3 months-old male vs. female C57Bl/6 Rj mice. To assess the impact of obesity on the AT's immune properties, 8 week-old C57Bl/6 Rj mice were fed a high fat diet (HFD, Research Diets, Broogarden, Lynge, Denmark), or standard chow for 48 weeks. The animals' bodyweight was recorded weekly. At sacrifice (at 12 months of age), the mean \pm standard deviation bodyweight was, respectively 52.0 \pm 2.8 and 33.1 \pm 3.8 g. Six month-old mice were used in comparisons of C57Bl/6, CBA, and Balb/C animals.

Samples of subcutaneous AT (SCAT) and gonadal AT (as a source of VAT) were collected from all animals. All comparative experiments included appropriate control animals at the time of sacrifice. Different animals were used to study the respective impacts of sex, age, and metabolic disorders. For 2-3 month-old animals, AT samples were collected from two to four mice and pooled in order to obtain sufficient quantities of tissue.

Samples From Cynomolgus Macaques

Adult cynomolgus macaques were imported from Mauritius and housed in the animal facility at the Commissariat à l'Energie Atomique et aux Energies Alternatives (CEA, Fontenay-aux-Roses, France). The NHPs are housed and handled in accordance with French national regulations, and are subject to inspection by the veterinary authorities (CEA permit number: A 92-032-02). The CEA facility complies with the Standards for Human Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the US Office for Laboratory Animal Welfare (reference: OLAW #A5826-01). The use of NHPs at the CEA also complies with the European Directive 2010/63/EU. The animals were used under the supervision of the veterinarians in charge of the animal facility. Animals were housed in adjoining, individual cages (allowing social interactions) and under controlled humidity, temperature and light conditions (12 h light/12 h dark cycles). Water was available ad libitum. Animals were monitored and fed (by trained personnel) with commercial macaque chow and fruits once or twice daily. Samples of SCAT and VAT from 10 nonobese, healthy, middle-aged, male cynomolgus macaques were collected at sacrifice. For ethical reasons, the animals were not sacrificed for the sole purpose of collecting AT. Samples from control groups designated in various other studies were made available for the present work. The study protocols were reviewed by the CEA's Animal Care and Handling Committee (Comité d'Ethique en Expérimentation Animale, registered with the French Ministry of Research). At the time of the experiments, the median [interguartile range] age was 6.4 years [5.1-7.5], and the median [interquartile range] bodyweight was 7.5 kg [6.3-8.3].

Samples From Humans

Subcutaneous AT and/or VAT samples from 10 middle-aged male individuals were collected during elective abdominal surgery. The exclusion criteria were inflammatory bowel diseases, ischemic colitis, cancer, HIV infection, obesity and/or metabolic disorders, weight loss surgery, and the administration of medications with metabolic effects. At the time of surgery, the men's median [interquartile range] age was 53 years (47-59), and the median [interquartile range] BMI was 23 (22-25). Written, informed consent was provided by all participants. The study protocol was approved by the local investigational review board (Comité de Protection des Personnes Ile-de-France VII, PP12-021, Paris, France). Samples of abdominal SCAT, VAT, and (when available) blood were collected. We rarely had access to both human SCAT and VAT from the same patient (collection of both SCAT and VAT samples in sufficient quantity was only obtained in 3 out of 10 patients).

Dissociation of Adipose Tissue

Samples from all species (summarized in **Table 1**) were processed according to the same protocol. Stromal vascular fraction was isolated from fresh samples. Subcutaneous AT and VAT samples were weighed, washed twice in PBS 1x supplemented with 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS), cut into pieces of 2–3 mm, and then digested in a bath of collagenase (C2139, Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Quentin Fallavier, France) at a concentration of 0.33 mg/mL in

ABLE 1 Age, sex, and characteristics of the models studied.

	Nber	Age (median)	Sex	Metabolic profile	Body weight (median
MICE					
C57BI/6 Rj	40	2–3 months	M/F	Lean (standard chow)	ND
	10	6 months	Μ	Lean (standard chow)	25.0 g
	30	12 months	Μ	Lean (standard chow)	33.1 g
	8	12 months	Μ	Obese (high-fat diet)	52.0 g
СВА	10	6 months	Μ	Lean (standard chow)	35.0 g
Balb/C	10	6 months	Μ	Lean (standard chow)	25.0 g
Foxp3 GFP	12	2–3 months	Μ	Lean (standard chow)	ND
	6	12 months	Μ	Lean (standard chow)	ND
	6	18–22 months	Μ	Lean (standard chow)	ND
CYNOMOLGUS MA	CAQUES				
	10	6.4 years	Μ	Non-obese	7.5 kg
HEALTHY HUMAN	DONORS				
	10	53 years	М	Non-obese (BMI 23)	nd

ND, not determined.

Samples of SCAT and VAT were collected from C57Bl/6, CBA and Balb/c mice, cynomolgus macaques, and humans. The quantity of AT obtained differed as a function of the site (SCAT or VAT) and the species. Human SCAT or VAT were predominantly collected from different individuals. In contrast, SCAT and VAT were collected from the same individuals in mice and macaques. If cell numbers recovered from murine samples (especially the younger animals) were not sufficient, samples from 2 to 4 animals were collected for performance of the FACS analysis.

DMEM with 5% FBS for 30 min and at 37° C, with continuous shaking. The same batch of collagenase enzyme was used for all species. Next, the tissue was mechanically dissociated by repeated suction into and discharge from a 10 mL syringe. The adipose suspension was then filtered through a 100-micron mesh, and treated with ammonium-chloride-potassium lysing buffer. Cells in the SVF (i.e., all cells other than adipocytes) were treated with Trypan blue (to exclude dead cells) and then counted in Malassez chambers (C-chip, NanoEntek, Seoul, Korea) under the microscope.

Staining for Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorting (FACS)

The following antibodies were used to stain the cynomolgus macaque and human samples [target molecule (clone)]: CD16 (3G8)/CD90 (5E10)/CD45 NHP (D058-1283)/CD45 Hu (HI30)/CD4 (RPA-T4)/CD8 (RPA-T8)/CD20 (2H7)/CD3 (SP34-2)/TCR GD (B1.1)/NKG2A (Z199)/HLA-DR (G46-6)/CD14 (M5E2)/CD11b (Bear1)/CD34 (563)/CD146 (P1H12)/CD73 (AD2)/CD235a (HI264)/CD31 (WM59)/PD-1 (EH12-2H7)/CD25 (2A3)/Ki67 (B56)/CD39 (eBioA1)/CD127 (MB15-18C9)/Foxp3 236A/E7)/CD1a (SK9)/CD34 (581)/CD123 (7G3)/BDCA2 (AC144)/CD161 (HP-3G10)/CD94 (DX22)/CD117 (104D2)/IL33R/CD69 (FN50)/TCR Vδ2 (B6)/αβTCR (T10B9-1A-31)/αβTCR NHP (R73)/CD45RA (clone 5H9)/CD27 (O323).

The following antibodies were used to stain the murine samples: CD45 (30F11)/F4/80 (BM8)/CD4 (RM4-5)/CD8 (53-6.7)/TCR GD (GL6)/NK1.1 (PK136)/CD11c (HL3)/TCR beta (H57-597)/CD11b (M1/70)/B220 (RA3-6B2)/PD-1 (29F.1A12)/CD106 (429)/CD90 (OX-7)/CD73 (TY/11.8)/CD31

(390)/CD34 (MEC14.7)/CD44 (IM7)/TCR β chain (57-597)/CD127 (A7R34)/CD25 (PC61.5)/CD3 (17A2)/Foxp3 (FJK-16s)/CD69 (H1.2F3)/CD14 (rmC5-3)/CD19 (1D3)/CD11c (HL3)/CD11b (M1/70)/CD25 (PC61.5)/CD161 (PK136)/CD117 (2B8)/IL33R (RMST2-33).

The staining protocol was identical for all three species. Staining was performed after the saturation of Fc receptors by incubation with Fc block reagent (BD) for 30 min at 4°C. Amine-reactive blue dye (LIVE/DEADTM Fixable, Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) was used to assess cell viability. Cells were incubated with monoclonal antibodies for 15 min at 4°C, washed in PBS 1X/10% FBS, and fixed in commercial fixation solution or permeabilized when required [Intracellular Fixation and Permeabilization Buffer Set (eBiosciences/ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA)]. The FACS data were acquired on an LSR Fortessa system (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) and analyzed using FlowJo software (Treestar, Ashland, OR, USA).

Immunohistofluorescence

Adipocyte tissue (volume: 1 cm³) was fixed with 4% PFA in phosphate buffer (pH 7) for 6 h, dehydrated overnight in 30% sucrose PBS at 4°C, embedded in optimal cutting temperature compound, and quickly frozen in isopentate with nitrogen liquid. Cryostat sections (thickness: 20 μ m) were then prepared, and incubated at 4°C overnight with antibodies against FABP-4, CD45, CD34, and CD4. The anti-FABP-4 antibody was covalently linked to Alexa Fluorochrome AF55 using a microscale labeling kit (Life Technologies) and NHS ester conjugation. Nuclei were stained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI). An isotype antibody was used as a negative control for each staining. Immunofluorescence images were examined using an SP8 confocal microscope (Leica, Germany).

Statistical Analysis

The FACS data from mouse-only experiments are quoted as the median \pm SD, and the data from all other experiments are quoted as the median [interquartile range]. The microscopy data are quoted as the median \pm standard error or the mean (SEM). All statistical analyses were carried out with GraphPad Prism software (version 7.02, GraphPad Software Inc.). A nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis test was used to compare species. For the mouse-only experiments, a paired, non-parametric Wilcoxon test was used to compare SCAT vs. VAT for each species or strain, and an unpaired, non-parametric Mann–Whitney test (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001) was used to compare groups. Student's *t*-test was used to compare microscopy data. In graphs, the *p*-value is indicated as follows: * < 0.05; ** < 0.01, *** < 0.001.

RESULTS

The Proportion of Foxp3 Tregs Among CD4 T Cells in Adipose Tissue Is Low in All Models Other Than the Lean Male C57BI/6 Mouse

We and others have previously demonstrated that Foxp3+ CD4T cells are extremely scarce in VAT from humans and cynomolgus macaques (55, 58, 61), when compared with the corresponding data obtained in mice (8, 11, 62). To fully ascertain the potential differences in immune cell composition between humans and the other animal models, we analyzed SCAT and VAT samples from three mouse strains, a non-human primate (the cynomolgus macaque) and humans. The method used to dissociate the AT (i.e. the type, batch and concentration of collagenase, and the duration of incubation) was the same for all species. Likewise, the criterion used to identify Tregs (Foxp3 expression by CD4T cells) was the same for all species. Given that the proportion of Tregs has been shown to differ markedly as a function of sex, age and metabolic context (e.g., obese vs. lean mice) (8, 10), we chose to study mouse models in which all these conditions can be easily evaluated. We first compared the frequency of Foxp3+ CD4T cells in 2- to 3month-old male and female C57Bl/6 mice (Figure 1A). The Treg frequency was significantly higher in the VAT of male animals, whereas all other samples (female SCAT and VAT, male SCAT) exhibited values that were similar to those usually reported for the murine spleen. We next studied the impact of age on male C57Bl/6 mice by comparing 2- to 3-month-old and 11- to 13month-old animals (Figure 1B). In line with the literature data, we confirmed the drastic impact of age on the percentage of Foxp3+ cells in the VAT of male C57Bl/6 mice. We also used Foxp3-GFP C57Bl/6 mice to evaluate the long-term persistence of Tregs in VAT (Supplementary Figure 1). As observed in B6 mice, the percentages of GFP+/Foxp3+ cells in both VAT and SCAT were significantly higher in older animals (12 months of age and 18-22 months of age) than in young animals (i.e., 2-3 months of age); the difference was less striking for SCAT, however. Lastly, as a control, we also evaluated the impact of a metabolic disorder on the Treg frequency in AT by comparing HFD-induced obese animals with lean animals. 8 week-old mice were fed a HFD or standard chow, and sacrificed at 10-12 months of age. As described previously (11, 12), obese male animals had a significantly lower proportion of Tregs in the VAT than their lean counterparts (Figure 1C). Taken as a whole, our results confirmed the literature reports of a high frequency of Tregs in the AT in a very restricted context (i.e., in relatively old, non-obese, male animals) and in a relatively specific tissue (i.e., VAT, rather than SCAT). Given that these observations did not match those reported for cynomolgus macaque and human VAT samples, we next evaluated the proportion of Tregs in the SCAT and VAT of 6 month-old C57Bl/6, CBA and Balb/c male mice. Interestingly, the proportions of Tregs in the SCAT and VAT were much lower in both CBA and Balb/c mice (Figure 1D). We next assessed the proportions of Foxp3+ CD4T cells in AT samples collected from mice, NHPs, and humans. On the basis of our initial set of experiments, we selected individuals with the following characteristics: male gender, middle age (12 months of age for mice, 6 years of age for cynomolgus macaques, and 53 years of age for humans) and no obesity (mice fed standard chow, a median bodyweight of 7.5 kg for cynomolgus macaques, and a median BMI of 23 for humans). The C57Bl/6 mouse [the best-characterized murine model in studies of obesity and AT homeostasis (11, 63)] was used as control for this comparison. The high proportion of Tregs observed in the VAT of C57Bl/6 mice was not observed in the VAT or SCAT of cynomolgus macaques or humans (Figure 1E).

Overall, we found that C57Bl/6 mouse appears to be a rather peculiar model with regard to the high proportion of Foxp3+ CD4 T cells in the VAT. This high proportion was not observed in two other strains of mice (CBA or Balb/c) or in two other species (the cynomolgus macaque and the human).

The Low Proportion of Foxp3 Tregs in Cynomolgus Macaques and Humans Impacts the Effector/Treg Ratio in Adipose Tissue

The immunosuppressive activity of Tregs is also defined by the ratio between the Tregs and the potentially suppressed effector cells. One could therefore hypothesize that the low proportion of Tregs in human and cynomolgus macaques AT (relative to C57Bl/6 mice) essentially reflects the low proportion of effector T cells without affecting the Treg/effector ratio and the AT's immunosuppressive potential. We therefore looked at whether the low proportion of Foxp3 Tregs reflected a difference (i.e., a relative reduction) in the proportion of effector cells in cynomolgus macaques and humans. We first determined the proportions of hematopoietic CD45+ cells (and macrophages and T cells, the two most represented subsets among CD45+ cells) in the SCAT and VAT of the three groups. The three species did not differ with regard to the proportion of hematopoietic cells (Figure 2A). In each species, the proportion of hematopoietic cells was similar in SCAT and VAT. The data were more dispersed within the group of humans,



proportion of CD4 T cells) were qualitated in SVF from minite, NHP and human SCAT (object symbols), and VAT (closed symbols). In CS4 bird mice (A=O), the frequency of Foxp3+ cells was evaluated as a function of the animals' sex, age, and metabolic context. (A) The impact of sex was studied by comparing female with male 8- to 12-week-old C57BI/6 mice. (B) The impact of aging was studied by comparing 8- to 12-week-old vs. 12-month-old male C57BI/6 mice. (C) The impact of the metabolic context was studied by comparing lean vs. obese 12-month-old male C57BI/6 mice. The data correspond to two representative experiments comparing 4–6 animals. (D) Comparison of the frequencies of Foxp3+ cells among CD4 T cells in SCAT and VAT from 6 month-old-male CBA, Balb/C and C57BI/6 mice. The graphs showed data from 10 mice for each strain. (E) Comparison of the frequencies of Foxp3+ cells among CD4 T cells in SCAT and VAT from adult male C57BI/6 mice (age: 10–14 months), cynomolgus macaques (age: 5–7 years), and humans (age: 47–59 years). Bars represent median values. Statistical significance was determined with a Kruskal–Wallis test (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001) when comparing groups.

which presumably reflects greater genetic heterogeneity. We next evaluated the proportion of T lymphocytes in SVF cells– a subset generally targeted by Tregs (64). The proportion of T cells in VAT was higher in cynomolgus macaques than in C57Bl/6 mice (**Figure 2B**). A similar trend was observed when comparing humans with mice. The low proportion of Tregs was thus not attributable to the low proportion of effector T cells. Lastly, we evaluated the proportion of macrophages,

which can potentially be modulated by Tregs (65–68) but may also favor Treg accumulation (69, 70) The proportion of macrophages in the SVF fraction was not defined in the same way in all the three species: F4/80 expression in mice, and CD14 expression in cynomolgus macaques and humans. The percentage of monocytes/macrophages in middle-aged male cynomolgus macaques was significantly lower than the percentage of macrophages in C57Bl/6 mice (**Figure 2C**). A



FIGURE 2 | Frequencies of hematopoietic CD45+ cells, macrophages, and T lymphocytes in SVF. The frequencies of CD45+ cells (**A**), T cells (**B**), and macrophages (**C**) in the SVF are shown. The comparison was performed on samples of SCAT (open symbols) and VAT (closed symbols) collected from 4 to 10 mice or groups of mice, 10 cynomolgus macaques, and 9 human donors. Macrophage subsets were defined as F4/80+ cells in mice, and CD14+ cells in cynomolgus macaques and humans. (In humans and cynomolgus macaques, HLA-DR and CD11b expression were confirmed on CD14+ cells). T cells were defined as CD3- and/or TCRβ-expressing cells. Bars represent median values. Statistical significance (* ρ < 0.05 in a non-parametric Wilcoxon test) is shown as appropriate.

similar difference was observed when comparing human and mice VAT samples, although it was not statistically significant. Although the detection of macrophages may be less stringent in cynomolgus macaques and humans, the proportion in these species was significantly lower than in C57Bl/6 mice. The low proportion of macrophages may indirectly reflect the elevated proportions of T cells observed in humans and macaques, relative to C57Bl/6 mice.

In conclusion, 12 month-old male C57Bl/6 mice differed from middle-aged male cynomolgus macaques and humans with

regard to the macrophage and T lymphocyte profiles in VAT. The VAT in C57Bl/6 mice featured a higher proportion of macrophages, whereas the VAT in cynomolgus macaques and humans featured a higher proportion of T lymphocytes. When comparing Treg and effector cell fractions in the three species, we observed that the low number of Tregs (as a proportion of all CD4 T cells) in SCAT and VAT from cynomolgus macaques and humans was associated with a higher proportion of T cells (the usual target of Treg suppression).

The Relative Contributions of Immune Subsets Among CD45+ Cells in VAT From Middle-Aged Male C57BI/6 Mice, Cynomolgus Macagues, and Humans.

Given the observed intergroup differences in the proportions of Tregs, macrophages and T cells, we next performed an overall analysis of the main immune subsets commonly studied in AT. In addition to macrophages and $\alpha\beta$ T cells, we determined the relative proportions of B cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, NK cells, and ILCs (Figure 3A). The identification criteria for each subset in each species are given in Supplementary Table 1. In both SCAT and VAT, the frequency of B cells (as a proportion of CD45+ cells) was markedly higher in C57Bl/6 mice than in humans. A similar trend was observed when comparing C57Bl/6 mice and cynomolgus macaques. In both SCAT and VAT, the percentage of yo T cells was also higher in middleaged male C57Bl/6 mice than in cynomolgus macaques. Again, a similar trend was observed in humans. The proportions of NK cells and the ILCs (data not shown) were similar in all groups considered. The relative proportions of the various CD45+ immune cells in the SVF from VAT are shown in Figure 3B. Arbitrary colors were given to each subset, based on the immune function described by the data literature in mice, i.e., an immunosuppressive function (in green) or an effector function (in blue). Macrophages, B cells, γδ T cells, and NK cells have been linked to modulatory properties in lean AT (1, 26), and so were assigned a green color in Figure 3B. Although the functional activity of the various immune subsets was not evaluated in the present study, the relative proportions suggested that the immune cells' environment differ in middle-aged, male C57Bl/6 mice vs. humans, and cynomolgus macaques.

The High Proportion of CD34+CD45- Cells in SVF Collected From Middle-Aged Male C57BI/6 Mice Was Not Observed in NHPs and Humans

To provide an exhaustive characterization of the potential immunosuppressive environment in AT, we also evaluated the percentage of CD34+CD45- cells in the SVF of the three species considered. The CD34+CD45- fraction is enriched in AT mesenchymal stromal cells (i.e., ASCs). These cells are multipotent progenitors that have attracted great interest in the context of regenerative therapies based on AT extracts. However, ASCs are also characterized by their high immunosuppressive potential. Although the ASCs' immunosuppressive mechanism



C57Bl/6 mice, cynomolgus macaques, and healthy human donors were studied using flow cytometry. When considering CD45+ cells, we identified macrophages, B lymphocytes, $\alpha\beta$ T lymphocytes, Foxp3 + CD4 Tregs, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, ILCs, and NK cells. (A) Comparison of the percentages of B cell, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, and NK cells among CD45+ cells. (B) Pie chart of the cell subsets composing the CD45+ fraction in the SVF for each species. The comparison was performed on VAT collected from 4 groups of mice, 10 cynomolgus macaques, and 9 healthy human donors. Statistical significance (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, in a non-parametric Wilcoxon test) is shown as appropriate.

has not been fully characterized, these cells express CD73an ectonucleosidase that triggers immunosuppressive pathways. We thus evaluated the proportion of CD34+CD45- in the SVF from SCAT and VAT of the three groups studied (Figure 4). Interestingly, the percentages of CD34+CD45- cells in SCAT and VAT (ranging from 40 to 60%) were similar in middleaged male C57Bl/6 mice and cynomolgus macaques but were significantly lower in middle-aged male humans. We also determined CD73 expression by CD34+CD45- cells in the SVF in cynomolgus macaques and humans. As previously described in mice, we observed that most of the CD34+CD45cells expressed CD73 (data not shown). Our analysis of the CD34+CD45- fraction identified a high proportion of nonhematopoietic cells with potential immunosuppressive properties in C57BL/6 mice and cynomolgus macaques but not in humans.

Adipocyte Size Also Differed When Comparing Middle-Aged Male C57BI/6 Mice, Cynomolgus Macaques, and Humans.

To more accurately evaluate the immune environment within AT, we performed an immunohistofluorescence analysis of VAT tissue sections. In fact, flow cytometry analysis of the SVF requires prior tissue dissociation and thus eliminates the adipocyte fraction-the main cell type in AT. Our immunohistofluorescence analyses detected FABP-4-expressing adipocytes in VAT collected from lean, middle-aged, male C57BL/6 mice, cynomolgus macaques, and humans (**Figure 5A**) but also simultaneously detected CD45-expressing cells and CD34-expressing cells. We found that the proportions of CD45-and CD34-expressing cells in all three groups were extremely



FIGURE 4 Frequencies of CD34+ CD45- cells in SVF. The frequency of CD34+CD45- cells in the SVF from SCAT and VAT in adult, non-obese, male C57Bl/6 mice, cynomolgus macaques, and healthy human donors. We assessed SCAT and VAT collected from 4 groups of mice, 4 cynomolgus macaques, and 5 human donors. Statistical significance was determined with a Kruskal Wallis test when performing comparisons of SCAT vs. VAT within a group, and a non-parametric Wilcoxon test (*p < 0.05) when comparing groups.

low. Indeed, these cells were absent in a large number of fields (data not shown). Although some aggregates were observed, the size of the overall immune compartment in AT samples in this study of male, middle-aged animals, and humans appeared to be extremely small. This observation emphasized that the adipocyte is the key cell in AT in lean healthy individuals, and that AT immune cells are scarce. The flow cytometry strategy used here to phenotype immune cells within the SVF after AT dissociation might overestimate the relative proportions of these cells in AT. The results of tissue section imaging suggested that direct interaction between immune cells and adipocytes probably predominates, given the high proportion of adipocytes.

Importantly, our immunohistofluorescence analyses provided an indirect estimate of the size of the adipocytes in VAT from all groups studied (**Figure 5B**). The mean \pm SD adipocyte size differed significantly when comparing middle-aged male C57Bl/6 mice (57.4 \pm 0.5 μ m), cynomolgus macaques (59.0 \pm 0.2 μ m), and humans (81.0 \pm 0.4 μ m). These results show that the species' ATs differ with regard to both the SVF and the adipocyte compartment.

DISCUSSION

White AT is a complex tissue with regard to its (i) many metabolic, regenerative and immune functions, (ii) complex cellular interactions, and (iii) high plasticity (as evidenced by the metabolic and immune changes induced by metabolic insults). The renewed interest in the biology of AT has prompted fundamental studies in mice, clinical research in patients, and (in certain infectious contexts) studies of NHPs. However, the steady-state immune properties in each model have not been clearly established, and a review of the literature data suggests that there are major discrepancies between the models in this respect. To fully appraise the immune properties of AT in the

respective models, we compared "healthy," middle-aged male rodents, NHPs and humans. Our results highlighted a number of differences in the AT between the various models. Before addressing the composition of the stromal vascular fraction of adipose tissue, we first aimed to analyze the density of SVF cells per gram of AT in the various models by counting SVF cells recovered following collagenase treatment. Although various exclusion criteria were used for the selection of "healthy" subjects, we still observed important heterogeneity in SVF cell recovery, precluding any definitive conclusion to be drawn between the three models. We then aimed to evaluate the density of CD45 expressing cells by immunohistofluorescence (that allowed to provide co-staining for adipocytes (FABP-4), CD45, or CD34 expressing cells). A potential bias is the heterogeneity in SVF cell density as a function of the location within AT (perivascular vs. deeper area of AT). Analyses (performed here on deep sections of AT) showed a limited density of SVF CD45+ cells, precluding any comparison. Lastly, microscopy analyses showed differences in adipocyte size and density as a function of the model. We were thus not even convinced that the comparison of SVF cell numbers per gram of AT would be appropriate. Due to these technical hurdles (heterogeneity, limited density, change in adipocyte size as a function of the model), we did not introduce any data on the number of SVF cells collected per gram of AT in the current manuscript. However, the comparison of the composition of AT in the various model is robust. A striking observation was that the Treg frequency was much higher in the C57Bl/6 model than in the other mouse strains or in primates. Based on the proportions of many immunosuppressive subsets, the AT's immunomodulatory profile appeared to be more "potent" in the C57Bl/6 model than in primates. The proportions of macrophages and ASCs were lower in human VAT than in murine VAT, whereas the overall proportion of T cells was higher. The differences in B cells, $\gamma\delta T$ cells, and ILCs are also suggestive of lower immunosuppressive potential in human AT.

These comparisons are obviously subject to debate. The criterion for "middle age" corresponded to 12 months of age in mice, 6 years of age in cynomolgus macaques, and 53 years of age in humans. Although this comparison appears to be reasonable, it still constitutes a study limitation. The same criticism can be raised with regard to the apparently "healthy" status of all the individuals. Although healthy mice and cynomolgus macaques can be maintained with relative ease, it is more difficult to consider that humans undergoing elective surgery are indeed "healthy." In the present study, and on the basis of our previous experiments (58), we selected male patients undergoing cholecystectomy because the latter condition is usually not related to immune or metabolic disorders. The exclusion criteria included the presence of inflammatory bowel diseases, ischemic colitis, cancer, HIV infection, obesity, metabolic disorders (such as diabetes), and the administration of medications with metabolic effects. Despite the application of these precautions, we nonetheless observed major discrepancies between the models. Lastly, one must also take into account the heterogeneity of the AT's immune composition as a function of its location in the body. Although we analyzed both SCAT and VAT, the latter corresponded to gonadal fat in mice and abdominal



omental fat in cynomolgus macaques and humans. Although gonadal fat is widely considered to be a robust model of VAT (71) (notably due to the limited quantity of abdominal VAT in mice), this difference must be taken into account. In this respect, a comparison of the three murine strains was crucial because the CBA and Balb/c mice exhibited much the same profile as the NHP and humans but differed from C57Bl/6 mice—suggesting that the intrinsic properties of gonadal AT are not responsible for the observed differences.

The observed differences between C57Bl/6 mice on one hand and the NHP and humans on the other raise the question of which mechanisms might be responsible. Firstly, one could hypothesize that environmental factors (e.g., differences in the microbiota, the history of infection or even exposure to pollutants) have a role. Interestingly, the observed differences between the mouse strains suggest that a history of infection (which was limited in all three strains, given their housing conditions) does not drive the accumulation of Tregs in AT. However, this strain-dependent heterogeneity may reflect differences in both the microbiota (72, 73) and intrinsic metabolic factors. C57Bl/6 mice exhibit lower gut microbiota diversity, richness and Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes (F/B) ratio compared to Balb/C mice (73). These observation led to various points of discussion. Higher diversity and richness is

assumed to be beneficial for host health (74) and may thus protect Balb/c animals from metabolic disorders and obesity. The F/B ratio is also considered a significant marker of gut microbiota composition and high F/B ratio is associated with obesity (75, 76). Although a more refined characterization of the bacteria of both phyla is required, this variation in the composition of microbiota may provide an important rationale for the different susceptibility of the mouse strain to obesity and/or adipose tissue cell composition. Composition of the microbiota has been shown to modulate Treg frequencies in healthy individuals (77, 78) although these studies did not analyze adipose tissue. Altogether, the variation in gut microbiota modulate the development of immune responses and may contribute to the higher sensitivity of the C57Bl/6 strain to obesity (79). It is obviously more difficult to determine which factors are responsible for differences in the baseline composition of "healthy" AT as a function of species. Regardless of the mechanisms involved, our present data suggest that the AT environment comprises less immunosuppressive cells in humans than in the C57Bl/6 reference murine model. However, the lack of functional assay data means that these results should be interpreted with a degree of caution. One can postulate that the immunosuppressive and/or effector properties displayed by a defined cell subset in mice may

not be recapitulated in NHP and humans. Alternately, the immunosuppressive properties may be carried on by different cell subsets in the various species. The difference in the frequencies of immunosuppressive cells will have to be taken into account for the development of suppressive assay that may require different stimulation to trigger the immunosuppressive function of the AT immunosuppressive cells. We were thus currently unable to provide a direct functional comparison of the immunosuppressive properties of AT between all species.

However, the persistence of multiple pathogens (HIV (55, 56, 80), M. tuberculosis (81), and trypanosomes (82) in human AT indirectly suggests that strong immunomodulation enables the persistence of pathogens in this tissue. It is tempting to speculate that immunosuppressive properties still develop in human AT but rely on mechanisms other than Tregs or other immunosuppressive cells. In a previous report, we described the high proportion of PD-1-expressing (and thus potentially exhausted) T cells in human AT (58) which may contribute to the low efficacy of immune responses. Additionally, our present study of fixed AT sections served as a useful reminder that the most prominent cell in AT (i.e., the main contributor to the AT's specific microenvironment) is the adipocyte-the role of which as an immune regulator remains to be characterized in detail. Indeed, the flow cytometry analysis performed after collagenase digestion induces bias in favor of the SVF at the expense of the adipocytes. Our immunohistochemical results emphasized the very low number of CD45+ cells detected per field, and suggest the adipocytes' predominant role as immune regulators within AT. This observation underlines the importance of studying direct interactions between adipocytes and immune cells (83). A second important observation relates to the difference in adipocyte size in the different modelssuggesting that the adipocytes have different metabolic profile. It remains to be seen whether these metabolic properties of adipocytes influence the infiltrating immune cells. Finally, these differences in adipocyte size and density also suggest that transcriptomic analyses may be difficult to analyze due to the differences in adipocyte density either between species or between metabolic contexts. Evaluation of cytokine production in AT by SVF cells may be highly affected by the inflammatory status, but masked or minored by AT associated hyperplasia.

Lastly, our observations raise the question of which animal model should be used to study AT. Given that it is not easy to collect large quantities of AT from healthy subjects, the collection of AT from animal models is still an important means of evaluating this tissue's functional properties. Depending on the research question, each model has specific advantages: the mouse model provide access to various knock-out or knock-in system that might be useful for characterizing specific and possibly complex interactions between cell partners in AT. The choice of the B6 background may enable a more specific focus on the Treg compartment and the mechanisms that might modulate and/or preserve the compartment's activity. The striking differences in Treg proportions in the various mouse strains also questioned the physiological role of Tregs accumulation in AT on metabolic homeostasis and susceptibility to obesity. Considering the regenerative potential of AT, the proportion of ASCs differs from one model to another; the low proportion of ASCs in human samples suggest that the mouse or cynomolgus macaque model is more appropriate for studying these cells. However, the ASCs' functional properties need to be properly assessed in each model. The difference in the proportion of ASCs between humans (low) and the mouse and cynomolgus macaque models (high) was a rare example of a discrepancy between cynomolgus macaques and humans. This finding might indicate that ASCs are highly sensitive to environmental pollutants; whereas murine and cynomolgus macaque models are fairly well-protected from environmental pollutants, healthy humans are obviously exposed to various toxics that can accumulate in AT (84, 85). This hypothesis warrants further investigation. The influence of sex on ASCs should also be investigated further. Indeed, ASCs have been used to treat women (but not men) for systemic sclerosis in clinical trials (86)-suggesting that women have larger numbers of ASCs.

In summary, we compared the cell composition of AT in various experimental models (primarily the C57Bl/6 mouse, the cynomolgus macaque NHP, and humans). We observed marked differences in the proportions of immunosuppressive subset profiles (e.g., Tregs) in these models. Although the mechanisms responsible for this discrepancy are unclear, it is clear that the steady-state immune compartment in AT differed markedly in middle-aged male humans vs. mice. This observation has several implications: (i) the steady-state immune composition of human AT may have to be reassessed by considering age- and sexmatched healthy controls; (ii) the high incidence of obesity in humans may be due to the lower immunosuppressive activity of AT, which therefore protects less well against metabolic insults; and (iii) the adipocyte has a central role in the AT's functions, and there is a low degree of interaction between immune cells in non-obese male human AT.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AL, MLV, AD, and JG performed AT dissociation and FACS staining experiments. ST performed the immunohistofluorescence analysis. AL, OL, and SB ensured access to human samples. RH, NB, and RL ensured access to cynomolgus macaques samples. CC, BF, BV, RL, OL, and CB designed the experiments and supervised the analyses. AL and CB wrote the paper. OL and CB supervised the project.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all the medical personals involved in tissue collection in the department of Hôpital Kremlin-Bicêtre and the veterinary personal and animal technicians in the mouse and macaque animal houses. This work was supported by French government Programme d'Investissements d'Avenir (PIA) under Grant ANR-11-INBS-0008 funding the Infectious Disease Models and Innovative Therapies (IDMIT, Fontenay-aux-Roses, France) infrastructure. The work also benefited from the grant N16114LR from the ANRS (Agence Nationale de recherche contre le SIDA et les hépatites virales).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2019.00117/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Wensveen FM, Valentić S, Šestan M, Turk Wensveen T, Polić B. The "Big Bang" in obese fat: Events initiating obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation. Eur J Immunol. (2015) 45:2446–56. doi: 10.1002/eji.201545502
- Lolmède K, Duffaut C, Bouloumié A. Immune cells in adipose tissue : key players in metabolic disorders. *Diabetes Metab.* (2011) 37:283–90. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2011.03.002
- Hotamisligil GS. Inflammation and metabolic disorders. Nature (2006) 444:860-7. doi: 10.1038/nature05485
- Frese L, Dijkman PE, Hoerstrup SP. Adipose tissue-derived stem cells in regenerative medicine. *Transfus Med Hemother*. (2016) 43:268–74. doi: 10.1159/000448180
- El-Badawy A, Amer M, Abdelbaset R, Sherif SN, Abo-Elela M, Ghallab YH, et al. Adipose stem cells display higher regenerative capacities and more adaptable electro-kinetic properties compared to bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:37801. doi: 10.1038/srep37801
- Dodson M V, Wei S, Duarte M, Du M, Jiang Z, Hausman GJ, et al. Cell supermarket: adipose tissue as a source of stem cells. J Genomics (2013) 1:39–44. doi: 10.7150/jgen.3949
- Becker M, Levings MK, Daniel C. Adipose-tissue regulatory T cells: critical players in adipose-immune crosstalk. *Eur J Immunol.* (2017) 47:1867–74. doi: 10.1002/eji.201646739
- Feuerer M, Herrero L, Cipolletta D, Naaz A, Wong J, Nayer A, et al. Lean, but not obese, fat is enriched for a unique population of regulatory T cells that affect metabolic parameters. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:1–11. doi: 10.1038/nm.2002
- Kolodin D, van Panhuys N, Li C, Magnuson AM, Cipolletta D, Miller CM, et al. Antigen- and cytokine-driven accumulation of regulatory T cells in visceral adipose tissue of lean mice. *Cell Metab.* (2015) 21:543–57. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.03.005
- Cipolletta D, Cohen P, Spiegelman BM, Benoist C, Mathis D. Appearance and disappearance of the mRNA signature characteristic of Treg cells in visceral adipose tissue: age, diet, and PPARγ effects. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:482–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1423486112
- Cipolletta D, Feuerer M, Li A, Kamei N, Lee J, Shoelson SE, et al. PPAR-γ is a major driver of the accumulation and phenotype of adipose tissue Treg cells. *Nature* (2012) 486:549–53. doi: 10.1038/nature11132
- Bapat SP, Myoung Suh J, Fang S, Liu S, Zhang Y, Cheng A, et al. Depletion of fat-resident Treg cells prevents age-associated insulin resistance. *Nature* (2015) 528:137–41. doi: 10.1038/nature16151
- Deiuliis J, Shah Z, Shah N, Needleman B, Mikami D, Narula V, et al. Visceral adipose inflammation in obesity is associated with critical alterations in tregulatory cell numbers. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e16376. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016376
- 14. Goossens GH, Blaak EE, Theunissen R, Duijvestijn AM, Clément K, Tervaert J-WC, et al. Expression of NLRP3 inflammasome and T cell population markers in adipose tissue are associated with insulin resistance and impaired glucose metabolism in humans. *Mol Immunol.* (2012) 50:142–9. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2012.01.005
- Travers RL, Motta AC, Betts JA, Bouloumié A, Thompson D. The impact of adiposity on adipose tissue-resident lymphocyte activation in humans. *Int J Obes*. (2015) 39:762–9. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2014.195
- Pereira S, Teixeira L, Aguilar E, Oliveira M, Savassi-Rocha A, Pelaez JN, et al. Modulation of adipose tissue inflammation by FOXP3+ Treg cells, IL-10, and

Supplementary Figure 1 | The proportion of Tregs in AT, as a function of the age of Foxp3-GFP reporter mice. The frequencies of Foxp3+ cells among CD4T cells in SVF from SCAT (open symbols) and VAT (closed symbols) in male Foxp3-GFP mice aged 2–3, 12, and 18–22 months. Bars represent median values. Statistical significance was determined in a non-parametric Wilcoxon test (*p < 0.05).

Supplementary Table 1 | Identification strategy for each subsets in the different species.

TGF- β in metabolically healthy class III obese individuals. *Nutrition* (2014) 30:784–90. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2013.11.023

- Hill AA, Reid Bolus W, Hasty AH. A decade of progress in adipose tissue macrophage biology. *Immunol Rev.* (2014) 262:134–52. doi: 10.1111/imr.12216
- Olefsky JM, Glass CK. Macrophages, Inflammation, and Insulin Resistance. Annu Rev Physiol. (2010) 72:219–46. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-021909-135846
- Thomas D, Apovian C. Macrophage functions in lean and obese adipose tissue. *Metabolism* (2017) 72:120–43. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2017.04.005
- Odegaard JI, Chawla A. Pleiotropic actions of insulin resistance and inflammation in metabolic homeostasis. *Science* (2013) 339:172–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1230721
- Zeyda M, Huber J, Prager G, Stulnig TM. Inflammation correlates with markers of T-cell subsets including regulatory T cells in adipose tissue from obese patients. *Obesity* (2011) 19:743–8. doi: 10.1038/oby.2010.123
- 22. Morris DL, Singer K, Lumeng CN. Adipose tissue macrophages: phenotypic plasticity and diversity in lean and obese states. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* (2011) 14:341–6. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e328347970b
- Wentworth JM, Naselli G, Brown WA, Doyle L, Phipson B, Smyth GK, et al. Pro-inflammatory CD11c+CD206+ adipose tissue macrophages are associated with insulin resistance in human obesity. *Diabetes* (2010) 59:1648– 56. doi: 10.2337/db09-0287
- 24. Wu D, Molofsky AB, Liang HE, Ricardo-Gonzalez RR, Jouihan HA, Bando JK, et al. Eosinophils sustain adipose alternatively activated macrophages associated with glucose homeostasis. *Science* (2011) 332:243–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1201475
- Lee EH, Itan M, Jang J, Gu HJ, Rozenberg P, Mingler MK, et al. Eosinophils support adipocyte maturation and promote glucose tolerance in obesity. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:9894. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-28371-4
- Nishimura S, Manabe I, Takaki S, Nagasaki M, Otsu M, Yamashita H, et al. Adipose natural regulatory B cells negatively control adipose tissue inflammation. *Cell Metab.* (2013) 18:759–66. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.09.017
- Winer DA, Winer S, Shen L, Wadia PP, Yantha J, Paltser G, et al. B cells promote insulin resistance through modulation of T cells and production of pathogenic IgG antibodies. *Nat Med.* (2011) 17:610–7. doi: 10.1038/nm.2353
- Ivanov S, Merlin J, Lee MKS, Murphy AJ, Guinamard RR. Biology and function of adipose tissue macrophages, dendritic cells and B cells. *Atherosclerosis* (2018) 271:102–10. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2018.01.018
- Lynch L, Michelet X, Zhang S, Brennan PJ, Moseman A, Lester C, et al. Regulatory iNKT cells lack expression of the transcription factor PLZF and control the homeostasis of T(reg) cells and macrophages in adipose tissue. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:85–95. doi: 10.1038/ni.3047
- Lynch L, Nowak M, Varghese B, Clark J, Hogan AE, Toxavidis V, et al. Adipose tissue invariant NKT cells protect against diet-induced obesity and metabolic disorder through regulatory cytokine production. *Immunity* (2012) 37:574–87. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.06.016
- Satoh M, Iwabuchi K. Role of Natural Killer T Cells in the Development of obesity and insulin resistance: insights from recent progress. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1314. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01314
- Park YJ, Park J, Huh JY, Hwang I, Choe SS, Kim JB. Regulatory roles of invariant natural killer T cells in adipose tissue inflammation: defenders against obesity-induced metabolic complications. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1311. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01311

- Wensveen FM, Jelenčić V, Valentić S, Šestan M, Wensveen TT, Theurich S, et al. NK cells link obesity-induced adipose stress to inflammation and insulin resistance. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:376–85. doi: 10.1038/ni.3120
- Mehta P, Nuotio-Antar AM, Smith CW. γδ T cells promote inflammation and insulin resistance during high fat diet-induced obesity in mice. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2015) 97:121–34. doi: 10.1189/jlb.3A0414-211RR
- Boulenouar S, Michelet X, Duquette D, Alvarez D, Hogan AE, Dold C, et al. Adipose type one innate lymphoid cells regulate macrophage homeostasis through targeted cytotoxicity. *Immunity* (2017) 46:273–86. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.01.008
- O'Sullivan TE, Rapp M, Fan X, Weizman OE, Bhardwaj P, Adams NM, et al. Adipose-Resident group 1 innate lymphoid cells promote obesity-associated insulin resistance. *Immunity* (2016) 45:428–41. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.06.016
- Brestoff JR, Kim BS, Saenz SA, Stine RR, Monticelli LA, Sonnenberg GF, et al. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells promote beiging of white adipose tissue and limit obesity. *Nature* (2015) 519:242–6. doi: 10.1038/nature14115
- Jeong SH, Ji YH, Yoon ES. Immunosuppressive activity of adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells in a rat model of hind limb allotransplantation. *Transplant Proc.* (2014) 46:1606–14. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2013.12.069
- 39. Luz-Crawford P, Kurte M, Bravo-Alegría J, Contreras R, Nova-Lamperti E, Tejedor G, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells generate a CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cell population during the differentiation process of Th1 and Th17 cells. *Stem Cell Res Ther.* (2013) 4:65. doi: 10.1186/scrt216
- 40. Ouchi N, Parker JL, Lugus JJ, Walsh K. Adipokines in inflammation and metabolic disease. *Nat Publ Gr.* (2011) 11:85–97. doi: 10.1038/nri2921
- Conde J, Scotece M, Abella V, López V, Pino J, Gómez-Reino JJ, et al. An update on leptin as immunomodulator. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol.* (2014) 10:1165–70. doi: 10.1586/1744666X.2014.942289
- Pirozzi G, Fontana S, De Rosa V, Procaccini C, Calí G, Zappacosta S, et al. A key role of leptin in the control of regulatory T cell proliferation. (2007) 26:241–55. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.01.011
- Stofkova A. Leptin and adiponectin: from energy and metabolic dysbalance to inflammation and autoimmunity. *Endocr Regul.* (2009) 43:157–68. doi: 10.4149/endo
- Cells CDT, Cheng X, Folco EJ, Shimizu K, Libby P. Adiponectin induces pro-inflammatory programs in human. J Biol Chem. (2012) 287:36896–904. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.409516
- de Jong AJ, Kloppenburg M, Toes REM, Ioan-Facsinay A. Fatty Acids, Lipid Mediators, and T-Cell Function. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:483. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00483
- 46. Chong YP, Park SJ, Kim HS, Kim ES, Kim MN, Park KH, et al. Persistent Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia: a prospective analysis of risk factors, outcomes, and microbiologic and genotypic characteristics of isolates. Medicine (2013) 92:98–108. doi: 10.1097/MD.0b013e318289ff1e
- Hellmann J, Tang Y, Kosuri M, Bhatnagar A, Spite M. Resolvin D1 decreases adipose tissue macrophage accumulation and improves insulin sensitivity in obese-diabetic mice. *FASEB J.* (2011) 25:2399–407. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-178657
- Titos E, Rius B, González-Périz A, López-Vicario C, Morán-Salvador E, Martínez-Clemente M, Arroyo V, et al. Resolvin D1 and its precursor docosahexaenoic acid promote resolution of adipose tissue inflammation by eliciting macrophage polarization toward an M2-like phenotype. *J Immunol.* (2011) 187:5408–18. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1100225
- Meijer K, de Vries M, Al-Lahham S, Bruinenberg M, Weening D, Dijkstra M, et al. Human primary adipocytes exhibit immune cell function: adipocytes prime inflammation independent of macrophages. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e17154. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017154
- Hruskova Z, Biswas SK. A new "Immunological" role for adipocytes in obesity. CMET (2013) 17:315–7. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.02.015
- Deng T, Lyon CJ, Minze LJ, Lin J, Zou J, Liu JZ, et al. Class II major histocompatibility complex plays an essential role in obesity-induced adipose inflammation. *Cell Metab.* (2013) 17:411–22. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013. 02.009
- Desruisseaux MS, Trujillo ME, Tanowitz HB, Scherer PE. Disease adipocyte, adipose tissue, and infectious disease. *Infect Immun.* (2007) 75:1066–78. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01455-06

- Nagajyothi F, Desruisseaux MS, Machado FS, Upadhya R, Zhao D, Schwartz GJ, et al. Response of adipose tissue to early infection with *Trypanosoma cruzi* (Brazil strain). *J Infect Dis.* (2012) 205:830–40. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jir840
- Machado FS, Dutra WO, Esper L, Gollob KJ, Teixeira MM, Factor SM, et al. Current understanding of immunity to *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection and pathogenesis of Chagas disease. *Semin Immunopathol.* (2012) 34:753–70. doi: 10.1007/s00281-012-0351-7
- 55. Damouche A, Lazure T, Avettand-Fènoël V, Huot N, Dejucq-Rainsford N, Satie AP, et al. Adipose tissue is a neglected viral reservoir and an inflammatory site during chronic HIV and SIV infection. *PLOS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1005153. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005153
- Couturier J, Suliburk JW, Brown JM, Luke DJ, Agarwal N, Yu X, et al. Human adipose tissue as a reservoir for memory CD4+ T cells and HIV. *AIDS* (2015) 29:667–74. doi: 10.1097/QAD.00000000000599
- Couturier J, Agarwal N, Nehete PN, Baze WB, Barry MA, Jagannadha Sastry K, et al. Infectious SIV resides in adipose tissue and induces metabolic defects in chronically infected rhesus macaques. *Retrovirology* (2016) 13:30. doi: 10.1186/s12977-016-0260-2
- Damouche A, Pourcher G, Pourcher V, Benoist S, Busson E, Lataillade JJ, et al. High proportion of PD-1-expressing CD4 ⁺ T cells in adipose tissue constitutes an immunomodulatory microenvironment that may support HIV persistence. *Eur J Immunol.* (2017) 47:2113–23. doi: 10.1002/eji.201747060
- Beigier-Bompadre M, Montagna GN, Kühl AA, Lozza L, Weiner J, Kupz A, et al. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection modulates adipose tissue biology. *PLOS Pathog.* (2017) 13:e1006676. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006676
- Han SJ, Glatman Zaretsky A, Andrade-Oliveira V, Collins N, Dzutsev A, Shaik J, et al. White Adipose tissue is a reservoir for memory t cells and promotes protective memory responses to infection. *Immunity* (2017) 47:1154–68.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.11.009
- Donninelli G, Del Cornò M, Pierdominici M, Scazzocchio B, Varì R, Varano B, et al. Distinct blood and visceral adipose tissue regulatory T cell and innate lymphocyte profiles characterize obesity and colorectal cancer. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:643. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00643
- Cipolletta D. Adipose tissue-resident regulatory T cells: phenotypic specialization, functions and therapeutic potential. *Immunology* (2014) 142:517–25. doi: 10.1111/imm.12262
- Kälin S, Becker M, Ott VB, Serr I, Hosp F, Mollah MMH, et al. A Stat6/Pten axis links regulatory T Cells with adipose tissue function. *Cell Metab.* (2017) 26:475–92.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.08.008
- Haribhai D, Lin W, Relland LM, Truong N, Williams CB, Chatila TA. Regulatory T cells dynamically control the primary immune response to foreign antigen. J Immunol. (2007) 178:2961–72. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.5.2961
- Lin J, Li M, Wang Z, He S, Ma X, Li D. The role of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in macrophage-derived foam-cell formation. *J Lipid Res.* (2010) 51:1208– 17. doi: 10.1194/jlr.D000497
- Kanneganti TD, Dixit VD. Immunological complications of obesity. Nat Immunol. (2012) 13:707–12. doi: 10.1038/ni.2343
- Cho KW, Morris DL, DelProposto JL, Geletka L, Zamarron B, Martinez-Santibanez G, et al. An MHC II-dependent activation loop between adipose tissue macrophages and CD4+ T cells controls obesity-induced inflammation. *Cell Rep.* (2014) 9:605–17. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.09.004
- Lumeng CN, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR. Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. J Clin Invest. (2007) 117:175–84. doi: 10.1172/JCI29881.both
- Morris DL, Cho KW, DelProposto JL, Oatmen KE, Geletka LM, Martinez-Santibanez G, et al. Adipose tissue macrophages function as antigenpresenting cells and regulate adipose tissue CD4⁺ T cells in mice. *Diabetes* (2013) 62:2762–72. doi: 10.2337/db12-1404
- Onodera T, Fukuhara A, Jang MH, Shin J, Aoi K, Kikuta J, et al. Adipose tissue macrophages induce PPARγ-high FOXP3(+) regulatory T cells. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:16801. doi: 10.1038/srep16801
- Chusyd DE, Wang D, Huffman DM, Nagy TR. Relationships between rodent white adipose fat pads and human white adipose fat depots. *Front Nutr.* (2016) 3:10. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2016.00010
- 72. Fransen F, Zagato E, Mazzini E, Fosso B, Manzari C, El Aidy S, et al. BALB/c and C57BL/6 mice differ in polyreactive IgA abundance, which impacts the

generation of antigen-specific IgA and microbiota diversity. *Immunity* (2015) 43:527–40. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.08.011

- 73. Elderman M, Hugenholtz F, Belzer C, Boekschoten M, van Beek A, de Haan B, et al. Sex and strain dependent differences in mucosal immunology and microbiota composition in mice. *Biol Sex Differ*. (2018) 9:26. doi: 10.1186/s13293-018-0186-6
- 74. Tap J, Furet JP, Bensaada M, Philippe C, Roth H, Rabot S, et al. Gut microbiota richness promotes its stability upon increased dietary fibre intake in healthy adults. *Environ Microbiol.* (2015) 17:4954–64. doi: 10.1111/1462-2920.13006
- 75. Ley RE, Turnbaugh PJ, Klein S, Gordon JI. Human gut microbes associated with obesity. *Nature* (2006) 444:1022–3. doi: 10.1038/4441022a
- Mariat D, Firmesse O, Levenez F, Guimarăes V, Sokol H, Doré J, et al. The Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio of the human microbiota changes with age. *BMC Microbiol.* (2009) 9:123. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-9-123
- 77. Smelt MJ, de Haan BJ, Bron PA, van Swam I, Meijerink M, Wells JM, et al. L. plantarum, L. salivarius, and L. lactis Attenuate Th2 responses and increase Treg frequencies in healthy mice in a strain dependent manner. PLoS ONE (2012) 7:e47244. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0047244
- Kverka M, Zakostelska Z, Klimesova K, Sokol D, Hudcovic T, Hrncir T, et al. Oral administration of Parabacteroides distasonis antigens attenuates experimental murine colitis through modulation of immunity and microbiota composition. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2011) 163:250–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2010.04286.x
- Chakraborti CK. New-found link between microbiota and obesity. World J Gastrointest Pathophysiol. (2015) 6:110–9. doi: 10.4291/wjgp.v6.i4.110
- Couturier J, Lewis DE. HIV persistence in adipose tissue reservoirs. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. (2018) 15:60–71. doi: 10.1007/s11904-018-0378-z
- Neyrolles O, Herná Ndez-Pando R, Pietri-Rouxel F, Fornè P, Tailleux L, Barrios Payá JA, et al. Is adipose tissue a place for *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Persistence? *PLoS ONE* (2006) 1:e43. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0000043

- Tanowitz HB, Scherer PE, Mota MM, Figueiredo LM. Adipose tissue: a safe haven for parasites? *Trends Parasitol.* (2017) 33:276–84. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2016.11.008
- Maurizi G, Della Guardia L, Maurizi A, Poloni A. Adipocytes properties and crosstalk with immune system in obesity-related inflammation. *J Cell Physiol.* (2018) 233:88–97. doi: 10.1002/jcp.25855
- Jackson E, Shoemaker R, Larian N, Cassis L. Adipose tissue as a site of toxin accumulation. *Compr Physiol.* (2017) 7:1085–135. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c1 60038
- La Merrill M, Emond C, Kim MJ, Antignac JP, Le Bizec B, Clément K, et al. Toxicological function of adipose tissue: focus on persistent organic pollutants. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2012) 121:162–9. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1205485
- Guillaume-Jugnot P, Daumas A, Magalon J, Jouve E, Nguyen PS, Truillet R, et al. Autologous adipose-derived stromal vascular fraction in patients with systemic sclerosis: 12-month follow-up. *Rheumatology* (2016) 55:301–6. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kev323

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Laparra, Tricot, Le Van, Damouche, Gorwood, Vaslin, Favier, Benoist, Ho Tsong Fang, Bosquet, Le Grand, Chapon, Lambotte and Bourgeois. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





T Cells in Adipose Tissue in Aging

Antu Kalathookunnel Antony¹, Zeqin Lian¹ and Huaizhu Wu^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Medicine, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States, ² Department of Pediatrics, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States

Similar to obesity, aging is associated with visceral adiposity and insulin resistance. Inflammation in adipose tissue, mainly evidenced by increased accumulation and proinflammatory polarization of T cells and macrophages, has been well-documented in obesity and may contribute to the associated metabolic dysfunctions including insulin resistance. Studies show that increased inflammation, including inflammation in adipose tissue, also occurs in aging, so-called "inflamm-aging." Aging-associated inflammation in adipose tissue has some similarities but also differences compared to obesity-related inflammation. In particular, conventional T cells are elevated in adipose tissue in both obesity and aging and have been implicated in metabolic functions in obesity. However, the changes and also possibly functions of regulatory T cells (Treg) in adipose tissue are different in aging and obesity. In this review, we will summarize recent advances in research on the changes of these immune cells in adipose tissue with aging and obesity and discuss their possible contributions to metabolism and the potential of these immune cells as novel therapeutic targets for prevention and treatment of metabolic diseases associated with aging or obesity.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Kjetil Taskén, Oslo University Hospital, Norway

Reviewed by:

Wenxian Fu, University of California, San Diego, United States Meilian Liu, University of New Mexico Health Sciences Center, United States

> ***Correspondence:** Huaizhu Wu hwu@bcm.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 25 July 2018 Accepted: 30 November 2018 Published: 12 December 2018

Citation:

Kalathookunnel Antony A, Lian Z and Wu H (2018) T Cells in Adipose Tissue in Aging. Front. Immunol. 9:2945. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02945 Keywords: adipose tissue, inflammation, T cells, insulin resistance, aging, obesity

OVERVIEW

The rapidly increasing elderly population worldwide can cause a wide range of implications in healthcare policies of all nations. In the United States, the population aged 65 and over is projected to be 83.7 million by 2050, almost double the estimate of 43.1 million in 2012 (1). Both aging and obesity are associated with low-grade, chronic inflammation that may be detrimental to health. While obesity is triggered by excessive nutrient intake and sedentary lifestyle, aging is caused by deteriorative changes in adult organisms with advancing age. In certain circumstances, aging is termed "inflamm-aging," whereas increased inflammation of adipose tissue in obesity is described as "meta-flammation" or metabolically activated inflammation (2, 3).

DEVELOPMENT OF "INFLAMM-AGING"

Aging is an intricate, dynamic, and physiologic process that adversely affects most body functions, including the development and maintenance of the immune system (4). Basic aging mechanisms such as cellular senescence and diminished number or dysfunction of immune progenitor cells are causative factors of development of low-grade inflammation (5). Immunosenescence is a term to describe the decline of immune function associated with aging, which can lead to increased susceptibility to infections, cancer, and metabolic and autoimmune disorders (6, 7).

21

During the state of infection or tissue damage in healthy young individuals, the innate immune system, including neutrophils, monocytes, and natural killer (NK) cells, responds quickly. In addition, the adaptive immune system is activated by the action of antigen-presenting cells (APCs), and effector T and B lymphocytes are developed and fight against the insult with a refined antigen-specific immune response. After the effective removal of the invading pathogen, the host immune response must be deactivated and return to a quiescent state to prevent further tissue damage. A subset of T lymphocytes called regulatory T cells (Treg) are responsible for suppressing the deleterious effects of immune response (6). In general, both innate and adaptive immune systems are affected by aging, but adaptive immunity, especially T lymphocytes, are most susceptible to the detrimental effects of aging. The thymus is the key organ orchestrating production of new T lymphocytes, but age-associated chronic involution of the thymus results in a reduced proportion of naïve to memory T cells in the periphery (6, 8). As the number of naïve CD8+ T cells declines with aging, the diversity of naïve and memory T cell receptors (TCRs) is also reduced significantly in mice and humans (9). In parallel, aging represents a striking decline in humoral and cell-mediated responses mainly caused by the senescence of T lymphocytes (10). Hence, gradual deterioration of the immune system over the course of time leads to a mismatch between proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory signals that may disrupt inflammatory homeostasis causing "inflamm-aging."

ADIPOSE TISSUE INFLAMMATION IN AGING

Aging is commonly accompanied by obesity, especially abdominal/visceral adiposity that leads to numerous health problems such as insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome, cardiovascular disease, and disability (11, 12). Adipose tissue functions as the connecting link among nutrition, metabolism, thermoregulation and proper immune system function in healthy individuals (13). Alterations in adipose tissue are major contributors to age-associated metabolic dysfunctions and other health issues (5, 14, 15). There are two types of adipose tissue depots: (1) brown adipose tissue, composed of brown adipocytes, which contain numerous mitochondria and lipid droplets and function as the site of adaptive thermogenesis (16); (2) white adipose tissue, which includes visceral adipose depots and subcutaneous adipose depots and acts as the prime location where metabolic energy is stored in the form of triglycerides during periods of nutritional excess (17). In healthy young individuals, subcutaneous depots act as a metabolic sink where all the excess calories are stored in adipocytes in the form of triglycerides (18). But after the middle age, the ability of subcutaneous fat depots to store lipids declines (19), leading to relocation of excess fat to visceral fat depots, causing visceral adiposity (20). This excessive lipid accumulation in visceral fat depots, along with the surrounding tissue microenvironment, may drive adipose tissue inflammation. Indeed, when compared to subcutaneous adipose tissue, visceral adipose tissue contains more immune cells and plays a more critical role in immunometabolic homeostasis (21). The main immune cell types in visceral adipose tissue include macrophages (ATMs) and T lymphocytes, and other immune cell types which may change in numbers and phenotypes in aging and obesity (22–29). In this review, we focus on changes in T lymphocytes in adipose tissue in aging and the potential roles of adipose tissue T cells in metabolic functions.

CHANGES IN ADIPOSE TISSUE T CELLS IN AGING

The changes in adipose tissue T cells in obesity have been well-documented in mice and humans (24, 30-33). In contrast, information on age-related changes in adipose tissue T cells is limited. Most studies showing the effects of aging on T cells has focused on lymphoid tissues and blood. It has been well-recognized that aging in humans and mice increases the proportion of memory T cells in blood and lymphoid organs (34, 35). Further, T cells in aging tend to polarize to a proinflammatory phenotype, secreting high levels of type 1 cytokines such as IFN-y, TNF-a, and IL-6 (34, 36-39) and expressing elevated levels of chemokine receptors with enhanced chemotaxis to chemokines (40-42). In humans, one study showed that peripheral blood CD8+ T cells that are positive for IFN- γ , IL-2, and TNF- α are significantly increased with age among all three CD8+ subsets, i.e., naïve, effector/cytotoxic, and memory T cells (38). Another study revealed that intracellular TNF- α and IL-6 levels in blood T cells were significantly increased in the older age (37). This aging-associated elevation of proinflammatory cytokines could be one of the reasons for thymic involution and the reduced proportion of naïve to memory T cells (8). Thymic involution and immune system aging could result in alterations of T cell development, activation, homeostasis, and trafficking in peripheral tissues.

Limited numbers of studies have shown T cell changes in aging adipose tissue; data were generated mainly from mouse models at different ages [from 10 to 15 months ["middle age"] to >18 months ["old age"]]. Aging is commonly associated with visceral obesity and has some similarities but also differences in changes of adipose tissue immune cells, including T cells, when compared to diet-induced obesity (**Figure 1**).

Conventional CD4+ T Cells and CD8+ T Cells

Similar to obesity, aging is associated with significant increases in adipose tissue T cells. Compared to young mice, aged mice (18–22 months old) have ~2-fold increases in CD3+ T cells in adipose tissue when normalized to tissue weight (43). Both conventional CD4+ T cells and CD8+ T cells are significantly increased, with a greater increase in CD8+ than CD4+ T cells, in visceral fat of aged mice compared to that of young mice (43), which is also similar to the change with obesity (31, 44). The increases in adipose tissue T cells, particularly CD8+ T cells, were also observed in 11- to 16-months-old middle-aged mice (23, 45) and appeared to be influenced by sex, with females having



a higher percentage of CD8+ T cells than males (45), in contrast with obesity, in which a greater change in adipose tissue T cells occurred in males than females (24). Furthermore, CD69+activated and IFN- γ -expressing CD8+ T cells and activated CD4+ T cells are increased in adipose tissue of middle-aged mice (23, 45). These changes are similar to those in obesity (31, 44). However, the age-associated changes in adipose tissue T cells appear to be independent of adiposity (46). The increases in adipose tissue T cells in aging are tissue specific and are not observed in blood or lymphoid organs (43, 45).

Regulatory T Cells (Treg)

Treg normally represent a small portion of CD4+ T cells, and regulate inflammation and prevent autoimmune response mainly by suppressing conventional T cell proliferation and activation (47-49). Compared to lymphoid tissues and blood, adipose tissue is highly enriched with Treg in normal conditions. When compared to their spleen and lymph node counterparts, adipose Treg are a unique population having a specific antigen repertoire and a different transcript profile (30), with overexpression of transcripts encoding transcription factors (e.g., peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (Ppar)-y, Gata-3), chemokines or their receptors (e.g., CCR1, CCR2), cytokines or their receptors (e.g., IL10, IL1rl1), and proteins important in lipid metabolism (e.g., Dgat1, Pcyt1a) (50). In diet-induced obesity, adipose tissue Treg are dramatically reduced (30), and this Treg reduction is accompanied by loss of the adipose Treg signature in the remaining Treg population (50). In contrast to obesity, in aging, Treg are elevated in adipose tissue and continuously rise from young age to adult, middle-age and old age in mice (23, 30, 43, 51). Compared to young mice, middle-aged to old mice have 7-11-fold increases in adipose tissue Treg, which account for >50% of total CD4+ T cells in adipose tissue (23, 43). When compared to those in young mice, Treg of aged mice (25 weeks) have substantial increases in a set of transcripts (Ppar-y, Gata-3, Klrg1, Ccr2, and l1rl1), which continue to increase with aging and may result in local adaptation to the lipophilic, hypoxic adipose tissue environment (50).

Other Immune Cells

In addition to adaptive T lymphocytes, innate T lymphocytes such as $\gamma\delta T$ cells and invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cells are also located in adipose tissue. Both $\gamma\delta T$ cells and iNKT cells

are resident cells in adipose tissue. While $\gamma\delta T$ cells tend to be increased (52), iNKT cells are decreased in adipose tissue in obesity (53–55). Similarly, a recent study showed that adipose tissue $\gamma\delta T$ cells also increased with age in mice from 5 to 28 weeks, whereas adipose tissue iNKT cells decreased significantly with age (51).

It is also worth notice that aging is different from obesity in changes of some other important immune cells in adipose tissue. For example, it is well recognized that macrophages are increased and eosinophils are decreased in obese adipose tissue (25–28, 56). However, available data indicate that the numbers of adipose tissue macrophages and eosinophils show no or only modest changes in aging (23, 43, 46). Nevertheless, adipose tissue macrophages appear to have proinflammatory phenotypes in old mice (43).

FUNCTIONS OF ADIPOSE TISSUE T CELLS

In healthy young humans and mice, various T cell subpopulations harboring in adipose tissue may play pivotal roles in homeostasis and maintenance of immune cells, energy metabolism, and thermogenesis. Changes in adipose T cells in aging and obesity may contribute to adipose tissue inflammation and associated metabolic dysfunctions (**Figure 2**).

Role of T Cells in Adipose Tissue Inflammation

Conventional T cells, including CD4+ Th1 cells and effector CD8+ T cells, are elevated in adipose tissue and may play important roles in adipose tissue inflammation in both aging and obesity (31, 43–46). Conventional T cells are important inflammatory components producing high levels of inflammatory molecules such as IFN- γ , thereby contributing to inflammation. In addition, altered T cells and related inflammatory molecules may contribute to aging- or obesity-related adipose inflammation by influencing other immune cells such as macrophages in adipose tissue (31, 43, 44, 46). Some reports showed that in obesity induced by high-fat diet (HFD), conventional T cell infiltration and accumulation are the primary events and play important roles in the initiation of adipose tissue inflammation and in ATM infiltration and activation (31, 57, 58).



insulin-sensitive (IS) white adipocytes, beige adipocytes, and stromal cells are surrounded by "type 2" immune cells, including alternatively activated macrophages (M2), T helper type 2 (Th2) cells, eosinophils, innate lymphoid type 2 (ILC2) cells, regulatory T cells (Treg), and invariant natural killer T (INKT) cells, which interact with each other and produce type 2 cytokines such as IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 and may help maintain normal adipose functions, including adipocyte insulin sensitivity and beige fat thermogenesis. In aging, adipose tissue contains increased numbers of T cells including conventional CD4+ cells, CD8+ T cells and Treg and also proinflammatory M1-like macrophages/dendritic cells (DCs), which produce proinflammatory molecules such as IFN- γ and TNF- α and may contribute to adipose dysfunctions such as insulin resistance (IR) and impaired beige fat thermogenesis.

Indeed, combined CD4+ and CD8+ T cell deficiency in obese mice decreased ATMs and reduced adipose tissue inflammation (59). In addition, $\gamma\delta T$ cells, V $\gamma4$, and V $\gamma6$ subsets in particular, may also contribute to macrophage accumulation and inflammation in adipose tissue in obesity. Deletion of $\gamma\delta T$ cells or Vy4/6 prevents obesity-induced macrophage accumulation and inflammation in mice (52). In contrast to conventional CD4+, CD8+ T cells, and $\gamma\delta T$ cells, Treg are dramatically decreased in adipose tissue in obesity, and expansion of Treg in obese mice protects against adipose tissue inflammation, with decreased ATMs and related inflammatory markers (30, 60). Conversely, depletion of Treg in young mice may increase adipose tissue levels of several inflammatory markers (30). These data suggest a protective role of Treg in obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation. In contrast, Treg are increased in adipose tissue of aging mice, and depletion of adipose tissue Treg did not significantly enhance systemic and tissue inflammation in aging mice (23).

iNKT cells are enriched in adipose tissue and may play a role in adipose tissue Treg homeostasis by producing IL-2 in young mice (see section Regulatory T Cell Maintenance in Adipose Tissue). However, data are not consistent about the roles of iNKT in adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance associated with obesity, which were recently discussed in other review articles (61–63) and are not included in this review.

In addition to their crucial role in visceral adipose inflammation, T cells, conventional CD4+ and CD8+ T cells in particular, also infiltrate into skeletal muscle, mainly localized within intermyocellular and perimuscular adipose tissue, and play substantial roles in skeletal muscle inflammation in obesity (59, 64, 65). Their potential role in aging-related inflammation in skeletal muscle remains to be investigated.

Inflammation has been involved in adipose tissue remodeling (28). In particular, proinflammatory M1-like macrophages have been implicated in adipose tissue remodeling associated with obesity (66). Given the crucial roles of T cells, especially Th1 cells and cytokine IFN- γ , in macrophage M1 polarization(66, 67), T cells may also play a role in adipose tissue remodeling via regulation of macrophage phenotypes. However, a potential direct role of T cells in adipose tissue

remodeling, particularly in relation to aging, remains to be studied.

Roles of Conventional T Cells in Insulin Resistance

Inflammation in adipose tissue has been implicated in insulin resistance and metabolic dysfunctions associated with obesity. Depletion of CD8+ T cells ameliorated systemic insulin resistance, while adoptive transfer of CD8+ T cells aggravated insulin resistance in obese mice, demonstrating a crucial role of CD8+ T cells in systemic metabolic dysfunctions in obesity (31). CD4+ Th1 cells may have similar contributions to obesityrelated insulin resistance; reductions in adipose tissue Th1 by ablation of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II molecule (MHCII) on adipocytes or ATMs were associated with improved insulin resistance in obese mice (58, 68, 69). Our study showed that combined deficiency of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells in obese mice, with reduced inflammatory status, improved insulin resistance systemically and in adipose tissue as well as in skeletal muscle (59, 65). The mechanisms underlying contributions of proinflammatory T cells (mainly CD4+ Th1 and effector CD8+ T cells) to insulin resistance may include direct adverse effects of these T cells or T cell cytokines such as IFN- γ on metabolic functions and insulin sensitivity in adipocytes or skeletal muscle through the JAK/STAT1 pathway (24, 65, 70) and T cell effects on other immune cells such as macrophages, which also play important roles in metabolic functions including insulin resistance. In contrast to Th1 and effector CD8+ T cells, Th2 cells, which produce type 2 cytokines such as IL-4 and IL-5, may protect against obesity and related insulin resistance; transfer of CD4+ T cells reverses weight gain and insulin resistance in HFDfed lymphocyte-free mice, mainly through polarization into Th2 cells (32).

Aging is commonly associated with insulin resistance and increased prevalence of metabolic syndrome in most populations. Given the massive increases of CD8+ T cells and conventional CD4+ T cells in aging adipose tissue (43) and the discussed roles of T cells in metabolic functions, it is plausible that adipose tissue T cells may also contribute to age-related metabolic dysfunction and insulin resistance (5, 9). However, more elaborate studies are needed to unveil aging-related changes in the phenotypes of adipose tissue T cells and the exact roles of adipose tissue T cells in age-associated metabolic functions.

Role of Treg in Metabolic Function

Visceral adipose tissue of lean mice contains more Treg cells than that of obese counterparts (30). Possible functions of Treg in lean adipose include monitoring the activity of conventional T cells and regulating proper functioning of neighboring macrophages and adipocytes (30). Gain-of-function and loss-of-function approaches demonstrated that Treg play a protective role in insulin sensitivity and energy homeostasis in obesity (30, 60). Treg may improve insulin sensitivity through the release of anti-inflammatory molecules such as IL-10 and TGF- β that may counteract the proinflammatory signals in both humans and rodents (71, 72). Consistent with these findings, Deng

et al. also showed that maintenance of adipose Treg in obese mice with adipocyte-specific deletion of MHCII was associated with improved insulin resistance (69). In contrast to obesity, in aging adipose tissue, Treg undergoes significant expansion. Depletion of adipose Treg was found to be protective against ageassociated metabolic dysregulation. Aging mice with depletion of adipose Treg exhibited increased insulin sensitivity compared to control mice (23), suggesting that Treg in adipose tissue may play a detrimental role in age-associated insulin resistance. The inflammatory status of mice with adipose Treg depletion did not change significantly compared to control mice. Although the mechanisms whereby adipose Treg contribute to age-related insulin resistance remain to be investigated, it seems likely that the pathophysiological mechanisms that regulate age-associated insulin resistance and obesity-induced insulin resistance may be different (23, 30).

Roles of T Cells in Thermogenesis

Adipose tissue is one of the key organs responsible for whole body energy homeostasis via energy storage/dissipation depending on nutrient intake and external temperature fluctuations (73). Beige adipocytes, which may develop within white adipose depots, particularly in subcutaneous adipose depots, have a similar energy dissipation function as that of brown adipocytes, which is mainly induced by cold and beta-adrenergic activation (74–76). Innate and adaptive immune system components are reported to contribute to and regulate the energy storage/dissipation functions of adipose tissue (77–79). Recent reports suggest that along with macrophages, T cells may play a significant role in the regulation and maintenance of thermogenesis and overall adipose tissue energy homeostasis.

Th2 cells and associated type 2 immune cell populations such as innate lymphoid type 2 (ILC2) cells and eosinophils in young lean adipose tissue have a significant role in defining a favorable adipose niche for beige adipocyte development and thermogenesis (80). The major cytokines produced by Th2 cells, eosinophils, and ILC2 cells during type 2 immune response are IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 (81, 82), which may promote the proliferation and differentiation of PDGFRa+ adipose stromal precursor cells to thermogenic beige adipocytes and therefore help to maintain thermogenesis in young lean conditions (83). In addition, type 2 cytokines and eosinophils are essential factors for the differentiation and propagation of alternatively activated M2 macrophages (56), which may play a role in inducing adipose thermogenesis by producing catecholamine (77). However, a more recent study by Fischer et al did not show a role of M2 macrophages in inducing adipose thermogenesis (84).

In addition to Th2 cells, PLZF+ $\gamma\delta$ T cells, and iNKT cells may also contribute to induction of adipose thermogenic function (51, 85, 86). Adipose-residing $\gamma\delta$ T cells are important for the preservation of body temperature and thermogenic function, possibly by producing IL-17A. Under cold challenge, mice deficient in either $\gamma\delta$ T cells or IL17A have reduced UCP-1 expression and are unable to survive (51). In obesity, activation of iNKT cells induces adipose thermogenesis, leading to weight loss, in mice, likely through induction of FGF21 (86). The action of FGF21 in white adipose tissue is implicated by the activation of PGC1 α along with induction of adiponectin, resulting in improved energy expenditure (87, 88).

In aging, the functional beige adipocytes decline, as the number of fully active beige adipocytes in human and mice depend on the whole body metabolic fitness (89-91). How changes in adipose tissue immune cells contribute to agerelated decline in adipose thermogenic functions remain largely unknown. Depletion of adipose Treg in mice reduced ageassociated weight gain and adiposity, with enhanced energy expenditure (23), indicating a role of adipose Treg in age-related energy metabolism. Recently, Moysidou et al. demonstrated an inhibitory effect of CD8+ T cells on adipose thermogenesis in mice, possibly by secreting IFN- γ , which may have direct effects on thermogenesis or interfere with the effects of other immune cells, such as eosinophils and ILC2 cells, on thermogenesis (79). It is possible that conventional CD4+ T cells, particularly Th1 cells, have similar functions in adipose thermogenesis because of IFN- γ expression (79). Based on the elevations in CD8+ and conventional CD4+ T cells in aging adipose tissue, it is reasonable to hypothesize that these immune cells may play a role in age-associated decline in adipose thermogenic functions and energy expenditure. However, this hypothesis remains to be tested.

MECHANISMS FOR CHANGES IN ADIPOSE TISSUE T CELLS

Regulatory T Cell Maintenance in Adipose Tissue

Treg are resident cells in adipose tissue (30). These adipose Treg in mice are seeded from the thymus during an early stage of life and expand within adipose with aging (23, 43, 92). Recently, Li et al. showed that immature Treg from the thymus undergo a priming step in the spleen prior to infiltration into adipose tissue, which may permit them to leave lymphoid organs and to survive in non-lymphoid organs, including adipose tissue (93). While iNKT cells, a type of lipid-sensing innate T cells, may assist in regulating adipose tissue Treg number and function in young mice by producing IL-2 (85), two factors, i.e., interaction of TCR-antigen-MHCII on APCs and cytokines such as IL-33, may be the main drivers of visceral adipose Treg accumulation in aging (92). Treg in aging adipose tissue express high levels of ST2, a receptor for IL-33, and IL-33 efficiently induces Treg differentiation and expansion in aging visceral adipose tissue (23, 93, 94). Recently, a subpopulation of $\gamma\delta T$ cells termed PLZF+ $\gamma\delta T$ cells was demonstrated to play a considerable role in age-related adipose Treg accumulation via producing IL-17A, which induces stromal cell production of IL-33 in adipose tissue (51). Two subpopulations of APCs have been identified in aging mouse visceral adipose tissue-MHCII+CD11b+CD11c+ macrophages and MHCII+CD11b-CD11c+ dendritic cells-both of which were colocalized with Tregs and may play important roles in Treg maintenance within adipose tissue in aging, possibly via the TCR-antigen-MHCII interaction (92). Importantly, PPAR-y, the master regulator of adipocyte differentiation, has been shown to be a crucial molecular driver for Treg cell accumulation and function in visceral adipose tissue (95). In obesity, Th1 inflammation mediated by obese adipocyte- or macrophage-expressed MHCII may contribute to the reduction in adipose Treg in diet-induced obesity via producing IFN- γ , which blocks the effects of IL-33 on Treg proliferation. Adipocyte-specific deletion of MHCII prevents diet-induced adipose inflammation and Treg reduction (69). In addition, influx of inflammatory macrophages, release of inflammatory cytokines and imbalance of adipokines in obesity may restrict the survival of adipose tissue Treg by modulation of the adipose tissue microenvironment (30, 67, 96).

Conventional T Cell Infiltration Into Adipose Tissue

Infiltration or migration of T cells into lymphoid organs or peripheral tissues is tightly and specifically regulated by collective effects of various adhesion molecules and chemokines/receptors (97-99). Several reports explained the mechanisms for infiltration of conventional T cells into adipose tissue and the roles of adhesion molecules and chemokines/receptors under obese conditions, but few reports are available for those related to aging. Using mouse models of obesity, our group observed that CD11a, a β 2 integrin that is highly expressed on T cells, is upregulated in obesity and plays a crucial role in CD8+ T cell infiltration in adipose tissue in obese mice (44). In addition, dysfunctional, damaged or necrotic adipocytes and immune cells, including T cells, can secrete chemokines that may accelerate lymphocyte homing into adipose tissue (100). In our earlier study, we observed that RANTES, a CC chemokine (CCL5), and its receptor, CCR5, were upregulated in adipose tissue of obese mice and humans and that RANTES was colocalized with T cells within mouse adipose tissue. Our ex vivo/in vitro studies indicated that RANTES is an adipokine that can be produced by adipocytes and plays an important role in T cell migration, suggesting a potential role of the RANTES/CCR5 axis in adipose T cell accumulation in obesity (24). Another report showed that the preadipocyte- and endothelial cell-derived stromal-derived factor-1a (CXCL12), mediated early infiltration of CD4+ T lymphocytes in obesity, which preceded the increase of macrophages in adipose tissue of mice on HFD (101). In obese humans, adipocyte-secreted CCL20 may contribute to the accumulation of CD4+ helper and CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes within adipose tissue, possibly via interaction with CCR6 that was upregulated on T cells in obese adipose tissue (100). However, the key molecules that mediate T cell infiltration into adipose tissue in aging remain to be identified.

Activation of Conventional T Cells in Adipose Tissue

CD4+ T Cell Activation

TCRs identify the presence of a specific antigen by binding to short peptide sequences from the antigen that is displayed on APCs. These short peptide sequences from the antigen are usually presented on the cell surface of APCs with the help of

T Cells in Adipose Tissue in Aging

MHCII molecules, which are crucial for activation of CD4+ T cells (102). Classically, naïve CD4+ T cells become activated and differentiated to effector T cells by three signals: signal 1, interaction of TCR with a peptide antigen-MHCII complex carried by APCs; signal 2, costimulatory signals such as CD28 and cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen (CTLA) expressed on T lymphocytes and their ligands CD80 and CD86 expressed on APCs; and signal 3, cytokines such as IL-12, TGF-β, and IL-10 secreted by APCs and Treg (29, 58). Deng et al. reported that both visceral and subcutaneous adipocytes from obese humans and mice expressed all MHCII components required for antigen presentation and increased levels of CD80 and CD86, and may therefore function as APCs. Indeed, the primary adipocytes isolated from obese mice could induce antigenspecific CD4+ T cell activation (58). Xiao et al. further described that mostly large adipocytes from obese adipose tissue exhibited an elevated expression level of MHCII molecules and acted as APCs to activate CD4+ T cells to secrete IFN- γ (103). In the early stage of obesity induced by HFD, elevated free fatty acids may be the initial stimulus for adipocyte hypertrophy and MHCII-related gene upregulation, possibly via activation of JNK and STAT1, which may further activate CIITA, a prime regulator of MHCII expression (103, 104). As obesity progresses, free fatty acids may act synergistically with IFNy to upregulate MHCII on adipocytes. Studies by Morris and Cho et al. indicated that ATMs colocalized with T cells in lymphoid clusters within adipose tissue and may act as APCs, which express high levels of MHCII and also costimulatory molecules and process and present antigens to induce CD4+ Tcell proliferation and activation in adipose tissue of obese mice (29, 68, 105). Taken together, one important mechanism for obese adipose CD4+ T cell activation may be mediated through MHCII expressed on ATMs and adipocytes. However, its role in agingrelated adipose tissue CD4+ T cell activation remains to be investigated.

CD8+ T Cell Activation

Compared to CD4+ T cells, CD8+ T cells show a greater increase in adipose tissue in obesity and in aging (31, 43, 106). Similar to CD4+ T cells, CD8+ T cells exhibit effector memory or effector phenotypes expressing elevated levels of IFN- γ in obese adipose tissue (31, 44). The mechanism for CD8+ T cell activation in adipose tissue is not fully understood. Nishimura et al. showed that adipose tissue from obese mice induced proliferation of splenic CD8+ T cells, indicating a CD8+ T cellactivating environment in obese adipose tissue (31). In addition to a role in adaptive immunity, memory CD8+ T cells are involved in innate immunity, being able to become activated and to proliferate under cytokine stimulation (107, 108). Indeed, CD8+ T cells from mouse adipose tissue respond to cytokines and become activated and proliferate under stimulation of IL-12 and IL-18, which are mainly produced by APCs and are elevated in obese adipose tissue (44). Results from a CD11a-knockout mouse model revealed that CD11a also plays a pivotal role in adipose CD8+ T cell trafficking, proliferation, accumulation and activation (44).

In parallel to the changes in adipose CD8+T cells in obesity, aging is reported to accelerate accumulation of CD8+T cells in adipose tissue, which may contribute to increased adipose inflammation. However, the mechanisms for the aging-related changes in adipose tissue CD8+T cells remain unknown. From the above discussion regarding the impact of immune system aging on T cell homeostasis and phenotypes in lymphoid organs and peripheral blood, it is reasonable to hypothesize that immune system aging may contribute to the changes in adipose tissue T cells and inflammation associated with age.

CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

Similar to obesity, aging is associated with visceral adiposity and metabolic dysfunctions, including insulin resistance. Numerous studies have investigated the potential mechanisms and functions of various subpopulations of adipose T cells in obesity and related metabolic complications. Limited reports have also shown expansion of T cells, including conventional T cells and Treg, in adipose tissue in aging. However, little is known about the mechanisms of adipose T cell accumulation and their role in metabolic diseases associated with aging. Hence, future studies will need to address mechanisms and functions of adipose T cell populations in aging. In particular, some key questions need to be addressed. First, do the changes in adipose tissue T cells observed in aging mice also occur in humans? Second, what are the major factors that drive accumulation and phenotypes of various types of T cells in adipose tissue in aging? Third, why do adipose Treg function differently in age- and obesityassociated insulin resistance? Fourth, how do other T cell subpopulations, conventional T cell populations in particular, contribute to age-related metabolic disease? Finally, and most importantly, will targeting immune cells and inflammation be practical and beneficial in preventing and treating age-related metabolic disease?

In recent years, some clinical trials have illustrated the potential of targeting inflammation with pharmacological agents to treat metabolic diseases. Improvements of glucose metabolism and β-cell function and reduction of HbA1c were reported in diabetic patients after treatment with anakinra, a recombinant analog for IL-1Ra that blocks the action of the inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β (109, 110). In another study, a selective JAK1/JAK2 inhibitor, baricitinib, was found to be effective in treating diabetic kidney disease and also lowering HbA1c in patients with type 2 diabetes and diabetic nephropathy (111, 112). Cenicriviroc, an oral dual chemokine receptor CCR2/CCR5 antagonist, was recently shown to ameliorate insulin resistance, hepatic inflammation and fibrosis in obese humans and mice with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (113, 114). However, to date, inflammation-targeting therapies have not been very successful in treating metabolic diseases, particularly in humans. Further, because of the chronic nature of most metabolic diseases, the potential side effects (vs. benefits) of long-term use of inflammation-targeting drugs need to be evaluated. Nevertheless, further advances in our understanding of the roles and mechanisms of inflammation in metabolic diseases may open up novel avenues for the discovery of newer classes of pharmacological targets/agents for diabetes treatment, which may also provide novel opportunities for prevention and treatment of age-associated metaboli disease.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HW contributed to manuscript initiation and revision. AK and ZL contributed to manuscript writing.

REFERENCES

- Ortman JM, Velkoff VA, Hogan H. An Aging Nation: The Older Population in the United States. Current Population Reports -U.S. Census Bureau P25-1140 (2014). p. 1–28.
- Franceschi C, Bonafe M, Valensin S, Olivieri F, De Luca M, Ottaviani E, et al. Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2000) 908:244–54. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb0 6651.x
- Hotamisligil GS. Inflammation and metabolic disorders. Nature (2006) 444:860–7. doi: 10.1038/nature05485
- Miller RA. Aging and immune function: cellular and biochemical analyses. Exp Gerontol. (1994) 29:21–35.
- Palmer AK, Kirkland JL. Aging and adipose tissue: potential interventions for diabetes and regenerative medicine. *Exp Gerontol.* (2016) 86:97–105. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2016.02.013
- Gruver AL, Hudson LL, Sempowski GD. Immunosenescence of ageing. J Pathol. (2007) 211:144–56. doi: 10.1002/path.2104
- Michaud M, Balardy L, Moulis G, Gaudin C, Peyrot C, Vellas B, et al. Proinflammatory cytokines, aging, and age-related diseases. J Am Med Direct Assoc. (2013) 14:877–82. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2013. 05.009
- Nikolich-Zugich J. Aging of the T cell compartment in mice and humans: from no naive expectations to foggy memories. *J Immunol.* (2014) 193:2622–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1401174
- Blackman MA, Woodland DL. The narrowing of the CD8 T cell repertoire in old age. Curr Opin Immunol. (2011) 23:537–42. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2011.05.005
- 10. Linton P-J, Thoman ML. T cell senescence. Front. Biosci. (2001) 6:d248-61.
- Horber FF, Gruber B, Thomi F, Jensen EX, Jaeger P. Effect of sex and age on bone mass, body composition and fuel metabolism in humans. *Nutrition* (1997) 13:524–34. doi: 10.1016/S0899-9007(97)0 0031-2
- Pascot A, Lemieux S, Lemieux I, Prud'homme D, Tremblay A, Bouchard C. Age-related increase in visceral adipose tissue and body fat and the metabolic risk profile of premenopausal women. *Diabetes Care* (1999) 22:1471–8.
- Mraz M, Haluzik M. The role of adipose tissue immune cells in obesity and low-grade inflammation. J Endocrinol. (2014) 222:R113–27. doi: 10.1530/JOE-14-0283
- Tchkonia T, Morbeck TE, von Zglinicki T, Van Deursen J, Lustgarten J, Scrable H. Fat tissue, aging, and cellular senescence. *Aging Cell* 9 (2010) 9:667–84. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2010.00608.x
- Mau T, Yung R. Adipose tissue inflammation in aging. *Exp Gerontol.* (2018) 105:27–31. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2017.10.014
- Wang W, Seale P. Control of brown and beige fat development. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2016) 17:691–702. doi: 10.1038/nrm.2016.96
- Villarroya F, Cereijo R, Villarroya J, Giralt M. Brown adipose tissue as a secretory organ. *Nature Rev Endocrinol.* (2017) 13:26–35. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2016.136
- Freedland ES. Role of a critical visceral adipose tissue threshold (CVATT) in metabolic syndrome: implications for controlling dietary carbohydrates: a review. *Nutr Metab.* (2004) 1:12. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-1-12

FUNDING

This work was supported by a National Institute of Health grant (R01 HL098839), an American Heart Association award (AHA16GRNT30410012), and an American Diabetes Association award (1-17-IBS-082) (to HW).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Kerrie Jara for editorial assistance.

- Jensen MD. Role of body fat distribution and the metabolic complications of obesity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2008) 93:S57–63. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-1585
- Kuk JL, Saunders TJ, Davidson LE, Ross R. Age-related changes in total and regional fat distribution. *Ageing Res Rev.* (2009) 8:339–48. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2009.06.001
- 21. Nosalski R, Guzik TJ. Perivascular adipose tissue inflammation in vascular disease. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2017) 174:3496–513. doi: 10.1111/bph.13705
- Olefsky JM, Glass CK. Macrophages, inflammation, and insulin resistance. Ann Rev Physiol. (2010) 72:219–46. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-021909-135846
- Bapat SP, Myoung Suh J, Fang S, Liu S, Zhang Y, Cheng A, et al. Depletion of fat-resident Treg cells prevents age-associated insulin resistance. *Nature* (2015) 528:137–41.
- Wu H, Ghosh S, Perrard XD, Feng L, Garcia GE, Perrard JL, et al. Tcell accumulation and regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted upregulation in adipose tissue in obesity. *Circulation* (2007) 115:1029–38. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.638379
- Wu H, Perrard XD, Wang Q, Perrard JL, Polsani VR, Jones PH, et al. CD11c expression in adipose tissue and blood and its role in diet-induced obesity. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2010) 30:186–92. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.198044
- Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL, Ferrante AW Jr. Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J Clin Investig. (2003) 112:1796–808. doi: 10.1172/JCI200319246
- Xu H, Barnes GT, Yang Q, Tan G, Yang D, Chou CJ, et al. Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance. *J Clin Investig.* (2003) 112:1821–30. doi: 10.1172/JCI200319451
- Lumeng CN, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR. Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. *J Clin Invest.* (2007) 117:175–84. doi: 10.1172/JCI29881
- Morris DL, Cho KW, Delproposto JL, Oatmen KE, Geletka LM, Martinez-Santibanez G. Adipose tissue macrophages function as antigen-presenting cells and regulate adipose tissue CD4+ T cells in mice. *Diabetes* (2013) 62:2762–72. doi: 10.2337/db12-1404
- Feuerer M, Herrero L, Cipolletta D, Naaz A, Wong J, Nayer A, et al. Lean, but not obese, fat is enriched for a unique population of regulatory T cells that affect metabolic parameters. *Nature Med.* (2009) 15:930–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.2002
- Nishimura S, Manabe I, Nagasaki M, Eto K, Yamashita H, Ohsugi M, et al. CD8+ effector T cells contribute to macrophage recruitment and adipose tissue inflammation in obesity. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:914–20. doi: 10.1038/nm.1964
- Winer S, Chan Y, Paltser G, Truong D, Tsui H, Bahrami J, et al. Normalization of obesity-associated insulin resistance through immunotherapy. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:921–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.2001
- McLaughlin T, Liu LF, Lamendola C, Shen L, Morton J, Rivas H, et al. Tcell profile in adipose tissue is associated with insulin resistance and systemic inflammation in humans. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2014) 34:2637–43. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.304636
- 34. Garg SK, Delaney C, Shi H, Yung R. Changes in adipose tissue macrophages and T cells during aging. *Crit. Rev.*

Immunol. (2014) 34:1–14. doi: 10.1615/CritRevImmunol.20130 06833

- 35. Nagelkerken L, Hertogh-Huijbregts A, Dobber R, Drager A. Agerelated changes in lymphokine production related to a decreased number of CD45RBhi CD4+ T cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (1991) 21:273–81. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830210206
- Johnson TE. Recent results: biomarkers of aging. Exp Gerontol. (2006) 41:1243-6. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2006.09.006
- O'Mahony L, Holland J, Jackson J, Feighery C, Hennessy TP, Mealy K. Quantitative intracellular cytokine measurement: age-related changes in proinflammatory cytokine production. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (1998) 113:213–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2249.1998.00641.x
- 38. Zanni F, Vescovini R, Biasini C, Fagnoni F, Zanlari L, Telera A, et al. Marked increase with age of type 1 cytokines within memory and effector/cytotoxic CD8+ T cells in humans: a contribution to understand the relationship between inflammation and immunosenescence. *Exp Gerontol.* (2003) 38:981–7. doi: 10.1016/S0531-5565(03)00160-8
- Trott DW, Henson GD, Ho MH, Allison SA, Lesniewski LA, Donato AJ. Age-related arterial immune cell infiltration in mice is attenuated by caloric restriction or voluntary exercise. *Exp Gerontol.* (2016) 109:99–107. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2016.12.016
- Mo R, Chen J, Han Y, Bueno-Cannizares C, Misek DE, Lescure PA, et al. T cell chemokine receptor expression in aging. *J Immunol.* (2003) 170:895–904. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.2.895
- Cane S, Ponnappan S, Ponnappan U. Altered regulation of CXCR4 expression during aging contributes to increased CXCL12-dependent chemotactic migration of CD4(+) T cells. *Aging Cell* (2012) 11:651–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2012.00830.x
- Yung R, Mo R, Grolleau-Julius A, Hoeltzel M. The effect of aging and caloric restriction on murine CD8+ T cell chemokine receptor gene expression. *Immun Ageing* (2007) 4:8. doi: 10.1186/1742-4933-4-8
- Lumeng CN, Liu J, Geletka L, Delaney C, Delproposto J, Desai A, et al. Aging is associated with an increase in T cells and inflammatory macrophages in visceral adipose tissue. *J Immunol.* (2011) 187:6208–16. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102188
- 44. Jiang E, Perrard XD, Yang D, Khan IM, Perrard JL, Smith CW, et al. Essential role of CD11a in CD8+ T-cell accumulation and activation in adipose tissue. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2014) 34:34–43. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.302077
- Ahnstedt H, Roy-O'Reilly M, Spychala MS, Mobley AS, Bravo-Alegria J, Chauhan A, et al. Sex differences in adipose tissue CD8(+) T cells and regulatory T cells in middle-aged mice. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:659. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00659
- Krishna KB, Stefanovic-Racic M, Dedousis N, Sipula I, O'Doherty RM. Similar degrees of obesity induced by diet or aging cause strikingly different immunologic and metabolic outcomes. *Physiol Rep.* (2016) 4:e12708. doi: 10.14814/phy2.12708
- Lu L, Barbi J, Pan F. The regulation of immune tolerance by FOXP3. Nat Rev Immunol. (2017) 17:703–17. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.75
- Sakaguchi S, Yamaguchi T, Nomura T, Ono M. Regulatory T cells and immune tolerance. *Cell* (2008) 133:775–87. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.05.009
- Hu X, Ivashkiv LB. Cross-regulation of signaling pathways by interferongamma: implications for immune responses and autoimmune diseases. *Immunity* (2009) 31:539–50. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.09.002
- Cipolletta D, Cohen P, Spiegelman BM, Benoist C, Mathis D. Appearance and disappearance of the mRNA signature characteristic of Treg cells in visceral adipose tissue: age, diet, and PPARγ effects. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:482–87. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1423486112
- Kohlgruber AC, Gal-Oz ST, LaMarche NM, Shimazaki M, Duquette D, Nguyen HN, et al. gammadelta T cells producing interleukin-17A regulate adipose regulatory T cell homeostasis and thermogenesis. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:464–74. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0094-2
- 52. Mehta P, Nuotio-Antar AM, Smith CW. gammadelta T cells promote inflammation and insulin resistance during high fat diet-induced obesity in mice. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2015) 97:121–34. doi: 10.1189/jlb.3A0414-211RR
- 53. Lynch L, Nowak M, Varghese B, Clark J, Hogan AE, Toxavidis V, et al. Adipose tissue invariant NKT cells protect against diet-induced obesity

and metabolic disorder through regulatory cytokine production. *Immunity* (2012) 37:574–87. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.06.016

- Subramanian S, Turner MS, Ding Y, Goodspeed L, Wang S, Buckner JH, et al. Increased levels of invariant natural killer T lymphocytes worsen metabolic abnormalities and atherosclerosis in obese mice. *J Lipid Res.* (2013) 54:2831–41. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M041020
- 55. Lopez S, Garcia-Serrano S, Gutierrez-Repiso C, Rodriguez-Pacheco F, Ho-Plagaro A, Santiago-Fernandez C, et al. Tissue-specific phenotype and activation of iNKT cells in morbidly obese subjects: interaction with adipocytes and effect of bariatric surgery. *Obes Surg.* (2018) 28:2774–82. doi: 10.1007/s11695-018-3215-y
- 56. Wu D, Molofsky AB, Liang HE, Ricardo-Gonzalez RR, Jouihan HA, Bando JK, et al. Eosinophils sustain adipose alternatively activated macrophages associated with glucose homeostasis. *Science* (2011) 332:243–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1201475
- Bouloumie A, Casteilla L, Lafontan M. Adipose tissue lymphocytes and macrophages in obesity and insulin resistance: makers or markers, and which comes first? *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2008) 28:1211–3. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.168229
- Deng T, Lyon CJ, Minze LJ, Lin J, Zou J, Liu JZ, et al. Class II major histocompatibility complex plays an essential role in obesity-induced adipose inflammation. *Cell Metab.* (2013) 17:411–22. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.02.009
- Khan IM, Dai Perrard XY, Perrard JL, Mansoori A, Smith CW, Wu H, et al. Attenuated adipose tissue and skeletal muscle inflammation in obese mice with combined CD4+ and CD8+ T cell deficiency. *Atherosclerosis* (2014) 233:419–28. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.01.011
- Ilan Y, Maron R, Tukpah AM, Maioli TU, Murugaiyan G, Yang K, et al. Induction of regulatory T cells decreases adipose inflammation and alleviates insulin resistance in ob/ob mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:9765–70. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0908771107
- Park YJ, Park J, Huh JY, Hwang I, Choe SS, Kim JB. Regulatory roles of invariant natural killer T cells in adipose tissue inflammation: defenders against obesity-induced metabolic complications. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1311. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01311
- Ren Y, Sekine-Kondo E, Tateyama M, Kasetthat T, Wongratanacheewin S, Watarai H. New genetically manipulated mice provide insights into the development and physiological functions of invariant natural killer T cells. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1294. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01294
- Satoh M, Iwabuchi K. Role of natural killer T cells in the development of obesity and insulin resistance: insights from recent progress. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1314. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01314
- Wu H, Ballantyne CM. Skeletal muscle inflammation and insulin resistance in obesity. J Clin Invest. (2017) 127:43–54. doi: 10.1172/JCI88880
- 65. Khan IM, Perrard XY, Brunner G, Lui H, Sparks LM, Smith SR, et al. Intermuscular and perimuscular fat expansion in obesity correlates with skeletal muscle T cell and macrophage infiltration and insulin resistance. *Int J Obes*. (2015) 39:1607–18. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2015.104
- Sun K, Kusminski CM, Scherer PE. Adipose tissue remodeling and obesity. J Clin Investig. (2011) 121:2094–101. doi: 10.1172/JCI45887
- Lumeng CN, Deyoung SM, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR. Increased inflammatory properties of adipose tissue macrophages recruited during diet-induced obesity. *Diabetes* (2007) 56:16–23. doi: 10.2337/db06-1076
- Cho KW, Morris DL, DelProposto JL, Geletka L, Zamarron B, Martinez-Santibanez G, et al. An MHC II-dependent activation loop between adipose tissue macrophages and CD4+ T cells controls obesity-induced inflammation. *Cell Rep.* (2014) 9:605–17. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.09.004
- Deng T, Liu J, Deng Y, Minze L, Xiao X, Wright V, et al. Adipocyte adaptive immunity mediates diet-induced adipose inflammation and insulin resistance by decreasing adipose Treg cells. *Nature Commun.* (2017) 8:15725. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15725
- McGillicuddy FC, Chiquoine EH, Hinkle CC, Kim RJ, Shah R, Roche HM, et al. Interferon gamma attenuates insulin signaling, lipid storage, and differentiation in human adipocytes via activation of the JAK/STAT pathway. *J Biol Chem.* (2009) 284:31936–44. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.061655
- Bluher M, Fasshauer M, Tonjes A, Kratzsch J, Schon MR, Paschke R. Association of interleukin-6, C-reactive protein, interleukin-10 and adiponectin plasma concentrations with measures of obesity, insulin

sensitivity and glucose metabolism. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* (2005) 113:534–7. doi: 10.1055/s-2005-872851

- 72. Scarpelli D, Cardellini M, Andreozzi F, Laratta E, Hribal ML, Marini MA, et al. Variants of the interleukin-10 promoter gene are associated with obesity and insulin resistance but not type 2 diabetes in caucasian italian subjects. *Diabetes* (2006) 55:1529–33. doi: 10.2337/db06-0047
- SchererPE. Adipose tissue: from lipid storage compartment to endocrine organ. *Diabetes* (2006) 55:1537–45. doi: 10.2337/db06-0263
- Vosselman MJ, van Marken Lichtenbelt WD, Schrauwen P. Energy dissipation in brown adipose tissue: from mice to men. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2013) 379:43–50. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2013.04.017
- Ikeda K, Maretich P, Kajimura S. The common and distinct features of brown and beige adipocytes. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* (2018) 29:191–200. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2018.01.001
- Villarroya F, Cereijo R, Villarroya J, Gavalda-Navarro A, Giralt M. Toward an understanding of how immune cells control brown and beige adipobiology. *Cell Metab.* (2018) 27:954–61. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.04.006
- 77. Qiu Y, Nguyen KD, Odegaard JI, Cui X, Tian X, Locksley RM, et al. Eosinophils and type 2 cytokine signaling in macrophages orchestrate development of functional beige fat. *Cell* (2014) 157:1292–308. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.03.066
- Lee MW, Odegaard JI, Mukundan L, Qiu Y, Molofsky AB, Nussbaum JC, et al. Activated type 2 innate lymphoid cells regulate beige fat biogenesis. *Cell* (2015) 160:74–87. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.12.011
- Moysidou M, Karaliota S, Kodela E, Salagianni M, Koutmani Y, Katsouda A, et al. CD8+ T cells in beige adipogenesis and energy homeostasis. *JCI Insight* (2018) 3:95456. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.95456
- Molofsky AB, Nussbaum JC, Liang HE, Van Dyken SJ, Cheng LE, Mohapatra A, et al. Innate lymphoid type 2 cells sustain visceral adipose tissue eosinophils and alternatively activated macrophages. J Exp Med. (2013) 210:535–49. doi: 10.1084/jem.20121964
- Uhm M, Saltiel AR. White, brown, and beige; type 2 immunity gets hot. Immunity (2015) 42:15–7. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.01.001
- Zhu J. T helper 2 (Th2) cell differentiation, type 2 innate lymphoid cell (ILC2) development and regulation of interleukin-4 (IL-4) and IL-13 production. *Cytokine* (2015) 75:14–24. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2015.05.010
- Lee YH, Petkova AP, Mottillo EP, Granneman JG. *In vivo* identification of bipotential adipocyte progenitors recruited by beta3-adrenoceptor activation and high-fat feeding. *Cell Metab.* (2012) 15:480–91. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.03.009
- Fischer K, Ruiz HH, Jhun K, Finan B, Oberlin DJ, van der Heide V, et al. Alternatively activated macrophages do not synthesize catecholamines or contribute to adipose tissue adaptive thermogenesis. *Nat Med.* (2017) 23:623–30. doi: 10.1038/nm.4316
- Lynch L, Michelet X, Zhang S, Brennan PJ, Moseman A, Lester C, et al. Regulatory iNKT cells lack expression of the transcription factor PLZF and control the homeostasis of T(reg) cells and macrophages in adipose tissue. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:85–95. doi: 10.1038/ni.3047
- Lynch L, Hogan AE, Duquette D, Lester C, Banks A, LeClair K, et al. iNKT cells induce FGF21 for thermogenesis and are required for maximal weight loss in GLP1 therapy. *Cell Metab.* (2016) 24:510–19. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.08.003
- Fisher FM, Kleiner S, Douris N, Fox EC, Mepani RJ, Verdeguer F, et al. FGF21 regulates PGC-1alpha and browning of white adipose tissues in adaptive thermogenesis. *Genes Dev.* (2012) 26:271–81. doi: 10.1101/gad.177857.111
- Holland WL, Adams AC, Brozinick JT, Bui HH, Miyauchi Y, Kusminski CM, et al. An FGF21-adiponectin-ceramide axis controls energy expenditure and insulin action in mice. *Cell Metab.* (2013) 17:790–7. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.03.019
- Saito M, Okamatsu-Ogura Y, Matsushita M, Watanabe K, Yoneshiro T, Nio-Kobayashi J, et al. High incidence of metabolically active brown adipose tissue in healthy adult humans: effects of cold exposure and adiposity. *Diabetes* (2009) 58:1526–31. doi: 10.2337/db09-0530
- Rogers NH, Landa A, Park S, Smith RG. Aging leads to a programmed loss of brown adipocytes in murine subcutaneous white adipose tissue. *Aging Cell* (2012) 11:1074–83. doi: 10.1111/acel.12010
- 91. Berry DC, Jiang Y, Arpke RW, Close EL, Uchida A, Reading D, et al. Cellular aging contributes to failure of cold-induced beige adipocyte

formation in old mice and humans. Cell Metab. (2017) 25:166-81. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.10.023

- Kolodin D, van Panhuys N, Li C, Magnuson AM, Cipolletta D, Miller CM, et al. Antigen- and cytokine-driven accumulation of regulatory T cells in visceral adipose tissue of lean mice. *Cell Metab.* (2015) 21:543–57. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.03.005
- 93. Li C, DiSpirito JR, Zemmour D, Spallanzani RG, Kuswanto W, Benoist C, et al. TCR transgenic mice reveal stepwise, multi-site acquisition of the distinctive fat-treg phenotype. *Cell* (2018) 174:285–99.e12. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.05.004
- 94. Vasanthakumar A, Moro K, Xin A, Liao Y, Gloury R, Kawamoto S, et al. The transcriptional regulators IRF4, BATF and IL-33 orchestrate development and maintenance of adipose tissue-resident regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:276–85. doi: 10.1038/n i.3085
- 95. Cipolletta D, Feuerer M, Li A, Kamei N, Lee J, Shoelson SE, et al. PPARgamma is a major driver of the accumulation and phenotype of adipose tissue Treg cells. *Nature* (2012) 486:549–53. doi: 10.1038/nature11132
- Suganami T, Nishida J, Ogawa Y. A paracrine loop between adipocytes and macrophages aggravates inflammatory changes: role of free fatty acids and tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2005) 25:2062–8. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000183883.72263.13
- Lu H, Smith CW, Perrard J, Bullard D, Tang L, Shappell SB, et al. LFA-1 is sufficient in mediating neutrophil emigration in Mac-1-deficient mice. *J Clin Investig.* (1997) 99:1340–50. doi: 10.1172/JCI119293
- Pribila JT, Quale AC, Mueller KL, Shimizu Y. Integrins and T cell-mediated immunity. Ann Rev Immunol. (2004) 22:157–80. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.22.012703.104649
- Carman CV, Martinelli R. T Lymphocyte-endothelial interactions: emerging understanding of trafficking and antigen-specific immunity. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:603. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00603
- 100. Duffaut C, Zakaroff-Girard A, Bourlier V, Decaunes P, Maumus M, Chiotasso P, et al. Interplay between human adipocytes and T lymphocytes in obesity: CCL20 as an adipochemokine and T lymphocytes as lipogenic modulators. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2009) 29:1608–14. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.192583
- 101. Kintscher U, Hartge M, Hess K, Foryst-Ludwig A, Clemenz M, Wabitsch M. et al. T-lymphocyte infiltration in visceral adipose tissue: a primary event in adipose tissue inflammation and the development of obesity-mediated insulin resistance. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2008) 28:1304–10. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.165100
- Hennecke J, Wiley DC. T cell receptor-MHC interactions up close. *Cell* (2001) 104:1–4. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00185-4
- 103. Xiao L, Yang X, Lin Y, Li S, Jiang J, Qian S, et al. Large adipocytes function as antigen-presenting cells to activate CD4(+) T cells via upregulating MHCII in obesity. *Int J Obes.* (2016) 40:112–20. doi: 10.1038/ijo.201 5.145
- Reith W, LeibundGut-Landmann S, Waldburger JM. Regulation of MHC class II gene expression by the class II transactivator. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2005) 5:793–806. doi: 10.1038/nri1708
- 105. Morris DL, Oatmen KE, Mergian TA, Cho KW, DelProposto JL, Singer K, et al. CD40 promotes MHC class II expression on adipose tissue macrophages and regulates adipose tissue CD4+ T cells with obesity. J Leukoc Biol. (2016) 99:1107–19. doi: 10.1189/jlb.3A0115-009R
- 106. Shirakawa K, Yan X, Shinmura K, Endo J, Kataoka M, Katsumata Y, et al. Obesity accelerates T cell senescence in murine visceral adipose tissue. J Clin Investig. (2016) 126:4626–39. doi: 10.1172/JCI88606
- 107. Berg RE, Cordes CJ, Forman J. Contribution of CD8+ T cells to innate immunity: IFN-gamma secretion induced by IL-12 and IL-18. Eur J Immunol. (2002) 32:2807–16. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(2002010)32:10<2807::AID-IMMU2807>3.0.CO;2-0
- Soudja SM, Ruiz AL, Marie JC, Lauvau G. Inflammatory monocytes activate memory CD8(+) T and innate NK lymphocytes independent of cognate antigen during microbial pathogen invasion. *Immunity* (2012) 37:549–62. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.05.029
- 109. Larsen CM, Faulenbach M, Vaag A, Vølund A, Ehses JA, Seifert B, et al. Interleukin-1–receptor antagonist in type 2 diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med. (2007) 356:1517–26. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa065213

- Larsen CM, Faulenbach M, Vaag A, Ehses JA, Donath MY, Mandrup-Poulsen T. Sustained effects of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist treatment in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2009) 32:1663–8. doi: 10.2337/dc0 9-0533
- 111. Brosius FC, Tuttle KR, Kretzler M. JAK inhibition in the treatment of diabetic kidney disease. *Diabetologia* (2016) 59:1624–7. doi: 10.1007/s00125-016-4021-5
- 112. Tuttle KR, Brosius FC III, Adler SG, Kretzler M, Mehta RL, Tumlin JA, et al. JAK1/JAK2 inhibition by baricitinib in diabetic kidney disease: results from a Phase 2 randomized controlled clinical trial. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2018) 33:1950–9. doi: 10.1093/ndt/g fx377
- 113. Friedman SL, Ratziu V, Harrison SA, Abdelmalek MF, Aithal GP, Caballeria J, et al. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of cenicriviroc for treatment of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis with fibrosis. *Hepatology* (2018) 67:1754–67. doi: 10.1002/hep.29477
- 114. Krenkel O, Puengel T, Govaere O, Abdallah AT, Mossanen JC, Kohlhepp M, et al. Therapeutic inhibition of inflammatory monocyte recruitment reduces steatohepatitis and liver fibrosis. *Hepatology* (2018) 67:1270–83. doi: 10.1002/hep.29544

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Kalathookunnel Antony, Lian and Wu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Adipose Tissue T Cells in HIV/SIV Infection

Celestine N. Wanjalla^{1,2}, Wyatt J. McDonnell^{1,2,3} and John R. Koethe^{1,2*}

¹ Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, Nashville, TN, United States, ² Center for Translational Immunology and Infectious Disease, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, Nashville, TN, United States, ³ Department of Pathology, Microbiology, and Immunology, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, TN, United States

Adipose tissue comprises one of the largest organs in the body and performs diverse functions including energy storage and release, regulation of appetite and other neuroendocrine signaling, and modulation of immuity, among others. Adipocytes reside in a complex compartment where antigen, antigen presenting cells, innate immune cells, and adaptive immune cells interact locally and exert systemic effects on inflammation, circulating immune cell profiles, and metabolic homeostasis. T lymphocytes are a major component of the adipose tissue milieu which are altered in disease states such as obesity and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection. While obesity, HIV infection, and simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV; a non-human primate virus similar to HIV) infection are accompanied by enrichment of CD8⁺ T cells in the adipose tissue, major phenotypic differences in CD4⁺ T cells and other immune cell populations distinguish HIV/SIV infection from obesity. Furthermore, DNA and RNA species of HIV and SIV can be detected in the stromal vascular fraction of visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue, and replication-competent HIV resides in local CD4⁺ T cells. Here, we review studies of adipose tissue CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell populations in HIV and SIV, and contrast the findings with those reported in obesity.

Keywords: HIV—human immunodeficiency virus, SIV-simian immunodeficiency virus, obesity, adipose tissue, immunology, inflammation, stromal vascular fraction

INTRODUCTION

The adipose tissue stromal vascular fraction (SVF) contains a diverse range of innate and adaptive immune cells, which interact in a complex paracrine signaling environment that affects adipocyte energy storage and other functions. T lymphocytes, or T cells, are a major component of the adipose tissue environment recruited from the circulatory and lymphatic systems, and these T cell populations undergo marked changes with progressive adiposity in overweight and obese persons. More recently, a handful of studies have identified substantial changes in adipose tissue T cell density and cellular characteristics in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV; a non-human primate virus similar to HIV) infection, including shifts in total CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and subsets, cytokine production, antigen specificity, interactions with adipocytes and other SVF cells, and capacity for latent infection with HIV or SIV proviruses (1–6). These studies, and their principal findings, are described in **Table 1**.

In general, mammals have predominantly white adipose tissue in their viscera and subcutaneous fat depots. While the accumulation of visceral adipose tissue (VAT) generally has greater detrimental effects on metabolic health, T cell subsets in subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) and VAT appear similar from an immune perspective. Paired SAT

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Dorothy Ellen Lewis, University of Texas, United States

Reviewed by:

Christine Bourgeois, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale, France Jacob Couturier, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States

> *Correspondence: John R. Koethe john.r.koethe@vumc.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 10 July 2018 Accepted: 05 November 2018 Published: 03 December 2018

Citation:

Wanjalla CN, McDonnell WJ and Koethe JR (2018) Adipose Tissue T Cells in HIV/SIV Infection. Front. Immunol. 9:2730. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02730

32

and VAT samples from SIV-infected macaques showed no statistically significant differences in the percentage of CD4⁺ T cells, activated HLA-DR⁺ T cells, or CD69⁺ memory T cells (2). Furthermore, paired SAT and VAT samples from 47 surgical patients showed close correlation between the percentage of CD8⁺ cells (r = 0.90, p < 0.01), CD4⁺ cells (r = 0.90, p < 0.01), T_H17 cells (r = 0.75, p = 0.01), and T_H1 cells (r = 0.67, p < 0.04) (8).

In contrast to SAT and VAT, brown fat is mainly supraclavicular, paravertebral and suprarenal (9-11). While white adipose tissue primarily functions as an energy store, brown adipocytes have more mitochondria and are involved in energy expenditure and thermogenesis. The latter may replace white adipocytes after thermogenic stimulation (12). Beige adipocytes are a third group that demonstrate a functional resemblance to brown adipocytes. They contain high levels of mitochondria and may be derived from white adipocytes (13, 14). Obese persons have less brown adipose tissue compared to their lean counterparts, and brown adipose tissue generally contains fewer immune cells compared to white adipose tissue. These distinctions of function and location are important to contextualize studies on the role of the immune system in adipose tissue. At present, the majority of studies of adipose tissue T cells in HIV and SIV are representative of white adipose tissue physiology from the SAT and VAT compartments.

An enrichment of adipose tissue CD8⁺ T cells and an increase in the CD8:CD4 ratio accompanies HIV and SIV infection, which is a phenomenon also observed in obesity. However, adipose tissue changes in HIV should not be considered "equivalent" to obesity, as marked differences in CD4⁺ T cell and macrophage profiles are present in the two conditions. It is thought that several mechanisms drive both CD8⁺ T cell enrichment and the shifts in T cell distribution in obesity. Several chemokines are detected in obese adipose tissue, including CXCL10, CXCL8, CCL5, and CCL2 (15–17). At present, there is a paucity of data on chemokine receptor expression on adipose tissue T cells, though these T cells can infiltrate inflamed adipose tissue via chemotactic recruitment by CCL5/RANTES and interaction with CXCR4 and CCR5 (18). Notably, CCL20 expression by human adipocytes is higher in obese individuals (19). Finally, when discussing adipose tissue immunology in HIV infection, it is paramount to consider the impact of HIV DNA and RNA in the local environment on T cell subset profiles and cellular function.

ADIPOSE TISSUE T CELL CHANGES IN HIV/SIV

Increase in the Adipose Tissue CD8:CD4 T Cell Ratio in HIV and SIV

One of the first studies of T cells in the SAT and VAT of persons living with HIV (PLWH), by Couturier et al., identified major differences in $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cell populations compared to HIV-negative controls (1). Similar findings were subsequently reported in other HIV and SIV studies (2, 4, 6). Adipose tissue was collected from 3 living and 2 deceased PLWH, and 4 healthy controls. Cells within the SVF were isolated by collagenase digestion, separated by Ficoll gradient, and analyzed by flow cytometry. The adipose tissue SVF CD3⁺ T cells were predominantly memory CD4⁺ CD45RO⁺ T cells (61%) in the HIV-negative controls, with fewer memory CD8⁺ T cells (15%). Furthermore, the proportion of memory CD4⁺ T cells in adipose tissue of healthy controls was ~50% higher compared to blood (1). In contrast, this distribution was reversed in PLWH, with more adipose tissue memory CD8⁺ T cells (46%) than memory CD4⁺ T cells (35%), which represented an ~50% enrichment in memory CD8⁺ T cells over the blood and could not be attributed to depletion of circulating CD4⁺ T cells. **Figure 1** summarizes the major differences in CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cell profiles in adipose tissue and blood from HIV/SIV-infected subjects vs. HIV/SIV-negative controls (described in further detail below).

A study of 10 PLWH on the same antiretroviral therapy (ART) regimen (efavirenz, tenofovir, emtricitabine) with longterm virologic suppression by Koethe et al. found a higher proportion of total $CD8^+$ T cells in SAT compared to blood (6). This study was limited by a lack of a HIV-negative comparison group. SAT samples were obtained by liposuction biopsies and processed by collagenase digestion and Ficoll separation similar to Couturier et al. (1). SAT was enriched in $CD8^+$ T cells (61%) over $CD4^+$ (33%), as compared to 52 and 43% in the blood, respectively. Memory T cell proportions, defined as $CD45RO^+$ $CD8^+$ and $CD4^+$ T cells, were not significantly different between SAT and blood.

As observed in PLWH, cynomolgus macaques with SIV infection have a higher percentage of CD8⁺ T cells, and lower CD4⁺ T cells, in both the SAT and VAT compared to noninfected animals (2, 3). In a study by Damouche et al. the proportion of CD8⁺ T cells was significantly higher in the SAT and VAT of SIV-infected macaques (2). Correspondingly, CD4⁺ T cell percentages were significantly lower (18% in SAT and 20% in VAT) compared to non-infected animals (40% in both SAT and VAT). Notably, this study demonstrated that the change in the CD8:CD4 ratio was not driven by a reduction in the total number of CD4⁺ T cells in infected animals. Rather, SIV-infected animals had significantly higher density of CD8⁺ T cells in VAT and a somewhat higher density in SAT (2). For both non-infected healthy and SIV-infected monkeys, nearly all of the adipose tissue $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells were memory T cells (>94% CD95⁺), with a large fraction of activated cells marked by expression of CD69⁺ (62-84%) and CD25⁺ (3-13%). This seemingly CD8mediated inversion of the typical CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell ratio was also noted in PLWH in a separate study by Damouche et al. (4).

In a second study of macaques, a higher adipose tissue CD8:CD4 ratio was observed in animals infected with SIV 4weeks prior (ratio 1.51) compared to non-infected animals (ratio 1.38) (3). Interestingly, the CD8:CD4 ratio was similarly elevated (1.59) in non-infected animals with chronic enterocolitis, suggesting chronic illness or inflammation may affect adipose $CD8^+$ and $CD4^+$ T cell trafficking independently of viral infection. Gene expression profiling on the adipocyte enriched floating fraction from SIV-infected animals showed higher levels of CCL19, interleukin (IL)-2, and IL-7, which may contribute to T cell homing and survival (3). Additional studies are needed

References	HIV/SIV	Subjects	Principal T cell findings	Principal viral reservoir findings
Couturier et al. (1)	HIV	4 ART-treated HIV+ humans (3 alive, 1 cadaver) 1 ART-naïve HIV+ cadaver	 Higher CD8:CD4 ratio in AT compared to blood AT CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells predominantly CD69⁺ memory cells 	 Gag and Env proviral DNA detected by nested PCR Co-culture of latently HIV-infected CD4⁺ T cells with adipocytes and IL-2, IL-7, or IL-15 increased T cell activation and HIV production
Damouche et al. (2)	HIV and SIV	13 ART-treated, VL suppressed HIV+ humans 23 SIV+ cynomolgus macaques 21 SIV-negative cynomolgus macaques	 HIV+: none- study primarily assessed viral reservoir SIV⁺: Higher adipose tissue CD8:CD4 ratio in SIV+ vs. SIV-negative Higher CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell HLA-DR (activation) expression in SIV+ vs. SIV-negative CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ predominantly CD95⁺ memory cells in AT CD4⁺ predominantly CD69⁺ in AT (although co-expression of CD69 on memory T cells was not assessed) Similar memory T cell subset distribution in SIV+ and SIV-negative Higher inflammatory macrophages in SIV+ vs. SIV-negative 	 HIV: HIV DNA detected in total SVF cells and sorted adipose tissue CD4⁺ T cells Level of HIV DNA in CD4⁺ T cells similar to blood HIV RNA detected by <i>in situ</i> tissue hybridization and after <i>in vitro</i> reactivation of CD4⁺ T cells SIV: SIV DNA present in SVF and in sorted CD4⁺ T cells and macrophages SIV RNA detected by <i>in situ</i> tissue hybridization and in CD4⁺ T cells and macrophages
Couturier et al. (3)	SIV and SHIV	8 SHIV-SF162p3-infected rhesus macaques (acute) 8 SIVmac251-infected macaques (chronic) 7 non-infected macaques	 Higher adipose tissue CD8:CD4 ratio in SHIV+ vs. SHIV-negative CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ predominantly CD95⁺ CD69⁺ memory cells Similar levels of NKT cells in SHIV+ compared to SHIV-negative 	 Infectious SIV inducible from SVF CD4 T cells;
Damouche et al. (4)	HIV	11 ART-treated HIV+ humans 19 HIV-negative humans	 Higher adipose tissue CD8:CD4 ratio in SAT, but not VAT, from HIV+ vs. HIV-negative Higher proportion of Treg cells in SAT from HIV+ vs. HIV-negative No difference in CD4⁺ Th1, Th2 and Th17 cell proportions in HIV+ vs. HIV-negative No difference in CD4⁺ expression of Ki-67 or HLA-DR in HIV+ vs. HIV-negative Higher CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ expression of PD-1 in AT vs. blood from HIV+ subjects AT CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells predominantly CD69⁺ cells 	None—study primarily assessed CD4 ⁺ T cell subsets
Hsu et al. (5)	SHIV	6 SHIV+ rhesus macaques	 Increase in adipose tissue CD4⁺ cells after SHIV infection (CD8⁺ not reported) 	 Lower SHIV RNA in SAT compared to rectum and lymph node SHIV RNA levels similar in SAT and VAT
Koethe et al. (6)	HIV	10 ART-treated, VL suppressed HIV+ humans	 Higher CD8:CD4 ratio in adipose tissue vs. blood Higher CD8⁺ expression of HLA-DR and CD57 in adipose tissue Higher CD8⁺ TCRβ clonality in adipose tissue; distinct TCRβ V and J gene usage AT CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells exhibited limited CD69 expression 	Level of HIV DNA in adipose tissue CD4 ⁺ T cells similar to blood
Couturier et al. (7)	HIV	8 HIV-infected AT specimens	 HIV-infected CD4⁺ T cells cultured with adipocytes and ART had suppressed viral replication and increased survival After 7 days CD4⁺ p24⁺ T cells cultured with adipocytes had higher CD69 expression (~8–12%) compared to <2% CD69⁺ p24⁺ T cells if cultured in media alone 	 CD4⁺ T cells from AT-SVF of 2/3 individuals produced infectious virus in an outgrowth assay NNRTIs were less detectable in AT cells likely because they are hydrophilic. Dolutegravir was found in higher intracellular concentrations in AT

TABLE 1 | Summary of studies on adipose tissue T cells and the viral reservoir in HIV and SIV.

ART, antiretroviral therapy; AT, adipose tissue; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; SAT, subcutaneous adipose tissue; SHIV, simian-human immunodeficiency virus; SIV, simian immunodeficiency virus; SVF, stromal vascular fraction; TCR, T cell receptor; VAT, visceral adipose tissue.



to replicate these recent reports and elucidate a mechanism for enrichment of $CD8^+$ T cells in adipose tissue of PLWH and SIV-infected macaques.

CD57, CD69, HLA-DR and PD-1 Expression on Adipose Tissue T Cells

Recent studies have assessed CD57, CD69, HLA-DR, and PD-1 expression on T cells in the blood and adipose tissue of PLWH and SIV-infected macaques, and as compared to noninfected controls. Koethe et al. examined expression of CD57 on adipose tissue T cells from PLWH on long-term ART, as CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell CD57 expression in blood is higher in PLWH compared to HIV-negative persons (20-22). CD57 is a terminally sulfated glycan carbohydrate epitope found on T cells and natural killer (NK) cells. CD57 is a marker of late differentiation, though there is limited consensus as to whether CD57 expression implies reduced replicative capacity, an inability to proliferate in response to antigen stimulation, or increased susceptibility to activation-induced apoptosis (20, 23, 24). CD8⁺ T cells expressing CD57 produce more interferon- γ and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) after T cell receptor (TCR) stimulation compared to CD8+CD57- T cells, and demonstrate a distinct gene expression profile characterized by greater cytotoxic effector potential (e.g., production of perforin, granzymes, and granulysin) (25, 26). A higher percentage of $CD57^+$ T cells is also implicated in several inflammatory diseases (27–29). The proportion of $CD8^+$ T cells expressing CD57 was significantly higher in SAT compared to blood (37 vs. 23%, respectively) from PLWH, and activated $CD8^+$ T cells expressing HLA-DR were over six-fold higher in SAT compared to blood (5.5 vs. 0.9%, respectively).

A notable difference between the Couturier and Koethe studies was the reported expression of CD69 on adipose tissue CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells. CD69 is an inducible, early-activation indicator which serves as a putative tissue-resident marker on memory T cells in human mucosal and lymphoid tissues (30-32), but is largely absent on circulating blood memory T cells (31). In a study by Couturier et al., surface expression of the CD69 activation marker on adipose tissue memory CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells was 67 and 60%, respectively, in the PLWH and 72 and 61%, respectively, in the HIV-negative, compared to <5%in the blood. In contrast, Koethe et al. found overall expression of CD69 was low (<5%) on both adipose tissue CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells (though still higher than in blood), but among adipose tissue memory CD4⁺ T cells CD69 expression was 20fold higher compared to blood (5.9 vs. 0.3%). The reason for this disparity is unclear and could include differences in CD69 antibody binding, time-related increases in CD69 expression in adipose tissue samples collected after death or by surgical resection as opposed to rapid T cell extraction from liposuction
aspirates, an artifact introduced by collagen digestion or other aspects of processing, or greater residual contamination of liposuction aspirates by peripheral blood. Additional studies are needed to assess CD69 expression with different experimental methods, though a study comparing activation markers on adipose tissue T cells in lean, overweight and obese individuals using aspiration via a 14 G needle found ~5–10% CD69 expression on CD4⁺ T cells and ~25% expression on CD8⁺ T cells (33).

In a study by Damouche et al., expression of the HLA-DR activation marker on CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells was significantly higher in SAT, VAT, and blood from SIV-infected macaques compared to non-infected animals (2). However, the authors did not observe a significant difference in the proportion of Ki-67-expressing SAT and VAT CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells in SIVinfected animals compared to controls. Cycling and recently divided T cells express Ki-67, while resting cells do not. This suggests that differences in the activation profile, and the higher density of CD8⁺ T cells, in adipose tissue may not result from recent in situ proliferation. Another significant contribution of this study was the visualization of T cells in adipose tissue. Histology showed that CD4⁺ T cells were primarily located among adipocytes far from the capillaries, while CD8⁺ T cells clustered in the pericapillary area (2). The positioning of CD4⁺ T cells deeper in adipose tissue could serve to protect latently-infected CD4⁺ cells against cytotoxic killing by CD8⁺ T cells.

PD-1 (CD279) expression on CD4⁺ T cells is a negative co-stimulator that can inhibit TCR signaling (34, 35) and is important for mediating tissue tolerance of potentially autoreactive cells (36). In the context of HIV, cells expressing PD-1 could hinder clearance of chronic viruses by allowing tolerance due to their exhausted phenotype (37). Murine CD4⁺ memory T cells expressing CD44 and PD-1 were increased in VAT of high fat diet fed (HFD) mice (55%) compared to mice fed a normal diet (33%), and these cells expressed less IL-2 and IFN- γ compared to PD-1⁻ CD44^{hi} CD4⁺ T cells (38). Notably, the PD-1⁺ CD44^{hi} CD4⁺ T cells activated via the TCR also expressed large amounts of osteopontin (OPN), a negatively charged, Nglycosylated secreted phosphoprotein produced by numerous cell types, and higher levels of OPN were present in the serum of HFD mice. A fraction of the PD-1⁺ CD44^{hi} CD4⁺ T cells also expressed CD153 (CD30L), a type II membrane glycoprotein that is present primarily on activated CD4⁺ T cells, and the CD153⁺ PD-1⁺ CD44^{hi} CD4⁺ T cells were found to express genes linked to senescence (38). Adoptive transfer of these CD153⁺ PD-1⁺ CD44^{hi} CD4⁺ T cells into lean mice on a normal diet induced inflammation in VAT, as well as insulin resistance. This study suggests a role for PD-1 expressing T cells in metabolic disease.

Damouche et al. found high expression of PD-1 on $CD4^+$ T cells in SAT (45%) and VAT (62%) compared to in peripheral blood (3%) (4). However, there were no significant differences in PD-1 expression between PLWH and HIV-negative individuals. The authors further demonstrated that PD-1 expression was higher in $CD69^+$ $CD4^+$ T cells compared to $CD69^ CD4^+$ T cells within SAT and VAT of HIV-negative individuals (a similar analysis was not done in PLWH due to limited sample

number). Additionally, this study found a higher proportion of TIGIT/PD-1⁺ CD4⁺ T cells in SAT compared to VAT, which the authors postulated may be important for HIV-1 persistence. This finding suggests differences between the two fat depots, and evaluation of TIGIT/PD-1⁺ cells in the context of the viral reservoir in PLWH is an area for future research.

Increased CD8⁺ T Cell Receptor Clonality in Adipose Tissue From PLWH

The higher CD8:CD4 ratio in adipose tissue from SIV-infected macaques was attributed to an increase in CD8⁺ T cells as opposed to depletion of CD4⁺ T cells in one study (2), though additional data are needed in humans. As CD8⁺ T cell density increases, key questions include: (1) whether recruitment of primarily activated and memory CD8⁺ T cells from the circulation is stochastic; (2) whether CD8⁺ T cells with select antigen specificities and corresponding TCR characteristics are preferentially migrating to adipose tissue; (3) whether CD8⁺ T cells are clonally expanding in situ in response to TCR stimulation; and (4) whether T cells that infiltrate adipose tissue re-enter circulation. The Koethe et al. study of PLWH with longterm virologic suppression found increased CD8⁺ TCR clonality in adipose tissue compared to blood using bulk TCRB CDR3 deep sequencing, where bias-controlled V and J gene primers are used to amplify rearranged V(D)J segments (6, 39, 40). In all five subjects with adequate DNA for adipose tissue CD8⁺ TCR sequencing, the 10 most prevalent TCRβ clones comprised a significantly larger percentage of total clones in SAT (25%) compared to paired blood (16%), and the Shannon's Entropy index, a measure of overall repertoire diversity, was lower in adipose tissue compared to blood (4.39 vs. 4.46, respectively). Notably, the same TCR β sequences, also referred to as public clonotypes (i.e., specific rearrangements observed in multiple individuals), were not observed to occur at >0.9% frequency in the adipose tissue among any two study subjects. Gene usage and V-J gene pairing differed between blood and adipose tissue, but these differences were not statistically significant, potentially due to the low number of subjects.

The finding of increased adipose tissue CD8⁺ T cell clonality in PLWH has correlates in the obesity literature (41-43). A notable finding from in vitro studies is that obese fat can independently activate CD8⁺ T cells and induce proliferation, while lean fat has little effect (41). In mice, Yang et al. observed shifts in the clonality of both the adipose tissue CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ TCR repertoires in lean vs. obese animals using PCR-based spectratyping, which was based on shifts in gene family expression from a normally Gaussian frequency distribution of CDR3 length (43). Winer et al. examined TCR V α diversity and observed clonal expansion in SAT of CD4⁺ T cells of mice on a HFD (42). A major limitation of these studies from the obesity literature was the use of spectratyping, which can only provide indirect evidence of clonal expansion, cannot detect individual TCR sequences, and cannot distinguish between T cell clones sharing the same V gene region but distinct junctional regions. The introduction of

TCR sequencing makes it possible to examine immune receptor repertoires with fine specificity, and to examine the genetic and biochemical properties of both individual TCRs and the broader repertoire.

McDonnell et al. recently evaluated liver and adipose tissue CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ TCR repertoires in mice fed a HFD or low fat diet. They performed high-throughput TCR sequencing, which allowed distinction of T cell clones and quantification of clonal expansion (44). The authors found that mice on a HFD had reduced CD8⁺ TCR diversity similar to previous studies (6, 39, 40). Moreover, they identified public TCR clonotypes and a predominance of positively-charged CDR3 regions with less polar amino acids. Notably, adipose tissue from mice on a HFD expressed elevated isolevuglandins (isoLG; a group of negatively charged reactive gamma-ketoaldehydes generated by free radical oxidation) in M2-polarized macrophages. Co-culture of these isoLG-bearing M2 macrophages with CD8⁺ T cells isolated from the spleens of obese mice on a HFD led to an increase in T cell proliferation and activation in vitro, and these T cells showed increased expression of CD69, a marker suggestive of TCRlinked activation. This was the first study to indicate macrophages presenting isoLG can promote CD8⁺ T cell activation, and may reflect a contribution of modified proteins to the propagation of inflammation within the adipose tissue of obese mice and humans.

The finding of a more clonal CD8⁺ T cell population in the adipose tissue of PLWH, and elevated CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ clonality in obesity, raises the question of where and how antigen might be presented to drive TCR clonal expansion. Several published reports indicate that antigen presentation occurs directly in adipose tissue, with a focus on CD4⁺ T cells. Several distinct MHC-II-expressing antigen presenting cells (APCs) in adipose tissue can present antigens to $CD4^+$ T cells; these include B cells (45), dendritic cells (46), macrophages (47), and even adipocytes (48). Mice with global deficiency of MHC-II demonstrate protection from adipose tissue inflammation and systemic insulin resistance when placed on a HFD (47, 48); the accumulation of CD4⁺ T cells and reduction in CD11c⁺ macrophages may be responsible for the reduced adipose tissue inflammation in these animals (47). Cells in the adipose tissue also secrete adipokines such as leptin, adiponectin, and retinol binding protein 4 that can directly activate these APCs (49-51).

Adipose Tissue CD4⁺ T Cell Subsets in HIV and SIV

While HIV and SIV infection are characterized by an increased density of adipose tissue $CD8^+$ T cells, the limited studies on $CD4^+$ T cell subsets show less clear differences between PLWH and HIV-negative persons. A study by Damouche et al. focused on the $CD4^+$ T cell compartment in adipose tissue from ART-treated PLWH and HIV-negative controls (4). As observed in the earlier study by Couturier et al. (1), HIV-negative subjects had a predominance of $CD4^+$ T cells over $CD8^+$ T cells in SAT (55 vs. 25%, respectively), but this ratio was inverted, to a degree, in the SAT of those with HIV (40 CD4⁺ vs. 50% CD8⁺ T cells). Interestingly, the difference in CD8:CD4 ratio according to HIV

status was not observed in VAT. CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell subsets were equally represented (43 and 41%, respectively) in VAT from HIV-negative subjects, and this relative proportion did not differ in the PLWH. This finding differs from a study of SIV-infected macaques, which found a significantly higher CD8:CD4 ratio in VAT from SIV-infected animals compared to controls (2).

Among CD4⁺ T cell subsets, Damouche et al. observed a significantly *higher* proportion of SAT regulatory T cells (Tregs; defined as CD25⁺ FOXP3⁺ CD4⁺ T cells) in the PLWH compared to HIV-negative subjects, but no major differences in T_H1 and T_H17 pro-inflammatory subsets (4). Treg cells, a subset that can be difficult to evaluate due to the technical aspects of staining for markers such as Foxp3, accounted for 7.2% of SAT CD4⁺ T cells in the PLWH, compared to 1.7% in the HIV-negative. A similar but non-significant difference was observed in VAT Treg cells. Obesity is commonly associated with reduced T regs in adipose tissue of obese humans and mice, and loss of these cells is postulated to facilitate the influx of pro-inflammatory T cells and macrophages (52). Furthermore, the authors did not observe a significant difference in T_H17 cells, identified by expression of ROR- γ transcription factors, according to HIV status. The proportion of T_H1 CD4⁺ T cells (cells with intermediate or high levels of T-bet expression) also did not differ according to HIV status, while T_H2 CD4⁺ T cells (expressing GATA-3) were barely detected in the adipose tissue from both PLWH and HIV-negative subjects. Taken together, a unifying finding of these experiments is a higher Treg/T_H17 ratio in the SAT of PLWH, potentially reflecting a compensatory, anti-inflammatory response (4).

In the same study, no significant differences were observed in the proportion of adipose tissue CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells expressing either Ki-67 or HLA-DR between PLWH vs. HIVnegative controls (4). The median percentage of Ki-67⁺ cells was <2% in both SAT and VAT from PLWH and controls, potentially indicating limited T cell proliferation within the tissue. The expression of HLA-DR on CD4⁺ cells in SAT (24%) and VAT (21%) was higher compared to blood in the HIVnegative, but again similar values were observed in the PLWH. Finally, the authors observed far higher PD-1 expression on adipose tissue CD4⁺ T cells (45% expression in SAT and 62% in VAT) compared to peripheral blood (3%), but again there were no significant differences according to HIV status (4). Notably, PD-1 expression was primarily present on $CD69^+$ $CD4^+$ T cells, suggesting those cells thought to represent a "tissue resident" phenotype are also more likely to demonstrate the features of quiescent cells. The authors postulated that the high degree of exhaustion marker expression is indicative of limited T cell proliferation and activation, as evidenced by the low Ki-67 expression, thus reducing downstream macrophage activation and tissue inflammation. However, while the enrichment of PD-1⁺ CD4⁺ T cells could have a protective role in limiting inflammation, high PD-1 expression on adipose tissue T cells may be of particular importance in the context of HIV as these cells are thought to constitute a large part of the latent HIV reservoir (53–55). Studies to date have not yet measured Bcl-2, which will be important to clarify how susceptible these populations are to apoptosis.

COMPARISON OF ADIPOSE TISSUE CELL CHANGES IN HIV/SIV AND OBESITY

T Cells in HIV/SIV and Obesity

The finding that adipose tissue from PLWH and SIV-infected macaques is enriched in CD8⁺ T cells was particularly intriguing as similar changes are a hallmark of obesity. Studies of obese humans and obese animal models show a striking increase in adipose tissue CD8⁺ T cells and CD4⁺ T_H1 cells, a decrease in Treg cells, and an increase in M1-phenotype (TNF- α , IL-6, IL-12, IL-23-producing) pro-inflammatory macrophages compared to non-obese controls (41, 42, 45, 52). A landmark 2009 paper by Nishimura et al. showed the recruitment of M1-phenotype macrophages into adipose tissue in mice was dependent on the prior infiltration of CD8⁺ T cells (41).

CD4⁺ Treg cells protect against tissue inflammation and insulin resistance, and are less frequent in obese adipose tissue compared to lean. Adipose tissue Tregs in obese mice have a unique TCR profile compared to Tregs from the spleen and lymph nodes, as evidenced by single cell sequencing from each of these compartments (52). An important caveat of this study was that the "limited" Ltd transgenic mice used can only generate a highly restricted V α repertoire that pairs with a single TCR β chain (56). Experimental models demonstrate that the adoptive transfer of CD4⁺ T cells into lymphocyte-free Rag1^{-/-} mice reverses weight gain and insulin resistance, while depletion of CD8⁺ T cells in adipose tissue reduces macrophage density and improves insulin sensitivity (41, 42).

Adoptive transfer models utilizing invariant natural killer T cells (iNKT) have demonstrated a role for these cells in modulating adipose tissue inflammation. NKT cells are lymphocytes that express NK cell surface markers and recognize CD1d (a non-polymorphic MHC I-like molecule) in its lipidcontaining conformation (57). They are an important link between the innate and adaptive immune system. Type I NKT (iNKT) cells express a highly restricted (invariant) TCRa-chain (V α 24-J α 18 in humans paired with V β 11 and V α 14-J α 18 paired with V β 8.2, V β 7, or V β 2 in mice). Type II NKT cells on the other hand have diverse TCRs (58). Notably, the different TCRs expressed on type II NKT cells can recognize the same lipid antigens. In humans, type II NKT cells are more frequent than type I NKT cells, but the opposite is the case in mice (59, 60). Type II NKT cells have been shown to prevent high fatinduced obesity in some studies (61, 62), though they were shown to exacerbate diet-induced obesity in another (63). iNKT cells are highly plastic and can express both anti-inflammatory (61) and pro-inflammatory (64) cytokines depending on the activating stimuli. They recognize alpha-galactosylceramide and exert anti-inflammatory effects controlling the presence of Treg and macrophage populations in the adipose tissue in an IL-2- and IFN-γ-dependent manner (61, 65–68). Adipocytes can also serve as non-professional antigen presenting cells for iNKT cells with high levels of CD1d expression (69).

 $\rm CD4^+$ iNKT cells express CXCR4 and CCR5 chemokine receptors and can be infected by HIV (70–72). Infection of $\rm CD4^+$ iNKT cells in humans and non-human primates leads to decline of $\rm CD4^+$ T cells. Couturier et al. compared NKT cells (CD3⁺/CD16⁺/CD27⁺/CD56⁺) in VAT of SHIV-SF162p3- infected macaques and healthy controls during chronic and acute infection, and found no differences in the percentage of these cells between groups (3). At present, there are no studies that assessed adipose tissue NKT cells in PLWH, and further studies are warranted to explore the role of NKT cells in tissue inflammation and metabolic disease (73).

Macrophages in HIV/SIV and Obesity

Progressive weight gain is accompanied by adipose tissue macrophage infiltration and inflammation (18, 41, 74-79). In obesity, hypertrophied adipocytes express increased macrophage inflammatory protein 1α (MIP- 1α) and macrophage chemotactic protein 1 (MCP-1), which promote macrophage infiltration, and IL-8, which promotes neutrophil chemotaxis (80-82). Adipose tissue from obese individuals and animal models contains a greater density of macrophages with a proinflammatory M1 cytokine phenotype (characterized by high TNF- α , IL-6, IL-12, IL-23, and inducible nitric oxide synthase production). An environment high in these cytokines inhibits adipocyte insulin signaling by reducing expression of insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1), phosphoinositide 3-kinase p85a, and glucose transporter type 4 (GLUT4) via cell surface receptors and other mechanisms (75, 83-86). The contribution of adipose tissue macrophages to metabolic disease is also supported by the higher levels of inflammatory cytokine and other protein expression in SAT from insulin resistant persons compared to insulin sensitive, including higher MCP-1, CD68, scavenger receptor A, visfatin, and oxidized LDL receptor 1 (87).

Studies of PLWH report conflicting results on adipose tissue macrophage changes compared to HIV-negative controls, but, in general, studies of PLWH have not demonstrated the marked enrichment in pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages observed in obesity. Peripheral lipoatrophy was accompanied by increased SAT macrophage density in one comparative study, in addition to increased fibrosis, apoptosis, and vessel density (88). In contrast, a study of gluteal fold adipose tissue (GFAT) found minimal differences in macrophage content (measured as cells/hpf) between PLWH with and without clinically-evident lipoatrophy, and HIV-negative controls, but higher IL-6, IL-8, IL-12p40, and MIP-1α, and lower interferon gamma and eotaxin levels, in adipose tissue supernatant from the PLWH (89). While the density of adipose tissue macrophages did not differ by lipoatrophy status in the PLWH, patients exposed to zidovudine and stavudine (older thymidine analog antiretroviral medications) had marginally higher density. Furthermore, median HIV DNA in circulating CD14⁺CD16⁺ monocytes, a subset more apt to be infected by HIV, was higher in the PLWH with clinically-evident lipoatrophy compared to those without lipoatrophy (89). HIV infection of CD14⁺CD16⁺ monocytes increases constitutive expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, impairs phagocytic capacity, and increases antigen-stimulated cytokine expression (90-94). These findings suggest a role for adipose tissue macrophages in the development of lipoatrophy in PLWH, though the effect may stem from qualitative changes (e.g., greater cytokine expression) rather than greater density.

Adipose tissue $CD3^-/CD14^+/HLA-DR^+$ macrophages represented a small proportion (<1–2%) of the total SVF cells in SIV-negative macaques, but were ~50% lower in acutely (4 weeks post-infection) SIV-infected macaques (3). In contrast, a study of macaques infected with SIV for a median of 15 months found a significantly higher proportion of macrophages among CD45+ cells in SAT, but not VAT, from SIV-infected animals compared to controls (2). Furthermore, the frequency of CD206⁺CD163⁻ macrophages (selected by the authors as markers of "M2" anti-inflammatory cells) was significantly lower in SIV-infected animals compared to non-infected animals in both SAT and VAT, while the proportion of CD206⁻CD163⁻ macrophages (thought to correspond to pro-inflammatory cells) was elevated in SIV-infected animals.

The relationship between $CD8^+$ T cell enrichment and the accumulation of macrophages in adipose tissue in PLWH is an area for additional study, which will inform both our understanding of metabolic changes in HIV and the pathogenesis of adipose tissue inflammation more broadly. In the 2009 study by Nishimura et al. $CD8^+$ T cell infiltration into adipose tissue in obese mice preceded the recruitment of M1-phenotype macrophages (41). The experimental depletion of $CD8^+$ T cells in obese mice, and diet-induced obesity in $Cd8^-/Cd8^-$ knockout mice, was accompanied by reduced adipose tissue macrophage content and local inflammatory mediators, suggesting $CD8^+$ T cells are both necessary and sufficient to promote macrophage recruitment in obesity. If

HIV infection is characterized by adipose tissue $CD8^+$ T cell enrichment without pronounced macrophage recruitment, this may reflect the need for a costimulatory factor in obese adipose tissue to recruit macrophages in the presence of $CD8^+$ T cells, may indicate that cytokine expression profiles of adipose tissue $CD8^+$ T cells differ in obesity and HIV infection, or reflect another as yet unknown mechanism.

Studies in Humanized Mice

Several groups have used humanized mice to study HIV-1 tissue and cellular replication as well as immune responses during acute and chronic infections. Arainga et al. infected humanized mice with HIV-1 and examined tissue sites for viral infection. The authors assessed the blood, brain, gut, kidney, lungs, liver, lymph nodes, and spleen, and were able to detect HIV-1 integrated DNA and multi-spliced and unspliced RNA in different cell types, though adipose tissue was not evaluated (95). This study suggests that humanized mice infected with HIV and treated with ART might serve as a model to study the effects of chronic, treated HIV infection on metabolic status. A study by Cheng et al. evaluated humanized mice engrafted with hematopoietic stem cells (HSC), reconstituted with human lymphoid and myeloid lineages, and infected with HIV-1 before treatment with ART (96). The study showed a reduction of HIV replication to undetectable levels with treatment, but the persistence of HIV-1 in reservoirs and a viral rebound after stopping. At present, to our knowledge, no group has used humanized mice infected with HIV to explore adipose tissue biology.



FIGURE 2 | The HIV/SIV viral reservoir in adipose tissue. Schematic of the immune cell populations in PLWH and SIV-infected primates where latent and replicating HIV and SIV have been identified. HIV RNA and proviral DNA has been detected in the CD4⁺ T cells of the SVF, and also in macrophages during SIV infection. Poor perpetration of some antiretroviral agents into adipose tissue and the distance of CD4⁺ T cells from the pericapillary area may make targeting the latent reservoir of adipose CD4⁺ T cells difficult. Similarly, the localization of the CD8⁺ T cells to the pericapillary area may prevent cytotoxic killing of HIV-infected CD4⁺ T cells in the adipose tissue.

ADIPOSE TISSUE: A VIRAL RESERVOIR

HIV and SIV

CD4⁺ T cells in adipose tissue are predominantly an activated memory phenotype (CD45RO⁺CD69⁺), which may serve as a reservoir for HIV persistence (1, 2, 19, 33, 97). Replicationcompetent HIV has been detected in sorted and ex vivo CD4⁺ T cells from the adipose tissue of aviremic, ART-treated patients, and in adipose-resident CD4⁺ T cells the median copy number of latent HIV proviral DNA (i.e., integrated into the host cell DNA) in adipose tissue CD4⁺ T cells was equivalent to circulating CD4⁺ T cells (2). Similarly, SVF cells from several adipose depots (visceral, subcutaneous, and deep neck) contained detectable HIV DNA at comparable frequencies to memory CD4⁺ T cells purified from peripheral blood, mesenteric lymph nodes, and thymus (1). Furthermore, SIV DNA and RNA were detected in SVF from SAT and VAT, sorted blood CD4⁺ T cells, and CD14⁺ macrophages in macaques (2, 3, 5). These findings indicate adipose tissue may serve as a HIV and SIV DNA reservoir, and a site for actively replicating (RNA-producing) virus. Viral persistence in adipose tissue may be partly due to inadequate distribution of ART. In vitro experiments using HIV-1 infected CD4⁺ T cells and primary human adipocytes revealed a reduced drug efficacy due to lower penetration of nucleoside/nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors. Integrase inhibitors, on the other hand, penetrate adipose tissue (7). Figure 2 summarizes the major findings regarding HIV and SIV persistence in adipose tissue.

Adipose tissue latently-infected CD4⁺ T cells likely promote a local inflammatory environment. While the co-culture of preadipocytes or adipocytes with HIV-infected memory CD4⁺ T cells did not promote T cell activation or virus production, the addition of IL-2, IL-7, or IL-15, three cytokines present in adipose tissue (98–100), increased CD69 activation marker expression and p24 HIV antigen production by two-fold or more (1). Furthermore, preadipocyte IL-6 expression increased nearly three-fold in the presence of latentlyinfected CD4⁺ T cells (1). These findings may reflect a cycle in which an inflammatory adipose tissue environment promotes virus production and activation of latently-infected CD4⁺ T cells, and these CD4⁺ T cells in turn increase preadipocyte pro-inflammatory cytokine production (101– 104).

Finally, if adipose tissue serves as a reservoir for latentlyinfected $CD4^+$ T cells, these cells may be more protected from cytotoxic $CD8^+$ T cells than those in circulation. This possibility is supported by studies in macaques showing $CD4^+$ T cells are present deep in the adipose tissue while $CD8^+$ T cells are generally localized to the pericapillary area (2). The development of therapies for eradication of the latent HIV reservoir will need to consider the potential challenges posed by adipose tissue $CD4^+$ T cells.

Non-retroviral Reservoir

The presence of HIV and SIV proviral DNA and free RNA virus in adipose tissue is not unique to these two pathogens, and

studies over the past 70 years have documented the infiltration of adipose tissue by a number of viruses spanning multiple Baltimore groupings. These pathogens are presumably engaged to varying degrees by the local immune system, resulting in changes in immune cell populations, expression of cytokines and other immune mediators, and effects on adipocyte energy storage and metabolic fitness.

Studies in the 1950s described the in vivo infection of adipose tissue and the adipotropism of Coxsackie virus (105), rabies (106), and polioviruses (107, 108). Later work in murine and primate models in the 1980s and 1990s described the infection of adipose tissue and subsequent metabolic and pathologic changes introduced by cytomegalovirus (109-111) and Ebola-Reston virus (112). More recent work has re-established adipose tissue as a key reservoir for influenza (113), the murid herpesviruses MHV68 and MHV4 (114, 115), and cytomegalovirus (116, 117). Epidemiologic studies have also linked untreated viral infections to changes in adipose tissue mass and metabolism, including childhood obesity associated with cytomegalovirus and total herpesvirus burden (118), and obesity and insulin resistance in chronic hepatitis C infection in adults (119).

CONCLUSION

The multifaceted roles of adipose tissue as an energy storage depot, metabolic regulator, and endocrine organ occur against the backdrop of a complex mix of innate and adaptive immune cells interacting in an environment prone to infiltration by a range of viral pathogens. T cells are a major component of the adipose tissue milieu, and while the enrichment of CD8⁺ T cells appears broadly similar in obesity and HIV infection, differences in CD4⁺ T cells and, likely, macrophage populations suggest that the stimuli driving CD8⁺ cell enrichment and the interactions of CD8⁺ cells with other immune cells differs between the two conditions.

At this time, studies of T cell populations in HIV/SIVinfected subjects have only utilized surface marker phenotyping, and additional data on transcriptional profiles is needed to understand whether adipose tissue T cells in HIV/SIV and obesity are behaving in a similar manner, and whether adipose tissue T cells from PLWH have similar functional properties to T cells in the peripheral blood. Finally, HIV and SIV proviral DNA, and free RNA virus, can be detected in the SVF of VAT and SAT, and replication-competent HIV is found in CD4⁺ T cells. Evidence that adipose tissue is a viral reservoir for HIV and SIV suggests that some of the T cells within the adipose tissue may be virus-specific. Future studies to identify TCRs expressed by T cells within adipose tissue and their corresponding epitopes will help answer this question, and is currently being explored by our group. Finally, HIVinfected CD4⁺ T cells within adipose tissue may serve as a relatively protected viral compartment, which should be considered in future studies of interventions to deplete the HIV reservoir.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

REFERENCES

- 1. Couturier J, Suliburk JW, Brown JM, Luke DJ, Agarwal N, Yu X, et al. Human adipose tissue as a reservoir for memory CD4+ T cells and HIV. *AIDS* (2015) 29:667–74. doi: 10.1097/QAD.0000000000599
- Damouche A, Lazure T, Avettand-Fenoel V, Huot N, Dejucq-Rainsford N, Satie AP, et al. Adipose tissue is a neglected viral reservoir and an inflammatory site during chronic HIV and SIV infection. *PLoS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1005153. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005153
- Couturier J, Agarwal N, Nehete PN, Baze WB, Barry MA, Jagannadha Sastry K, et al. Infectious SIV resides in adipose tissue and induces metabolic defects in chronically infected rhesus macaques. *Retrovirology* (2016) 13:30. doi: 10.1186/s12977-016-0260-2
- 4. Damouche A, Pourcher G, Pourcher V, Benoist S, Busson E, Lataillade JJ, et al. High proportion of PD-1-expressing CD4(+) T cells in adipose tissue constitutes an immunomodulatory microenvironment that may support HIV persistence. *Eur J Immunol.* (2017) 47:2113–23. doi: 10.1002/eji.201747060
- Hsu DC, Wegner MD, Sunyakumthorn P, Silsorn D, Tayamun S, Inthawong D, et al. CD4+ Cell infiltration into subcutaneous adipose tissue is not indicative of productively infected cells during acute SHIV infection. J Med Primatol. (2017) 46:154–7. doi: 10.1111/jmp.12298
- Koethe JR, McDonnell W, Kennedy A, Abana CO, Pilkinton M, Setliff I, et al. Adipose tissue is enriched for activated and late-differentiated CD8+ T cells and shows distinct CD8+ Receptor Usage, Compared With Blood in HIV-Infected Persons. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. (2018) 77:e14-e21. doi: 10.1097/QAI.00000000001573
- Couturier J, Winchester LC, Suliburk JW, Wilkerson GK, Podany AT, Agarwal N, et al. Adipocytes impair efficacy of antiretroviral therapy. *Antiviral Res.* (2018) 154:140–8. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2018.04.002
- McLaughlin T, Liu LF, Lamendola C, Shen L, Morton J, Rivas H, et al. Tcell profile in adipose tissue is associated with insulin resistance and systemic inflammation in humans. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2014) 34:2637–43. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.304636
- Ibrahim MM. Subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue: structural and functional differences. *Obes Rev.* (2010) 11:11–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2009.00623.x
- Park A, Kim WK, Bae KH. Distinction of white, beige and brown adipocytes derived from mesenchymal stem cells. World J Stem Cells (2014) 6:33–42. doi: 10.4252/wjsc.v6.i1.33
- Cypess AM, White AP, Vernochet C, Schulz TJ, Xue R, Sass CA, et al. Anatomical localization, gene expression profiling and functional characterization of adult human neck brown fat. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:635–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.3112
- Giralt M, Villarroya F. White, brown, beige/brite: different adipose cells for different functions? *Endocrinology* (2013) 154:2992–3000. doi: 10.1210/en.2013-1403
- Harms M, Seale P. Brown and beige fat: development, function and therapeutic potential. Nat Med. (2013) 19:1252-63. doi: 10.1038/nm.3361
- Wu J, Bostrom P, Sparks LM, Ye L, Choi JH, Giang AH, et al. Beige adipocytes are a distinct type of thermogenic fat cell in mouse and human. *Cell* (2012) 150:366–76. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.05.016
- Bruun JM, Pedersen SB, Richelsen B. Regulation of interleukin 8 production and gene expression in human adipose tissue *in vitro*. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2001) 86:1267–73. doi: 10.1210/jc.86.3.1267
- Christiansen T, Richelsen B, Bruun JM. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 is produced in isolated adipocytes, associated with adiposity and reduced after weight loss in morbid obese subjects. *Int J Obes.* (2005) 29:146–50. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0802839

FUNDING

This work was supported in part by the NIH-funded Tennessee Center for AIDS Research (P30 AI110527) and NIDDK grant R01 DK112262.

- Juge-Aubry CE, Henrichot E, Meier CA. Adipose tissue: a regulator of inflammation. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2005) 19:547–66. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2005.07.009
- Wu H, Ghosh S, Perrard XD, Feng L, Garcia GE, Perrard JL, et al. Tcell accumulation and regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted upregulation in adipose tissue in obesity. *Circulation* (2007) 115:1029–38. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.638379
- Duffaut C, Zakaroff-Girard A, Bourlier V, Decaunes P, Maumus M, Chiotasso P, et al. Interplay between human adipocytes and T lymphocytes in obesity: CCL20 as an adipochemokine and T lymphocytes as lipogenic modulators. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2009) 29:1608–14. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.192583
- Palmer BE, Blyveis N, Fontenot AP, Wilson CC. Functional and phenotypic characterization of CD57+CD4+ T cells and their association with HIV-1-induced T cell dysfunction. *J Immunol.* (2005) 175:8415–23. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.12.8415
- Papagno L, Spina CA, Marchant A, Salio M, Rufer N, Little S, et al. Immune activation and CD8+ T-cell differentiation towards senescence in HIV-1 infection. *PLoS Biol.* (2004) 2:E20. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0020020
- Lieberman J, Trimble LA, Friedman RS, Lisziewicz J, Lori F, Shankar P, et al. Expansion of CD57 and CD62L-CD45RA+ CD8 T lymphocytes correlates with reduced viral plasma RNA after primary HIV infection. *AIDS* (1999) 13:891–9. doi: 10.1097/00002030-199905280-00004
- Focosi D, Bestagno M, Burrone O, Petrini M. CD57+ T lymphocytes and functional immune deficiency. J Leukoc Biol. (2010) 87:107–16. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0809566
- Brenchley JM, Karandikar NJ, Betts MR, Ambrozak DR, Hill BJ, Crotty LE, et al. Expression of CD57 defines replicative senescence and antigeninduced apoptotic death of CD8+ T cells. *Blood* (2003) 101:2711–20. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-07-2103
- Le Priol Y, Puthier D, Lecureuil C, Combadiere C, Debre P, Nguyen C, et al. High cytotoxic and specific migratory potencies of senescent CD8+ CD57+ cells in HIV-infected and uninfected individuals. *J Immunol.* (2006) 177:5145–54. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.8.5145
- Tae Yu H, Youn JC, Lee J, Park S, Chi HS, Lee J, et al. Characterization of CD8(+)CD57(+) T cells in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2015) 12:466–73. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2014.74
- 27. Maeda T, Yamada H, Nagamine R, Shuto T, Nakashima Y, Hirata G, et al. Involvement of CD4+,CD57+ T cells in the disease activity of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. (2002) 46:379–84. doi: 10.1002/art.10133
- Palmer BE, Mack DG, Martin AK, Maier LA, Fontenot AP. CD57 expression correlates with alveolitis severity in subjects with beryllium-induced disease. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2007) 120:184–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2007.03.009
- 29. Hoffmann J, Fiser K, Weaver J, Dimmick I, Loeher M, Pircher H, et al. High-throughput 13-parameter immunophenotyping identifies shifts in the circulating T-cell compartment following reperfusion in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e47155. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0047155
- Casey KA, Fraser KA, Schenkel JM, Moran A, Abt MC, Beura LK, et al. Antigen-independent differentiation and maintenance of effectorlike resident memory T cells in tissues. *J Immunol.* (2012) 188:4866–75. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1200402
- Sathaliyawala T, Kubota M, Yudanin N, Turner D, Camp P, Thome JJ, et al. Distribution and compartmentalization of human circulating and tissue-resident memory T cell subsets. *Immunity* (2013) 38:187–97. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.09.020
- Farber DL, Yudanin NA, Restifo NP. Human memory T cells: generation, compartmentalization and homeostasis. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2014) 14:24–35. doi: 10.1038/nri3567

- Travers RL, Motta AC, Betts JA, Bouloumie A, Thompson D. The impact of adiposity on adipose tissue-resident lymphocyte activation in humans. *Int J Obes.* (2015) 39:762–9. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2014.195
- 34. Yokosuka T, Takamatsu M, Kobayashi-Imanishi W, Hashimoto-Tane A, Azuma M, Saito T. Programmed cell death 1 forms negative costimulatory microclusters that directly inhibit T cell receptor signaling by recruiting phosphatase SHP2. J Exp Med. (2012) 209:1201–17. doi: 10.1084/jem.20112741
- Latchman Y, Wood CR, Chernova T, Chaudhary D, Borde M, Chernova I, et al. PD-L2 is a second ligand for PD-1 and inhibits T cell activation. *Nat Immunol.* (2001) 2:261–8. doi: 10.1038/85330
- 36. Francisco LM, Sage PT, Sharpe AH. The PD-1 pathway in tolerance and autoimmunity. *Immunol Rev.* (2010) 236:219–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00923.x
- Day CL, Kaufmann DE, Kiepiela P, Brown JA, Moodley ES, Reddy S, et al. PD-1 expression on HIV-specific T cells is associated with T-cell exhaustion and disease progression. *Nature* (2006) 443:350–4. doi: 10.1038/nature05115
- Shirakawa K, Yan X, Shinmura K, Endo J, Kataoka M, Katsumata Y, et al. Obesity accelerates T cell senescence in murine visceral adipose tissue. J Clin Invest. (2016) 126:4626–39. doi: 10.1172/JCI88606
- Robins HS, Campregher PV, Srivastava SK, Wacher A, Turtle CJ, Kahsai O, et al. Comprehensive assessment of T-cell receptor betachain diversity in alphabeta T cells. *Blood* (2009) 114:4099–107. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-04-217604
- DeWitt WS, Emerson RO, Lindau P, Vignali M, Snyder TM, Desmarais C, et al. Dynamics of the cytotoxic T cell response to a model of acute viral infection. J Virol. (2015) 89:4517–26. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03474-14
- Nishimura S, Manabe I, Nagasaki M, Eto K, Yamashita H, Ohsugi M, et al. CD8+ effector T cells contribute to macrophage recruitment and adipose tissue inflammation in obesity. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:914–20. doi: 10.1038/nm.1964
- Winer S, Chan Y, Paltser G, Truong D, Tsui H, Bahrami J, et al. Normalization of obesity-associated insulin resistance through immunotherapy. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:921–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.2001
- 43. Yang H, Youm YH, Vandanmagsar B, Ravussin A, Gimble JM, Greenway F, et al. Obesity increases the production of proinflammatory mediators from adipose tissue T cells and compromises TCR repertoire diversity: implications for systemic inflammation and insulin resistance. *J Immunol.* (2010). 185:1836-45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000021
- 44. McDonnell WJ, Koethe JR, Mallal SA, Pilkinton MA, Kirabo A, Ameka MK, et al. High CD8 T cell receptor clonality and altered CDR3 properties are associated with elevated isolevuglandins in adipose tissue during dietinduced obesity. *Diabetes* (2018) 67:db180040. doi: 10.2337/db18-0040
- Winer DA, Winer S, Shen L, Wadia PP, Yantha J, Paltser G, et al. B cells promote insulin resistance through modulation of T cells and production of pathogenic IgG antibodies. *Nat Med.* (2011) 17:610–7. doi: 10.1038/nm.2353
- Cho KW, Zamarron BF, Muir LA, Singer K, Porsche CE, DelProposto JB, et al. Adipose tissue dendritic cells are independent contributors to obesity-induced inflammation and insulin resistance. *J Immunol.* (2016) 197:3650–61. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600820
- Cho KW, Morris DL, DelProposto JL, Geletka L, Zamarron B, Martinez-Santibanez G, et al. An MHC II-dependent activation loop between adipose tissue macrophages and CD4+ T cells controls obesity-induced inflammation. *Cell Rep.* (2014) 9:605–17. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014. 09.004
- Deng T, Lyon CJ, Minze LJ, Lin J, Zou J, Liu JZ, et al. Class II major histocompatibility complex plays an essential role in obesity-induced adipose inflammation. *Cell Metab.* (2013) 17:411–22. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.02.009
- Mattioli B, Straface E, Quaranta MG, Giordani L, Viora M. Leptin promotes differentiation and survival of human dendritic cells and licenses them for Th1 priming. *J Immunol.* (2005) 174:6820–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.11.6820
- Jung MY, Kim HS, Hong HJ, Youn BS, Kim TS. Adiponectin induces dendritic cell activation via PLCgamma/JNK/NF-kappaB pathways, leading to Th1 and Th17 polarization. *J Immunol.* (2012) 188:2592–601. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102588
- 51. Moraes-Vieira PM, Yore MM, Dwyer PM, Syed I, Aryal P, Kahn BB. RBP4 activates antigen-presenting cells, leading to adipose tissue

inflammation and systemic insulin resistance. Cell Metab. (2014) 19:512-26. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.01.018

- 52. Feuerer M, Herrero L, Cipolletta D, Naaz A, Wong J, Nayer A, et al. Lean, but not obese, fat is enriched for a unique population of regulatory T cells that affect metabolic parameters. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:930–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.2002
- Chomont N, El-Far M, Ancuta P, Trautmann L, Procopio FA, Yassine-Diab B, et al. HIV reservoir size and persistence are driven by T cell survival and homeostatic proliferation. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:893–900. doi: 10.1038/nm.1972
- Fromentin R, Bakeman W, Lawani MB, Khoury G, Hartogensis W, DaFonseca S, et al. CD4+ T cells expressing PD-1, TIGIT and LAG-3 contribute to HIV persistence during ART. *PLoS Pathog.* (2016) 12:e1005761. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005761
- Banga R, Procopio FA, Noto A, Pollakis G, Cavassini M, Ohmiti K, et al. PD-1(+) and follicular helper T cells are responsible for persistent HIV-1 transcription in treated aviremic individuals. *Nat Med.* (2016) 22:754–61. doi: 10.1038/nm.4113
- Correia-Neves M, Waltzinger C, Mathis D, Benoist C. The shaping of the T cell repertoire. *Immunity* (2001) 14:21–32. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00086-3
- Porcelli SA, Modlin RL. The CD1 system: antigen-presenting molecules for T cell recognition of lipids and glycolipids. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (1999) 17:297–329. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.17.1.297
- Matsuda JL, Gapin L, Fazilleau N, Warren K, Naidenko OV, Kronenberg M. Natural killer T cells reactive to a single glycolipid exhibit a highly diverse T cell receptor beta repertoire and small clone size. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2001) 98:12636–41. doi: 10.1073/pnas.221445298
- Godfrey DI, Uldrich AP, McCluskey J, Rossjohn J, Moody DB. The burgeoning family of unconventional T cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:1114– 23. doi: 10.1038/ni.3298
- Kumar V, Delovitch TL. Different subsets of natural killer T cells may vary in their roles in health and disease. *Immunology* (2014) 142:321–36. doi: 10.1111/imm.12247
- Lynch L, Nowak M, Varghese B, Clark J, Hogan AE, Toxavidis V, et al. Adipose tissue invariant NKT cells protect against diet-induced obesity and metabolic disorder through regulatory cytokine production. *Immunity* (2012) 37:574–87. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.06.016
- Hams E, Locksley RM, McKenzie AN, Fallon PG. Cutting edge: IL-25 elicits innate lymphoid type 2 and type II NKT cells that regulate obesity in mice. J Immunol. (2013) 191:5349–53. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301176
- 63. Satoh M, Andoh Y, Clingan CS, Ogura H, Fujii S, Eshima K, et al. Type II NKT cells stimulate diet-induced obesity by mediating adipose tissue inflammation, steatohepatitis and insulin resistance. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e30568. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0030568
- 64. Ohmura K, Ishimori N, Ohmura Y, Tokuhara S, Nozawa A, Horii S, et al. Natural killer T cells are involved in adipose tissues inflammation and glucose intolerance in diet-induced obese mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2010) 30:193–9. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.198614
- 65. Lynch L, Michelet X, Zhang S, Brennan PJ, Moseman A, Lester C, et al. Regulatory iNKT cells lack expression of the transcription factor PLZF and control the homeostasis of T(reg) cells and macrophages in adipose tissue. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:85–95. doi: 10.1038/ni.3047
- Satoh M, Hoshino M, Fujita K, Iizuka M, Fujii S, Clingan CS, et al. Adipocyte-specific CD1d-deficiency mitigates diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance in mice. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:28473. doi: 10.1038/srep28473
- Huh JY, Kim JI, Park YJ, Hwang IJ, Lee YS, Sohn JH, et al. A novel function of adipocytes in lipid antigen presentation to iNKT cells. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2013) 33:328–39. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00552-12
- Strodthoff D, Lundberg AM, Agardh HE, Ketelhuth DF, Paulsson-Berne G, Arner P, et al. Lack of invariant natural killer T cells affects lipid metabolism in adipose tissue of diet-induced obese mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2013) 33:1189–96. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.112.301105
- Huh JY, Park YJ, Kim JB. Adipocyte CD1d determines adipose inflammation and insulin resistance in obesity. *Adipocyte* (2018) 7:129–36. doi: 10.1080/21623945.2018.1440928
- 70. Motsinger A, Haas DW, Stanic AK, Van Kaer L, Joyce S, Unutmaz D. CD1d-restricted human natural killer T cells are highly susceptible to

human immunodeficiency virus 1 infection. J Exp Med. (2002) 195:869–79. doi: 10.1084/jem.20011712

- Sandberg JK, Fast NM, Palacios EH, Fennelly G, Dobroszycki J, Palumbo P, et al. Selective loss of innate CD4(+) V alpha 24 natural killer T cells in human immunodeficiency virus infection. J Virol. (2002) 76:7528–34. doi: 10.1128/JVI.76.15.7528-7534.2002
- Fleuridor R, Wilson B, Hou R, Landay A, Kessler H, Al-Harthi L. CD1d-restricted natural killer T cells are potent targets for human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Immunology* (2003) 108:3–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2567.2003.01560.x
- Singh AK, Tripathi P, Cardell SL. Type II NKT cells: an elusive population with immunoregulatory properties. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1969. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01969
- 74. Thewissen MM, Damoiseaux JG, Duijvestijn AM, van Greevenbroek MM, van der Kallen CJ, Feskens EJ, et al. Abdominal fat mass is associated with adaptive immune activation: the CODAM study. *Obesity* (2011) 19:1690–8. doi: 10.1038/oby.2010.337
- Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL, Ferrante AW, Jr. Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J Clin Invest. (2003) 112:1796–808. doi: 10.1172/JCI200 319246
- 76. Kintscher U, Hartge M, Hess K, Foryst-Ludwig A, Clemenz M, Wabitsch M, et al. T-lymphocyte infiltration in visceral adipose tissue: a primary event in adipose tissue inflammation and the development of obesity-mediated insulin resistance. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2008) 28:1304–10. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.165100
- 77. Deiuliis J, Shah Z, Shah N, Needleman B, Mikami D, Narula V, et al. Visceral adipose inflammation in obesity is associated with critical alterations in tregulatory cell numbers. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e16376. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016376
- Shah TJ, Leik CE, Walsh SW. Neutrophil infiltration and systemic vascular inflammation in obese women. *Reprod Sci.* (2010) 17:116–24. doi: 10.1177/1933719109348252
- Talukdar S, Oh da Y, Bandyopadhyay G, Li D, Xu J, McNelis J, et al. Neutrophils mediate insulin resistance in mice fed a high-fat diet through secreted elastase. *Nat Med.* (2012) 18:1407–12. doi: 10.1038/nm.2885
- Bruun JM, Lihn AS, Pedersen SB, Richelsen B. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 release is higher in visceral than subcutaneous human adipose tissue (AT): implication of macrophages resident in the AT. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2005) 90:2282–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-1696
- Lee YH, Nair S, Rousseau E, Allison DB, Page GP, Tataranni PA, et al. Microarray profiling of isolated abdominal subcutaneous adipocytes from obese vs non-obese Pima Indians: increased expression of inflammation-related genes. *Diabetologia* (2005) 48:1776–83. doi: 10.1007/s00125-005-1867-3
- Jernas M, Palming J, Sjoholm K, Jennische E, Svensson PA, Gabrielsson BG, et al. Separation of human adipocytes by size: hypertrophic fat cells display distinct gene expression. *FASEB J.* (2006) 20:1540–2. doi: 10.1096/fj.05-5678fje
- Hotamisligil GS, Peraldi P, Budavari A, Ellis R, White MF, Spiegelman BM. IRS-1-mediated inhibition of insulin receptor tyrosine kinase activity in TNF-alpha- and obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Science* (1996) 271:665–8.
- Lumeng CN, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR. Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. *J Clin Invest.* (2007) 117:175–84. doi: 10.1172/JCI29881
- Gao D, Madi M, Ding C, Fok M, Steele T, Ford C, et al. Interleukin-1beta mediates macrophage-induced impairment of insulin signaling in human primary adipocytes. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* (2014) 307:E289–304. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00430.2013
- Lumeng CN, Deyoung SM, Saltiel AR. Macrophages block insulin action in adipocytes by altering expression of signaling and glucose transport proteins. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* (2007) 292:E166–74. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00284.2006
- Lawler HM, Underkofler CM, Kern PA, Erickson C, Bredbeck B, Rasouli N. Adipose tissue hypoxia, inflammation and fibrosis in obese insulin sensitive and obese insulin resistant subjects. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2016) 101:1422–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-4125

- Jan V, Cervera P, Maachi M, Baudrimont M, Kim M, Vidal H, et al. Altered fat differentiation and adipocytokine expression are inter-related and linked to morphological changes and insulin resistance in HIV-1-infected lipodystrophic patients. *Antivir Ther.* (2004) 9:555–64.
- Shikuma CM, Gangcuangco LM, Killebrew DA, Libutti DE, Chow DC, Nakamoto BK, et al. The role of HIV and monocytes/macrophages in adipose tissue biology. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. (2014) 65:151–9. doi: 10.1097/01.qai.0000435599.27727.6c
- Ellery PJ, Tippett E, Chiu YL, Paukovics G, Cameron PU, Solomon A, et al. The CD16+ monocyte subset is more permissive to infection and preferentially harbors HIV-1 *in vivo. J Immunol.* (2007) 178:6581–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.10.6581
- Jaworowski A, Kamwendo DD, Ellery P, Sonza S, Mwapasa V, Tadesse E, et al. CD16+ monocyte subset preferentially harbors HIV-1 and is expanded in pregnant Malawian women with Plasmodium falciparum malaria and HIV-1 infection. J Infect Dis. (2007) 196:38–42. doi: 10.1086/518443
- Kedzierska K, Azzam R, Ellery P, Mak J, Jaworowski A, Crowe SM. Defective phagocytosis by human monocyte/macrophages following HIV-1 infection: underlying mechanisms and modulation by adjunctive cytokine therapy. J Clin Virol. (2003) 26:247–63. doi: 10.1016/S1386-6532(02)00123-3
- 93. Esser R, Glienke W, von Briesen H, Rubsamen-Waigmann H, Andreesen R. Differential regulation of proinflammatory and hematopoietic cytokines in human macrophages after infection with human immunodeficiency virus. *Blood* (1996) 88:3474–81.
- 94. Jalbert E, Crawford TQ, D'Antoni ML, Keating SM, Norris PJ, Nakamoto BK, et al. IL-1Beta enriched monocytes mount massive IL-6 responses to common inflammatory triggers among chronically HIV-1 infected adults on stable anti-retroviral therapy at risk for cardiovascular disease. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e75500. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075500
- Arainga M, Su H, Poluektova LY, Gorantla S, Gendelman HE. HIV-1 cellular and tissue replication patterns in infected humanized mice. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:23513. doi: 10.1038/srep23513
- 96. Cheng L, Ma J, Li G, Su L. Humanized mice engrafted with human HSC only or HSC and thymus support comparable HIV-1 replication, immunopathology, and responses to ART and immune therapy. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:817. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00817
- Lysaght J, Allott EH, Donohoe CL, Howard JM, Pidgeon GP, Reynolds JV. T lymphocyte activation in visceral adipose tissue of patients with oesophageal adenocarcinoma. *Br J Surg*. (2011) 98:964–74. doi: 10.1002/bjs.7498
- Maury E, Ehala-Aleksejev K, Guiot Y, Detry R, Vandenhooft A, Brichard SM. Adipokines oversecreted by omental adipose tissue in human obesity. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* (2007) 293:E656–65. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00127.2007
- Meijer K, de Vries M, Al-Lahham S, Bruinenberg M, Weening D, Dijkstra M, et al. Human primary adipocytes exhibit immune cell function: adipocytes prime inflammation independent of macrophages. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e17154. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017154
- Liou YH, Wang SW, Chang CL, Huang PL, Hou MS, Lai YG, et al. Adipocyte IL-15 regulates local and systemic NK cell development. *J Immunol.* (2014) 193:1747–58. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400868
- 101. Agarwal N, Iyer D, Patel SG, Sekhar RV, Phillips TM, Schubert U, et al. HIV-1 Vpr induces adipose dysfunction *in vivo* through reciprocal effects on PPAR/GR co-regulation. *Sci Transl Med.* (2013) 5:213ra164. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3007148
- 102. Shrivastav S, Kino T, Cunningham T, Ichijo T, Schubert U, Heinklein P, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-1 viral protein R suppresses transcriptional activity of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor {gamma} and inhibits adipocyte differentiation: implications for HIV-associated lipodystrophy. *Mol Endocrinol.* (2008) 22:234–47. doi: 10.1210/me.2007-0124
- 103. Henklein P, Bruns K, Sherman MP, Tessmer U, Licha K, Kopp J, et al. Functional and structural characterization of synthetic HIV-1 Vpr that transduces cells, localizes to the nucleus, and induces G2 cell cycle arrest. J Biol Chem. (2000) 275:32016–26. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M004044200
- Diaz-Delfin J, Domingo P, Wabitsch M, Giralt M, Villarroya F. HIV-1 Tat protein impairs adipogenesis and induces the expression and secretion of proinflammatory cytokines in human SGBS adipocytes. *Antivir Ther.* (2012) 17:529–40. doi: 10.3851/IMP2021

- Pappenheimer AM, Kunz LJ, Richardson S. Passage of Coxsackie virus (Connecticut-5 strain) in adult mice with production of pancreatic disease. J Exp Med. (1951) 94:45–64.
- Sulkin SE, Krutzsch PH, Allen R, Wallis C. Studies on the pathogenesis of rabies in insectivorous bats. I. Role of brown adipose tissue. *J Exp Med.* (1959) 110:369–88.
- 107. Aronson SM, Shwartzman G. The histopathology of brown fat in experimental poliomyelitis. *Am J Pathol.* (1956) 32:315–33.
- Bodian D. Poliovirus in chimpanzee tissues after virus feeding. Am J Hyg. (1956) 64:181–97.
- Papadimitriou JM, Shellam GR, Allan JE. The effect of the beige mutation on infection with murine cytomegalovirus: histopathologic studies. *Am J Pathol.* (1982) 108:299–309.
- 110. Iwasaki T, Tashiro A, Satodate R, Sata T, Kurata T. Acute pancreatitis with cytomegalovirus infection. *Acta Pathol Jpn.* (1987) 37:1661–8.
- 111. Price P, Eddy KS, Papadimitriou JM, Robertson TA, Shellam GR. Cytomegalovirus infection of adipose tissues induces steatitis in adult mice. *Int J Exp Pathol.* (1990) 71:557–71.
- 112. Geisbert TW, Jahrling PB, Hanes MA, Zack PM. Association of Ebola-related Reston virus particles and antigen with tissue lesions of monkeys imported to the United States. *J Comp Pathol.* (1992) 106:137–52.
- 113. Nishimura H, Itamura S, Iwasaki T, Kurata T, Tashiro M. Characterization of human influenza A (H5N1) virus infection in mice: neuro-, pneumoand adipotropic infection. J Gen Virol. (2000) 81(Pt 10):2503–10. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-81-10-2503
- 114. Gray KS, Collins CM, Speck SH. Characterization of omental immune aggregates during establishment of a latent gammaherpesvirus infection. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e43196. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0043196
- 115. Gill MB, Wright DE, Smith CM, May JS, Stevenson PG. Murid herpesvirus-4 lacking thymidine kinase reveals route-dependent

requirements for host colonization. J Gen Virol. (2009) 90(Pt 6):1461–70. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.010603-0

- 116. Sacher T, Andrassy J, Kalnins A, Dolken L, Jordan S, Podlech J, et al. Shedding light on the elusive role of endothelial cells in cytomegalovirus dissemination. *PLoS Pathog.* (2011) 7:e1002366. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002366
- 117. Shnayder M, Nachshon A, Krishna B, Poole E, Boshkov A, Binyamin A, et al. Defining the trascriptional landscapre during cytomegalovirus latency with single-cell RNA sequencing. *mBio* (2018) 9:e00013-18. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00013-18
- 118. Karachaliou M, de Sanjose S, Waterboer T, Roumeliotaki T, Vassilaki M, Sarri K, et al. Is early life exposure to polyomaviruses and herpesviruses associated with obesity indices and metabolic traits in childhood? *Int J Obes.* (2018) 42:1590–601. doi: 10.1038/s41366-018-0017-1
- 119. Petta S, Amato M, Cabibi D, Camma C, Di Marco V, Giordano C, et al. Visceral adiposity index is associated with histological findings and high viral load in patients with chronic hepatitis C due to genotype 1. *Hepatology* (2010) 52:1543–52. doi: 10.1002/hep.23859

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Wanjalla, McDonnell and Koethe. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Innate Lymphocytes in Adipose Tissue Homeostasis and Their Alterations in Obesity and Colorectal Cancer

Manuela Del Cornò, Lucia Conti* and Sandra Gessani

Center for Gender-Specific Medicine, Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Rome, Italy

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most common cancer worldwide and a leading cause of death, with burden expected to increase in the coming years. Enhanced adiposity, particularly visceral fat, is associated with increased cancer incidence representing an important indicator of survival, prognosis, recurrence rates, and response to therapy for several tumors including CRC. Compelling evidence has been achieved that the low-grade chronic inflammation characterizing obesity represents a main factor that can favor carcinogenesis. Adipocytes and adipose tissue (AT) infiltrating immune cells contribute to obesity-related inflammation by releasing soluble factors affecting, both locally and systemically, the function of several cell types, including immune and cancer cells. The unbalanced production of immune mediators as well as the profound changes in the repertoire and activation state of immune cells in AT of obese subjects represent key events in the processes that set the basis for a pro-tumorigenic microenvironment. AT harbors a unique profile of immune cells of different origin that play an important role in tissue homeostasis. Among these, tissue-resident innate lymphocytes are emerging as important AT components whose depletion/aberrant activation occurring in obesity could have an impact on inflammation and immune-surveillance against tumors. However, a direct link between obesity-induced dysfunction and cancer development has not been demonstrated yet. In this review, we provide an overview of human obesity- and CRC-induced alterations of blood and adipose tissue-associated innate lymphocytes, and discuss how the adipose tissue microenvironment in obesity might influence the development of CRC.

Keywords: obesity, colorectal cancer, adipose tissue, immune profile, innate lymphocytes

INTRODUCTION

White adipose tissue (AT) is a complex immunocompetent organ, enriched with adipocytes and immune cells that contribute to metabolic, endocrine, and immune activities (1). AT is a dynamic organ making up a substantial proportion of the body that, in severe obesity, can account for 50% of body mass (2). This tissue has remained a largely unexplored and unappreciated immune site and only recently emerged that AT harbors a unique profile of immune cells, with either pro-inflammatory (M1 macrophages, dendritic and mast cells, neutrophils, Th1 CD4 and CD8 T cells, B lymphocytes) or anti-inflammatory (M2 macrophages, eosinophils, T_{reg} and Th2 CD4 T cells) activity, playing a key role in immune homeostasis and metabolic regulation of

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Joanne Lysaght, Trinity College, Dublin, Ireland

Reviewed by:

Minh Ngoc Duong, Lausanne University Hospital (CHUV), Switzerland Melissa Jane Conroy, Trinity College, Dublin, Ireland

> *Correspondence: Lucia Conti lucia.conti@iss.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 28 June 2018 Accepted: 17 October 2018 Published: 05 November 2018

Citation:

Del Cornò M, Conti L and Gessani S (2018) Innate Lymphocytes in Adipose Tissue Homeostasis and Their Alterations in Obesity and Colorectal Cancer. Front. Immunol. 9:2556. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02556

45

Innate Lymphocyte Dysfunctions in Obesity/CRC

AT (1). Studies carried out in the last decade led to the characterization of non-recirculating lymphocyte populations residing in non-lymphoid tissues and organs such as AT (3). These include unconventional T cells-like invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cells, mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells, yo T lymphocytes-the family of innate lymphoid cells (ILC) and tissue-resident memory T cells (3). AT immune cells are key to maintain tissue and immune homeostasis and their profile and function are profoundly altered in obesity (4). The obesity-associated low-grade chronic inflammation represents a major risk factor for related morbidities including some types of cancer. The observation that anti-inflammatory drug use reduces colorectal cancer (CRC) risk and retards intestinal tumors in ulcerative colitis patients has provided compelling evidence for a link among inflammation, obesity, and cancer (5). Growing evidence highlighted the importance of adipocyte microenvironment in modulating the function of immune and cancer cells. The nature of AT/cancer interplay is still largely unknown, but investigations in the field over the last 10 years indicate that this tissue occupies a central place in tumor pathogenesis and progression (6). Systemic and local alterations occurring as a consequence of obesity not only increase the likelihood of tumor development/progression but also set the basis for unfavorable responses to therapy (6).

This review will provide an overview of alterations in blood and AT populations of innate lymphocytes in obesity and CRC. The interplay between AT and cancer cells as a potential mechanism linking obesity to CRC development is discussed.

INNATE LYMPHOCYTE PROFILES IN OBESITY AND COLORECTAL CANCER

AT exhibits differential profiles in distinct body depots and fat distribution, particularly subcutaneous vs. visceral, has important implications for health (7). The visceral or omental AT (VAT) is immunologically more dynamic than the subcutaneous AT (SAT) and abdominal adiposity is strongly associated with the risk of metabolic disorders, cardiovascular diseases, and cancer (7).

Recent studies clearly showed that the balance between homeostasis and inflammation in AT is mainly controlled by the stromal vascular fraction, that contains, among other immune cells, different populations of innate lymphocytes exhibiting, in homeostatic conditions, regulatory/anti-inflammatory properties (8). Obesity is associated with profound changes in AT infiltrates and systemic profiles of innate lymphocytes, contributing to the dysregulated soluble mediator release and to skewing the balance toward a pro-inflammatory status (8). In addition to act as major regulators of AT homeostasis, innate T cell populations actively contribute to the early defense against cancer (9, 10).

A summary of the main alterations of AT and blood innate lymphocytes in obesity and CRC is provided in **Table 1**.

Natural Killer T Cells

Among innate lymphocytes populating AT are Natural Killer T (NKT) cells, evolutionarily conserved lipid-sensing T cells that strongly influence inflammatory responses (32). They include

TABLE 1 Adipose tissue vs. blood distribution of innate lymphocytes and	
alterations in their frequencies in obesity and colorectal cancer.	

Cell type	Lean AT vs. PB	Obese		CRC		References
		AT	PB	AT	PB	
iNKT	$AT^{\wedge} > PB$					(11, 12)
		\downarrow	\downarrow^{\star}			(11, 13–17)
		\downarrow	=			(18)
				\downarrow		(11)
NKT-like	VAT > PB					(11, 19)
	VAT = PB					(20)
	VAT > SAT					(21)
		=	=			(11, 19, 20, 22)
				↑	=	(19)
MAIT	VAT > PB	\downarrow	$\downarrow \uparrow^{\#}$			(23)
		=				(15)
					\downarrow	(24, 25)
γδ Τ	VAT = PB					(19)
		=	=	=	-	(15, 19, 26)
Vγ9Vδ2 T			\downarrow			(27)
Vγ9Vδ2/γδ T			\downarrow		\downarrow	(19)
ILC1 (NK)		=	=	=	=	(19, 28)
			\downarrow			(29)
CD56 ^{br}	$AT^{\wedge} > PB$					
CD56 ^{dim}	$PB > AT^{\wedge}$					(19)
CD56 ^{br}	VAT = PB					
CD56 ^{dim}	VAT = PB					(20)
CD56 ^{br}		1				(30)
ILC2		\downarrow				(31)

PB, peripheral blood; VAT, visceral AT; SAT, subcutaneous AT; in both adult and childhood obesity; [#]opposite trend in childhood vs. adult obesity; ^ in both VAT and SAT; =, \uparrow , \downarrow : similar, higher or lower frequency as compared to healthy lean controls; >: greater than in the comparison between AT and PB.

iNKT, non-invariant NKT and NKT-like cells with the lipid antigen-reactive iNKT cells making up a large proportion (about 10%) of total AT lymphocytes (11, 13, 14, 33). The frequency of iNKT cells in VAT is higher than in any other organ, likely due to lipid antigen abundance in this body compartment and to the antigen presentation capacity of AT-resident myeloid cells including adipocytes (11, 13, 14, 33). Notably, iNKT cell enrichment results from blood recruitment (12) and their frequency correlates with the number of cells expressing the MHC-like glycoprotein CD1d (11).

AT-associated iNKT cells are unusually poised to readily produce anti-inflammatory/regulatory cytokines. They acquire a Th2-like phenotype in response to lipid antigens and have the ability to produce IL-10. Invariant NKT cells also act as regulators of other immune cells thus bridging innate to adaptive immunity (2, 34). In obesity, a reduced iNKT cell frequency was observed in both blood and VAT (11, 14, 15), and in the latter, it parallels a decreased CD1d-expressing cell number (11, 14). Furthermore, iNKT cell frequency inversely correlates with obesity degree, and with insulin resistance and fasting glucose, suggesting that AT resident iNKT cells exert a regulatory role against obesityassociated metabolic disorders (13, 14). Circulating iNKT cell frequency decreases in adult and childhood obesity (16, 17), although other investigators described a reduction only in VAT of adult obese subjects (18). This reduction parallels an increased proportion of early activated iNKT cells in the circulation (18). Interestingly, weight loss induced by gastric bypass surgery in severely obese subjects partially rescues circulating iNKT cell numbers (35) and reverts their activation state (18).

As iNKT cells play a key role in the regulation of inflammation and in cancer surveillance, their contraction in obesity could have important implications for the control of tumor growth. Notably, iNKT cell frequency and CD1d-expressing cell number decline in VAT from CRC affected patients (11).

Like iNKT lymphocytes, the CD1d-independent NKT-like cells are poorly represented in blood of lean individuals and preferentially accumulate in VAT rather than in SAT (11, 19, 21). However, no differences in VAT vs. blood distribution were found in other studies (20). Although not modified in obese subjects (11, 19, 20, 22), these cells are selectively enriched in VAT from CRC patients as compared to healthy individuals, irrespective of BMI (19).

Mucosal-Associated Invariant T Cells

MAIT cells are emerging as important players in chronic inflammatory disorders including obesity. They express an invariant V α 7.2 TCR chain and high levels of the NK cell-associated receptor CD161, recognize bacterial-derived metabolites presented by the MHC-like molecule MR-1 and are mainly involved in the control of bacterial infections (36). MAIT cells are relatively abundant in the blood and are present in both VAT and SAT (15, 23). Like iNKT cells, they selectively accumulate in lean individual AT, where, unlike their blood counterpart, they produce IL-10 upon stimulation, thus contributing to tissue homeostasis (23).

Obesity profoundly affects MAIT cell number and function. A decreased frequency of circulating MAIT cells was reported in obese individuals. The reduction was found to be stronger in subjects with insulin resistance or with severe obesity, and was counteracted by surgery-induced weight loss (15). In parallel, a preferential activation of MAIT cells, displaying high proliferation and a striking IL-17 profile, was observed in VAT from obese individuals (15). Carolan and co-authors confirmed obesity-related depletion of circulating MAIT cells, but reported a reduced accumulation in VAT (23). An opposite situation was found in obese children, whose circulating MAIT cell frequency is increased and positively correlates with BMI. In both adults and children, however, obesity results in a skewed differentiation of MAIT cells toward an IL-17⁺ phenotype (23).

The role of MAIT cells in cancer is still under debate. Whether they promote malignancy through the production of IL-17, or contribute to anticancer immunity by expressing cytotoxic effector molecules still needs to be elucidated (36). Although alterations of MAIT cell distribution and function have never been studied in the AT of cancer patients, evidence has been provided that the percentages and absolute numbers of circulating MAIT cells decrease in gastric and colon tumors (24, 25). This depletion only occurs in patients affected by mucosalassociated cancers and is associated with an increased number of tumor infiltrating MAIT cells, especially in subjects with advanced CRC, thus reflecting the degree of cancer progression (24, 25).

γδ **T Lymphocytes**

 $\gamma\delta$ T cells sense self and non-self danger signals expressed in stressed, infected or tumor cells by recognizing non-peptidic phosphorylated antigens in a MHC-independent manner (37). They exert their effector functions either directly by cytotoxic activity or indirectly through the production of immune mediators and activation of other immune cell populations (37). In humans, three major subsets have been identified: V δ 1 T cells, predominantly present in the thymus and peripheral tissues; V δ 2 T cells, always expressing the V γ 9 chain, which constitute the majority of blood $\gamma\delta$ T lymphocytes and can be recruited in inflamed tissues in pathologic conditions (38); V δ 3 T cells, poorly represented in the blood and enriched in the liver.

Despite studies demonstrating a role of IL-17-producing γδ T cells in murine obesity, the involvement of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in human obesity-associated chronic inflammation has been only poorly investigated. We recently reported comparable frequencies of blood and VAT-associated total $\gamma\delta$ T lymphocytes in obese and CRC-affected subjects as compared to healthy lean individuals (19). Accordingly, no alterations in circulating $\gamma\delta$ T cells were reported in obese (15) and CRC-affected subjects (26). However, when the analysis was extended to the $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ subset, we observed a systemic reduction of the $V\gamma 9V\delta 2/\gamma\delta$ T cell ratio, inversely correlating with BMI, in both obese subjects and CRC patients (19). Likewise, a reduced number of blood Vy9V82T cells was reported in obese individuals, accompanied by a skewed maturation phenotype and impaired IFN-y production, mainly attributed to IL-2 deprivation in obesity (27). The low frequency of Vy9V82 T cells with reduced activation potential in obesity could negatively impact cancer immune-surveillance.

Innate Lymphoid Cells

ILC, a heterogeneous immune cell population not expressing T- or B-cell receptor, include ILC1, ILC2, and ILC3 groups, characterized by the ability to produce Th1-, Th2-, and Th17-like cytokines, respectively (39). They contribute to homeostasis in both barrier and non-barrier tissues and have been implicated in infection, chronic inflammation, and metabolic disorders (39). Among ILC, NK cells, belonging to ILC1 group, and ILC2 have been described in human AT where they contribute to inflammation or to maintain tissue homeostasis, respectively.

A selective distribution of NK cell subsets in VAT and blood was recently reported in lean individuals, with CD56^{bright} cells preferentially enriched in VAT and CD56^{dim} cells more represented in the blood (19). Conversely, NK cell subsets were found to be equally distributed in VAT/SAT and blood compartments in previous studies (20). The VAT/blood distribution was not substantially changed in obesity (20, 28), although a slight increase in VAT CD56^{bright} and a parallel decrease in CD56^{dim} NK cell frequency was detected (20). A reduced number of NK cells, associated to an expansion in inhibitory-receptor (CD158b, NKB1) bearing cells, was found in the peripheral blood of obese individuals, particularly in metabolically unhealthy subjects (29). Obese subject circulating NK cells were also reported to express higher levels of activation markers despite an impaired cytotoxic activity against tumor cells (40, 41). Furthermore, a selective accumulation of a distinct IL-6

receptor-expressing subset, correlating with systemic low-grade inflammation markers, was recently reported in the circulation of obese subjects (28). Conversely, Dovio and colleagues failed to detect any obesity-associated NK cell dysfunction (42). In addition, O'Rourke and colleagues reported an activated phenotype also for AT resident NK cells that, in obesity, upregulate the NKG2D receptor (20). Although the total NK cell number is similar in blood and AT of lean and obese subjects, affected or not by CRC, NK cells residing in SAT of obese individuals display a poor cytotoxicity against target tumor cells (19, 28, 30). Moreover, reduced NK cell survival and expansion of IL-10-producing NK cells have been described in other obesityassociated cancers (43). Altogether, these data suggest that NK cell chronic stimulation could occur in obesity leading to their exhaustion. This could contribute to the greater susceptibility of obese individuals to develop cancers or infectious diseases.

ILC2 play an important role in mounting protective innate responses against parasites and helminthes and in maintaining intestinal epithelium integrity (44). Due to their capacity to secrete anti-inflammatory cytokines, they may act as anti-obesity immune regulators. However, despite the evidence obtained in mouse models, studies investigating ILC2 abundance in human AT and their role in metabolic homeostasis are scarce. Cells expressing GATA binding protein 3 and IL-33 receptor, consistent with ILC2 described in other human tissues, have been recently identified in lean individual SAT and their frequency decreases in obese subjects, as already described for murine obesity (31).

INFLUENCE OF ADIPOSE TISSUE MICROENVIRONMENT ON IMMUNE AND COLORECTAL CANCER CELLS

AT Modulation of Innate Lymphocyte Function

Growing evidence points to the existence of a cross-talk between AT and immune cells with the latter able to influence adipocyte metabolic function (45). Less is instead known about the influence of AT on cells of the immune system, particularly innate lymphocytes. Although a variety of mediators (cytokine, chemokines, lipids and their metabolites, hormones and growth factors) released by adipocytes have the potential to modulate innate lymphocyte functions and recruitment (46), the studies describing adipocyte/innate T cell interplay failed to characterize the specific factors involved. In particular, evidence was provided that MAIT cell function is influenced by AT released soluble factors. It was reported that the frequency of IL-17-producing MAIT cells increases in the presence of AT conditioned media (CM) from obese subjects, while that of IL-10-producing MAIT cells is increased by CM from lean subjects (23).

Likewise, CM from obese individuals strongly reduce the expression of the survival molecule Bcl-2 while increasing the percentage of Ki-67-expressing MAIT cells (15). These observations suggest that soluble factors released by AT in obesity might lead to the death of MAIT cells or skew their

differentiation toward a pathogenic phenotype thus contributing to the establishment/perpetuation of chronic inflammation.

We also provided evidence that, in obesity and CRC conditions, adipocyte microenvironment delivers immunosuppressive signals to differentiating dendritic cells (DC), as assessed by their enhanced expression of inhibitory molecules and reduced IL-12/IL-10 ratio (47). Likewise, DC generated in adipocyte CM from obese and CRC subjects fail to induce the activation of V γ 9V δ 2 T lymphocytes. Of note, adipocytes from obese and CRC subjects release higher amounts of pro-inflammatory/immunoregulatory cytokines/chemokines (IL-6, CXCL8, CCL2), and exhibit a higher content of pro-inflammatory ω 6 polyunsaturated fatty acids (FA), with respect to lean subjects (47).

An intimate interaction between adipocytes and iNKT cells has been reported in mouse models, where CD1d-expressing adipocytes contribute to lipid antigen presentation and activation of iNKT cells (14). Although an interaction between adipocytes and iNKT cells has not been demonstrated yet in human AT, the correlation between CD1d expression and iNKT cell frequency in lean subject AT, and their concomitant reduction in obesity (11, 13, 14, 33), point to the existence of a dynamic cross-talk between these cell populations. Depending on the lipid antigens produced in response to nutritional environment, iNKT cells might be primed toward either anti- or pro-inflammatory phenotypes, thus contributing to AT homeostasis or inflammation, respectively. In this regard, it is of interest that adipocyte secreted lipids are potent inhibitors of LPS-induced IL-12p40 secretion in macrophages. This effect is AT depot-independent and its extent correlates with BMI (48). Likewise, adipocyte-derived lipids, particularly free FA, exert a potent immunomodulatory effect by stimulating CD4⁺ T cell proliferation in an AT depot-independent manner (49).

All together these observations provide evidence for a crosstalk between AT and innate T cells, at least in part promoted by soluble mediators (lipids or cytokines/chemokines or still unknown factors), that is dysregulated in obese and cancer affected subjects thus leading to altered tissue recruitment and function of innate immunity cell subsets.

AT Cross-Talk With Colorectal Cancer Cells

The altered systemic and AT environment occurring in obesity not only increases the likelihood of tumor development/progression but also sets the basis for unfavorable responses to therapeutic regimens (9, 10). Several studies suggest that, within the constitutively active pro-inflammatory AT microenvironment characterizing obesity, the bidirectional cross-talk between AT and cancer cells may play an important role (50). Such interplay occurs via deregulated expression of mediators of different nature: cytokines (i.e., IL-1, IL-6, TNF α), chemokines (i.e., CCL2, CXCL8), lipids and their metabolites (i.e., free FA, PGE₂), hormones (estrogens), growth factors (i.e., IGF-1, VEGF), that are potentially linked to increased risk of cancer development/progression (21, 47– 49, 51, 52). Growing evidence suggests that non-cancer cell types in the tumor microenvironment, such as adipocytes and infiltrating immune cells, interact to enhance inflammation, reprogram cancer cell metabolism, and affect processes involved in invasion, metastasis, and immune clearance, all of which can support tumor progression and impact patient outcome (53).

In this regard, Amor et al. (51) reported enhanced expression of pro-inflammatory and angiogenic factors (i.e., nitrite/nitrate, IL-6, TNF- α , VEGF) by peritumoral AT of CRC affected obese patients with respect to lean subjects. Likewise, Catalan and colleagues showed increased release of pro-inflammatory and angiogenesis-related factors (lipocalin-2, chitinase 3-like 1, TNF- α , osteopontin, HIF-1 α , VEGF), as well as increased MMP9 enzymatic activity in VAT of overweight subjects affected by CRC (52). On the other side, lipoprotein lipase and FA synthase activity were found to be reduced in peritumoral AT suggesting a tumor-induced impairment of lipid storing capacity of adipocytes in CRC patients (54).

Only few studies investigated the direct interaction between AT and cancer cells in *in vitro* models. Lysaght and colleagues reported higher levels of VEGF in serum and VAT CM from centrally obese as compared to non-obese CRC patients (21). Interestingly, CM from obese subjects increase the proliferation of colon cancer cells in a VEGF-mediated manner. By comparing SAT and VAT depots, the latter was shown to contain higher levels of VEGF and IL-6 (21). Furthermore, adipocyte secreted factors from obese subjects decrease oxygen consumption rate and expression of mitochondrial respiratory chain complexes in colon cancer cells. The observed inhibition of mitochondrial respiration and function is characteristic of the metabolic reprogramming of malignant transformation and is partially mediated by leptin (55).

Evidence on the existence of a direct relationship between AT-associated innate lymphocyte dysfunctions and CRC development is still lacking. We propose that the contribution of innate lymphocytes to obesity-associated tumor development/progression relies on: (i) alteration of cytokine profile that contributes to inflammation and ultimately affects intestinal mucosa homeostasis, and (ii) impaired direct antitumor activity that favors a shift from immune-surveillance toward tumor escape.

INNATE LYMPHOCYTE ALTERATIONS IN OBESITY AND THEIR IMPACT ON CRC

Obesity is associated with profound changes in AT and systemic profiles of innate lymphocytes, contributing to dysregulated soluble mediator release and to skewing the balance toward a proinflammatory status. In addition, the cytotoxic activity of innate lymphocyte populations and their capacity to directly orchestrate the early defense against cancer are impaired in obese individuals.

A number of studies have documented the critical role of these cells in tumor immunity and highlighted the therapeutic potential of their targeting in different cancer types including CRC (9, 10). Activated innate lymphocytes produce cytokines and cytotoxic factors and are capable of directly lysing tumors. Furthermore, they can drive the activation of other immune cell populations, such as DC, and are able to target tumorassociated macrophages, myeloid-derived suppressor cells and IL-10-secreting neutrophils which generally characterize the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment, as well as cancer stem cells (9, 10). Thus, alterations of AT and blood innate



lymphocyte frequencies and functions occurring in obesity are expected to have an impact on both inflammation and surveillance against tumors. In particular, MAIT cells have the potential to either promote malignancy through the production of IL-17, or contribute to anticancer immunity by expressing cytotoxic effector molecules (36). The skewed MAIT cell differentiation toward an IL-17 producing phenotype occurring in obese subjects could at least in part explain the detrimental role of AT inflammation in the generation of a pro-tumorigenic environment. Of note, aberrant activation of the IL-23/IL-17 axis has been linked to tumorigenesis and adverse prognosis in CRC (56), suggesting that the hyper-production of IL-17 occurring in AT could be of relevance for obesity-associated CRC pathogenesis. Likewise, the exhausted phenotype of NK cells, the aberrant activation of iNKT cells and the contraction of the Vy9V82 T lymphocyte subset observed in obese subjects could contribute to the greater susceptibility of these individuals to develop cancer or infectious diseases. Indeed subjects with low circulating NK cell activity have a 10-fold higher risk of developing CRC compared to subjects with high NK cell activity, and the HNK1 NKG2D genotype, associated with high NK cell activity, exerts a protective effect against CRC (57, 58). In support of this, alterations of some of these innate lymphocyte subsets have also been observed in blood or AT of CRC patients, suggesting a direct link between obesity-induced dysfunctions and cancer.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Obesity results from a complex interplay of different factors including genetics, gender, lifestyle, microbiota, and body fat distribution. The shift from a lean to an obese condition is associated with profound changes in the balance between anti- and pro-inflammatory mediators, release of

REFERENCES

- Huh JY, Park YJ, Ham M, Kim JB. Crosstalk between adipocytes and immune cells in adipose tissue inflammation and metabolic dysregulation in obesity. *Mol Cells* (2014) 37:365–71. doi: 10.14348/molcells.2014.0074
- Lynch L. Adipose invariant natural killer T cells. *Immunology* (2014) 142:337– 46. doi: 10.1111/imm.12269
- Fan X, Rudensky AY. Hallmarks of tissue-resident lymphocytes. *Cell* (2016) 164:1198–211. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.02.048
- Lee BC, Lee J. Cellular and molecular players in adipose tissue inflammation in the development of obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2014) 1842:446–62. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2013. 05.017
- Gregor MF, Hotamisligil GS. Inflammatory mechanisms in obesity. Annu Rev Immunol. (2011) 29:415–45. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101322
- Coelho P, Almeida J, Prudencio C, Fernandes R, Soares R. Effect of adipocyte secretome in melanoma progression and vasculogenic mimicry. J Cell Biochem. (2016) 117:1697–706. doi: 10.1002/jcb.25463
- Schoettl T, Fischer IP, Ussar S. Heterogeneity of adipose tissue in development and metabolic function. J Exp Biol. (2018) 221(Pt Suppl. 1):jeb162958. doi: 10.1242/jeb.162958
- Mraz M, Haluzik M. The role of adipose tissue immune cells in obesity and low-grade inflammation. J Endocrinol. (2014) 222:R113–27. doi: 10.1530/JOE-14-0283

pro-tumorigenic factors and alteration of local and systemic immune profiles. As schematically depicted in Figure 1, a selective obesity-associated depletion and/or reduced activity of different innate lymphocyte populations has been recently highlighted, pointing to a key role of these cells in the control of inflammation. However, although it is likely that obesityassociated inflamed/immunosuppressive environment can ultimately alter intestinal mucosa homeostasis and support tumor development/progression, the role of innate lymphocytes in this process has not been fully elucidated yet. Moreover, whether their capacity to home to the tumor site and to perform their effector functions is impaired in obesity remains to be defined. If this knowledge is acquired, it will provide further rationale to the promising approach of boosting the effector functions of innate lymphocytes, in addition to those of conventional T cells, to improve cancer immunotherapy.

Obesity is a major risk factor for different cancer types, including CRC, with the latter known to be highly modifiable through lifestyle. Further studies aimed at dissecting the influence of a healthy/unhealthy lifestyle on the mechanisms linking obesity to CRC will allow a better exploitation of lifestyle-based interventions in controlling tissue homeostasis and immune-surveillance.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MD, LC, and SG contributed to the conception, writing, and editing of this manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by a grant of the Italian Association for Cancer Research (AIRC) project (IG2013 N.14185) to SG.

- Conroy MJ, Dunne MR, Donohoe CL, Reynolds JV. Obesity-associated cancer: an immunological perspective. *Proc Nutr Soc.* (2016) 75:125–38. doi: 10.1017/S0029665115004176
- Godfrey DI, Le Nours J, Andrews DM, Uldrich AP, Rossjohn J. Unconventional T cell targets for cancer immunotherapy. *Immunity* (2018) 48:453–73. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.03.009
- Lynch L, O'Shea D, Winter DC, Geoghegan J, Doherty DG, O'Farrelly C. Invariant NKT cells and CD1d(+) cells amass in human omentum and are depleted in patients with cancer and obesity. *Eur J Immunol.* (2009) 39:1893–901. doi: 10.1002/eji.200939349
- Schipper HS, Rakhshandehroo M, van de Graaf SF, Venken K, Koppen A, Stienstra R, et al. Natural killer T cells in adipose tissue prevent insulin resistance. J Clin Invest. (2012) 122:3343–54. doi: 10.1172/JCI62739
- Ji Y, Sun S, Xu A, Bhargava P, Yang L, Lam KS, et al. Activation of natural killer T cells promotes M2 Macrophage polarization in adipose tissue and improves systemic glucose tolerance via interleukin-4 (IL-4)/STAT6 protein signaling axis in obesity. *J Biol Chem.* (2012) 287:13561–71. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.350066
- Huh JY, Kim JI, Park YJ, Hwang IJ, Lee YS, Sohn JH, et al. A novel function of adipocytes in lipid antigen presentation to iNKT cells. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2013) 33:328–39. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00552-12
- Magalhaes I, Pingris K, Poitou C, Bessoles S, Venteclef N, Kiaf B, et al. Mucosal-associated invariant T cell alterations in obese and type 2 diabetic patients. J Clin Invest. (2015) 125:1752–62. doi: 10.1172/JCI78941

- Carolan E, Hogan AE, Corrigan M, Gaotswe G, O'Connell J, Foley N, et al. The impact of childhood obesity on inflammation, innate immune cell frequency, and metabolic microRNA expression. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2014) 99:E474–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-3529
- Berger S, Ceccarini G, Scabia G, Barone I, Pelosini C, Ferrari F, et al. Lipodystrophy and obesity are associated with decreased number of T cells with regulatory function and pro-inflammatory macrophage phenotype. *Int J Obes.* (2017) 41:1676–84. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2017.163
- Lopez S, Garcia-Serrano S, Gutierrez-Repiso C, Rodriguez-Pacheco F, Ho-Plagaro A, Santiago-Fernandez C, et al. Tissue-specific phenotype and activation of iNKT cells in morbidly obese subjects: interaction with adipocytes and effect of bariatric surgery. *Obes Surg.* (2018) 28:2774–82. doi: 10.1007/s11695-018-3215-y
- Donninelli G, Del Corno M, Pierdominici M, Scazzocchio B, Vari R, Varano B, et al. Distinct blood and visceral adipose tissue regulatory T Cell and innate lymphocyte profiles characterize obesity and colorectal cancer. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:643. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00643.
- O'Rourke RW, Gaston GD, Meyer KA, White AE, Marks DL. Adipose tissue NK cells manifest an activated phenotype in human obesity. *Metabolism* (2013) 62:1557–61. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2013.07.011
- Lysaght J, van der Stok EP, Allott EH, Casey R, Donohoe CL, Howard JM, et al. Pro-inflammatory and tumour proliferative properties of excess visceral adipose tissue. *Cancer Lett.* (2011) 312:62–72. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2011.07.034
- Bahr I, Jahn J, Zipprich A, Pahlow I, Spielmann J, Kielstein H. Impaired natural killer cell subset phenotypes in human obesity. *Immunol Res.* (2018) 66:234–44. doi: 10.1007/s12026-018-8989-4
- Carolan E, Tobin LM, Mangan BA, Corrigan M, Gaoatswe G, Byrne G, et al. Altered distribution and increased IL-17 production by mucosal-associated invariant T cells in adult and childhood obesity. *J Immunol.* (2015) 194:5775– 80. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1402945
- Ling L, Lin Y, Zheng W, Hong S, Tang X, Zhao P, et al. Circulating and tumorinfiltrating mucosal associated invariant T (MAIT) cells in colorectal cancer patients. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:20358. doi: 10.1038/srep20358
- 25. Won EJ, Ju JK, Cho YN, Jin HM, Park KJ, Kim TJ, et al. Clinical relevance of circulating mucosal-associated invariant T cell levels and their anticancer activity in patients with mucosal-associated cancer. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7:76274–90. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.11187
- Choi J, Maeng HG, Lee SJ, Kim YJ, Kim DW, Lee HN, et al. Diagnostic value of peripheral blood immune profiling in colorectal cancer. *Ann Surg Treat Res.* (2018) 94:312–21. doi: 10.4174/astr.2018.94.6.312
- 27. Costanzo AE, Taylor KR, Dutt S, Han PP, Fujioka K, Jameson JM. Obesity impairs gamma delta T cell homeostasis and antiviral function in humans. *PLoS ONE* (2015) 10:e0120918. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0120918
- Theurich S, Tsaousidou E, Hanssen R, Lempradl AM, Mauer J, Timper K, et al. IL-6/Stat3-dependent induction of a distinct, obesity-associated NK cell subpopulation deteriorates energy and glucose homeostasis. *Cell Metab.* (2017) 26:171–84 e176. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.05.018
- Lynch LA, O'Connell JM, Kwasnik AK, Cawood TJ, O'Farrelly C, O'Shea DB. Are natural killer cells protecting the metabolically healthy obese patient? *Obesity* (2009) 17:601–5. doi: 10.1038/oby.2008.565
- 30. Shoae-Hassani A, Behfar M, Mortazavi-Tabatabaei SA, Ai J, Mohseni R, Hamidieh AA. Natural killer cells from the subcutaneous adipose tissue underexpress the NKp30 and NKp44 in obese persons and are less active against major histocompatibility complex class I non-expressing neoplastic cells. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1486. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01486
- Brestoff JR, Kim BS, Saenz SA, Stine RR, Monticelli LA, Sonnenberg GF, et al. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells promote beiging of white adipose tissue and limit obesity. *Nature* (2015) 519:242–6. doi: 10.1038/nature14115
- Godfrey DI, Kronenberg M. Going both ways: immune regulation via CD1d-dependent NKT cells. J Clin Invest. (2004) 114:1379–88. doi: 10.1172/JCI23594
- Schipper HS, Prakken B, Kalkhoven E, Boes M. Adipose tissue-resident immune cells: key players in immunometabolism. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* (2012) 23:407–15. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2012.05.011
- Magalhaes I, Kiaf B, Lehuen A. iNKT and MAIT cell alterations in diabetes. Front Immunol. (2015) 6:341. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00341

- Lynch L, Nowak M, Varghese B, Clark J, Hogan AE, Toxavidis V, et al. Adipose tissue invariant NKT cells protect against diet-induced obesity and metabolic disorder through regulatory cytokine production. *Immunity* (2012) 37:574–87. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.06.016
- Haeryfar SMM, Shaler CR, Rudak PT. Mucosa-associated invariant T cells in malignancies: a faithful friend or formidable foe? *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2018). doi: 10.1007/s00262-018-2132-1. [Epub ahead of print].
- Simoes AE, Di Lorenzo B, Silva-Santos B. Molecular determinants of target cell recognition by human gammadelta T cells. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:929. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00929
- McCarthy NE, Hedin CR, Sanders TJ, Amon P, Hoti I, Ayada I, et al. Azathioprine therapy selectively ablates human Vdelta2(+) T cells in Crohn's disease. J Clin Invest. (2015) 125:3215–25. doi: 10.1172/JCI80840
- Simoni Y, Newell EW. Dissecting human ILC heterogeneity: more than just three subsets. *Immunology* (2018) 153:297–303. doi: 10.1111/imm.12862
- Tobin LM, Mavinkurve M, Carolan E, Kinlen D, O'Brien EC, Little MA, et al. NK cells in childhood obesity are activated, metabolically stressed, and functionally deficient. *JCI Insight* (2017) 2:94939. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.94939
- Viel S, Besson L, Charrier E, Marcais A, Disse E, Bienvenu J, et al. Alteration of Natural Killer cell phenotype and function in obese individuals. *Clin Immunol.* (2017) 177:12–7. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2016.01.007
- 42. Dovio A, Caramello V, Masera RG, Sartori ML, Saba L, Tinivella M, et al. Natural killer cell activity and sensitivity to positive and negative modulation in uncomplicated obese subjects: relationships to leptin and diet composition. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord.* (2004) 28:894–901. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0802639
- Conroy MJ, Fitzgerald V, Doyle SL, Channon S, Useckaite Z, Gilmartin N, et al. The microenvironment of visceral adipose tissue and liver alter natural killer cell viability and function. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2016) 100:1435–42. doi: 10.1189/jlb.5AB1115-493RR
- Geremia A, Arancibia-Carcamo CV. Innate lymphoid cells in intestinal inflammation. Front Immunol. (2017) 8:1296. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01296
- Anderson EK, Gutierrez DA, Hasty AH. Adipose tissue recruitment of leukocytes. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* (2010) 21:172–7. doi: 10.1097/MOL.0b013e3283393867
- Asghar A, Sheikh N. Role of immune cells in obesity induced low grade inflammation and insulin resistance. *Cell Immunol.* (2017) 315:18–26. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2017.03.001
- 47. Del Corno M, D'Archivio M, Conti L, Scazzocchio B, Vari R, Donninelli G, et al. Visceral fat adipocytes from obese and colorectal cancer subjects exhibit distinct secretory and omega6 polyunsaturated fatty acid profiles and deliver immunosuppressive signals to innate immunity cells. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7:63093–105. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.10998
- Klein-Wieringa IR, Andersen SN, Kwekkeboom JC, Giera M, de Lange-Brokaar BJ, van Osch GJ, et al. Adipocytes modulate the phenotype of human macrophages through secreted lipids. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:1356–63. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1203074
- Ioan-Facsinay A, Kwekkeboom JC, Westhoff S, Giera M, Rombouts Y, van Harmelen V, et al. Adipocyte-derived lipids modulate CD4+ T-cell function. *Eur J Immunol.* (2013) 43:1578–87. doi: 10.1002/eji.201243096
- Himbert C, Delphan M, Scherer D, Bowers LW, Hursting S, Ulrich CM. Signals from the adipose microenvironment and the obesitycancer link-a systematic review. *Cancer Prev Res.* (2017) 10:494–506. doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-16-0322
- Amor S, Iglesias-de la Cruz MC, Ferrero E, Garcia-Villar O, Barrios V, Fernandez N, et al. Peritumoral adipose tissue as a source of inflammatory and angiogenic factors in colorectal cancer. *Int J Colorectal Dis.* (2016) 31:365–75. doi: 10.1007/s00384-015-2420-6
- 52. Catalan V, Gomez-Ambrosi J, Rodriguez A, Ramirez B, Silva C, Rotellar F, et al. Up-regulation of the novel proinflammatory adipokines lipocalin-2, chitinase-3 like-1 and osteopontin as well as angiogenic-related factors in visceral adipose tissue of patients with colon cancer. J Nutr Biochem. (2011) 22:634–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2010. 04.015
- Deng T, Lyon CJ, Bergin S, Caligiuri MA, Hsueh WA. Obesity, inflammation, and cancer. Annu Rev Pathol. (2016) 11:421–49. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-012615-044359

- Notarnicola M, Miccolis A, Tutino V, Lorusso D, Caruso MG. Low levels of lipogenic enzymes in peritumoral adipose tissue of colorectal cancer patients. *Lipids* (2012) 47:59–63. doi: 10.1007/s11745-011-3630-5
- Yehuda-Shnaidman E, Nimri L, Tarnovscki T, Kirshtein B, Rudich A, Schwartz B. Secreted human adipose leptin decreases mitochondrial respiration in HCT116 colon cancer cells. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e74843. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0074843
- Schetter AJ, Nguyen GH, Bowman ED, Mathe EA, Yuen ST, Hawkes JE, et al. Association of inflammation-related and microRNA gene expression with cancer-specific mortality of colon adenocarcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2009) 15:5878–87. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0627
- 57. Furue H, Matsuo K, Kumimoto H, Hiraki A, Suzuki T, Yatabe Y, et al. Decreased risk of colorectal cancer with the high natural killer cell activity NKG2D genotype in Japanese. *Carcinogenesis* (2008) 29:316–20. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgm260
- Jobin G, Rodriguez-Suarez R, Betito K. Association between natural killer cell activity and colorectal cancer in high-risk subjects undergoing colonoscopy. *Gastroenterology* (2017) 153:980–7. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.06.009

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Del Cornò, Conti and Gessani. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





T Cells in Adipose Tissue: Critical Players in Immunometabolism

Qun Wang 1* and Huaizhu Wu 2*

¹ Key Laboratory of Infection and Immunity of Shandong Province, Department of Immunology, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Shandong University, Jinan, China, ² Department of Medicine and Department of Pediatrics, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States

Adipose tissue performs immunoregulatory functions in addition to fat storage. Various T cells in different fat depots either help maintain metabolic homeostasis under healthy conditions or contribute to metabolic disorders in pathological conditions such as obesity, diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, or even cancer. These T cells play critical roles in immunometabolism, which refers to the intersection of immunity and metabolism. Numerous studies have examined the presence and changes of different T cells subsets, including helper T cells, regulatory T cells, cytotoxic T cells, and natural killer T cells, in adipose depots in health and diseases. In this review, we will discuss the adipose tissue niches that influence the patterns and functions of T cell subsets and in turn the impact of these T cells on cell- or body-based immunometabolism accounting for health and obesity.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Nilabh Shastri, University of California, Berkeley, United States

Reviewed by:

Jacques A. Nunes, INSERM U1068 Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Marseille, France John J. Miles, James Cook University, Australia

*Correspondence:

Qun Wang wangqun@sdu.edu.cn Huaizhu Wu hwu@bcm.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 14 June 2018 Accepted: 10 October 2018 Published: 30 October 2018

Citation:

Wang Q and Wu H (2018) T Cells in Adipose Tissue: Critical Players in Immunometabolism. Front. Immunol. 9:2509. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02509 Keywords: T cell, adipose tissue, immunometabolism, obesity, insulin resistance

INTRODUCTION

Immunometabolism focuses on the interaction of immunity and metabolism, from metabolic patterns of immune cells to metabolic homeostasis or disorders dominated by immune cells. The former, as reviewed by Man et al. (1), is considered cellular immunometabolism, which includes the intracellular metabolism of different immune cells or immune cells in different conditions, such as macrophages or T cells during activation, polarization, proliferation, and differentiation. The latter is tissue immunometabolism, which explores the impacts of immune cells on tissue and systemic metabolism in various microenvironments (1-4). The immune system, which is influenced by the metabolic status of the body, in turn produces substantial impacts on local and systemic metabolic homeostasis or disorders. In recent years, the effects of immune responses on metabolic abnormalities such as obesity, diabetes, and fatty liver disease have drawn great interest from researchers, and emerging evidence has suggested that adipose tissue serves as an important intersection linking immunity with metabolism (4, 5). Besides its traditional function in fat storage, adipose tissue is currently recognized as an endocrine organ (6-8). Importantly, accumulating data have shown that adipose tissue contains a large number of immune cells, including macrophages, eosinophils, innate lymphoid cells (ILCs), T cells, and B cells, which regulate immune homeostasis and inflammation, subsequently influencing metabolism of adipose tissue and the whole body (4, 5, 9–11). As the core component of adaptive immunity, T cells play indispensable roles in tissue immunometabolism. Here, we review the distinct profiles of T cell subsets in specific adipose tissue microenvironments and their influences on metabolic homeostasis or disorders.

53

ADIPOSE TISSUE PROVIDES A STAGE FOR THE INTERPLAY BETWEEN IMMUNITY AND METABOLISM

There are two types of adipose tissue in mammals, white adipose tissue (WAT) for energy storage in the form of fat (triglyceride) and brown adipose tissue (BAT) for energy dissipation through thermogenesis. WAT is widely distributed throughout the body including subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) underneath the skin and intra-abdominal fat depots known as visceral adipose tissue (VAT) (12-14). Human SAT predominantly exists in the areas of abdomen, leg, and buttock, whereas VAT is mainly around omentum, mesenterium, and perirenal areas (12, 14). The initial link between WAT and immune function was demonstrated in several studies that revealed an association of obesity with WAT inflammation (15). Hotamisligil and colleagues demonstrated that the proinflammatory cytokine tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α is elevated in VAT in obese animals compared with their lean counterparts and plays critical roles in obesity-induced insulin resistance (15, 16). In humans, the level of TNF- α is also increased in fat tissues from obese individuals and positively correlated with hyperinsulinemia (16). In addition, the proinflammatory cytokine interleukin (IL)-6 from adipose tissue also contributes to obesity-induced insulin resistance in both humans and mice (17, 18). Adipocytes are able to produce numerous inflammatory molecules, including TNF- α and IL-6, whereas macrophages appear to be the major source of these proinflammatory cytokines in adipose tissue in vivo as demonstrated in a mouse model (19). Indeed, macrophages were first reported to be increased and to polarize into classically activated M1-like phenotype in adipose tissues in obese humans and animals (6, 19-22). The chemokine monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) is elevated and may contribute to the infiltration of macrophages in obese WAT and subsequently to obesity-induced insulin resistance (21, 23-25). Subsequently, T cells were found to be elevated in adipose tissue in obese mice and humans (26), and effector T cells, including CD4⁺ helper T (Th) cells and CD8⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs), may serve as active players in obesityassociated WAT inflammation (27-30). In addition, several other immune cell populations or subsets mainly associated with type 2 immune response, such as type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2), alternatively activated M2 macrophages, eosinophils, invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cells, and regulatory T or B cells, reside in adipose tissue under normal conditions but are reduced in obesity (31-35). These type 2 immune cells may be involved in maintenance of both immune and metabolic homeostasis under normal conditions. Energy excess or obesity can cause the disruption of this homeostasis and induce a new immune cell profile in adipose tissue that drives adipose tissue inflammation, insulin resistance, and related metabolic disorders.

VARIOUS T CELL SUBSETS IN DIFFERENT ADIPOSE TISSUE NICHES

Based on the composition of T-cell antigen receptors (TCR), T cells can be classified into two populations, $\alpha\beta T$ cells and $\gamma\delta T$

cells, both of which perform critical immune functions. While $\alpha\beta T$ cells serve in adaptive immunity, $\gamma\delta T$ cells act mainly in innate immunity. According to the cell surface markers, $\alpha\beta T$ cells can be further divided into two subsets: $CD4^+$ T cells and $CD8^+$ T cells. After activation by antigen stimulation, T cells can proliferate and differentiate into effector T cells. $CD4^+$ T cells differentiate into effector Th cells and $CD8^+$ T cells differentiate into effector Th cells and $CD8^+$ T cells differentiate into effector Th cells and $CD8^+$ T cells differentiate into effector Th cells and $CD8^+$ T cells, thus exerting distinct effects. An important regulatory subset among $CD4^+$ T cells is regulatory T (Treg) cells, which have a specific molecular signature as $CD4^+$ $CD25^+$ Foxp3⁺. Treg cells inhibit the activation of T cells and the functions of effector T cells as well as B cells and NK cells, participating in the maintenance of tissue homeostasis and self-tolerance, or in the pathogenesis of some morbidities through negatively regulating immune responses (36).

The implication of T cells in obesity-induced inflammation was first indicated by the increased T cell accumulation in VAT in obese mice and humans as compared with their lean counterparts (26). The chemokine CCL5 (also known as regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted [RANTES]) is upregulated in VAT in obesity and may account for the recruitment of T cells into obese VAT (26, 37, 38). Importantly, T cells are increased early, likely preceding the infiltration of macrophages, in VAT in mice on high-fat diet (HFD), and play important roles in macrophage recruitment and VAT inflammation (30, 39, 40). While different effector T cell subsets are implicated in adipose tissue inflammation, regulatory T cell subsets are involved in healthy or normal adipose tissue homeostasis (31). Given the heterogeneity of T cells, we will discuss in this section the various patterns and functions of different T cell subtypes in adipose tissue niches.

TREG CELLS SERVE TO MAINTAIN ADIPOSE TISSUE HOMEOSTASIS

The first finding regarding adipose-resident Treg cells was from Feuerer and colleagues, who reported an enrichment of CD4⁺ Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in VAT from lean mice (31). Besides the canonical gene signature such as Foxp3, CD25, glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor (GITR), cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4), and OX40, these Treg cells in VAT possess a phenotype different from those residing in lymphoid tissues, with distinct expression patterns of many Treg signature genes such as CD103 and G protein-coupled receptor-83 (31). Treg cells are markedly reduced in VAT of mice with diet-induced obesity. In addition, depleting Treg cells in lean mice induces the gene expression of inflammatory mediators (such as TNF-a, IL-6, and CCL5) and impairs the metabolic signal pathway in VAT, whereas expanding Treg cells in HFD-fed obese mice improves metabolic parameters, possibly through the regulation of adipose tissue inflammation, suggesting that Treg cells play crucial roles in the maintenance of immune and metabolic homeostasis of adipose tissue and may have beneficial effects on systemic metabolic abnormalities associated with obesity (31, 41).

The mechanisms for the enrichment and function of Treg cells in lean VAT have not been fully defined. To date, several factors are considered to be critical for the maintenance of Treg cells in VAT. First, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ (PPAR- γ) expressed by Treg cells is necessary for the accumulation, phenotype, and function of VAT Treg cells in lean mice through collaborating with Foxp3 to induce a distinct Treg signature; while obesity induces the disappearance of this VAT Treg signature by phosphorylation of PPAR-y at position Ser273 (42-44). These findings established a foundation for adipose Treg cells and opened a new area of research to elucidate the precise mechanisms by which PPAR-y regulates VAT Treg signature. Second, the IL-33/suppression of tumorigenicity 2 (ST-2) axis plays an essential role in the amplification of Treg cells in VAT (45-47). IL-33 is a cytokine of the IL-1 family and can be produced by human adipocytes or mice stromal cells in VAT; ST-2, the receptor for IL-33, is highly expressed on VAT Treg cells in both humans and mice (45, 46, 48, 49). IL-33 can promote the development and proliferation of Treg cells and then restore their numbers in VAT, with attenuation in VAT inflammation and improvements in the metabolic parameters in obese mice (45-47). More recently, Kohlgruber and colleagues reported that adipose-resident $\gamma\delta T$ cells positive for the Broad-complex,

Tramtrack, and Bric-à-brac/poxvirus and zinc finger (BTB-POZ) transcription factor PLZF produce IL-17, which induces IL-33 expression from adipose stromal cells, thereby contributing to age-dependent Treg cell accumulation in adipose tissue (49). The same research group also found that *i*NKT cells, a unique regulatory population residing in adipose tissue, help sustain the immune homeostasis of adipose tissue through regulating the number and function of Treg cells (50) (see discussion below). In addition, IL-33 can active ILC2, which promotes Treg cell accumulation in VAT through the ligation of ICOSL on ILC2 with ICOS on Treg cells. This process can be suppressed by interferon (IFN)-y, which elicits VAT inflammation and metabolic disorders (51). Thus, it is acknowledged that the accumulation of Treg cells in VAT is a multifactorial process, which is further substantiated by a recent report showing the collaboration of TCR, Foxp3, and ST2 in this process (52). Some other factors such as leptin, IL-21, and autophagy-related atg7 have been reported to influence Treg cells in VAT and systemic insulin sensitivity (53-55). However, the direct link and underlying mechanisms remain to be established. Taken together, the available data indicate that various cells and molecules form specific adipose tissue niches that contribute to the pool and function of adipose Treg cells and maintain the homeostasis of systemic metabolism (Figure 1).



TH CELLS MEDIATE DIVERGENT IMMUNE AND METABOLIC EFFECTS ON ADIPOSE TISSUE THROUGH DIFFERENT SUBTYPES

Based on the stimuli, Th cells can polarize into different phenotypes that express distinct cytokine profiles and exert different effector functions. Th1 cells produce IFN- γ , which promotes the polarization of classically activated M1 macrophages, and participate in elimination of intracellular microbes. Th2 cells produce IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 to promote the polarization of alternatively activated M2 macrophages, help B cell responses, and participate in the immune responses against helminths. Th17 cells produce IL-17 to induce neutrophil inflammation and participate in the pathogenesis of several autoimmune diseases (36).

Th1 Subset

The first Th subset identified in adipose tissue was Th1 cells. The infiltration of CD4⁺ T cells was initially identified in human VAT and showed significant correlation with the body mass index (39). Furthermore, waist circumference correlated with IFN- γ mRNA in SAT from patients with type 2 diabetes, suggesting an association of adipose tissue Th1 cells with obesity (39). CD4⁺ T cells are also increased in VAT of obese mice compared with lean controls. Importantly, CD4⁺ T cells from obese VAT produce higher amounts of IFN-y than those from lean VAT, indicating Th1 polarization in obese VAT (29, 40, 56-58). Furthermore, deficiency of T cells, including $CD4^+$ T cells or IFN- γ significantly reduces adipose tissue inflammation and improves insulin sensitivity in obese mice, suggesting the substantial contribution of Th1 cells to adipose inflammation and metabolic dysfunctions associated with obesity (29, 59). Th1 cells and IFN- γ , the major Th1 and CTL cytokine, can directly interrupt insulin signaling, leading to insulin resistance in adipocytes and skeletal muscle myocytes, which may contribute to systemic insulin resistance in obesity (29, 58, 60). As to the mechanisms for Th1 polarization in obese VAT, obesity increases the levels of class II major histocompatibility complex (MHC II) and costimulatory molecules on VAT macrophages/dendritic cells (DCs) and also on adipocytes. These adipocytes and macrophages/DCs can function as antigen-presenting cells (APCs) to promote adipose tissue CD4⁺ T cell proliferation and production of IFN-y, which further activate adipocytes and macrophages/DCs with elevated MHC II, thereby forming a positive loop to amplify Th1 cell-mediated inflammation in adipose tissue (Figure 1) (39, 40, 57, 59, 61, 62). Importantly, adipocyte- or macrophagespecific depletion of MHC II in obese mice reduces CD4⁺ T cell numbers (especially the effector/memory CD4⁺ T cells) and IFN- γ production in VAT and improves insulin sensitivity, indicating critical roles of MHC II on adipocytes or macrophages in adipose tissue Th1 polarization, which contributes to obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance (40, 56, 63).

On the other hand, several pivotal costimulatory receptors on T cells such as 4-1BB and CD28 are reported to be implicated in obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation and metabolic disorders, as evidenced by the fact that 4-1BB or CD28 deficiency in mice improves related metabolic parameters and reduces T cell infiltration in VAT (64, 65). Considering the crucial roles of costimulatory signals 4-1BB–4-1BBL and CD28–B7 in T cell activation and proliferation and Th1 polarization (66–68), it is reasonable to deduce the potential contribution of 4-1BB and CD28 to Th1 polarization in obese VAT; however, future studies are needed for confirmation.

ICOS is another inducible costimulatory receptor that can be broadly expressed by various T cells and implicated in the expansion and function of Th2 and Treg cells, and even Th1, Th17, and NKT cells (51, 69–73). The expression patterns of ICOS on adipose tissue T cells and its potential complex functions in lean and obese states are intriguing and warrant investigation. Furthermore, as exosomes from macrophages/DCs can carry MHC II or costimulatory molecules that help the activation and proliferation of T cells (74–76), it is very likely that APCs residing in VAT secrete exosomes to promote activation and further Th1 polarization of CD4⁺ T cells, thereby driving adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance. This is a promising field of research that deserves further exploration and may help to delineate the mechanisms for Th1 polarization in obese VAT.

Th17 Subset

A few earlier studies reported the association of obesity with IL-17 or Th17 cells (77-79). However, these studies lacked conclusive evidence for the presence of Th17 cells in adipose tissue. First, besides Th17 cells, yoT cells are another important source of IL-17. Therefore, the role of IL-17 in obesity cannot be completely attributed to Th17 cells and needs to be further elaborated. Second, the increase of Th17 subset in lymphoid tissues, including spleen and lymphoid nodes, in obesity, or in concert with other medical conditions like experimental allergic encephalomyelitis or trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid colitis may be distinguished from the presence of Th17 subset in adipose tissue, and additional studies are needed to explain fully the influence of Th17 cells on immunometabolism (77-79). Nevertheless, Bertola and colleagues found that IL-17-producing T cells are dramatically increased in SAT from overweight or obese individuals compared with that from lean subjects and further demonstrated that DCs from obese subjects may drive the differentiation of Th17 cells, which produce high amounts of IL-17, indicating that Th17 cells may directly participate in adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance in obesity (80). In addition, several more studies confirmed the elevation of Th17 cells in adipose tissue, especially in VAT, in patients with adiposity (81-83). More recently, a study showed that ATP drives the Th17 responses via P2X7 receptor in human VAT, pointing to a possibility that adipose tissue niches facilitate the differentiation of Th17 cells (84). However, more studies are needed to verify the profile, functions, and underlying mechanisms of Th17 cells in adipose tissue and the direct contribution of Th17 cells to adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance.

In addition to Th17, $\gamma\delta$ T cells that reside in adipose tissue and are increased in obesity (85), also express IL-17. As mentioned above, adipose $\gamma\delta$ T cells can contribute to the regulation of age-dependent adipose tissue Treg homeostasis through IL-17–induced IL-33 production from adipose stromal cells (49). Thus,

based on the increases of both Th17 and $\gamma\delta T$ cells in obese adipose tissue and the effect of IL-17 on IL-33 production, these two IL-17–producing cell subsets may also have the potential to initiate downregulation of the immune inflammatory reaction in adipose tissue during obesity, although this remains to be demonstrated.

Th2 Subset

Th2 cells produce type 2 cytokines, including IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13, which play important roles in macrophage polarization into M2 phenotypes. Several cell types, including eosinophils and ILC2, have been identified in lean adipose tissue to produce type 2 cytokines and may contribute to M2 polarization, inflammation resolution, and metabolic homeostasis in WAT under normal conditions (34, 35). However, data are limited on Th2 cells in adipose tissue. A study showed that the percentage of Th2 cells in human SAT and VAT negatively correlates with systemic inflammation and insulin resistance, indicating a protective role of Th2 cells in inflammation and metabolic dysfunctions (83). Another study revealed that after adoptive transfer into obese Rag1-null mice, CD4⁺ T cells gained a Th2 profile, indicated by the production of IL-4 and IL-13, which was associated with reversal of enhanced weight gain and insulin resistance in recipient obese Rag1-null mice. Consistently, transfer of CD4⁺ T cells deficient in signal transducer and activator of transcription 6 (STAT6), a transcription factor important for Th2 polarization, into obese Rag1-null mice resulted in the reduction in Th2 cells in VAT and the loss of protective effects on obesity-related metabolic parameters in recipient Rag1-null mice (86).

CTLS PERFORM BIDIRECTIONAL FUNCTION IN ADIPOSE TISSUE INFLAMMATION AND HOMEOSTASIS

Similar to CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells are significantly increased in adipose tissue in obesity in both humans and mice (28, 30, 59, 87, 88). Along with macrophages, CD8⁺ T cells participate in formation of crown-like structures (CLSs) surrounding dying/dead adipocytes in adipose tissue of mice (30). Increased infiltration as well as IL-12- and IL-18-mediated proliferation and activation may contribute to the increase and activation of $CD8^+$ T cells in adipose tissue in obese mice (28). The increase in adipose tissue CD8⁺ T cells appears to precede and contributes to the accumulation of adipose tissue macrophages and metabolic dysfunctions in obesity. In support of this, depletion of CD8⁺ T cells in obese mice dramatically decreases numbers of M1 macrophages and CLSs in adipose tissue, accompanied by an improvement of insulin sensitivity, whereas adoptive transfer of CD8⁺ T cells into CD8-deficient mice fed with HFD increases numbers of adipose tissue macrophages and CLSs, with elevated levels of proinflammatory cytokines and aggravated insulin resistance (30). The increase of IFN- γ -expressing CD8⁺ T cells in VAT in obesity further substantiates the contribution of CD8⁺ T cells to macrophage activation through the action of IFN- γ (28, 30, 89, 90).

Besides their contribution to adipose tissue inflammation, effector CTLs may also function in restricting T cell expansion and activation in inflamed WAT through perforin. Perforindependent cytotoxicity is not only an important way to attack target cells, but also a critical regulator to limit abnormal T cell activation in a physiological context (91, 92). In mice fed HFD, depletion of perforin causes aggravated adiposity and insulin resistance, together with upregulation of IFN-y-producing CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells as well as M1 macrophages in VAT. Perforindeficient CD8⁺ T cells from VAT show increased proliferation but impaired early apoptosis. Transfer of perforin-deficient CD8⁺ T cells into CD8-deficient mice exacerbates the metabolic parameters more than wild-type CD8⁺ T cells (93). These findings suggest that CTLs in fat tissue not only mediate adipose tissue inflammation in obesity, but may also contribute, at least partially, to the resolution of T cell-mediated inflammation through perforin-dependent cytotoxicity (Figure 1).

NKT CELLS MAINTAIN THE IMMUNE AND METABOLIC HOMEOSTASIS IN ADIPOSE TISSUE

NKT cells are a unique subset of T cells that express both NK cell markers (such as NK1.1 or CD56) and T cell marker $\alpha\beta$ TCR. The main function of NKT cells is to recognize glycolipid antigen presented by MHC-class-I-like molecule CD1d. Based on the expression of an invariant TCR α chain (V α 14-J α 18 in mice, V α 24-J α 18 in humans), CD1d-dependent NKT cells can be classified into type I and type II NKT cells, both of which can produce IFN- γ , the Th1 cytokine, and IL-4, a Th2 cytokine, and participate in the regulation of innate and adaptive immunity. Type I NKT cells express the invariant TCR α chain in combination with certain TCR β chains (V β 8.2,7,2 in mice, V β 11 in humans) and are also called iNKT cells, whereas type II NKT cells do not express this invariant TCR α chain (94–96).

Compared with other organs, adipose tissue in both humans and mice is enriched with iNKT cells under normal conditions, whereas obesity dramatically decreases iNKT cells in adipose tissue (97, 98). Accordingly, weight loss restores adipose tissue iNKT cells in murine models and peripheral iNKT cells in obese humans (97, 98). Huh and colleagues reported that the maintenance of iNKT cell numbers and activation in adipose tissue relies on their interaction with CD1d expressed on adipocytes. Adipocytes with high expression of CD1d under normal conditions function as APCs to present lipid antigens to maintain iNKT cells in adipose tissue and stimulate their activation, whereas obesity reduces CD1d expression in human and mouse adipose tissue, leading to the reduction of adipose tissue iNKT cells (99–101).

Depletion of iNKT cells (deficient in J α 18) or deficiency of CD1d in mice exacerbates HFD-induced weight gain, adipocyte hypertrophy, fatty liver, and insulin resistance as compared with wild type controls, whereas adoptive transfer of iNKT cells into obese J α 18-deficient mice or activating iNKT cells by lipid ligand α -galactocylceramidee (α GalCer) in obese wild-type mice reverses HFD-induced phenotypes, with reduced

weight gain and adipocyte hypertrophy, and alleviated fatty liver and insulin resistance. These effects indicate a protective role of iNKT cells in HFD-induced weight gain and metabolic dysfunctions. Adipose tissue-resident iNKT cells express the transcription factor E4BP4, but not the BTB-POZ transcription factor PLZF. Under normal conditions, these adipose tissue iNKT cells produce high levels of IL-2 and type 2 cytokines such as IL-4, IL-10, and IL-13, but low level of IFN-y, as compared to iNKT cells from the spleen. Indeed, the type 2 cytokines are downregulated in VAT of mice with CD1d deficiency and upregulated by aGalCe treatment, which is consistent with changes in the numbers of iNKT cells in VAT, suggesting that iNKT cells make substantial contributions to the levels of regulatory type 2 cytokines in VAT. These type 2 cytokines may inhibit the infiltration and activation of proinflammatory M1-like macrophages, but enhance polarization of M2 macrophages as well as expansion and suppressive function of Treg cells, thereby maintaining immune homeostasis and alleviating inflammation in adipose tissue (50, 98, 102). Adipocyte-specific deficiency of CD1d in obese mice attenuates the responses of iNKT cells to aGalCer, leading to reduced expression of IL-4 and IL-2 in iNKT cells, subsequent impairment of the anti-inflammatory responses mediated by M2 macrophages and Treg cells, and aggravation of adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance (99-101). All these findings support an important role of iNKT cells in maintaining adipose tissue homeostasis under normal conditions and in protecting against adipose tissue inflammation and metabolic dysfunctions associated with obesity, possibly through producing type 2 cytokines (Figure 1).

In addition, iNKT activation–mediated weight loss and improvement of insulin sensitivity in obese mice may also be attributable to β -oxidation–mediated energy expenditure and thermogenesis. Mechanistically, activation of iNKT with α GalCer treatment strongly induces the expression and production of FGF21 in both BAT and inguinal SAT, which drives the activation of BAT and browning of WAT to burn fat through β -oxidation.

These findings point to another potential mechanism for the beneficial roles of iNKT cells in adipose tissue to maintain metabolic homeostasis through thermogenesis (103). However, a potential connection between iNKT effects on thermogenesis and inflammation remains to be clarified.

Taken together, these observations indicate that adipose tissue iNKT cells, as a unique regulatory immune cell subset, play important roles in both immune regulation and lipid metabolism to maintain the homeostasis of immunometabolism.

QUESTIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

T cells reside in the network of adipose tissue, in which different types of cells interact with each other through the action of various cytokines, adipokines and membrane receptors. Beyond the information that is already known, additional components of the network may influence the profile and functions of T cells in adipose tissue. For examples, it remains an open question whether unknown or newly-discovered T cell subsets such as Th9 and Th22 cells exist and function in adipose tissue. The distinct signatures and regulatory mechanisms of wellrecognized adipose T cell subsets, including CTL, Th1, and Th17 cells, need to be elaborated. Given the direct participation of iNKT cells in thermogenesis and of Treg cells in lipid uptake (42, 103), precise elucidation of metabolic functions of various T cells in physiopathological adipose tissue may provide new insight for the direct contribution of T cells to metabolism beyond immunity. Moreover, the interactions of T cells with other, non-immune cells in the adipose stromal vascular fraction, such as stem cells or endothelial cells, may also be crucial events that impact the profile and functions of T cells. It has been demonstrated that adipose-derived stem cells from lean mice regulate macrophage polarization, thereby reducing adipose tissue inflammation, whereas those from obese subjects induce Th17 cells and activate monocytes, thus promoting inflammation



(104–106). Therefore, it is important to examine the effects of these cells on different adipose T cell populations, which may link immunity with metabolism in adipose tissue in a different manner. Finally, given the discussed roles of various types of T cells in obese adipose tissue, mainly observed in animal models and tissue culture, it is important to explore the feasibility of targeting these immune cells as new therapies for obesity-related metabolic disease in humans.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Adipose tissue performs complex functions related to metabolism, immune responses, and endocrine effects. Besides adipocytes and preadipocytes, adipose tissue includes various immune cells that compose special adipose niches under different physiological or pathological conditions. T cells function as critical players in adipose tissue and influence the balance and functions of various populations of immune cells, exerting beneficial or detrimental effects on immunometabolism. In the healthy state, Treg cells, Th2 cells, and iNKT cells work with other regulatory immune cells such as M2 macrophages, ILC2, and eosinophils to maintain the immune and metabolic homeostasis of adipose tissue, providing a steady environment to retain normal systemic metabolism. When obesity develops, Th1 cells, Th17 cells, and CTLs accumulate in adipose tissue and, along with other proinflammatory immune cells such as M1

REFERENCES

- Man K, Kutyavin VI, Chawla A. Tissue immunometabolism: development, physiology, and pathobiology. *Cell Metab.* (2017) 25:11–26. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.08.016
- O'Neill LA, Kishton RJ, Rathmell J. A guide to immunometabolism for immunologists. Nat Rev Immunol. (2016) 16:553–65. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.70
- Mathis D, Shoelson SE. Immunometabolism: an emerging frontier. Nat Rev Immunol. (2011) 11:81. doi: 10.1038/nri2922
- Kohlgruber AC, LaMarche NM, Lynch L. Adipose tissue at the nexus of systemic and cellular immunometabolism. *Semin Immunol.* (2016) 28:431– 40. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2016.09.005
- Wensveen FM, Valentic S, Sestan M, Wensveen TT, Polic B. Interactions between adipose tissue and the immune system in health and malnutrition. *Semin Immunol.* (2015) 27:322–33. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2015.10.006
- Kershaw EE, Flier JS. Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2004) 89:2548–56. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-0395
- Ahima RS, Flier JS. Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* (2000) 11:327–32. doi: 10.1016/S1043-2760(00)00301-5
- Scherer PE. Adipose tissue: from lipid storage compartment to endocrine organ. *Diabetes* (2006) 55:1537–45. doi: 10.2337/db06-0263
- Han SJ, Glatman Zaretsky A, Andrade-Oliveira V, Collins N, Dzutsev A, Shaik J, et al. White adipose tissue is a reservoir for memory t cells and promotes protective memory responses to infection. *Immunity* (2017) 47:1154–68.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.11.009
- Eberl G, Colonna M, Di Santo JP, McKenzie AN. Innate lymphoid cells. Innate lymphoid cells: a new paradigm in immunology. *Science* (2015) 348:aaa6566. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa6566
- 11. Wu H, Ballantyne CM. Skeletal muscle inflammation and insulin resistance in obesity. *J Clin Invest*. (2017) 127:43–54. doi: 10.1172/JCI88880
- 12. Gesta S, Tseng YH, Kahn CR. Developmental origin of fat: tracking obesity to its source. *Cell* (20072) 131:242–56. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.10.004

macrophages, disrupt the immune homeostasis, causing adipose tissue inflammation and systemic insulin resistance (**Figures 1**, **2**). The diversity of T cell pools in adipose tissue, either as friend or foe, may result from the change of metabolism and in turn influence metabolism in various ways.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This study is partially supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China grants (81770838, 81471065, and 81270923) and Shandong Major Research Program grant 2016GSF201005 (to QW), and National Institutes of Health grant (R01 HL098839), American Heart Association award (AHA16GRNT30410012), and American Diabetes Association award (1-17-IBS-082) (to HW).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Kerrie Jara at Baylor College of Medicine for editorial assistance.

- Peirce V, Carobbio S, Vidal-Puig A. The different shades of fat. *Nature* (2014) 510:76–83. doi: 10.1038/nature13477
- Tchkonia T, Thomou T, Zhu Y, Karagiannides I, Pothoulakis C, Jensen MD, et al. Mechanisms and metabolic implications of regional differences among fat depots. *Cell Metab.* (2013) 17:644–56. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.03.008
- Hotamisligil GS, Shargill NS, Spiegelman BM. Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. *Science* (1993) 259:87–91. doi: 10.1126/science.7678183
- Hotamisligil GS, Arner P, Caro JF, Atkinson RL, Spiegelman BM. Increased adipose tissue expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in human obesity and insulin resistance. J Clin Invest. (1995) 95:2409–15. doi: 10.1172/JCI117936
- Rotter V, Nagaev I, Smith U. Interleukin-6 (IL-6) induces insulin resistance in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and is, like IL-8 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha, overexpressed in human fat cells from insulin-resistant subjects. *J Biol Chem.* (2003) 278:45777–84. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M301977200
- Sabio G, Das M, Mora A, Zhang Z, Jun JY, Ko HJ, et al. A stress signaling pathway in adipose tissue regulates hepatic insulin resistance. *Science* (2008) 322:1539–43. doi: 10.1126/science.1160794
- Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL, Ferrante AW Jr. Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J Clin Invest. (2003) 112:1796–808. doi: 10.1172/JCI19246
- Xu H, Barnes GT, Yang Q, Tan G, Yang D, Chou CJ, et al. Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest.* (2003) 112:1821–30. doi: 10.1172/JCI200319451
- Lumeng CN, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR. Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. *J Clin Invest.* (2007) 117:175–84. doi: 10.1172/JCI29881
- Wu H, Perrard XD, Wang Q, Perrard JL, Polsani VR, Jones PH, et al. CD11c expression in adipose tissue and blood and its role in diet-induced obesity. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2010) 30:186–92. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.198044

- Sartipy P, Loskutoff DJ. Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 in obesity and insulin resistance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:7265–70. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1133870100
- 24. Kanda H, Tateya S, Tamori Y, Kotani K, Hiasa K, Kitazawa R, et al. MCP-1 contributes to macrophage infiltration into adipose tissue, insulin resistance, and hepatic steatosis in obesity. *J Clin Invest.* (2006) 116:1494–505. doi: 10.1172/JCI26498
- Weisberg SP, Hunter D, Huber R, Lemieux J, Slaymaker S, Vaddi K, et al. CCR2 modulates inflammatory and metabolic effects of high-fat feeding. J Clin Invest. (2006) 116:115–24. doi: 10.1172/JCI24335
- Wu H, Ghosh S, Perrard XD, Feng L, Garcia GE, Perrard JL, et al. Tcell accumulation and regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted upregulation in adipose tissue in obesity. *Circulation* (2007) 115:1029–38. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.638379
- Kaminski DA, Randall TD. Adaptive immunity and adipose tissue biology. *Trends Immunol.* (2010) 31:384–90. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2010. 08.001
- Jiang E, Perrard XD, Yang D, Khan IM, Perrard JL, Smith CW, et al. Essential role of CD11a in CD8⁺ T-cell accumulation and activation in adipose tissue. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2014) 34:34–43. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.302077
- 29. Khan IM, Dai Perrard XY, Perrard JL, Mansoori A, Smith CW, Wu H, et al. Attenuated adipose tissue and skeletal muscle inflammation in obese mice with combined CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell deficiency. *Atherosclerosis* (2014) 233:419–28. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.01.011
- Nishimura S, Manabe I, Nagasaki M, Eto K, Yamashita H, Ohsugi M, et al. CD8⁺ effector T cells contribute to macrophage recruitment and adipose tissue inflammation in obesity. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:914–20. doi: 10.1038/nm.1964
- 31. Feuerer M, Herrero L, Cipolletta D, Naaz A, Wong J, Nayer A, et al. Lean, but not obese, fat is enriched for a unique population of regulatory T cells that affect metabolic parameters. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:930–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.2002
- Schipper HS, Prakken B, Kalkhoven E, Boes M. Adipose tissue-resident immune cells: key players in immunometabolism. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* (2012) 23:407–15. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2012.05.011
- Nishimura S, Manabe I, Takaki S, Nagasaki M, Otsu M, Yamashita H, et al. Adipose natural regulatory B cells negatively control adipose tissue inflammation. *Cell Metab.* (2013) 18:759–66. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.09.017
- Molofsky AB, Nussbaum JC, Liang HE, Van Dyken SJ, Cheng LE, Mohapatra A, et al. Innate lymphoid type 2 cells sustain visceral adipose tissue eosinophils and alternatively activated macrophages. J Exp Med. (2013) 210:535–49. doi: 10.1084/jem.20121964
- Wu D, Molofsky AB, Liang HE, Ricardo-Gonzalez RR, Jouihan HA, Bando JK, et al. Eosinophils sustain adipose alternatively activated macrophages associated with glucose homeostasis. *Science* (2011) 332:243–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1201475
- Abbas AL, Pillai AS. Cellular and Molecular Immunology. 8th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Saunders (2014).
- Rocha VZ, Libby P. Obesity, inflammation, and atherosclerosis. Nat Rev Cardiol. (2009) 6:399–409. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2009.55
- Huber J, Kiefer FW, Zeyda M, Ludvik B, Silberhumer GR, Prager G, et al. CC chemokine and CC chemokine receptor profiles in visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue are altered in human obesity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2008) 93:3215–21. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-2630
- 39. Kintscher U, Hartge M, Hess K, Foryst-Ludwig A, Clemenz M, Wabitsch M, et al. T-lymphocyte infiltration in visceral adipose tissue: a primary event in adipose tissue inflammation and the development of obesity-mediated insulin resistance. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2008) 28:1304–10. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.165100
- Deng T, Lyon CJ, Minze LJ, Lin J, Zou J, Liu JZ, et al. Class II major histocompatibility complex plays an essential role in obesity-induced adipose inflammation. *Cell Metab.* (2013) 17:411–22. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.02.009
- Panduro M, Benoist C, Mathis D. Tissue tregs. Annu Rev Immunol. (2016) 34:609–33. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-095948
- 42. Cipolletta D, Feuerer M, Li A, Kamei N, Lee J, Shoelson SE, et al. PPARgamma is a major driver of the accumulation and phenotype of adipose tissue Treg cells. *Nature* (2012) 486:549–53. doi: 10.1038/nature11132

- Cipolletta D. Adipose tissue-resident regulatory T cells: phenotypic specialization, functions and therapeutic potential. *Immunology* (2014) 142:517–25. doi: 10.1111/imm.12262
- Cipolletta D, Cohen P, Spiegelman BM, Benoist C, Mathis D. Appearance and disappearance of the mRNA signature characteristic of Treg cells in visceral adipose tissue: age, diet, and PPARgamma effects. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:482–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1423486112
- Vasanthakumar A, Moro K, Xin A, Liao Y, Gloury R, Kawamoto S, et al. The transcriptional regulators IRF4, BATF and IL-33 orchestrate development and maintenance of adipose tissue-resident regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:276–85. doi: 10.1038/ni.3085
- Becker M, Levings MK, Daniel C. Adipose-tissue regulatory T cells: critical players in adipose-immune crosstalk. *Eur J Immunol.* (2017) 47:1867–74. doi: 10.1002/eji.201646739
- 47. Han JM, Wu D, Denroche HC, Yao Y, Verchere CB, Levings MK. IL-33 Reverses an obesity-induced deficit in visceral adipose tissue ST2⁺ T regulatory cells and ameliorates adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance. *J Immunol.* (2015) 194:4777–83. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1500020
- Wood IS, Wang B, Trayhurn P. IL-33, a recently identified interleukin-1 gene family member, is expressed in human adipocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2009) 384:105–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.04.081
- Kohlgruber AC, Gal-Oz ST, LaMarche NM, Shimazaki M, Duquette D, Nguyen HN, et al. Gammadelta T cells producing interleukin-17A regulate adipose regulatory T cell homeostasis and thermogenesis. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:464–74. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0094-2
- Lynch L, Michelet X, Zhang S, Brennan PJ, Moseman A, Lester C, et al. Regulatory iNKT cells lack expression of the transcription factor PLZF and control the homeostasis of T_{reg} cells and macrophages in adipose tissue. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:85–95. doi: 10.1038/ni.3047
- Molofsky AB, Van Gool F, Liang HE, Van Dyken SJ, Nussbaum JC, Lee J, et al. Interleukin-33 and interferon-gamma counter-regulate group 2 innate lymphoid cell activation during immune perturbation. *Immunity* (2015) 43:161–74. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.05.019
- 52. Li C, DiSpirito JR, Zemmour D, Spallanzani RG, Kuswanto W, Benoist C, et al. TCR Transgenic mice reveal stepwise, multi-site acquisition of the distinctive fat-treg phenotype. *Cell* (2018) 174:285–99.e12. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.05.004
- Matarese G, Procaccini C, De Rosa V, Horvath TL, La Cava A. Regulatory T cells in obesity: the leptin connection. *Trends Mol Med.* (2010) 16:247–56. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2010.04.002
- Lee HY, Kim J, Quan W, Lee JC, Kim MS, Kim SH, et al. Autophagy deficiency in myeloid cells increases susceptibility to obesity-induced diabetes and experimental colitis. *Autophagy* (2016) 12:1390–403. doi: 10.1080/15548627.2016.1184799
- Fabrizi M, Marchetti V, Mavilio M, Marino A, Casagrande V, Cavalera M, et al. IL-21 is a major negative regulator of IRF4-dependent lipolysis affecting Tregs in adipose tissue and systemic insulin sensitivity. *Diabetes* (2014) 63:2086–96. doi: 10.2337/db13-0939
- Cho KW, Morris DL, DelProposto JL, Geletka L, Zamarron B, Martinez-Santibanez G, et al. An MHC II-dependent activation loop between adipose tissue macrophages and CD4⁺ T cells controls obesity-induced inflammation. *Cell Rep.* (2014) 9:605–17. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.09.004
- Morris DL, Cho KW, Delproposto JL, Oatmen KE, Geletka LM, Martinez-Santibanez G, et al. Adipose tissue macrophages function as antigenpresenting cells and regulate adipose tissue CD4⁺ T cells in mice. *Diabetes* (2013) 62:2762–72. doi: 10.2337/db12-1404
- Khan IM, Perrard XY, Brunner G, Lui H, Sparks LM, Smith SR, et al. Intermuscular and perimuscular fat expansion in obesity correlates with skeletal muscle T cell and macrophage infiltration and insulin resistance. *Int J Obes*. (2015) 39:1607–18. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2015.104
- Rocha VZ, Folco EJ, Sukhova G, Shimizu K, Gotsman I, Vernon AH, et al. Interferon-gamma, a Th1 cytokine, regulates fat inflammation: a role for adaptive immunity in obesity. *Circ Res.* (2008) 103:467–76. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.177105
- McGillicuddy FC, Chiquoine EH, Hinkle CC, Kim RJ, Shah R, Roche HM, et al. Interferon gamma attenuates insulin signaling, lipid storage, and differentiation in human adipocytes via activation of the JAK/STAT pathway. *J Biol Chem.* (2009) 284:31936–44. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.061655

- Cho KW, Zamarron BF, Muir LA, Singer K, Porsche CE, DelProposto JB, et al. Adipose tissue dendritic cells are independent contributors to obesity-induced inflammation and insulin resistance. *J Immunol.* (2016) 197:3650–61. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600820
- Xiao L, Yang X, Lin Y, Li S, Jiang J, Qian S, et al. Large adipocytes function as antigen-presenting cells to activate CD4⁺ T cells via upregulating MHCII in obesity. *Int J Obes.* (2016) 40:112–20. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2015.145
- Deng T, Liu J, Deng Y, Minze L, Xiao X, Wright V, et al. Adipocyte adaptive immunity mediates diet-induced adipose inflammation and insulin resistance by decreasing adipose Treg cells. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:15725. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15725
- Kim CS, Kim JG, Lee BJ, Choi MS, Choi HS, Kawada T, et al. Deficiency for costimulatory receptor 4-1BB protects against obesityinduced inflammation and metabolic disorders. *Diabetes* (2011) 60:3159–68. doi: 10.2337/db10-1805
- Poggi M, Morin SO, Bastelica D, Govers R, Canault M, Bernot D, et al. CD28 deletion improves obesity-induced liver steatosis but increases adiposity in mice. *Int J Obes.* (2015) 39:977–85. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2015.26
- Kim YJ, Kim SH, Mantel P, Kwon BS. Human 4-1BB regulates CD28 costimulation to promote Th1 cell responses. *Eur J Immunol.* (1998) 28:881–90. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199803)28:03<881::AID-IMMU881>3 .0.CO;2-0
- Kwon B, Lee HW, Kwon BS. New insights into the role of 4-1BB in immune responses: beyond CD8⁺ T cells. *Trends Immunol.* (2002) 23:378–80. doi: 10.1016/S1471-4906(02)02263-9
- Vinay DS, Kwon BS. Role of 4-1BB in immune responses. Semin Immunol. (1998) 10:481–9.
- 69. Chen L, Flies DB. Molecular mechanisms of T cell co-stimulation and co-inhibition. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2013) 13:227–42. doi: 10.1038/nri3405
- Simpson TR, Quezada SA, Allison JP. Regulation of CD4 T cell activation and effector function by inducible costimulator (ICOS). *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2010) 22:326–32. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2010.01.001
- Khayyamian S, Hutloff A, Buchner K, Grafe M, Henn V, Kroczek RA, et al. ICOS-ligand, expressed on human endothelial cells, costimulates Th1 and Th2 cytokine secretion by memory CD4+ T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2002) 99:6198–203. doi: 10.1073/pnas.092576699
- Cameron G, Godfrey DI. Differential surface phenotype and contextdependent reactivity of functionally diverse NKT cells. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2018) 79:759–71. doi: 10.1111/imcb.12034
- Wu J, Yang J, Yang K, Wang H, Gorentla B, Shin J, et al. iNKT cells require TSC1 for terminal maturation and effector lineage fate decisions. J Clin Invest. (2014) 124:1685–98. doi: 10.1172/JCI69780
- Thery C, Duban L, Segura E, Veron P, Lantz O, Amigorena S. Indirect activation of naive CD4⁺ T cells by dendritic cell-derived exosomes. *Nat Immunol.* (2002) 3:1156–62. doi: 10.1038/ni854
- Thery C, Ostrowski M, Segura E. Membrane vesicles as conveyors of immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol. (2009) 9:581–93. doi: 10.1038/nri2567
- Nakayama M. Antigen presentation by MHC-dressed cells. Front Immunol. (2014) 5:672. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00672
- 77. Winer S, Paltser G, Chan Y, Tsui H, Engleman E, Winer D, et al. Obesity predisposes to Th17 bias. *Eur J Immunol.* (2009) 39:2629–35. doi: 10.1002/eji.200838893
- Ahmed M, Gaffen SL. IL-17 in obesity and adipogenesis. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2010) 21:449–53. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2010.10.005
- Sumarac-Dumanovic M, Stevanovic D, Ljubic A, Jorga J, Simic M, Stamenkovic-Pejkovic D, et al. Increased activity of interleukin-23/interleukin-17 proinflammatory axis in obese women. *Int J Obes*. (2009) 33:151–6. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2008.216
- Bertola A, Ciucci T, Rousseau D, Bourlier V, Duffaut C, Bonnafous S, et al. Identification of adipose tissue dendritic cells correlated with obesityassociated insulin-resistance and inducing Th17 responses in mice and patients. *Diabetes* (2012) 61:2238–47. doi: 10.2337/db11-1274
- Fabbrini E, Cella M, McCartney SA, Fuchs A, Abumrad NA, Pietka TA, et al. Association between specific adipose tissue CD4⁺ T-cell populations and insulin resistance in obese individuals. *Gastroenterology* (2013) 145:366–74.e1-3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.04.010

- Chehimi M, Vidal H, Eljaafari A. Pathogenic role of IL-17-producing immune cells in obesity, and related inflammatory diseases. J Clin Med. (2017) 6:E68. doi: 10.3390/jcm6070068
- McLaughlin T, Liu LF, Lamendola C, Shen L, Morton J, Rivas H, et al. Tcell profile in adipose tissue is associated with insulin resistance and systemic inflammation in humans. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2014) 34:2637–43. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.304636
- Pandolfi JB, Ferraro AA, Sananez I, Gancedo MC, Baz P, Billordo LA, et al. ATP-induced inflammation drives tissue-resident Th17 cells in metabolically unhealthy obesity. *J Immunol.* (2016) 196:3287–96. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1502506
- Mehta P, Nuotio-Antar AM, Smith CW. Gammadelta T cells promote inflammation and insulin resistance during high fat diet-induced obesity in mice. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2015) 97:121–34. doi: 10.1189/jlb.3A0414-211RR
- Winer S, Chan Y, Paltser G, Truong D, Tsui H, Bahrami J, et al. Normalization of obesity-associated insulin resistance through immunotherapy. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:921–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.2001
- Rausch ME, Weisberg S, Vardhana P, Tortoriello DV. Obesity in C57BL/6J mice is characterized by adipose tissue hypoxia and cytotoxic T-cell infiltration. *Int J Obes.* (2008) 32:451–63. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803744
- Duffaut C, Zakaroff-Girard A, Bourlier V, Decaunes P, Maumus M, Chiotasso P, et al. Interplay between human adipocytes and T lymphocytes in obesity: CCL20 as an adipochemokine and T lymphocytes as lipogenic modulators. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2009) 29:1608–14. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.192583
- Yang H, Youm YH, Vandanmagsar B, Ravussin A, Gimble JM, Greenway F, et al. Obesity increases the production of proinflammatory mediators from adipose tissue T cells and compromises TCR repertoire diversity: implications for systemic inflammation and insulin resistance. *J Immunol.* (2010) 185:1836–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000021
- Wensveen FM, Valentic S, Sestan M, Turk Wensveen T, Polic B. The "Big Bang" in obese fat: events initiating obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation. *Eur J Immunol.* (2015) 45:2446–56. doi: 10.1002/eji.201545502
- Terrell CE, Jordan MB. Perforin deficiency impairs a critical immunoregulatory loop involving murine CD8⁺ T cells and dendritic cells. *Blood* (2013) 121:5184–91. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-04-495309
- Lykens JE, Terrell CE, Zoller EE, Risma K, Jordan MB. Perforin is a critical physiologic regulator of T-cell activation. *Blood* (2011) 118:618–26. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-12-324533
- Revelo XS, Tsai S, Lei H, Luck H, Ghazarian M, Tsui H, et al. Perforin is a novel immune regulator of obesity-related insulin resistance. *Diabetes* (2015) 64:90–103. doi: 10.2337/db13-1524
- Gapin L. Development of invariant natural killer T cells. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2016) 39:68–74. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2016. 01.001
- Godfrey DI, MacDonald HR, Kronenberg M, Smyth MJ, Van Kaer L. NKT cells: what's in a name? *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2004) 4:231–7. doi: 10.1038/ nri1309
- Kumar A, Suryadevara N, Hill TM, Bezbradica JS, Van Kaer L, Joyce S. Natural killer T cells: an ecological evolutionary developmental biology perspective. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1858. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01858
- Lynch L, O'Shea D, Winter DC, Geoghegan J, Doherty DG, O'Farrelly C. Invariant NKT cells and CD1d⁺ cells amass in human omentum and are depleted in patients with cancer and obesity. *Eur J Immunol.* (2009) 39:1893–901. doi: 10.1002/eji.200939349
- Lynch L, Nowak M, Varghese B, Clark J, Hogan AE, Toxavidis V, et al. Adipose tissue invariant NKT cells protect against diet-induced obesity and metabolic disorder through regulatory cytokine production. *Immunity* (2012) 37:574–87. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.06.016
- Huh JY, Park J, Kim JI, Park YJ, Lee YK, Kim JB. Deletion of CD1d in adipocytes aggravates adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance in obesity. *Diabetes* (2017) 66:835–47. doi: 10.2337/db16-1122
- Huh JY, Park YJ, Kim JB. Adipocyte CD1d determines adipose inflammation and insulin resistance in obesity. *Adipocyte* (2018) 7:129–36. doi: 10.1080/21623945.2018.1440928

- Huh JY, Kim JI, Park YJ, Hwang IJ, Lee YS, Sohn JH, et al. A novel function of adipocytes in lipid antigen presentation to iNKT cells. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2013) 33:328–39. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00552-12
- Schipper HS, Rakhshandehroo M, van de Graaf SF, Venken K, Koppen A, Stienstra R, et al. Natural killer T cells in adipose tissue prevent insulin resistance. J Clin Invest. (2012) 122:3343–54. doi: 10.1172/JCI62739
- 103. Lynch L, Hogan AE, Duquette D, Lester C, Banks A, LeClair K, et al. iNKT cells induce FGF21 for thermogenesis and are required for maximal weight loss in GLP1 therapy. *Cell Metab.* (2016) 24:510–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.08.003
- 104. Zhao H, Shang Q, Pan Z, Bai Y, Li Z, Zhang H, et al. Exosomes from adiposederived stem cells attenuate adipose inflammation and obesity through polarizing M2 macrophages and beiging in white adipose tissue. *Diabetes* (2018) 67:235–47. doi: 10.2337/db17-0356
- 105. Shang Q, Bai Y, Wang G, Song Q, Guo C, Zhang L, et al. Delivery of adiposederived stem cells attenuates adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance in obese mice through remodeling macrophage phenotypes. *Stem Cells Dev.* (2015) 24:2052–64. doi: 10.1089/scd.2014.0557
- 106. Eljaafari A, Robert M, Chehimi M, Chanon S, Durand C, Vial G, et al. Adipose tissue-derived stem cells from obese subjects contribute to inflammation and reduced insulin response in adipocytes through differential regulation of the Th1/Th17 balance and monocyte activation. *Diabetes* (2015) 64:2477–88. doi: 10.2337/db1 5-0162

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Wang and Wu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Unique Population: Adipose-Resident Regulatory T Cells

Qin Zeng^{1†}, Xiaoxiao Sun^{1,2†}, Liuling Xiao³, Zhiguo Xie¹, Maria Bettini⁴ and Tuo Deng^{1,2,3*}

¹ Department of Metabolism and Endocrinology, The Second Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, Changsha, China, ² Key Laboratory of Diabetes Immunology, Central South University, Ministry of Education, Changsha, China, ³ Center for Bioenergetics, Weill Cornell Medical College, Houston Methodist Research Institute, Houston, TX, United States, ⁴ Section of Diabetes and Endocrinology, Department of Pediatrics, Baylor College of Medicine, McNair Medical Institute, Texas Children's Hospital, Houston, TX, United States

Regulatory T (Treg) cell is well known for its anti-inflammatory function in a variety of tissues in health and disease. Accordingly, Treg cells that reside in adipose tissue exhibit specific phenotypes. Their numbers are regulated by age, gender and environmental factors, such as diet and cold stimulation. Adipose-resident Treg cells have been suggested to be critical regulators of immune and metabolic microenvironment in adipose tissue, as well as involved in pathogenesis of obesity-related metabolic disorders. This review surveys existing information on adipose-resident Treg cells. We first describe the origin, phenotype and function of adipose-resident Treg cells. We then describe the major regulators of adipose-resident Treg cells, and discuss how the adipose-resident Treg cells are regulated in lean and obese conditions, especially in humans. Finally, we highlight their therapeutic potential in obesity-related disorders.

Keywords: adipose tissue, inflammation, regulatory T cell, obesity, metabolic disease

INTRODUCTION

Adipose tissue inflammation is implicated in associations between obesity and its multiple complications (1, 2). Obese adipose tissue is laden with a variety of pro-inflammatory immune cells, including classically activated macrophages, natural killer (NK) cells, mast cells, neutrophils, dendritic cells (DCs), B cells, cytotoxic T cells and Th1 cells (3, 4). These cells can stimulate adipocytes and release pro-inflammatory factors, such as IFN_γ, TNF α , IL-1 β , and IL-6, leading to the development of local and systemic inflammation, insulin resistance, and type 2 diabetes. In contrast, lean adipose tissue contains significantly lower numbers of immune cells, the majority of which are anti-inflammatory cells including Treg cells, alternatively activated macrophages, eosinophils, and group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s). These cells actively maintain metabolic homeostasis in adipose tissue by secretion of anti-inflammatory mediators, such as IL-4 and IL-13.

An important anti-inflammatory immune cell population in adipose tissue is Treg cell. Treg cells play critical roles in the regulation of autoimmunity (5), allergy (6), microbial infection (7), and tumor development (8). Besides the classical Treg cells circulating through lymphoid organs, Treg cells residing in parenchymal tissue, so-called tissue Treg cells, are also crucial for the maintenance of organismal homeostasis (9). Adipose-resident Treg is one of the best-characterized tissue Treg cells. Dr. Diane Mathis's group published pioneering work in the field of adipose-resident Treg cells. In 2009, they reported that the abdominal fat of lean mice was enriched in Treg cells with a unique phenotype, and these adipose-resident Treg cells played an important role in maintaining

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Huaizhu Wu, Baylor College of Medicine, United States

Reviewed by:

Meilian Liu, University of New Mexico Health Sciences Center, United States Wenxian Fu, University of California, San Diego, United States

> ***Correspondence:** Tuo Deng

tdeng@houstonmethodist.org

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 01 July 2018 Accepted: 21 August 2018 Published: 28 September 2018

Citation:

Zeng Q, Sun X, Xiao L, Xie Z, Bettini M and Deng T (2018) A Unique Population: Adipose-Resident Regulatory T Cells. Front. Immunol. 9:2075. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02075

63

insulin sensitivity through limiting adipose tissue inflammation. Importantly, these cells decreased in fat tissue of obese animals (10). Three years later, the same group reported the molecular basis of this unique population of visceral adipose tissue (VAT) Treg cells by identifying peroxisome-proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ), the master regulator of adipocyte differentiation, as the major driver behind development, tissue accumulation, and functional phenotype of these cells (11). Since then, the development, regulation and function of adipose-resident Treg cells have been extensively investigated. Accumulating evidence shows that adipose-resident Treg cells have unique properties, distinct from lymphoid organ Treg cells, and respond to different environmental challenges to regulate immune and metabolic states in normal and disease conditions.

In this review, we summarize current understanding of the characteristics, regulation and function of adipose-resident Treg cells, as well as discuss their metabolic impact and therapeutic potential. Elucidating the interactions underlying adipose-resident Treg cells and adipose inflammation is of significant interest and may provide new insights to overcome the harmful side effects of an obese state.

CHARACTERISTICS OF ADIPOSE-RESIDENT TREG CELLS

Adipose tissue types can be subdivided based on their distinct developmental origins, anatomical locations and functions. These include VAT, subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) and brown adipose tissue (BAT). VAT and SAT are composed primarily of white adipocytes with their major function being energy storage, while BAT consists of brown adipocytes with a primary function of thermogenesis. In lean adult male mice, high enrichment of Treg cells (\sim 50% of CD4⁺ T cells) is observed only in VAT, but not in other fat depots (10). Therefore, initial studies were focused on VAT adipose-resident Treg cells. Recently, it has been shown that SAT and BAT also harbor distinct subsets of Treg cells characterized by unique gene signatures (12, 13). It is clear that Treg cells in different types of adipose tissue have distinct properties that are critical for the regulation of local immune and metabolic environment. In this section, we review the origin, phenotypes and functions of the Treg cells from different fat depots.

Origin

In 10-week-old mice VAT and SAT have relatively low frequencies of Treg cells (10–15% of CD4⁺ T cells), comparable to what is observed in lymphoid tissues. However, only VAT Treg cells accumulate overtime reaching 40–50% at around 25 weeks of age (10, 14). The striking enrichment of Treg cells in VAT has attracted significant interest to investigate the origin and development of VAT Treg cells. Classical Treg cells are generated in the thymus or converted from conventional CD4⁺ T cells in the periphery (15, 16). Because the T cell receptor (TCR) repertoire of VAT Treg cells is distinct from VAT conventional T (Tconv) cells, it is unlikely that the Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in the VAT are differentiated from local Tconv cells (10). A recent

study further excluded the possibility of conversion of VAT Treg cells from Tconv cells, and also showed little contribution of circulating Treg cells to the VAT Treg cell accumulation (17). This study revealed that VAT Treg cells were mostly seeded from the thymus in the early weeks of life and proliferated in response to antigen(s) presented by major histocompatibility complex class II (MHCII) and IL-33 beyond 10 weeks of age (17). More recent work has further demonstrated the accumulation of Treg cells in VAT was divided into two steps. Firstly, thymusderived Treg cells were initially induced to express low level of PPARy and weak VAT-Treg signature within the spleen; secondly, these PPAR γ^{low} Treg cells were installed in VAT, where complete VAT-Treg signature was induced by TCR:MHCII interaction, IL-33, and Foxp3 expression. The combination of these consecutive cues was necessary for complete differentiation into the PPAR γ^{high} VAT Treg lineage (18).

Origin of Treg cells in SAT and BAT have not been well studied. Since both of these tissues have normal frequencies of Treg cells (about 10% of $CD4^+$ T cells) and naïve $CD4^+$ T cells from these two tissues produce more induced Treg cells than VAT (13), the SAT and BAT Treg cells probably have different origin from VAT Treg cells.

Phenotype

The majority of studies addressing the phenotype of adiposeresident Treg cells were performed in VAT. Microarray analysis comparing Treg cells from VAT and lymphoid tissues revealed notable distinction among Treg cells from different tissue sites and showed a unique transcriptional profile in VAT Treg cells. VAT Treg cells displayed a distinct chemokine/chemokine receptor pattern, overexpression of Gm1960 (an IL-10-inducible Cxcr2 ligand), Ccr1, Ccr2, Ccr9, Ccl6, integrin aV, activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule (Alcam), Cxcl2 and Cxcl10 and reduced expression of Ccl5 and Cxcr3, which might be responsible for their specific local accumulation (10). VAT Treg cells also produced significantly higher levels of IL-10 and showed enhanced IL-10 signaling compared with Treg cells from lymphoid tissue (10). Most VAT Treg cell signature genes were regulated directly or indirectly by PPARy, a nuclear receptor overexpressed in Treg cells specifically from VAT but not from other tissues (11). Genetic ablation of PPARy in Treg cells reduced the number and changed the transcriptional signature specifically in VAT Treg cells, indicating that PPARy is a master regulator defining VAT Treg cell phenotype (11). In an effort to identify the cytokine receptors preferentially expressed by VAT Treg cells, Vasanthakumar et al. found that ST2, the receptor of IL-33, was highly expressed in Treg cells from VAT and was activated by IL-33 to provide a signal that was essential for the development and maintenance of VAT Treg cells (19). Interestingly, in spite of their unique gene expression signatures, VAT Treg cells were similar in their suppressive capacity as spleen Treg cells based on a standard *in-vitro* suppression assay (10). However, it is not clear if there is a difference in *in-vivo* activity between Treg cells from VAT and other tissues.

In addition to the transcriptional signatures that encompass chemokine receptor, transcription factor, and cytokine receptor phenotypes, VAT Treg cells express tissue-antigen specific TCR repertoire. According to results from complementaritydetermining region 3α (CDR3 α) sequences, VAT Treg cells have a highly restricted distribution of sequences and exhibit distinguishable TCR repertoires from that of their counterparts in the spleen and lymph nodes (10). Furthermore, in V α 2-V β 4 VAT-Treg TCR transgenic mice frequency and number of total Treg cells are specifically elevated in VAT, but not in the spleen (18). Moreover, VAT Treg cells depend on recognition of antigen(s) presented by MHCII on antigen-presenting cells (APCs) for their retention/accumulation in VAT (17). However, the special antigen(s) recognized by VAT Treg cells remain undiscovered.

Microarray gene expression profiling of BAT Treg cells from C57BL/6 female mice revealed a shared group of signature genes with VAT Treg cells, including PPARy and IL-10, but also identified a specific BAT Treg gene signature, suggesting a unique subset of Treg cells in BAT (12). Cold exposure changed expression of a very small group of genes in BAT Treg cells, but the majority of genes remained unchanged (12). It is worth noting that this study compared the gene signature of BAT Treg cells from female mice to the previously published gene signature of VAT Treg cells from male mice. The reported BAT Treg-specific gene signature in this study may have been affected by the gender difference. More recently, it has been reported that in young 3-6-week-old mice BAT and SAT harbor higher Foxp3⁺ Treg cell percentages than VAT, and Treg cells in BAT and SAT are more efficiently induced by cold exposure compared to VAT Treg cells (13).

In summary, Treg cells residing in different types of adipose tissue have distinct features, implying their specialized functions in regulation of immune and metabolic homeostasis in and beyond adipose tissue.

Function

Metabolic disorders are associated with and mediated by inflammatory processes (20, 21). As one of the most potent anti-inflammatory cell types, Treg cells have been proposed to play a protective role in insulin resistance and other metabolic disorders by several gain-of-function experiments (10, 22, 23). In both high-fed diet (HFD)-induced obese mice and mice heterozygous for the yellow spontaneous mutation (Ay/a), injection of IL-2 in complex with IL-2 antibody (mAb) increased the fraction of Treg cells in VAT and spleen, and reduced insulin resistance (10). Oral administration of anti-CD3 antibody and βglucosylceramide (GC) in leptin-deficient ob/ob mice effectively induced Treg cells and alleviated the metabolic abnormalities, including pancreatic islet cell hyperplasia, fatty liver, adipose tissue inflammation and high blood glucose (23). In addition, adoptive transfer of CD4⁺Foxp3⁺GFP⁺ Treg cells into db/db diabetic mice led to an increase in Foxp3 expression and a decrease in CD8⁺ effector T cells in VAT, as well as a decrease of urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio and glomerular diameter (22). These observations indicate that Treg cells can not only ameliorate insulin resistance, but also prevent diabetic nephropathy. The above studies used approaches that resulted in global increases of Treg cells, which were not limited to adipose tissue. Therefore, these studies failed to fully clarify the

specific contribution of local adipose tissue resident Treg cells to the improvement of metabolic disorders. Unfortunately, an attempt to enhance Treg cells specifically in VAT by transfer of fat-resident Treg cells into obese mice failed due to the lability and low recoverable numbers of VAT Treg cells (10). However, in our recent study, genetic deletion of MHCII in adipocytes of obese mice substantially increased Treg cell fraction specifically in VAT and reduced adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance (24). Interestingly, these beneficial effects were dependent on the specific induction of VAT Treg cells, suggesting tissue specific function of VAT Treg cells against obesityinduced adipose inflammation and insulin resistance (24). In line with our observations, VAT-Treg TCR transgenic mice showed significantly improved insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance (18). Besides adipose inflammation, Hashimoto's Thyroiditis (HT) is also associated with abnormal insulin sensitivity. A recent study focused on HT showed a drop in VAT Treg cells as well as insulin sensitivity in a mouse model of HT. The impaired insulin sensitivity was effectively reversed by the adoptive transfer of CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ Treg cells from peripheral blood; however, subsequent anti-CD25 antibodies administration had no effect on insulin sensitivity. Since anti-CD25 treatment selectively depletes CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in peripheral blood but not in VAT, the finding supports a potential specific role for VAT Treg cells in improving insulin resistance in HT (25).

The contradictory results from loss-of-function experiments are somewhat puzzling. Short term depletion of Treg cells by administration of diphtheria toxin in mice that express diphtheria toxin receptor (DTR) under the control of the Foxp3 promoter (Foxp3-DTR) significantly increased insulin sensitivity in VAT and liver, and decreased fasting insulin levels, but showed marginal in-vivo metabolic changes (10). Transgenic mice expressing the V α 5/V β 8.2 TCR, which was found at a high frequency among obese adipose tissue T cells, displayed a tissue specific decrease of Treg cells in VAT, but did not show any metabolic phenotype in both lean and obese states (26). Similarly, VAT-specific loss of Treg cells by knockout of PPARy in Foxp3+ Treg cells did not affect insulin sensitivity in young, lean and obese mice (11, 27). However, these negatives do not rule out the potential critical role for VAT Treg cells in regulation of metabolism under certain circumstances. In lean condition, a decrease of VAT Treg cells may not change the inflammatory state because of a lack of inflammation in adipose tissue. While in obese condition, where the VAT Treg cells are already dramatically down-regulated and exhibit loss of function, further decrease of VAT Treg cells may not lead to changes in metabolic phenotypes. Interestingly, loss of VAT Treg cells improves glucose homeostasis in aged mice, suggesting its critical role in aging-induced insulin resistance (27). The detailed mechanism underlying the insulin-desensitizing effects of VAT Treg cells in aged mice is unclear and requires further investigation.

SAT and BAT, two important tissues responsible for coldinduced thermogenesis, also harbor tissue resident Treg cells. Cold exposure and beta-adrenergic stimulation enhanced the accumulation of Treg cells in BAT and SAT, suggesting a potential role for adipose-resident Treg cells in cold-induced thermogenesis. Indeed, depletion of Treg cells blunted beta3-adrenergic receptor (ADRB3) agonist-induced expression of thermogenic and lipolytic genes, while adoptive transfer of Treg cells or expansion of Treg cells by IL-2/mAb injection showed opposite effects (13). These results suggested an important role for Treg cells in the regulation of thermogenesis in SAT and BAT. Since specific depletion or expansion of Treg cells in SAT and BAT. Since specific depletion or expansion of Treg cells in SAT and BAT is currently not possible, it is hard to determine the specific contribution of Treg cells to regulation of metabolic homeostasis, such as body weight and insulin sensitivity, in these tissues.

While additional studies are necessary to clarify the timing and location of the specific functions of adipose-resident Treg cells, it is clear that these cells are important contributors to maintaining immune and metabolic homeostasis, in part through regulation of adipose inflammation, insulin sensitivity, lipolysis and thermogenesis.

REGULATORS OF ADIPOSE-RESIDENT TREG CELLS

ΡΡΑRγ

PPAR γ is a member of the PPAR subfamily of nuclear hormone receptors. The name PPAR is derived from the first identified member of the family, PPAR α , which has the ability to respond to various compounds that induce peroxisome proliferation (28). However, other members of the PPAR family do not show this function; instead, they play important roles in lipid metabolism and metabolic control, especially PPAR γ .

PPAR γ was first identified by homology cloning in Xenopus, which was reported to stimulate the peroxisomal degradation of fatty acids (29). There are two isoforms of PPAR γ , PPAR γ 1 and PPAR γ 2, and the latter has additional 30 amino acids at its extreme N terminus in mice (30). Generally, PPAR γ is accepted as a master regulator of adipogenesis and transcription of lipogenic genes (31, 32). It is also known as a suppressor of inflammatory signaling and its ability to exert anti-inflammatory effects in both acute and chronic inflammatory diseases (33, 34). PPAR γ was reported to be expressed in Treg cells and protected autoimmunity by enhancement of Treg cells (35, 36). Recently, PPAR γ was highlighted as a crucial molecular orchestrator of VAT Treg cell accumulation, phenotype and function (11).

Comparing the gene-expression profiles of VAT and lymphoid-organ Treg cells, Cipolletta et al. found that the level of transcripts encoding the nuclear receptor PPAR γ was highly expressed in VAT Treg cells (11). Expression of genes that were positively or negatively correlated with PPAR γ transcript levels occupied the majority of strongly up- or down-regulated genes in VAT Treg cells compared to lymphoid-tissue Treg cells (11). VAT Treg cells expressed both PPAR γ 1 and PPAR γ 2, with a predominance of the former. The evaluation of each isoform's ability to collaborate with Foxp3 to promote the VAT Treg cell gene signature showed that PPAR γ 1 and PPAR γ 2 could both induce most of the genes upregulated in VAT Treg cells. However, the difference between the two protein variants was that only PPAR γ 1 induced suppression of the genes that were down-regulated in VAT Treg cells (11). More importantly, PPAR γ is a key controller for the accumulation and phenotype of Treg cells that are present in VAT. Mice lacking PPAR γ specifically in Treg cells had lower frequencies and numbers of VAT Treg cells, but did not exhibit any reductions in Treg cells in lymphoid organs. Additionally, PPAR γ -mut mice exhibited reduced expression of VAT Treg cell signature genes (11).

Pioglitazone is a well-known insulin-sensitizing agent that improves metabolic indices in obese mice and humans by targeting and activating PPAR γ . Pioglitazone treatment induced an impressive enrichment of the fraction and number of Treg cells in epididymal adipose tissue in both lean and obese mice (11). Conversely, a few days of treatment with an irreversible PPAR γ inhibitor, GW9662, decreased the fraction of Gata³⁺ Treg cells in VAT, although the fraction and number of total Treg cells in VAT showed no significant differences (11). Since Gata3 expression was reduced in the absence of PPAR γ , these observations suggested that PPAR γ is important for both development and continuous maintenance of VAT Treg cell phenotype (11).

The transcriptional signature of VAT Treg cells from obese mice showed a strong correlation with the transcriptional changes induced by deficiency of PPARy, suggesting that obesity might exert its impact on VAT Treg cell through either direct or indirect modulation of PPARy (14). However, the level of transcripts encoding PPARy in obese mice was not altered compared with lean mice (14), suggesting that the genes abnormally expressed in the obese state are not associated with a reduced expression of PPARy. Instead, reduction of PPARy activity was shown to be mediated through phosphorylation by protein kinase Cdk5 (cyclin-dependent kinase 5), a kinase that is activated in adipocytes of diet-induced obese mice. As a result, Cdk5 mediated phosphorylation of the serine residue at position 273 of PPARy and led to dysregulation of a large number of genes involved in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance (37). Intriguingly, the transcriptional signature of obese VAT Treg cells was also dependent on PPARy's phosphorylation of the serine residue at position 273, which was provoked by obesity (14). Therefore, it is likely that the post-translational modification of PPARy might affect VAT Treg cells in obesity.

IL-33 and its Receptor ST2

IL-33 is a member of the IL-1 family, which includes IL-1α, IL-1β, IL-18, IL-36α, IL-36β, IL-36γ, IL-33, receptor antagonists IL-1Ra, IL-36Ra, IL-38, and anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-37 (38). IL-33 protein is produced mainly by non-hematopoietic cells (39), particularly specialized populations of epithelial and endothelial cells (40, 41). IL-33 was first detected in human lymph node high endothelial venules (42) and it is highly expressed in lymph node and spleen fibroblastic reticular cells in mice and humans (40, 41). In contrast to humans, expression of IL-33 in mouse endothelium seems to be limited to adipose tissue, liver and female reproductive tract (43, 44). ST2 and the shared signaling chain, IL-1RAcP, make up the receptor complex for IL-33. ST2 is thought to be the only functional receptor for IL-33, because systemic inflammation caused by the loss of IL-33 nuclear localization signals or constitutive over-expression of IL-33 was abrogated by deficiency of ST2 (45, 46). ST2 is expressed in many different kinds of cells in VAT, including adipocytes, mast cells, ILC2s, Th2 cells and Treg cells (47).

Many Treg cells in VAT display ST2 and ST2⁺ Treg cell fraction increases with age to achieve nearly 90% of VAT Treg cells in mice at age of 30 weeks, while they are barely detected in the spleen (17). In addition to VAT Treg cells, other tissue-resident Treg cells, like Treg cells in intestine (48) and muscle (9), also show higher percentage of ST2⁺ cells compared with lymphoid organs. It seems that ST2 expression on tissue-resident Treg cells is maintained by IL-33 itself as IL-33 stimulates the expression of ST2 in Treg cells (19).

Accumulating evidence supports the role for IL-33/ST2 axis as a positive regulator of VAT Treg cells by counteracting obesity-induced adipose inflammation and insulin resistance. Mice lacking ST2 or IL-33 that were kept on a normal chow diet had reduced frequencies and numbers of VAT Treg cells (17, 19, 49), while injection of exogenous IL-33 into lean or obese mice stimulated an impressive expansion of VAT Treg cell population (17, 19, 50). In obese mice, IL-33 treatment reduced inflammation of VAT, as well as improved the metabolic indices (50, 51). However, a recent study reported that although administration of IL-33 induced VAT Treg cell expansion, it also promoted insulin resistance. Moreover, while blockade of IL-33/ST2 signaling by anti-ST2 antibody reduced VAT Treg cells, at the same time the treatment increased insulin-stimulated glucose uptake, suggesting a potential for detrimental effects of IL-33 signaling in metabolism (27). The reason for this discrepancy is not clear, but could be due to different mouse colonies utilized, husbandry practices and facilities utilized in the studies.

Studies suggest both direct and indirect mechanisms for IL-33 modulation of VAT Treg cells. One study suggested that IL-33 had an indirect influence on VAT Treg cells through activation of ILC2, which led to co-stimulatory interactions between Treg cell ICOS and ILC2 expressed ICOSL (49). Another study demonstrated that IL-33 could also act directly on VAT Treg cells. When ST2 expression was specifically ablated in Treg cells, the number of Treg cells in both VAT and SAT decreased, while there was no significant change in spleen. Furthermore, the frequency and number of ILC2 did not change in VAT of these mice, which excluded the effects of ILC2 on VAT Treg cells. In addition, other studies also showed direct effects of IL-33 on tissue-Treg cells in vitro, including Treg cells from VAT and other tissues (19, 48, 52, 53). Vasanthakumar et al. have shown that myeloid differentiation factor MyD88, an adaptor protein within IL-33 signaling pathway, was essential for the development and maintenance of VAT Treg cells (19).

The main source of IL-33 in adipose tissue was thought to be primarily derived from multiple stromal cell populations, such as podoplanin⁺ (Pdpn⁺) stromal cells (54). IL-33 protein levels in VAT increase with age, accompanied with Treg cell accumulation (19, 54). IL-17A derived from $\gamma\delta$ T cells has been identified as a key cytokine that can induce IL-33 production in adipose stromal cells and sustain VAT Treg accumulation, which was evidenced by the observation that mice lacking IL-17A or $\gamma\delta$ T

cells exhibited significant reduction in IL-33 protein and Treg cell frequencies in adipose tissue but not in spleen (54).

TCR:MHCII Interactions and Co-stimulation

T cell activation requires MHC-mediated antigen presentation and co-stimulation. TCR:MHCII interaction provides a fundamental signal to sustain and activate CD4⁺ T cells (55). MHCII expression on APCs, especially on adipocytes, is important for the activation of Th1 cells in adipose tissue in obese state (24, 56-58). In lean condition, MHCII-mediated antigen presentation is required for the development and maintenance of VAT Treg cells (17, 19). In MHCII-deficient mice, the number of VAT Treg cells was dramatically decreased and few of the remaining VAT Treg cells expressed Gata3, a typical VAT Treg cell marker (17). In addition, a close association between myeloid cells expressing MHCII and Treg cells in VAT was observed in wild type mice, but not in MHCII deficient mice (17). In another study, VAT Treg cells were found to express higher level of Nur77 and lower level of TCF7 than splenic Treg cells. Since transcription factors Nur77 and TCF7 were up- and down-regulated in response to TCR signaling respectively, these results suggested TCR signals are critical to maintain VAT Treg cells (19). Further studies revealed that TCR signals induced transcriptional regulators BATF and IRF4, and subsequently turned on the expression of PPARy and ST2, two key regulators of VAT Treg cell phenotype (19). B7 molecules (CD80 and CD86], the most classical T cell co-stimulators, were also involved in reducing HFD-induced inflammation by maintaining the number of Treg cells in adipose tissue, liver and lymphoid tissues (59, 60). CD80/CD86 double knockout (B7 KO) mice showed a reduction of VAT Treg cells (59, 60), likely a result from the systemic defects of Treg cell development in these mice (61).

Myeloid cells, including macrophages and dendritic cells, have been proposed to be the major MHCII⁺ APCs that provide necessary TCR signals to VAT Treg cells (17). Indeed, adipose tissue macrophages (ATMs) have been shown to contribute to induction and proliferation of VAT Treg cells (62). ATMs from normal mice induced PPARy-high Treg cells while ATMs from obese mice induced PPARy-low Treg cells. Moreover, depletion of ATMs resulted in the reduction of adipose-resident Treg cells, while adoptive transfer of ATMs showed opposite result in vivo (62), strongly suggesting that the enrichment of Treg cells in adipose tissue is at least partly due to interactions with ATMs. However, deficiency of MHCII specifically in myeloid cells did not change the fraction of VAT Treg cells in chow fed lean mice, although the reduction was observed in obese mice (58). Further studies are warranted to identify or confirm APC populations that are essential to sustain Treg cells in VAT.

Other Regulators

In addition to the regulators mentioned above, the adiposeresident Treg cells could be regulated by other factors, including secretory factors [IL-21 (63), IL-2 (64), and insulin (65)] and transcriptional factors [STAT3 (66), Foxp3 (18), and STAT6 (13)]. Increased accumulation of Treg cells was demonstrated in VAT of IL-21 knockout mice in comparison with wild-type mice fed normal chow or HFD (63). Accordingly, IL-21 knockout mice exhibited improved insulin sensitivity and decreased adipose inflammation, compared with wild-type mice when fed on HFD. This phenotype was accompanied by a higher induction of IRF4 in VAT, which was negatively regulated by IL-21 (63). IL-2 plays a critical role in Treg cell survival and function (67). A recent study reported that adipose invariant natural killer T cells regulated the proliferation and function of adipose Treg cell through IL-2 production (64). Treg cells express insulin receptor and high levels of insulin could impair the ability of Treg cells to produce IL-10 via AKT/mTOR signaling pathway, suggesting that insulin acts as a negative regulator of Treg cells in hyperinsulinemic obese mice (65).

STAT3 expression in T cells was shown to play a crucial role in adaptive immunity in VAT, which may contribute to adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance. Treg cell percentages in VAT were increased in T cell specific STAT3 knockout mice compared with wild-type mice fed a HFD (66). However, since reduction in VAT Treg cells was correlated with HFD-induced obesity, and mice lacking STAT3 in T cells gained less body and VAT weights when fed HFD, it is hard to exclude the possibility that the increase of VAT Treg cells is a secondary effect of weight loss in these mice.

Foxp3 is a master regulator in the function and development of Treg cells (68). Although the role of Foxp3 in lymphoid organ Treg cells is well studied, its role in VAT Treg cell is less clear. A recent study has demonstrated Foxp3 was not only a marker to distinguish Treg cells and Tconv cells; it was also essential for Treg cell enrichment in VAT. When Foxp3 was transduced into Tconv cells; these cells accumulated in VAT, while control transduced cells did not. Moreover, almost all the Foxp3 transduced Tconv cells expressed PPARγ and ST2, markers normally associated with in VAT Treg cells (18).

Few studies have investigated potential regulators of Treg cells in BAT and SAT. So far STAT6 has been found to play a role in regulation of these cells. STAT6 knockout mice displayed lower BAT and SAT Treg cell frequencies compared with wild-type mice. *In-vitro*, Treg cell induction of naïve T cells isolated from BAT and SAT in STAT6 knockout mice was also significantly blunted. Moreover, STAT6 inhibitor suppressed Treg cell induction from naïve CD4⁺ T cells in inguinal lymph nodes of BALB/c Foxp3-GFP reporter mice (13).

Regulatory Network Controlling Adipose-Resident Treg Cells

Many regulators interact to form a network necessary to maintain proper number and function of adipose resident Treg cells (**Figure 1A**). PPAR γ transcription factor and IL-33/ST2 cytokine/cytokine-receptor pair are key regulators of accumulation and phenotype of VAT Treg cells. ST2 may be regulated by PPAR γ , since VAT Treg cells lacking PPAR γ show a lower percentage of ST2⁺ cells (17). However, it is likely that PPAR γ expression is not affected by IL-33 stimulation (19). Interestingly, both PPAR γ and ST2 are direct target genes of transcriptional factor BATF and IRF4, which are induced by TCR signaling (17, 19). Some factors regulate VAT Treg cells indirectly by modulating either the production or function of IL-33. IL-17 secreted by $\gamma\delta$ T cells promotes production of IL-33 from stromal cells to sustain VAT Treg cells (54), while production of IFN γ from Th1 cells could inhibit IL-33 signaling to decrease the proliferation of adipose-resident Treg cells (24). Besides IL-33, other cytokines can also act directly on Treg cells in VAT. IL-2, produced by regulatory iNKT cells, can regulates VAT Treg cell enrichment (64). IL-21, production of which is regulated by STAT3 through an autocrine positive-feedback loop (69), negatively regulates IRF4 to decrease Treg cells (63).

REGULATION OF ADIPOSE-RESIDENT TREG CELLS IN PHYSIOLOGICAL AND PATHOLOGICAL PROCESSES

In accordance with the important function of adipose-resident Treg cells, they have been described as a highly dynamic population in physiological and pathological processes. A growing number of studies have investigated the regulation of adipose-resident Treg cells under healthy and disease conditions in both humans and mice. These studies help us to better understand the critical role of adipose-resident Treg cells in metabolic diseases, and have identified potential pathways for specific manipulation of adipose-resident Treg cells to improve metabolic homeostasis.

Age

In lean male mice, VAT Treg cells increase between 5 and 25 weeks of age, then drop rapidly at 40 weeks of age, while splenic Treg cells remain unchanged (10, 14). Consistently, the transcriptional profiles of VAT Treg cells from mice at different ages revealed age-dependent evolution of VAT Treg cell signatures, and demonstrated that numeric changes in VAT Treg cells coincided with functional skewing in aging mice (14). Aging leads to the development of insulin resistance. The decrease of VAT Treg cells with aging is accompanied by a decline in insulin sensitivity, suggesting a protective role of VAT Treg cells in agingassociated insulin resistance (14). Another study showed that the accumulation of VAT Treg cells mainly occurred at age of 4-9 months and declined with further aging at 15 months of age (49). These studies support the idea that development and accumulation of VAT Treg cells are dependent on age and aging leads to the decline in their number. In contrast, a recent study reported a rise of VAT Treg cells in aging mice at age of 44 weeks vs. the young mice at age of 12 weeks (27), suggesting an opposite viewpoint. This discrepancy may be caused by different ways to define control and aging. If the mice at 12 weeks of age are defined as controls, in which the VAT Treg percentage is quite low ($\sim 10\%$ of CD4⁺ T cells), we will easily conclude that aging mice (any mice beyond 12 weeks of age) have increased VAT Treg cells. However, if we define the mice at the age of 25 weeks as controls, which are still young and in which the VAT Treg cells reach the peak (\sim 50% of CD4⁺ Tells), we will conclude that aging mice (any mice beyond 25 weeks of age) have decreased VAT Treg cells. Thus, as to the age-dependent VAT Treg cell accumulation, it is likely that all these studies are correct and different controls lead to different



FIGURE 1 Regulation of Treg cell in mouse VAT. (**A**) In lean mice, healthy adipose tissue is enriched with anti-inflammatory Treg cells. TCR:Antigen recognition and IL-33 signaling are required for the development and accumulation of Treg cells in VAT. The TCR signaling triggered by MHCII complex provided by ATMs up-regulates transcription factors IRF4 and BATF, both of which directly control expression of *ll1rl1* (ST2) and *Pparg* in VAT Treg cells. *Pparg* is the key transcription factor contributing to the unique gene expression profile and phenotype of VAT Treg cells. ST2, encoded by *ll1rl1* gene, is the receptor for IL-33 mediated signaling which promotes proliferation of VAT Treg cells through the adaptor protein MyD88. IL-33 also induces VAT Treg cells indirectly by interactions between Treg ICOS and ILC2 ICOSL. IL-33 is mainly produced by stromal cells and its production is dependent on IL-17A derived from γ^δ T cells. Regulatory iNKT cells also regulate VAT Treg enrichment by production of IL-2. (**B**) In obese mice, the frequency and number of VAT Treg are drastically reduced. IL-6, which is over-produced by adipocytes and M1-like ATMs in obese mice, suppresses VAT Treg generation by activation of STAT3. IL-21 is overexpressed in obese adipose tissue and reduces VAT Treg cells by down-regulation of IRF4. As obesity develops, adipocytes express more leptin, which in conjuction with MHCII expression by adipocytes, stimulates Th1 cell activation. IFN_Y produced by Th1 cells strongly inhibits VAT Treg accumulation by IL-33. Obesity is accompanied by hyperinsulinemia. In obesity, the function of Treg cells is impaired by insulin via AKT/mTOR activation.

conclusions. The investigations on the mechanisms underlying age-dependent VAT Treg cell development and accumulation lead to identification of many key regulators of VAT Treg cells, which were discussed in the above section of "regulators of adipose-resident Treg cells." The effects of aging on Treg cells in SAT and BAT are still unclear and the data on age-dependent adipose-resident Treg cell accumulation in humans is currently unavailable.

Cold Stimulation

Young lean BALB/c mice (3–6 weeks of age) showed selective accumulation of Treg cells in BAT and SAT, but not in VAT (13). Cold exposure (4°C, 24 h) or beta-adrenergic stimulation increased Treg cell frequencies in all three fat depots; however, accumulation was more efficient in BAT and SAT (13). A T cell-specific STAT6/Pten axis has been suggested to link cold exposure or ADRB3 stimulation with Foxp3⁺ Treg cells induction and adipose tissue function (13). C17orf59, a negative regulator of mTORC1 (70), was induced downstream of STAT6 and mediated Treg cell induction in adipose tissue in response to cold exposure (13). Although the *Adrb3* gene had been reported to be expressed

in human lymphocytes (71), it is still unknown if exposure to cold enhances Treg cell induction in human adipose tissue.

Obesity

Obesity-induced adipose inflammation is in part characterized by the imbalance of local pro-inflammatory T cells and Treg cells, thereby causing obesity-associated metabolic abnormalities. In male mice, it is quite clear that VAT Treg cells are down-regulated in obesity. In a seminal study, Feuerer et al. reported that the frequency and number of VAT Treg cells were dramatically reduced in three mouse models of obesity, including ob/ob mice, Ay/a obese mice, and HFD-induced obese mice, while SAT and splenic Treg cell frequencies were not affected (10). The VAT-specific reduction of Treg cells in obese mice was recently confirmed by another study (14). In addition to reduction in frequencies, the phenotype and function of VAT Treg cells were also influenced by obesity. The transcriptional profiles of VAT Treg cells from either HFD-induced or ob/ob obese mice were significantly different from those of lean mice (14). Some of these differentially expressed genes are important for maintaining the phenotype and function of VAT Treg cells. For example, the

expression levels of IL-10 (a key anti-inflammatory cytokine representing Treg cell function) and ST2 (IL-33 receptor, a key receptor defining VAT Treg cells) were substantially reduced in VAT Treg cells, but not in splenic Treg cells isolated from obese mice (19, 65). The transcriptome changes of VAT Treg cells provoked by obesity were thought to be mediated by activation of Cdk5, which deactivated PPARy through phosphorylation of serine residue 273 (Ser273] (14). While studies in male mice led to the conclusion that obesity decreased the number and changed the transcriptome of VAT Treg cells, the observation did not extend to female mice. In a model of HFD-induced obesity, VAT Treg cells increased proportionally with increase of fat tissue in female, but not in male mice. Accordingly, female mice were better at maintaining metabolic homeostasis, unlike male mice of similar weight, which developed hyperinsulinemia (72). These findings imply that Treg cells can be affected in either a direct or indirect fashion by sexual hormones. Nevertheless, the mechanisms behind the difference in obesity-induced changes of VAT Treg cells between male and female mice are unclear and warrant further investigation. Moreover, the effects of obesity on SAT and BAT Treg cells have not been addressed and remain unknown.

The mechanisms underlying obesity-induced downregulation of VAT Treg cells in male mice is not fully understood (Figure 1B). IL-21 and STAT3 may be involved in this process. Both IL-21 and STAT3 have been found to be elevated in VAT of mice fed a HFD (63, 66). The mice lacking IL-21 or mice with specific deletion of STAT3 in T cells fed with HFD showed an increase of VAT Treg cells and an improvement of adipose inflammation and insulin sensitivity, suggesting an important role for IL-21 and STAT3 signaling in regulating VAT Treg cells in obesity (63, 66). However, these genetically modified mice were resistant to HFD-induced obesity (63, 66), raising the possibility that the increase of VAT Treg cells is caused by weight loss in these mice, since the abundance of VAT Treg cells is negatively correlated with adiposity in mice. Thus, it is still questionable whether STAT3 and IL-21 have a direct inhibitory effect on VAT Treg cell accumulation in an obese state.

More recently, direct TCR ligation by MHCII expressed by adipocytes was shown to mediate IFN γ production from Th1 cells, which resulted in reduction of VAT Treg cells in obese mice. Obesity increased MHCII expression in adipocytes, while deletion of MHCII specifically in adipocytes (aMHCII^{-/-}) led to a decrease of adipose IFN γ expression, an increase of VAT Treg cell abundance and reduced insulin resistance without any changes in weight gain in obese mice. IFN γ treatment effectively blocked IL-33-induced VAT Treg cell proliferation and ST2 expression, whereas HFD-fed IFN γ R1^{-/-} mice had similarly high levels of Treg cells in adipose tissue, as did aMHCII^{-/-} mice, and were more insulin sensitive (24). These results suggested a critical role for adipocyte MHCII in the obesityinduced adipose T cell subset switch and insulin resistance.

Although almost all the data from animal models show a decrease in VAT Treg cells in obesity, their regulation by obesity in humans is controversial (**Table 1**). In most human studies, given that the samples were frozen and cannot be analyzed by flow cytometry, the Foxp3 mRNA levels, presumably an

indicator of Treg cells, were determined by quantitative PCR. Consistent to results obtained from mouse models, a human study showed a decrease of Foxp3 gene expression in VAT in obese subjects when compared with lean controls (73). In obese subjects, Foxp3 mRNA levels were higher in SAT than in VAT, and the relative drop in Treg cells in VAT vs. SAT was positively correlated with BMI, suggesting that VAT Treg cells are negatively correlated with obesity in humans (10). In addition, in a cohort of overweight or obese patients, VAT Treg cell number was found to be inversely correlated with plasma fasting glucose and positively correlated with homeostasis model assessment (HOMA)- β (74). These results suggested that consistent with mouse studies, VAT Treg cells in humans are negatively affected by obesity, and have an important role in maintaining glucose. In contrast, several other quantitative PCR-based studies reported an increase of Foxp3 expression and Foxp3/CD3ɛ ratio in both SAT and VAT in obese subjects (75-77). Frequency of Treg cells measured by flow cytometry analysis was also higher in VAT of obese subjects (78). Moreover, in metabolically healthy obese subjects (MHOS), Foxp3 expression in SAT and VAT were increased as well (79). Analogous to mouse studies, it appears that there is a gender difference in human VAT Treg cell accumulation in obesity. Analysis of CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ or CD8⁻Foxp3⁺ cells showed no difference between overweight and lean female subjects (80). It is important to consider, however, that the inconsistency in results from human studies could be due not only to gender, but also differences in race and age among the cohorts used in the studies. It is also notable that in many studies the Treg cell abundance was indicated by Foxp3 mRNA levels, which is not an ideal indicator of Treg cells because Foxp3 is expressed by a significant proportion of non-Treg cells in humans (81). Additionally, almost all the current human studies recruited limited number of subjects (N = 2-44), which may also affect the accuracy of the conclusions drawn. To clarify the regulation of adipose-resident Treg cells in humans, it will be necessary to perform more in-depth analyses on Treg cells from fresh adipose tissue obtained from larger cohorts.

THE THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF ADIPOSE-RESIDENT TREG CELLS IN OBESITY-ASSOCIATED DISEASES

Obesity and its related metabolic diseases have been considered as chronic inflammatory diseases. As one of the most potent anti-inflammatory immune cells, Treg cells have been tested as targets for the treatment of many inflammation-related diseases (82). Accumulating evidence shows that modulation of Treg cells, especially VAT Treg cells, represents a potential new strategy for the treatment of obesity-associated diseases (**Table 2**).

Adoptive transfer of CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ Treg cells into db/db mice increased Treg cell numbers in VAT and significantly improved insulin sensitivity (22). Other strategies have focused on Treg cell induction *in vivo*. Brief treatment with the mitogenic CD3-specific antibody in HFD-fed C57BL/6 and leptin deficient ob/ob obese mice restored Treg cells numbers in VAT, thereby greatly improving glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity (83).

Subject	Sex	Mean Age (year)	Tissue	Method	Main findings	References
Control subjects (BMI <30 kg/m ² , n = 7) and obese subjects without overt type 2 diabetes (BMI \ge 30 kg/m ² , $n = 13$)	No data available	No data available	VAT	Real-time quantitative PCR (Foxp3)	Foxp3 gene expression was lower in VAT in obese subjects compared to control subjects.	(73)
Obese subjects (BMI: 30 to 39.9 kg/m ² , $n = 2$) and morbidly obese subjects (BMI >40 kg/m ² , $n = 9$)	Male and female	No data available	VAT and SAT	Real-time quantitative PCR (Foxp3)	The frequency of Treg cells in VAT vs. SAT was negatively correlated with BMI.	(10)
Overweight subjects (BMI \geq 25 kg/m ² , $n =$ 44)	Male and female	41.5	VAT and SAT	Flow cytometry	VAT Treg cells were negatively correlated with fasting glucose and MCP-1 and positively correlated with HOMA-β.	(74)
Waist circumferences in lean (<94 cm, $n = 10$), overweight (94–102 cm, $n = 10$) and obese (>102 cm, $n = 10$)	Male	Lean: 43.5, overweight: 48 and obese: 45.2	SAT	Real-time quantitative PCR (Foxp3)	Foxp3 gene expression was higher in SAT in obese subjects compared to control subjects.	(75)
Control subjects (BMI: 17.6 to 26.7 kg/m ² , $n = 15$) and obese subjects (BMI: 38.7 to 66.0 kg/m ² , $n = 36$)	Female	Lean: 41.5 and obese: 45.2	VAT and SAT	Real-time quantitative PCR (Foxp3)	Foxp3 gene expression was higher in both VAT and SAT, and the proportion of Treg cells was increased in SAT in obese subjects compared to control subjects	(76)
Control subjects (BMI <30 kg/m ² , n = 20) and highly obese subjects (BMI >40 kg/m ² , $n = 20$)	Male and female	No data available	VAT and SAT	Real-time quantitative PCR (Foxp3)	Foxp3 gene expression and the proportion of Treg cells were increased in VAT and SAT in obese subjects compared to control subjects.	(77)
Control subjects (BMI: 18 to 24.9 kg/m ² , $n = 16$) and obese subjects (BMI \ge 30 kg/m ² , $n = 15$)	Male and female	Lean: 46.07 and obese: 32.83	VAT	Flow cytometry	The frequency of Treg cells was increased in VAT in obese subjects compared to control subjects and the frequency was positively correlated with BMI.	(78)
Control subjects (BMI <25 kg/m ² , n = 15) and highly obese subjects (BMI >40 kg/m ² , $n = 16$)	Male and female	27–55	VAT and SAT	Real-time quantitative PCR (Foxp3)	Foxp3 gene expression was increased in both VAT and SAT, and its expression in SAT was positively correlated with weight and BMI, while its expression in VAT was positively correlated with BMI and body fat percentages.	(79)
Control subjects (BMI <25 kg/m ² , n = 11) and overweight subjects (BMI >25 kg/m ² , $n = 15$)	Female	38.7	Adipose tissue	Flow cytometry	No difference in the percentage of Treg cells between overweight and control subjects.	(80)

Consistently, injection of the non-mitogenic F(ab')2 fragment of CD3-specific antibody into obese mice restored Treg cells in VAT, which was accompanied by a long-term improvement in glucose tolerance (83). Similarly, oral administration of anti-CD3 antibody in conjunction with oral GC in ob/ob obese mice increased Foxp3⁺ T cells and decreased CD11b⁺F4/80⁺ macrophages in adipose tissue, resulting in decreased adipose inflammation and reversal of insulin resistance (23). In addition, expansion of Treg cells in VAT by administration of IL-2 and IL-2-specific monoclonal antibody complex (10) or recombinant IL-33 (50, 51) improved adipose inflammation and insulin resistance in obese mice. All these studies indicated that modulation of VAT Treg cells has a strong potential for treatment of obesityassociated insulin resistance, and provided the rationale to identify new therapeutic targets and develop novel reagents capable of inducing Treg cells in adipose tissues.

In-vivo administration of β 3 adrenergic receptor agonist CL-316243, which was once used for treatment of obesity and type 2 diabetes (92), enhanced abundance of Foxp3⁺ CD4⁺ T cells in inguinal lymph nodes as well as in adipose tissues, including BAT, SAT, and VAT (13). Other studies found that male mice treated with TUG89, a selective free fatty acid receptor 4 agonist, or resveratrol after being subjected to sleep fragmentation (SF) exposure showed a reversion of SF-associated low M2/M1 ratio, an increase in Treg cell fraction in VAT and improvement of VAT inflammation and insulin resistance (84, 85). Oral administration with y-aminobutyric acid in HFD-fed mice significantly increased the frequency of Treg cells and reduced infiltration of macrophages in adipose tissues, which correlated with a decrease in fat mass and adipocyte size, improved glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity (86). Surprisingly, C57BL/6 and ob/ob mice fed with 5% Eicosapentaenoic acid mixed into chow
Strategy	Subject	Mechanism	Changes in Metabolic parameters	References
Adoptive Treg cells transfer	db/db mice	Upregulate Foxp3 expression in mVAT; decrease the percentage of pro-inflammatory mVAT-infiltrating CD8 ⁺ CD69 ⁺ effector T cells	Decrease blood glucose levels and mVAT cell diameter; improve insulin sensitivity	(22)
Injection of mitogenic αCD3 anti-T cell antibody	HFD-fed C57BL/6 mice and ob/ob mice	Restore Treg cell numbers in VAT	Improve glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity; lose weight transiently	(83)
Injection of the non-mitogenic $F(ab')2$ fragment of $\alpha CD3$	HFD-fed C57BL/6 mice	Restore Treg cell numbers in VAT; increase the MMR ^{hi} pool and reduce the MMR ⁻ pool; generate an increase in IL-10	Improve glucose tolerance and fasting insulin level	(83)
Oral anti-CD3 in conjunction with oral GC	ob/ob mice	Increase Foxp3 ⁺ T cells in adipose tissue; decrease CD11b ⁺ F4/80 ⁺ monocytes in adipose tissue	Reduce the level of glucose; reduce pancreatic hyperplasia and hepatic fat accumulation	(23)
Injection of IL-2 and IL-2-specific monoclonal antibody complex	HFD-fed C57BL/6 mice	Increase the fraction of Treg cells in the abdominal fat and spleen	Improve glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity	(10)
Injection of rIL-33	HFD-fed C57BL/6 mice	Reverse the reduction of Treg cells in obese VAT; reduce VAT inflammation	Reduce fasting glycemia and insulin resistance.	(50)
Treatment with recombinant IL-33	ob/ob mice	Induce accumulation of Th2 cytokines and Th2 cells in WAT; improve differentiation of M2 macrophages in both adipose and liver	Decrease VAT weight and body fat; reduce adipocyte size and blood glucose levels; improve insulin sensitivity	(51)
ADRβ3 stimulation <i>in vivo</i> with the β3 receptor agonist CL-316243 (CL)	BALB/c Foxp3-GFP reporter mice	Enhance Foxp3 abundance in CD4 $^+$ T cells from lymph nodes as well as fat tissue	No data available	(13)
Treatment with TUG891	Male mice subjected to SF exposures	Reduce M1/M2 ratios; increase the number of Treg cells in VAT; attenuate VAT inflammation	Reduce food consumption, weight gain and VAT mass; prevent insulin residence	(84)
Treatment with resveratrol (Resv)	Male mice subjected to SF or sleep control conditions	Attenuate the increase of M1 and decrease of M2 induced by SF; abrogate SF-induced reduction in Treg cells; attenuate VAT inflammation	Abrogate the increased fasting insulin and leptin levels associated with SF; attenuate insulin resistance	(85)
Oral Treatment with γ-Aminobutyric Acid	HFD-fed C57BL/6 mice	Increase the frequency of CD4 + Foxp3 + Treg cells; reduce the infiltration of macrophage in the adipose tissues	Reduce fasting blood glucose; improve glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity; inhibit the gain in body weight	(86)
Oral treatment with EPA	C57BL/6/ mice and ob/ob mice	Increase the number of adipose tissue Treg cells	Lower the weight of body and adipose tissues in C57BL/6 mice	(87)
Oral treatment with pioglitazone	HFD-fed C57BL/6 mice	Enrich the fraction and number of Treg cells in epididymal adipose tissue; augment levels of CD36 on the surface of macrophages	Normalize systemic metabolic parameters, including insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance; increase the level of serum adiponectin	(11)
Oral administration of Akkermansia muciniphila	HFD-fed C57BL/6 mice	Induce Foxp3 Treg cells in the VAT; attenuate adipose tissue inflammation	Improve glucose tolerance; reduce the concentrations of insulin and leptin	(88)
Oral treatment of VAT mixture antigens	HFD-fed C57BL/6 mice	Restore decrease of VAT Treg cells; decrease CD8 ⁺ T cells infiltration in VAT; limit the switch of M2 to M1 macrophages	Inhibit the gain of body weight and fat mass; improve insulin sensitivity	(89)
Stimulating CD4 ⁺ CD25 ⁻ cells with the CD3/CD28 antibodies and IL-2/TGF- β	CD4 ⁺ CD25 ⁻ cells separated from the blood of children with MS or control	Convert conventional CD4 ⁺ CD25 ⁻ cells into Treg cells <i>in vitro</i>	No data available	(90)
Treating isolated Treg cells with EGCG	Treg cells isolated from normal-weight and obese subjects	Enhance the proliferation and IL-10 production of Treg cells <i>in vitro</i> ; decrease NF-kappaB activity; increase histone deacetylase (HDAC) activity and HDAC-2 expression in Treg cells	No data available	(91)

diet had an increase in the number of Treg cells in epididymal adipose tissues compared with control mice fed with normal chow. However, only C57BL/6 mice showed lowered body and adipose tissue weight than controls (87). Recently, it was reported that oral administration of thiazolidinediones (TZDs), PPAR γ agonists with insulin-sensitizing function, in HFD-fed mice

enhanced the fraction and number of Treg cells specifically in epididymal adipose tissue (11, 27). However, whether the insulinsensitizing effects of TZDs are dependent on the TZD-induced expansion of VAT Treg cells is still a matter of debate (11, 27).

In addition to conventional medicines, novel strategies have been tested to enhance VAT Treg cells and counteract

obesity-related metabolic disorders. A recent study reported that oral administration of Akkermansia muciniphila significantly induced Foxp3 Treg cells in the VAT, subsequently attenuated adipose tissue inflammation and improved glucose tolerance (88). Another study showed that oral treatment of VAT mixture antigens in HFD-fed C57BL/6J mice could not only restore the decrease of VAT Treg cells and reduce the infiltration of CD8⁺ T cells in VAT, but also limit M2-type macrophages changing into M1-type, thereby, reducing the gain of body weight and fat mass, as well as improving insulin sensitivity (89).

Most of the studies discussed so far were carried out in animal models, while only a limited number of studies were performed on human cells or in human subjects. The $CD4^+CD25^-$ cells isolated from the peripheral blood of children with metabolic syndrome (MS) can be converted into Treg cells *in vitro* by the treatment with the CD3/CD28 antibodies and IL-2/TGF- β , suggesting a viable source of functional Treg cells exists in children with MS (90). Another *in vitro* study found that treatment with epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) enhanced the proliferation and IL-10 production of Treg cells isolated from normal-weight and obese subjects (91). As EGCG is a potent anti-inflammatory agent from green tea, its effects on human Treg cells support an idea that dietary modulation of Treg cells could be a therapeutic strategy for patients with obesity.

Despite great potential benefits of expanding adipose tissue Treg cells, its clinical use is associated with possible risks. The major concern is that excessive Treg cell numbers may suppress the response to infection or promote tumor occurrence (93). Since metabolic diseases are chronic conditions, the treatment options are held to the highest standard for safety. The potential side effects may dampen the enthusiasm for Treg cell therapy in metabolic diseases. The majority of currently available approaches used to expand Treg cells *in vivo* promote systemic increase of Treg cells. Although PPAR γ agonist can induce Treg cells specifically in VAT, its unexpected side effects in heart and kidney limit its application. The ideal strategies should include identification of reagents that specifically promote adipose tissue resident Treg cells, or invention of delivery systems specifically targeting adipose tissue.

CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE OUTLOOKS

In recent years, the focus has shifted from lymphoid tissue to tissue resident Treg cells (9, 94). Among them, adipose-resident

REFERENCES

- Donath MY, Shoelson SE. Type 2 diabetes as an inflammatory disease. Nat Rev Immunol. (2011) 11:98–107. doi: 10.1038/nri2925
- Hotamisligil GS. Inflammation and metabolic disorders. Nature (2006) 444:860–7. doi: 10.1038/nature05485
- Ferrante AW Jr. The immune cells in adipose tissue. Diabetes Obes Metab. (2013) 15(Suppl 3):34–8. doi: 10.1111/dom.12154
- Mathis D. Immunological goings-on in visceral adipose tissue. Cell Metab. (2013) 17:851–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.05.008

Treg cell population is one of the best-characterized examples, which displays a unique phenotype. PPAR γ has been described to be a key regulator of VAT Treg cell in maintaining its accumulation, phenotype and function. In addition, the proliferation and maintenance of VAT Treg cells are also regulated by other immune cells and cytokines, such as adipose tissue macrophages, iNKT cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, and IL-33. In mice, VAT Treg cells are down-regulated by obesity and may serve as a decisive cell population in the pathogenesis of obesity-related metabolic disorders. Most mouse studies focused on adipose-resident Treg cells support their beneficial function in suppressing inflammation and promoting thermogenesis, suggesting a potential strategy for the treatment of obesity-related metabolic disorders.

However, many questions regarding adipose-resident Treg cell development, tissue accumulation and lineage maintenance still remain to be addressed. Here we highlight several questions that particularly intrigue us and are interesting realms to explore. What antigen(s) are recognized by VAT Treg cells and stimulate their expansion? How do adipose-resident Treg cells acquire the PPARy activity? Except PPARy, are there any other regulators that provide adipose-resident Treg cells with unique characteristics? What are the phenotypes and functions of adipose-resident Treg cells in the humans and how are they regulated and modified in human diseases? Finally, how can we specifically manipulate adipose-resident Treg cells? Better understanding of VAT resident Treg cells could be a new strategy to treat or prevent obesity and related metabolic diseases. Studies aimed to address these questions may ultimately represent a potential novel strategy for treating chronic inflammation and metabolic disorders.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TD conceived the manuscript. QZ, XS, and TD wrote the manuscript. TD, MB, ZX, and LX revised the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by NIH (1R01DK110184), NIH (R01AI125301), NSFC (81770868, 81400783 and 91742103), and Innovation-driven Project of CSU (2017CX011).

- Ooi JD, Petersen J, Tan YH, Huynh M, Willett ZJ, Ramarathinam SH, et al. Dominant protection from HLA-linked autoimmunity by antigen-specific regulatory T cells. *Nature* (2017) 545:243–7. doi: 10.1038/nature22329
- Bacher P, Heinrich F, Stervbo U, Nienen M, Vahldieck M, Iwert C, et al. Regulatory T cell specificity directs tolerance versus allergy against aeroantigens in humans. *Cell* (2016) 167:1067–78e16. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2016.09.050
- Arpaia N, Green JA, Moltedo B, Arvey A, Hemmers S, Yuan S, et al. A distinct function of regulatory T cells in tissue protection. *Cell* (2015) 162:1078–89. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.021

- Grinberg-Bleyer Y, Oh H, Desrichard A, Bhatt DM, Caron R, Chan TA, et al. NF-kappaB c-Rel is crucial for the regulatory T cell immune checkpoint in cancer. *Cell* (2017) 170:1096–108 e13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.08.004
- Panduro M, Benoist C, Mathis D. Tissue Tregs. Annu Rev Immunol. (2016) 34:609–33. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-095948
- Feuerer M, Herrero L, Cipolletta D, Naaz A, Wong J, Nayer A, et al. Lean, but not obese, fat is enriched for a unique population of regulatory T cells that affect metabolic parameters. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:930–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.2002
- Cipolletta D, Feuerer M, Li A, Kamei N, Lee J, Shoelson SE, et al. PPAR-gamma is a major driver of the accumulation and phenotype of adipose tissue Treg cells. *Nature* (2012) 486:549–53. doi: 10.1038/nature11132
- Medrikova D, Sijmonsma TP, Sowodniok K, Richards DM, Delacher M, Sticht C, et al. Brown adipose tissue harbors a distinct sub-population of regulatory T cells. *PloS ONE* (2015) 10:e0118534. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0118534
- Kalin S, Becker M, Ott VB, Serr I, Hosp F, Mollah MMH, et al. A Stat6/Pten axis links regulatory T cells with adipose tissue function. *Cell Metab.* (2017) 26:475–92 e7. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.08.008
- Cipolletta D, Cohen P, Spiegelman BM, Benoist C, Mathis D. Appearance and disappearance of the mRNA signature characteristic of Treg cells in visceral adipose tissue: age, diet, and PPARgamma effects. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:482–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1423486112
- Chen W, Jin W, Hardegen N, Lei KJ, Li L, Marinos N, et al. Conversion of peripheral CD4+CD25- naive T cells to CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by TGF-beta induction of transcription factor Foxp3. J Exp Med. (2003) 198:1875–86. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030152
- Pacholczyk R, Ignatowicz H, Kraj P, Ignatowicz L. Origin and T cell receptor diversity of Foxp3+CD4+CD25+ T cells. *Immunity* (2006) 25:249–59. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2006.05.016
- Kolodin D, van Panhuys N, Li C, Magnuson AM, Cipolletta D, Miller CM, et al. Antigen- and cytokine-driven accumulation of regulatory T cells in visceral adipose tissue of lean mice. *Cell Metab.* (2015) 21:543–57. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.03.005
- Li C, DiSpirito JR, Zemmour D, Spallanzani RG, Kuswanto W, Benoist C, et al. TCR transgenic mice reveal stepwise, multi-site acquisition of the distinctive fat-Treg phenotype. *Cell* (2018) 174:285–99 e12. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.05.004
- Vasanthakumar A, Moro K, Xin A, Liao Y, Gloury R, Kawamoto S, et al. The transcriptional regulators IRF4, BATF and IL-33 orchestrate development and maintenance of adipose tissue-resident regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:276–85. doi: 10.1038/ni.3085
- Hotamisligil GS. Inflammation, metaflammation and immunometabolic disorders. *Nature* (2017) 542:177–85. doi: 10.1038/nature21363
- Lumeng CN, Saltiel AR. Inflammatory links between obesity and metabolic disease. J Clin Invest. (2011) 121:2111–7. doi: 10.1172/JCI57132
- 22. Eller K, Kirsch A, Wolf AM, Sopper S, Tagwerker A, Stanzl U, et al. Potential role of regulatory T cells in reversing obesity-linked insulin resistance and diabetic nephropathy. *Diabetes* (2011) 60:2954–62. doi: 10.2337/db11-0358
- Ilan Y, Maron R, Tukpah AM, Maioli TU, Murugaiyan G, Yang K, et al. Induction of regulatory T cells decreases adipose inflammation and alleviates insulin resistance in ob/ob mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:9765–70. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0908771107
- Deng T, Liu J, Deng Y, Minze L, Xiao X, Wright V, et al. Adipocyte adaptive immunity mediates diet-induced adipose inflammation and insulin resistance by decreasing adipose Treg cells. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:15725. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15725
- Yang M, Su L, Tao Q, Zhang C, Wu Y, Liu J. Depletion of regulatory T cells in visceral adipose tissues contributes to insulin resistance in Hashimoto's Thyroiditis. *Front Physiol.* (2018) 9:136. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00136
- Matsumoto A, Taniguchi K, Takeda N, Yamamura KI, Arai S, Miyazaki T. Inflammatory and anti-inflammatory states of adipose tissue in transgenic mice bearing a single TCR. *Int Immunol.* (2017) 29:21–30. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxx003
- Bapat SP, Myoung Suh J, Fang S, Liu S, Zhang Y, Cheng A, et al. Depletion of fat-resident Treg cells prevents age-associated insulin resistance. *Nature* (2015) 528:137–41. doi: 10.1038/nature16151
- Issemann I, Green S. Activation of a member of the steroid hormone receptor superfamily by peroxisome proliferators. *Nature* (1990) 347:645–50. doi: 10.1038/347645a0

- Dreyer C, Krey G, Keller H, Givel F, Helftenbein G, Wahli W. Control of the peroxisomal beta-oxidation pathway by a novel family of nuclear hormone receptors. *Cell* (1992) 68:879–87.
- Tontonoz P, Hu E, Graves RA, Budavari AI, Spiegelman BM. mPPAR gamma
 tissue-specific regulator of an adipocyte enhancer. *Genes Dev.* (1994) 8:1224–34.
- Chawla A, Repa JJ, Evans RM, Mangelsdorf DJ. Nuclear receptors and lipid physiology: opening the X-files. *Science* (2001) 294:1866–70. doi: 10.1126/science.294.5548.1866
- 32. Ouchi N, Parker JL, Lugus JJ, Walsh K. Adipokines in inflammation and metabolic disease. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2011) 11:85–97. doi: 10.1038/nri2921
- Szanto A, Nagy L. The many faces of PPARgamma: anti-inflammatory by any means? *Immunobiology* (2008) 213:789–803. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2008.07.015
- 34. Tontonoz P, Spiegelman BM. Fat and beyond: the diverse biology of PPARgamma. Annu Rev Biochem. (2008) 77:289–312. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.77.061307.091829
- Hontecillas R, Bassaganya-Riera J. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma is required for regulatory CD4(+) T cell-mediated protection against colitis. J Immunol. (2007) 178:2940–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.5.2940
- Wohlfert EA, Nichols FC, Nevius E, Clark RB. Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma (PPARgamma) and immunoregulation: enhancement of regulatory T cells through PPARgamma-dependent and -independent mechanisms. J Immunol. (2007) 178:4129–35. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.7.4129
- Choi JH, Banks AS, Estall JL, Kajimura S, Bostrom P, Laznik D, et al. Antidiabetic drugs inhibit obesity-linked phosphorylation of PPARgamma by Cdk5. *Nature* (2010) 466:451–6. doi: 10.1038/nature09291
- Garlanda C, Dinarello CA, Mantovani A. The interleukin-1 family: back to the future. *Immunity* (2013) 39:1003–18. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.11.010
- Schmitz J, Owyang A, Oldham E, Song Y, Murphy E, McClanahan TK, et al. IL-33, an interleukin-1-like cytokine that signals via the IL-1 receptor-related protein ST2 and induces T helper type 2-associated cytokines. *Immunity* (2005) 23:479–90. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2005.09.015
- 40. Moussion C, Ortega N, Girard JP. The IL-1-like cytokine IL-33 is constitutively expressed in the nucleus of endothelial cells and epithelial cells *in vivo*: a novel 'alarmin'? *PLoS ONE* (2008) 3:e3331. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003331
- Pichery M, Mirey E, Mercier P, Lefrancais E, Dujardin A, Ortega N, et al. Endogenous IL-33 is highly expressed in mouse epithelial barrier tissues, lymphoid organs, brain, embryos, and inflamed tissues: in situ analysis using a novel Il-33-LacZ gene trap reporter strain. *J Immunol.* (2012) 188:3488–95. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101977
- Baekkevold ES, Roussigne M, Yamanaka T, Johansen FE, Jahnsen FL, Amalric F, et al. Molecular characterization of NF-HEV, a nuclear factor preferentially expressed in human high endothelial venules. *Am J Pathol.* (2003) 163:69–79. doi: 10.1016/S0002-944063631-0
- Marvie P, Lisbonne M, L'Helgoualc'h A, Rauch M, Turlin B, Preisser L, et al. Interleukin-33 overexpression is associated with liver fibrosis in mice and humans. J Cell Mol Med. (2010) 14:1726–39. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00801.x
- 44. Carlock CI, Wu J, Zhou C, Tatum K, Adams HP, Tan F, et al. Unique temporal and spatial expression patterns of IL-33 in ovaries during ovulation and estrous cycle are associated with ovarian tissue homeostasis. *J Immunol.* (2014) 193:161–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400381
- Bessa J, Meyer CA, de Vera Mudry MC, Schlicht S, Smith SH, Iglesias A, et al. Altered subcellular localization of IL-33 leads to non-resolving lethal inflammation. *J Autoimmun*. (2014) 55:33–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2014. 02.012
- Talabot-Ayer D, Martin P, Vesin C, Seemayer CA, Vigne S, Gabay C, et al. Severe neutrophil-dominated inflammation and enhanced myelopoiesis in IL-33-overexpressing CMV/IL33 mice. *J Immunol.* (2015) 194:750–60. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1402057
- Molofsky AB, Savage AK, Locksley RM. Interleukin-33 in tissue homeostasis, injury, and inflammation. *Immunity* (2015) 42:1005–19. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.06.006
- Schiering C, Krausgruber T, Chomka A, Frohlich A, Adelmann K, Wohlfert EA, et al. The alarmin IL-33 promotes regulatory T-cell function in the intestine. *Nature* (2014) 513:564–8. doi: 10.1038/nature13577

- Molofsky AB, Van Gool F, Liang HE, Van Dyken SJ, Nussbaum JC, Lee J, et al. Interleukin-33 and Interferon-gamma counter-regulate group 2 innate lymphoid cell activation during immune perturbation. *Immunity* (2015) 43:161–74. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.05.019
- Han JM, Wu D, Denroche HC, Yao Y, Verchere CB, Levings MK. IL-33 Reverses an obesity-induced deficit in visceral adipose tissue ST2+ T regulatory cells and ameliorates adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance. J Immunol. (2015) 194:4777–83. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1500020
- Miller AM, Asquith DL, Hueber AJ, Anderson LA, Holmes WM, McKenzie AN, et al. Interleukin-33 induces protective effects in adipose tissue inflammation during obesity in mice. *Circ Res.* (2010) 107:650–8. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.218867
- Turnquist HR, Zhao Z, Rosborough BR, Liu Q, Castellaneta A, Isse K, et al. IL-33 expands suppressive CD11b+ Gr-1(int) and regulatory T cells, including ST2L+ Foxp3+ cells, and mediates regulatory T cell-dependent promotion of cardiac allograft survival. *J Immunol.* (2011) 187:4598–610. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1100519
- Kuswanto W, Burzyn D, Panduro M, Wang KK, Jang YC, Wagers AJ, et al. Poor repair of skeletal muscle in aging mice reflects a defect in local, interleukin-33-dependent accumulation of regulatory T cells. *Immunity* (2016) 44:355–67. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.01.009
- Kohlgruber AC, Gal-Oz ST, LaMarche NM, Shimazaki M, Duquette D, Nguyen HN, et al. gammadelta T cells producing interleukin-17A regulate adipose regulatory T cell homeostasis and thermogenesis. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:464–74. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0094-2
- Fooksman DR. Organizing MHC Class II Presentation. Front Immunol. (2014) 5:158. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00158
- Meijer K, de Vries M, Al-Lahham S, Bruinenberg M, Weening D, Dijkstra M, et al. Human primary adipocytes exhibit immune cell function: adipocytes prime inflammation independent of macrophages. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e17154. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017154
- Deng T, Lyon CJ, Minze LJ, Lin J, Zou J, Liu JZ, et al. Class II major histocompatibility complex plays an essential role in obesity-induced adipose inflammation. *Cell Metab.* (2013) 17:411–22. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.02.009
- Cho KW, Morris DL, DelProposto JL, Geletka L, Zamarron B, Martinez-Santibanez G, et al. An MHC II-dependent activation loop between adipose tissue macrophages and CD4+ T cells controls obesity-induced inflammation. *Cell Rep.* (2014) 9:605–17. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.09.004
- Zhong J, Rao X, Braunstein Z, Taylor A, Narula V, Hazey J, et al. T-cell costimulation protects obesity-induced adipose inflammation and insulin resistance. *Diabetes* (2014) 63:1289–302. doi: 10.2337/db13-1094
- Chatzigeorgiou A, Chung KJ, Garcia-Martin R, Alexaki VI, Klotzsche-von Ameln A, Phieler J, et al. Dual role of B7 costimulation in obesity-related nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and metabolic dysregulation. *Hepatology* (2014) 60:1196–210. doi: 10.1002/hep.27233
- Zeng M, Guinet E, Nouri-Shirazi M. B7-1 and B7-2 differentially control peripheral homeostasis of CD4(+)CD25(+)Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells. *Transpl Immunol.* (2009) 20:171–9. doi: 10.1016/j.trim.2008.09.009
- Onodera T, Fukuhara A, Jang MH, Shin J, Aoi K, Kikuta J, et al. Adipose tissue macrophages induce PPARgamma-high FOXP3(+) regulatory T cells. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:16801. doi: 10.1038/srep16801
- 63. Fabrizi M, Marchetti V, Mavilio M, Marino A, Casagrande V, Cavalera M, et al. IL-21 is a major negative regulator of IRF4-dependent lipolysis affecting Tregs in adipose tissue and systemic insulin sensitivity. *Diabetes* (2014) 63:2086–96. doi: 10.2337/db13-0939
- 64. Lynch L, Michelet X, Zhang S, Brennan PJ, Moseman A, Lester C, et al. Regulatory iNKT cells lack expression of the transcription factor PLZF and control the homeostasis of T(reg) cells and macrophages in adipose tissue. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:85–95. doi: 10.1038/ni.3047
- Han JM, Patterson SJ, Speck M, Ehses JA, Levings MK. Insulin inhibits IL-10-mediated regulatory T cell function: implications for obesity. *J Immunol.* (2014) 192:623–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302181
- Priceman SJ, Kujawski M, Shen S, Cherryholmes GA, Lee H, Zhang C, et al. Regulation of adipose tissue T cell subsets by Stat3 is crucial for diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:13079–84. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1311557110
- Shevach EM. Application of IL-2 therapy to target T regulatory cell function. *Trends Immunol.* (2012) 33:626–32. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2012.07.007

- Hill JA, Feuerer M, Tash K, Haxhinasto S, Perez J, Melamed R, et al. Foxp3 transcription-factor-dependent and -independent regulation of the regulatory T cell transcriptional signature. *Immunity* (2007) 27:786–800. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.09.010
- Caprioli F, Sarra M, Caruso R, Stolfi C, Fina D, Sica G, et al. Autocrine regulation of IL-21 production in human T lymphocytes. *J Immunol.* (2008) 180:1800–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.3.1800
- Schweitzer LD, Comb WC, Bar-Peled L, Sabatini DM. Disruption of the Rag-Ragulator Complex by c17orf59 Inhibits mTORC1. *Cell Rep.* (2015) 12:1445–55. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.07.052
- Yu XY, Lin SG, Wang XM, Liu Y, Zhang B, Lin QX, et al. Evidence for coexistence of three beta-adrenoceptor subtypes in human peripheral lymphocytes. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* (2007) 81:654–8. doi: 10.1038/sj.clpt.6100154
- Pettersson US, Walden TB, Carlsson PO, Jansson L, Phillipson M. Female mice are protected against high-fat diet induced metabolic syndrome and increase the regulatory T cell population in adipose tissue. *PloS ONE* (2012) 7:e46057. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0046057
- Deiuliis J, Shah Z, Shah N, Needleman B, Mikami D, Narula V, et al. Visceral adipose inflammation in obesity is associated with critical alterations in tregulatory cell numbers. *PloS ONE* (2011) 6:e16376. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016376
- 74. Gyllenhammer LE, Lam J, Alderete TL, Allayee H, Akbari O, Katkhouda N, et al. Lower omental t-regulatory cell count is associated with higher fasting glucose and lower beta-cell function in adults with obesity. *Obesity* (2016) 24:1274–82. doi: 10.1002/oby.21507
- Travers RL, Motta AC, Betts JA, Bouloumie A, Thompson D. The impact of adiposity on adipose tissue-resident lymphocyte activation in humans. *Int J Obes.* (2015) 39:762–9. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2014.195
- 76. Wolowczuk I, Hennart B, Leloire A, Bessede A, Soichot M, Taront S, et al. Tryptophan metabolism activation by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in adipose tissue of obese women: an attempt to maintain immune homeostasis and vascular tone. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol.* (2012) 303:R135–43. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00373.2011
- Zeyda M, Huber J, Prager G, Stulnig TM. Inflammation correlates with markers of T-cell subsets including regulatory T cells in adipose tissue from obese patients. *Obesity* (2011) 19:743–8. doi: 10.1038/oby.201 0.123
- Donninelli G, Del Corno M, Pierdominici M, Scazzocchio B, Vari R, Varano B, et al. Distinct blood and visceral adipose tissue regulatory t cell and innate lymphocyte profiles characterize obesity and colorectal cancer. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:643. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00643
- Pereira S, Teixeira L, Aguilar E, Oliveira M, Savassi-Rocha A, Pelaez JN, et al. Modulation of adipose tissue inflammation by FOXP3+ Treg cells, IL-10, and TGF-beta in metabolically healthy class III obese individuals. *Nutrition* (2014) 30:784–90. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2013.11.023
- Nunez Ruiz A, Cortes-Garcia JD, Cortez-Espinosa N, Herrera-Rojas PI, Ruiz-Rodriguez VM, Salgado-Bustamante M, et al. Diminished levels of regulatory T cell subsets (CD8+Foxp3, CD4+Foxp3 and CD4+CD39+Foxp3) but increased Foxp3 expression in adipose tissue from overweight subjects. *Nutrition* (2016) 32:943–54. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2016.02.006
- Wang J, Ioan-Facsinay A, van der Voort EI, Huizinga TW, Toes RE. Transient expression of FOXP3 in human activated nonregulatory CD4+ T cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2007) 37:129–38. doi: 10.1002/eji.200636435
- Miyara M, Ito Y, Sakaguchi S. TREG-cell therapies for autoimmune rheumatic diseases. Nat Rev Rheumatol. (2014) 10:543–51. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2014.105
- Winer S, Chan Y, Paltser G, Truong D, Tsui H, Bahrami J, et al. Normalization of obesity-associated insulin resistance through immunotherapy. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:921–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.2001
- Gozal D, Qiao Z, Almendros I, Zheng J, Khalyfa A, Shimpukade B, et al. Treatment with TUG891, a free fatty acid receptor 4 agonist, restores adipose tissue metabolic dysfunction following chronic sleep fragmentation in mice. *Int J Obes.* (2016) 40:1143–9. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2016.37
- Carreras A, Zhang SX, Peris E, Qiao Z, Wang Y, Almendros I, et al. Effect of resveratrol on visceral white adipose tissue inflammation and insulin sensitivity in a mouse model of sleep apnea. *Int J Obes.* (2015) 39:418–23. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2014.181

- Tian J, Dang HN, Yong J, Chui WS, Dizon MP, Yaw CK, et al. Oral treatment with gamma-aminobutyric acid improves glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity by inhibiting inflammation in high fat diet-fed mice. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e25338. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0025338
- Onodera T, Fukuhara A, Shin J, Hayakawa T, Otsuki M, Shimomura I. Eicosapentaenoic acid and 5-HEPE enhance macrophage-mediated Treg induction in mice. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:4560. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-04474-2
- Shin NR, Lee JC, Lee HY, Kim MS, Whon TW, Lee MS, et al. An increase in the Akkermansia spp. population induced by metformin treatment improves glucose homeostasis in diet-induced obese mice. *Gut* (2014) 63:727–35. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303839
- 89. Chen X, Zhang D, Chen X, Meng G, Zheng Q, Mai W, et al. Oral administration of visceral adipose tissue antigens ameliorates metabolic disorders in mice and elevates visceral adipose tissue-resident CD4(+)CD25(+)Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells. Vaccine (2017) 35(35Pt B):4612-20. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.07.014
- Luczynski W, Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek N, Ilendo E, Bossowski A, Glowinska-Olszewska B, Kretowski A, et al. Generation of functional Tregulatory cells in children with metabolic syndrome. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp.* (2012) 60:487–95. doi: 10.1007/s00005-012-0198-6
- Yun JM, Jialal I, Devaraj S. Effects of epigallocatechin gallate on regulatory T cell number and function in obese v. lean volunteers. *Br J Nutr.* (2010) 103:1771–7. doi: 10.1017/S000711451000005X

- Weyer C, Tataranni PA, Snitker S, Danforth E Jr, Ravussin E. Increase in insulin action and fat oxidation after treatment with CL 316,243, a highly selective beta3-adrenoceptor agonist in humans. *Diabetes* (1998) 47:1555–61.
- Riley JL, June CH, Blazar BR. Human T regulatory cell therapy: take a billion or so and call me in the morning. *Immunity* (2009) 30:656–65. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.04.006
- Sharma A, Rudra D. Emerging Functions of Regulatory T Cells in Tissue Homeostasis. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:883. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00883

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor declared a shared affiliation, though no other collaboration, with one of the authors MB.

Copyright © 2018 Zeng, Sun, Xiao, Xie, Bettini and Deng, This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Regulation, Communication, and Functional Roles of Adipose Tissue-Resident CD4⁺ T Cells in the Control of Metabolic Homeostasis

Haiyan Zhou¹ and Feng Liu^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Metabolism and Endocrinology, Metabolic Syndrome Research Center of Central South University, The Second Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, Changsha, China, ² Department of Pharmacology, University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, United States

Evidence accumulated over the past few years has documented a critical role for adipose tissue (AT)-resident immune cells in the regulation of local and systemic metabolic homeostasis. In the lean state, visceral adipose tissue (VAT) is predominated by anti-inflammatory T-helper 2 (Th2) and regulatory T (Treg) cell subsets. As obesity progresses, the population of Th2 and Treg cells decreases while that of the T-helper 1 (Th1) and T-helper 17 (Th17) cells increases, leading to augmented inflammation and insulin resistance. Notably, recent studies also suggest a potential role of CD4⁺ T cells in the control of thermogenesis and energy homeostasis. In this review, we have summarized recent advances in understanding the characteristics and functional roles of AT CD4⁺ T cell subsets during obesity and energy expenditure. We have also discussed new findings on the crosstalk between CD4⁺ T cells and local antigenpresenting cells (APCs) including adipocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells (DCs) to regulate AT function and metabolic homeostasis. Finally, we have highlighted the therapeutic potential of targeting CD4⁺ T cells as an effective strategy for the treatment of obesity and its associated metabolic diseases.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Huaizhu Wu, Baylor College of Medicine, United States

Reviewed by:

Yuxiang Sun, Texas A&M University, United States Chaodong Wu, Texas A&M University, United States Liqing Yu, University of Maryland, United States

> *Correspondence: Feng Liu liuf@uthscsa.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 08 June 2018 Accepted: 09 August 2018 Published: 30 August 2018

Citation:

Zhou H and Liu F (2018) Regulation, Communication, and Functional Roles of Adipose Tissue-Resident CD4⁺ T Cells in the Control of Metabolic Homeostasis. Front. Immunol. 9:1961. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01961 Keywords: obesity, CD4⁺T cells, antigen-presenting cells, inflammation, insulin resistance, energy homeostasis

INTRODUCTION

Obesity, which is associated with various metabolic and cardiovascular diseases such as insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes, hypertension, and stroke, is among the most severe health threats to modern society (1, 2). With excessive nutrient intake and/or reduced energy expenditure, obesity triggers a state of chronic low-grade inflammation in the adipose tissue (AT). Specifically, visceral adipose tissue (VAT) is more prone to obesity-induced inflammation (3). Under the condition of overnutrition, the composition, number, and function of AT-resident immune cells are significantly altered, especially in white adipose tissue (WAT). Recent studies have demonstrated a dynamic crosstalk between adipocytes and immune cells, including both innate and adaptive immune cells, within AT. In response to nutritional or other environmental stimuli, altered AT-resident immune cells may initiate a low-grade inflammatory process, leading to insulin resistance and impaired metabolic homeostasis. Understanding the mechanisms underlying immune cell-initiated inflammatory responses in AT of obese individuals is thus of great clinical importance.

Naïve CD4⁺ T cells are developed in the thymus and then reside in secondary lymphoid organs such as spleen and lymphocytes and non-lymphoid organs such as AT (4). After activation by antigen-presenting cells (APCs), naïve CD4⁺ T cells may differentiate into one of the several lineages of T helper (Th) cells, including T-helper 1 (Th1), T-helper 2 (Th2), T-helper 17 (Th17), and regulatory T (Treg) cells, as defined by their specific patterns of cytokine production and function. Compared with secondary lymphoid tissues, AT contains few naïve CD4⁺ T cells but a large proportion of effect memory T cells that can regulate adaptive immunity based on interactions with APCs (5, 6). Indeed, AT-resident CD4⁺ T cells are one of the immune cells that rapidly respond to HFD challenge (7). However, the roles of AT-resident CD4⁺ T cells in metabolic homeostasis are not well established. In the lean state, WAT is dominated by anti-inflammatory Th2 and Treg cells, which help to maintain an anti-inflammatory milieu and metabolic homeostasis. The total number of CD4⁺ T cells in WAT is significantly increased after HFD feeding. However, as obesity progresses, the populations of Th2 and Treg cells are decreased (8), concurrently with increased Th1 and Th17 cells (9, 10). While accumulative studies have demonstrated a critical role of CD4⁺ T cells in obesity-induced inflammation, their roles in adaptive thermogenesis in subcutaneous WAT (SAT) and brown adipose tissue (BAT) remain in its infancy.

It is well documented that $CD4^+$ T cell activation is initiated by antigen presentation. However, how AT-resident $CD4^+$ T cells are activated during obesity remains controversial. There is some evidence suggesting that adipocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells all could act as APCs to promote $CD4^+$ T cell activation in AT (11–13).

In this review, we discuss recent findings on how AT-resident $CD4^+$ T cells are involved in the regulation of local and systemic metabolic homeostasis. We also attempt to highlight the therapeutic potentials of targeting $CD4^+$ T cells to treat obesity and its associated metabolic syndrome.

ORCHESTRATION OF CD4⁺ T CELL SUBSETS IN IMMUNE RESPONSES

As an important component of adaptive immunity, $CD4^+$ T cells play critical roles in defending against a large variety of pathogens. Besides, they are also involved in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases, asthma, and allergic responses. Naïve $CD4^+$ T cells are activated by two signals including Class II major histocompatibility complex (MHCII)-mediated antigen presentation and co-stimulatory molecule- mediated co-stimulation, both provided by APCs. After activation, $CD4^+$ T cells are differentiated into distinct subsets, depending on the cytokine signals in the microenvironment.

The four major lineages of $CD4^+$ T cells, including the classical Th1 and Th2 cells, as well as Th17 and Treg cells, each have a characteristic cytokine profile (14). IL-12 and IFN- γ induce high expression levels of the Th1 master regulator T-box expressed in T cells (T-bet) and signal transducer and activator of transcription 4 (STAT4), promoting the naïve CD4⁺

T cells to differentiate into Th1 cells. With robust production of IFN-y, Th1 cells mediate immune responses against intracellular pathogens (15). On the other hand, IL-4 induces high-level expression of STAT6 and GATA binding protein 3 (GATA3) in naïve CD4⁺ T cells, facilitating the differentiation of naïve CD4⁺ T cells to Th2 cells. With high expression levels of IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13, Th2 cells mediate host defense against extracellular parasites including helminths (15). Inappropriate Th2 responses are the major cause of allergic diseases such as asthma (16). IL-17-producing Th17 cells, induced by TGF-β, IL-6, IL-23, and IL-1β, contribute to the host defense against fungi and extracellular bacteria, with the high expression of their master regulator retinoic acid receptor-related orphan receptor-yt (RORyt) (15). The pathogenicity of Th1 and Th17 cells has been recognized in various autoimmune diseases, such as multiple sclerosis and rheumatoid arthritis (17, 18). Treg cells represent a subset of CD4⁺ T cells characterized by high suppressive capacity. As a key transcription factor of Treg cells, Foxp3 is indispensable for Treg cell development. Treg populations have also been identified and characterized in other non-lymphoid tissues such as skin, intestine, lung, liver, fat, muscle and placenta, clearly indicating an important role of Treg cells in the maintenance of tissue homeostasis (2, 19).

Cross-regulation among CD4⁺ T cell subsets by specific cytokine networks and transcription factors is critical for determining CD4⁺ T cell fates (14). Indeed, T-bet^{-/-}mice exhibit a severe disease after virus infection and display asthmalike phenotype independent of allergen exposure (20). In addition, T cell-specific deletion of Gata3 results in impaired Th2 differentiation, permitting Th1 differentiation in the absence of IFN- γ and IL-12 (21). Similar to the crosstalk between Th1 and Th2 cells, cross-regulation has also been reported between Th17 and Th1 or Th2 cells. Both Th1-specific cytokine IFN- γ and IL-17 (22). The immune homeostasis of Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells has also been found to be regulated by Treg cells via production of TGF- β and IL-10 (14).

ROLES OF VAT-RESIDENT CD4⁺ T CELLS IN OBESITY

Treg Cells

Treg cells are thought to be one of the most crucial defenses against inappropriate immune responses including autoimmunity, allergy, inflammation, and infection (23). Treg cells are highly enriched in the VAT of lean mice, but their numbers in this fat depot are markedly and specifically reduced in animal models of obesity and insulin resistance (2, 8). Treg cells contribute to the maintenance of insulin sensitivity in WAT by limiting inflammation and producing insulin-sensitizing factors such as IL-10 (24). IL-10 suppresses the expression of monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) in adipocytes to limit M1 macrophage infiltration of WAT. Besides, IL-10 could inhibit the ability of TNF- α to downregulate glucose transporter 4 (GLUT-4) expression and impair insulin action in adipocytes (25). A loss-of-function experiment by diphtheria toxin receptor

(DTR)-mediated depletion of Treg cells and a gain of function experiment by injection of recombinant IL-2 and particular an IL-2-specific monoclonal antibody (mAb) have revealed that manipulating Treg cells can affect the inflammatory state of AT (2, 26).

Treg cell homeostasis in VAT is regulated by iNKT cells via the production of IL-2 (27). Besides, IL-33, which is mainly secreted by a number of different stromal cell types including Cadherin11⁺ (Cdh11⁺) mesenchymal cells, podoplanin⁺ (Pdpn⁺) fibroblasts, and CD31⁺ endothelial cells, is required for Treg cell accumulation in VAT through binding to its receptor Interleukin 1 receptor-like 1, also known as IL1RL1 or ST2 (28, 29). In addition, IL-33 and IFN- γ counter-regulate group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2) activation to control Treg cell numbers (30). The control of Treg cells by ILC2 is independent of the cytokines of ILC2 but mediated by a direct interaction of co-stimulatory molecules inducible co-stimulator (ICOS) and ICOS ligand (ICOSL) (30).

What is the origin of AT-resident Treg cells? It is reported that the AT-resident Treg and conventional T (Tconv) cell populations have different repertoires, suggesting that the accumulation of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in VAT is not due to the local conversion of Tconv cells (2). The VAT-resident Treg cells are also found not to be originated from circulating Treg cells. On the other hand, there is strong evidence suggesting that VAT-resident Treg compartment comes from thymus and their accumulation depends on interactions with local APCs (28).

VAT-resident Treg cells have a distinct transcriptome and antigen-receptor repertoire from those of their counterparts in the spleen and lymph nodes (31). Notably, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR- γ), the master regulator of adipocyte differentiation, is identified as a crucial molecular orchestrator of VAT Treg cell accumulation, phenotype, and function (31). Specifically, knockout of PPAR- γ in Treg cells significantly lowered the fractions and numbers of Treg cells in VAT but not in lymphoid organs. The thiazolidinedione (TZD) drug pioglitazone (Pio), a well-known insulin-sensitizing agent, is a synthetic agonist for PPAR- γ . Pio treatment specifically promotes VAT-resident Treg cell numbers and phenotype in HFD-fed wild-type (WT) mice but not in PPAR- γ mutant mice (31).

Th2 Cells

Similar to VAT-resident Treg cells, the IL-4- and IL-13-expressing Th2 cells accumulate in VAT of older animals. Compared with VAT-resident Treg cells, the numbers of VAT-resident Th2 cells are relatively rare and their function in obesity progression is much less studied. VAT Th2 cells also express ST2 and treatment of ob/ob mice with IL-33 leads to the production of strong Th2 cytokines in WAT, resulting in improved insulin sensitivity (32, 33).

Adoptive transfer of CD4⁺ T cells into HFD-fed Rag1-null mice has normalized obesity-associated insulin resistance (34). Interestingly, the beneficial effects of CD4⁺ T cells in the adoptive transfer model are found to be contributed by Th2 cells but not Treg cells, since mice transferred with Foxp3^{-/-} or IL-10^{-/-} CD4⁺ T cells show no obvious changes in the phenotypes

compared with mice transferred with WT CD4⁺ T cells. By contrast, reconstitution with $STAT6^{-/-}$ CD4⁺ T cells leads to the loss of the insulin-sensitizing effects of the WT CD4⁺ T cells, suggesting that Th2 cells are important controllers of obesity and insulin resistance (34).

Th1 Cells

Under over-nutrition conditions, VAT expansion creates an environmental milieu that potentiates the influx of proinflammatory cells and the production of type 1 cytokines such as IL-6, TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IFN- γ (35, 36). The immune homeostasis in VAT is consequently disrupted with a decrease of Treg and Th2 cell populations, concurrently with a significant increase of proinflammatory T cells, especially IFN-y-producing Th1 cells, CD8⁺ T cells, and Th17 cells (9, 10, 12, 37, 38). Consistent with these findings, T-bet deficient mice display enhanced insulin sensitivity though increased VAT mass (39), suggesting that deficiency of Th1 cells may lead to metabolic restoration. Increasing Th1 cells accelerate insulin resistance by producing TNF- α and IFN- γ in WAT (11). IFN- γ is a robust proinflammatory cytokine that activates M1 macrophages (40), promotes Th1 cell polarization (41), and induces inflammatory mediators such as MHCII (9, 42). The mRNA level of IFN- γ rapidly increases even after just 1-week HFD feeding (42). High level of IFN- γ in human VAT is also associated with increased waist circumference (7). IFN- γ -deficient mice show a significant decrease in inflammatory gene expression and accumulation of leukocytes, as well as improved glucose tolerance (9). Taken together, these findings reveal that decreased IFN-y levels and/or Th1 cell expansion in AT are beneficial for suppressing inflammation and improving insulin sensitivity.

Th17 Cells

Th17 cells are usually regarded as proinflammatory cells. However, the role of AT-resident Th17 cells in obesity remains largely elusive. One study shows that, although the total number of Th17 cells in VAT remains unchanged, the percentage of Th17 cells is decreased during the development of obesity (34). To the contrary, other studies show that the numbers or percentages of Th17 cells are increased in AT of obese humans compared to their lean controls (12, 43). Th17 cells have been suggest to block insulin receptor signaling and contribute to metabolic dysfunction via promoting the secretion of IL-17 and IL-22 (43-45). HFD feeding is also able to stimulate splenic Th17 cell development, thus accelerating the onset of autoimmune diseases such as experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) and collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) (10, 46). Mechanistically, obesity boosts Th17 cell polarization by upregulating Acetyl-CoA carboxylase 1 (ACC1) expression, which promotes the binding of RORyt to the IL-17 gene locus (10). ROR $\gamma t^{-/-}$ mice fed a normalchow diet display glucose intolerance hyperinsulinemia, and slightly insulin resistance. However, RORyt^{-/-} mice fed a HFD rapidly lost weight and die within 1 month, probably due to a deleterious effect of the lipotoxicity. Of note, after HFD feeding, heterozygous RORyt^{+/--} mice have impaired glucose tolerance and increased insulin resistance compared with WT control mice (47).

IL-17, a major effector cytokine produced by Th17 cells, functions as a negative regulator of adipogenesis (48, 49). IL-17 deficiency enhances diet-induced obesity in mice and accelerates fat mass accumulation even in mice fed a low-fat diet (49). It has been shown that $\gamma\delta$ T cells, but not Th17 cells, are the predominant cells that produce IL-17 in WAT under both ND and HFD conditions (49, 50). Thus, the role of IL-17 is not equal to the role of Th17 cells under either ND or HFD conditions. Mice lacking $\gamma\delta$ T cells or IL-17A had impaired ability to regulate core body temperature at thermoneutrality and after cold challenge due to the decreased ST2⁺ Treg cells and IL-33 abundance in AT (50). Nevertheless, the function of Th17 cells in obesity-related WAT inflammation is complex and requires further investigation.

CD4⁺ T CELLS CROSSTALK WITH APCS

 $\rm CD4^+$ T cells in VAT are increasingly recognized as a key regulator of AT inflammation and systemic insulin action. APCs are indispensable for the activation and differentiation of $\rm CD4^+$ T cells (11, 51). Importantly, VAT resident CD4⁺ T cells, regardless of their specific lineages, demonstrate distinct and selective T cell receptor (TCR) repertoires compared with their circulating counterparts, suggesting an AT-specific antigen expansion (2, 31, 34). This finding further strengthens the view that APCs also exist in AT and are required for AT-resident CD4⁺ T cell polarization. Although the exact nature of the antigens is still largely unknown, recent studies have revealed different types of APCs including macrophages, adipocytes and dendritic cells in the course of obesity-related AT inflammation (11, 42, 52).

Adipose Tissue Macrophages (ATMs)

Macrophages have been implicated as one of the important types of APCs found in AT (11). Based on their characteristics and functions, adipose tissue macrophages (ATMs) can be categorized into "classically activated" M1 macrophages and "alternatively activated" M2 macrophages (36). Obesity is accompanied by a switch in macrophage activation from the protective M2 macrophages to the proinflammatory M1 macrophages (53). ATMs are thought to be the predominant MHCII-expressing cells in VAT under both ND and HFD feeding conditions (51). MHCII-deficient mice are protected from HFDinduced insulin resistance with the reduction of ATMs and CD4⁺ T cells accumulation in VAT (11, 42). It is believed that AT-resident M2 macrophages are the predominant APCs in lean mice and humans (11, 36). MHCII in M2 macrophages is required to translate obesogenic cues into CD4⁺ T cell immune responses at the initial stage of obesity (11). During the development of obesity, M2 macrophages may progressively obtain a proinflammatory phenotype and induces Th1 cell polarization, accelerating the development of insulin resistance (54). Immunofluorescence and intravital imaging analysis show that ATMs physically interact with CD4⁺ T cells in an antigendependent manner (11). Macrophage-specific deletion of MHCII has no effect on AT-resident T cells in the lean state, but significantly prevents the generation of effector memory ATresident CD4⁺ T cells and insulin resistance in AT (11). Dietinduced obesity also promotes the expression of T-cell costimulatory molecules, such as CD80 and CD40, on the surface of ATMs in VAT (55). CD40 deficiency affects ATM infiltration into VAT and decreases T cell accumulation during diet-induced obesity.

In contrast to the classical view of ATMs being grouped into M1 and M2 macrophages, a recent study shows that CD9 and Ly6c define unique populations of ATMs in obese AT, with CD9 ATMs predominating in crown-like structures (CLS) and Lv6c ATMs uniformly distributed in AT (56). CD9 ATMs contain high levels of intracellular lipid and express proinflammatory transcriptomes while Ly6c ATMs express factors that support angiogenesis and tissue organization (56). In addition, adoptive transfer of CD9 ATMs, but not Ly6c ATMs, from obese donor mice to lean recipients confers an inflammatory response to the AT of lean mice (56). Nevertheless, whether these two subsets of ATMs function distinctively in antigen presentation is not explored. Since MHCII expression ATMs are concentrated in CLS in obese AT (51), There is a possibility that CD9 ATMs, rather than Ly6c ATMs, may be the main ATMs that activate CD4⁺ T cells in AT. Further studies are needed to address this possibility.

Adipocytes

While the role of ATMs in AT inflammation is well documented, several studies report that macrophages do not infiltrate into AT until 10 weeks after HFD feeding (7, 42). Indeed, CD8⁺ effector T cells are believed to contribute to the later macrophage recruitment (37). On the other hand, an early infiltration of lymphocytes is observed soon after HFD feeding (7, 37, 42). The early presence of T cells in VAT at the time of manifest insulin resistance raises a possibility that there may be other APCs that initiate T cell activation in AT. Consistent with this view, adipocytes are recently implicated as APCs that influence T cell activation in obesity (42). Expression of MHCII in adipocytes begins to increase within 2 weeks of HFD challenge, paralleled with early changes of AT-resident CD4⁺ T cells which show enhanced expression of the proinflammatory Th1 marker genes (42). HFD-fed MHCII^{-/-} mice show less adipose inflammation and insulin resistance (42). Mechanically, it is suggested that, as obesity advances, leptin secreted by adipocytes stimulates IFN- γ production from CD4⁺ T cells, which further promotes adipocyte MHCII expression and thus Th1 differentiation, leading to a vicious cycle of AT inflammation (42). The specific contribution of this vicious cycle to metabolic dysfunction is further verified by adipocyte-specific disruption of MHCII. AT-specific knockout of MHCII suppresses AT IFN-y production and increases Treg accumulation, leading to reduced AT inflammation and insulin resistance in obese mice (13). Inhibition of MHCII expression in adipocytes by adrenomedullin 2 treatment restores the HFD-induced early insulin resistance due to decreased CD4⁺ T cell activation (57). It is suggested that IL-10 produced by adipocytes may dampen the APC function of ATMs, thus showing the superiority of adipocytes over ATMs as APCs at the early stage of obesity (42). Indeed, recruitment

of M1 macrophages into WAT is induced by inflammatory mediators such as MCP1, C-X-C motif chemokine 12 (CXCL12) produced by dead and neighboring adipocytes (58, 59). While APCs may shape $CD4^+$ T cells, $CD4^+$ T cells can also influence the recruitment and activation of APCs. CD40L is induced in AT CD4⁺ T cells after HFD feeding, which can further stimulate activation of ATMs as well as adipokine production of adipocytes through ligation with CD40 (55, 60).

Adipocytes secret various adipokines such as leptin, adiponectin, and resistin, which are implicated in the regulation of CD4⁺ T cell immune responses. Leptin receptor is expressed in human AT T cells and its expression increases with obesity (61). Impairment of leptin receptor signaling improves Treg cell immune responses (62, 63). However, how does leptin signaling regulate Treg responses remains elusive. Although both IL-33 and ILC2 are found to promote AT Treg accumulation (30), studies show that IL-33 expression positively correlates with leptin expression in human AT (64). Obesity-associated elevation of leptin also contributes to the increased susceptibility of asthma via modulation of Th2 and ILC2 response (65). These findings suggest that leptin may regulate Treg immune response independent of IL-33 and ILC2. On the other hand, leptin receptor signals are required for Th17 differentiation via activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) and through cooperate with IL-6 (45, 66, 67). Leptin can also stimulate Th1 cell differentiation through promoting IFN- γ secretion (42, 68). Adiponectin is another adipokine that has been shown to directly enhance Th1 differentiation by activating the p38-STAT4-T-bet axis (69). Adiponectin activates DCs leading to enhanced Th1 and Th17 responses (70). Lastly, resistin has been found to stimulate CD4⁺ T cell chemotaxis in a concentration-dependent manner (71).

During obesity, bioactive lipids released by adipocytes also involve in the regulation of $CD4^+$ T cells. Ceramide synthesis is elevated under obesity conditions, correlating positively with the degree of insulin resistance (72). Ceramides are localized predominantly within the cell membrane and are suggested to enhance Th1 cell differentiation together with IL-12 (73). Many ceramide derivatives have been found to inhibit IL-4 production in T cells (74). n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), such as eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), can alter the biochemical and biophysical properties of CD4⁺ T cell plasma membranes, thus modulating cytoskeletal dependent CD4⁺ T cell activation and differentiation (75). It is also suggested that n-3 PUFA suppress Th1/Th17 immune responses in diverse tissues in obese mice following the induction of colitis (76).

Whether adipocytes in WAT of lean mice also play a role as APCs is not clear. VAT Adipocytes of lean mice show low but detectable MHCII expression. When cocultured with CD4⁺ T cells *in vitro*, adipocytes of lean mice could stimulate CD4⁺ T cells IFN- γ and IL-2 production though to a much less extent than that of obese mice (42). The antigen-presentation capacity of adipocytes from lean AT-specific MHCII knockout mice is remarkably reduced compared with lean WT mice (13). It is possible that adipocytes of lean mice with low-level MHCII expression could also act as APCs. However, whether and how

adipocytes of lean mice function as APCs to regulate CD4⁺ T cell activation *in vivo* remain to be further determined.

Adipose Tissue Dendritic Cells (ATDCs)

Dendritic cells (DCs) are professional APCs and play an important role in promoting CD4+ T cell activation and polarization (77). However, it has been difficult to clarify the contribution of ATDCs to AT inflammation since clear discrimination between ATDCs and ATMs in AT is limited. It is suggested that, in lean mice, the majority of CD11c⁺ cells are ATDCs but not ATMs (78). HFD feeding for 16 weeks led to a substantial increase in CD11c⁺ infiltrating M1 macrophages and the maintenance of a prominent population of CD11c⁺ ATDCs (78). Since ATMs and ATDCs are both CD11c⁺ cells in WAT of obese mice, macrophage-specific marker CD64 is thus adopted to distinguish the two populations, with CD11c⁺CD64⁺ identified as infiltrating M1 macrophages and CD11c⁺CD64⁻ identified as ATDCs (11). Both populations have similar capacities to stimulate CD4⁺ T cell proliferation (78).

Another study defines $CD11b^-CD11c^+$ cells as ATDCs, which express higher levels of MHCII than $CD11b^+CD11c^+$ ATMs (28). Confocal analysis reveals that both Treg and Tconv cells are in close contact with ATMs and ATDCs (28). The distance between T cells and APCs is dramatically increased in mice treated with an anti-MHCII mAb, suggesting that ATMs and ATDCs may contact with T cells through MHCII. (28). Ablation of $CD11c^+$ cells by DTR normalizes insulin sensitivity in obese and insulin resistant mice (79). Since CD11c is commonly recognized as a marker of DCs, this finding suggests that the deletion of DCs, at least in part, may contribute to the increased insulin sensitivity (80).

The majority of ATDCs in the lean state are thought to be CD11c^{high}F4/80⁻CD103⁺ cells. Since CD103⁺ DCs are able to induce the development of Treg cells (81), it is suggested that this CD11chighF4/80-CD103+ ATDCs play a role in the induction of AT Treg cells to restrain AT inflammation (12). Some atypical CD11chighF4/80lowCX3CR1+ ATDCs are also detectable at a very low frequency (<1%) in the AT of lean mice. Both the frequencies and absolute numbers of these two ATDCs populations are increased after HFD feeding, accompanied by enhanced antigen-presenting abilities to induce Th17 differentiation (12). It's worth mentioning that the increased atypical CD11chighF4/80lowCX3CR1+ ATDCs, regarded as inflammatory DCs in AT, are the major contributors to the induction of Th17 cells in AT of obese mice possibly via expressing high levels of IL-6, TGF-b, and IL-23 (12, 52). This observation is in accordance with previous studies that demonstrate the importance of obesity in the expansion of Th17 cells (10, 46).

Although much progress has been made on our understanding of the role of AT-resident $CD4^+$ T cells in regulating metabolism, it is still unclear which cells are the major APCs at different stages of obesity and whether these APCs cooperate to activate $CD4^+$ T cells. To define distinct populations within each APCs with unique transcriptomes and functions is of great importance, which will help to develop APCs-based therapies for the treatment of obesity and related inflammatory comorbidities.

THE ROLES OF CD4⁺ T CELLS IN ENERGY HOMEOSTASIS IN SAT AND BAT

Despite extensive studies on the functional roles of adiposeimmune crosstalk in VAT, the role and regulation of CD4⁺ T cells in adaptive thermogenesis are much less clear. Several recent studies have uncovered a potential function of Treg cells in SAT and BAT in regulating energy homeostasis (4, 82). BAT-resident Treg cells share many similar characteristics with VAT-resident Treg cells, although BAT harbors more Treg cells than VAT (82). Systemic depletion of Treg cells impairs oxygen consumption under cold stimulation conditions (82). In fact, treatments known to enhance sympathetic tone and promote BAT thermogenesis such as cold exposure, short-term highcalorie input, and β -adrenergic stimulation, greatly increase Treg cells in WT but not in β -less mice in which all of the three β -adrenergic receptors are deleted (4). These results indicate an essential role for thermogenic response in BAT Treg cell accumulation. Indeed, UCP-1^{-/-} mice exhibit reduced Treg cells in BAT and SAT compared with WT control mice (4). Furthermore, loss-of-function and gain-of-function experiments all suggest that Treg cells are critical for BAT thermogenic capacity and lipolytic function (4). The T cell-specific Stat6/Pten axis is believed to link beta3-adrenergic stimulation to Treg cell induction in BAT and SAT, which is consistent with a previous report that inhibition of PI3K/AKT could promote Treg differentiation (4, 83). Interestingly, IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells are recently reported to regulate thermogenesis via BAT Treg cells, further supporting an important role of Treg cells in energy expenditure (50).

In contrast to the role of Treg cells, the role of Th2 cells in energy expenditure is largely unknown. However, given that both the transcription factors and cytokines are functionally similar between Th2 cells and ILC2s (32, 84), it is possible that the Th2 cells may also play a part in energy expenditure. Further investigations will be needed to address this question.

Rag1^{-/-} mice that lack both T and B lymphocytes display excess weight gain under HFD-feeding conditions, which is at least in part due to decreased energy expenditure resulted from decreased UCP-1 expression in BAT (85). In contrast, another study showed that even in the lean state, Rag1^{-/-} mice display more energy expenditure and upregulated of UCP1 expression in SAT than WT mice at room temperature (86). Decreased CD8⁺ T cells, but not CD4⁺ T cells, are believed to contribute to promote beige fat development, mainly due to the decreased IFN- γ secretion (86). However, given that Th1 cells are also major producers of IFN- γ and that HFD feeding increases both the percentage and the total number of Th1 cells in SAT, it is possible that Th1 cells may also be involved in the regulation of energy expenditure.

THERAPEUTIC IMPLICATIONS OF TARGETING CD4⁺ T CELLS Targeting Chemokines and Their

Receptors

Infiltration of proinflammatory CD4⁺ T cells into VAT is now recognized as one of the primary events in obesity-induced chronic inflammation. Chemokines and their receptors play crucial roles in the trafficking of leukocytes to lesions and areas of inflammation (87, 88). Antagonizing chemokines and/or their receptors by small molecules or antibodies have been shown to be another promising approach to suppress inflammation and potentially, improve metabolic dysfunction.

Indeed, CD4⁺ T cells, as well as CD8⁺ T cells and B cells, from ob/ob mice had a greater propensity to migrate specifically to inflamed tissues (89). The regulated on activation normal T cell expressed and secreted (RANTES), also known as CCL5, is a chemokine that plays an active role in recruiting leukocytes into inflammatory sites. RANTES and its chemokine receptor CCR5 have been implicated in T cell trafficking to VAT in the setting of murine and human obesity (88). The expression of RANTES and CCR5 in WAT, especially the SVF fraction, is increased in a gender-dependent fashion in obese mice (88). Interestingly, monoclonal antibodies against RANTES have been shown to significantly reduce T-cell chemotaxis (88, 90).

The CCR5/RANTES axis also plays an important role in the progression of hepatic inflammation and fibrosis. Maraviroc, a CCR5 antagonist that has already been approved by FDA for the treatment of human immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) (91), ameliorates hepatic steatosis in an experimental model of NAFLD (87). Another CCR5 ligand, CCL3, is also secreted at significantly high levels in the omentum of patients with an obesity and inflammation-driven cancer oesophagogastric adenocarcinoma (OAC). Antagonizing CCL3 receptor, including CCR5 and CCR1, significantly reduces T cell migration to the omentum of OAC patients (92). As obesity develops, human adipocytes release the chemokine CCL20 and promote T cell migration into VAT via its receptor CCR6 (61).

Pharmacological inhibition of chemokines may exert beneficial pleiotropic effects in several metabolically active organs since these organs are likely to be affected by similar cellular, molecular, or endocrine pathways (93). Elucidation of the mechanisms that recruit inflammatory CD4⁺ T cell to AT should improve our knowledge for developing novel therapeutics for inflammation-associated metabolic dysfunctions.

Promoting Treg Cell Accumulation in AT

Induction of Treg cells is one of the major goals in immunotherapy of autoimmune diseases and transplantation. The emerging notion that Treg cells in AT are important for immune homeostasis and thermogenesis has evoked an exciting possibility to expand Treg cells as a therapeutic strategy for the treatment of obesity-induced metabolic dysfunctions (94) (**Figure 1**). In some studies, mitogenic anti-CD3 antibody is utilized to promote T cell self-tolerance through a global but transient T cell depletion, which leads to a selective increase of Treg cell pools at sites of tissue inflammation (95, 96).



productosylectrainide induces the registration which productions the great straight way to increase Treg populations. PPAR- γ agonist Pio treatment also specifically promotes VAT Treg cell accumulation.

Injection of an anti-CD3 antibody to HFD-fed mice for 5 days greatly improves glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity (34). In addition, the normalizing effects on insulin resistance and glucose tolerance last for over 4 months even under the condition of sustained HFD feeding, suggesting a long-lasting therapeutic effect (34). Oral administration of an anti-CD3 antibody plus β-glucosylceramide displays a decrease in pancreatic islet cell hyperplasia, fat accumulation in the liver, and inflammation in adipose tissue via induction of Treg cells (24). In addition, a complex consisting of recombinant IL-2 and a particular anti-IL-2 mAb is used to induce in situ expansion of Treg cells (2, 97). IL-33 injection shows a long-lasting effect on Treg cell expansion in both lymphoid tissues and VAT (28), while PPAR- γ agonist Pio treatment specifically promoted VAT Treg cell accumulation (31). In some studies, adoptive transfer of Treg cells into recipient mice is recognized as a straight way to increase Treg populations (4).

Targeting Gut Microbiota

Profound gut microbiota alterations are found to be closely associated with obesity and metabolic syndrome in recent years (98). HFD feeding induces prominent alterations in the gut microbiota composition by increasing the Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes ratio, which positively correlates with body weights in humans (99–101). The development and maturation of $CD4^+$ T cells are influenced by gut microbiota. Eating purified probiotic microbe alone, namely Lactobacillus reuteri, prevented weight gain irrespective of the baseline diet due to the

TABLE 1 Summary of the timeline of appearance or changes of the major cell types or factors that contribute to the proinflammatory status of adipose tissue after HFD feeding.

Major cell types or factors	Timeline of appearance or changes	References	
Leptin	Within 1 week	(42)	
Adipocyte MHCII	Within 2 weeks	(42)	
T-bet	2 weeks	(42)	
GATA3	3 weeks	(42)	
Foxp3	12 weeks	(42)	
IFN-γ	2 weeks	(42)	
M1	10–12 weeks	(42), (7)	
CD3	5 weeks	(7)	
CD11c ^{high} F4/80 ^{low}	15 weeks	(12)	

promotion of IL-10-producing Treg cells (102). HFD-fed mice supplemented with a mixture of foodborne lactic acid bacteria show reduced VAT mass with increased Treg cells (103). There is some evidence showing that HFD-derived ileum microbiota is responsible for a decrease of Th17 cells in the lamina propria, while microbiota from synbiotic-treated obese mice increases the number of intestinal Th17 cells and improves glucose tolerance (47). In addition, delivery of Th17 cells to the intestines of obese mice leads to expansion of commensal microbes that maintain metabolic homeostasis (104). However, the precise mechanisms by which microbiome regulates CD4⁺ T cells and thus metabolic homeostasis remain largely unknown and require further investigations.

CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

New evidence accumulated over the past several years strongly implicates an important role of AT-resident immune cells such as Th2 and Treg cells in the housekeeping functions of animals or humans via regulation of inflammation. During the progression of obesity, specific antigens in VAT are produced, captured, and presented to $CD4^+$ T cells by APCs, leading to decreased Th2 and Treg cell populations and a shift to increased proinflammatory Th1 and Th17 cell populations. The timeline of appearance or changes of the major cell types or factors that contribute to the proinflammatory status of adipose tissue after HFD feeding is summarized in **Table 1**. Although the roles of $CD4^+$ T cells in obesity have been largely investigated, more efforts will be needed to elucidate the function of $CD4^+$ T cells in the regulation of energy expenditure in AT.

It remains to be controversial as to which cell types are the major APCs in the AT. Both ATMs and adipocytes show enhanced MHCII gene expression under obesity conditions. Deficiency of MHCII in either macrophages or adipocytes shows improved metabolic phenotypes in mice (11, 13). However, several studies report that macrophages do not infiltrate into AT until 10 weeks after HFD feeding while MHCII family genes are upregulated at 2 weeks after HFD, indicating that adipocytes but not ATMs are the APCs that initiate T cells



activation (7, 42). On the other side, several studies suggest that ATMs are the predominant MHCII-expressing cells in VAT under both ND and HFD feeding conditions, arguing that non-macrophage cells such as adipocytes play a minor role in MHCII expression in adipose tissue (11, 28, 36, 53). Thus, it is possible that different cell types may act as APCs at different stages of obesity. At early stages, adipocytes of lean mice with a low expression of MHCII, AT-resident M2 macrophages, and CD11c^{high}F4/80⁻ ATDCs may act as APCs, leading to the homeostatic proliferation of Th2 and Treg cells. As obesity develops, adipocytes of obese mice with markedly increased MHCII expression, infiltrating M1 macrophages, as well as CD11chighF4/80⁻ and CD11chighF4/80^{low} ATDCs become dominant in the AT that act as APCs instead [Figures 2, 3). This notion, to a certain extent, has conciliated different views on the regulation and function of APCs in AT.

It's also debatable about the phenotypes and function of Th17 cells in obesity development. Most studies suggest that



HFD feeding promotes the percentages of Th17 cells in AT and periphery, which contributes to the acceleration of obesity and some autoimmune diseases in which obesity is recognized as a risk factor (10, 45, 46, 52). However, HFD-derived gut microbiota decreases Th17 cells in the lamina propria (47). Heterozygous RORyt^{+/--} mice promote diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance compared with WT mice (47). Delivery of Th17 cells to the intestines of obese mice results in expansion of commensal microbes that maintain metabolic homeostasis (104). One explanation for the discrepancies may be due to the differences in the functions of local APCs. HFD-induced gut microbiota impairs the gene expression profile and function of lamina propria APCs required for Th17 Cell Differentiation (47), whereas the APCs in AT of obese mice show higher levels of cytokines secretion or surface markers expression that facilitate Th17 cell differentiation (12, 52). Still, there is a possibility that Th17 cells in distinct organs may function differently.

The recent groundbreaking research on the roles of ATresident $CD4^+$ T cells in the regulation of insulin sensitivity and energy homeostasis has shed new light on our understanding of the communication between immune cells and adipocytes, paving a road to the development of novel therapeutic strategies for the treatment of obesity and its associated diseases. However, many important questions remain to be addressed. Identifying the molecular nature of antigens associated with AT inflammation during obesity is of great importance, which can help to restrain proinflammatory CD4⁺ T cell immune responses. A future challenge will also involve ascertaining the possibilities and molecular mechanisms of the functional interplay between other immune cells and CD4⁺ T cells, especially in SAT and BAT. Unlike their circulating counterparts, Treg cells express an AT specific marker PPAR- γ (31) and show a high degree of adaptation to the surrounding milieu. Thus, it is assumable that the metabolic microenvironment in AT may also endow other CD4⁺ T cells with specific characters. An answer to this question would provide new insights into developing organspecific therapies for obesity and its related metabolic disorders. Nevertheless, translating the preclinical findings into clinical

REFERENCES

- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, Flegal KM. Prevalence of childhood and adult obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. JAMA (2014) 311:806–14. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.732
- Feuerer M, Herrero L, Cipolletta D, Naaz A, Wong J, Nayer A, et al. Lean, but not obese, fat is enriched for a unique population of regulatory T cells that affect metabolic parameters. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:930–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.2002
- Rosen ED, Spiegelman BM. What we talk about when we talk about fat. Cell (2014) 156:20–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.012
- Kalin S, Becker M, Ott VB, Serr I, Hosp F, Mollah MMH, et al. A Stat6/Pten axis links regulatory T cells with adipose tissue function. *Cell Metab.* (2017) 26:475–92 e7. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.08.008
- Han SJ, Glatman Zaretsky A, Andrade–Oliveira V, Collins N, Dzutsev A, Shaik J, et al. White adipose tissue is a reservoir for memory T cells and promotes protective memory responses to infection. *Immunity* (2017) 47:1154–68 e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.11.009
- Mauro C, Smith J, Cucchi D, Coe D, Fu H, Bonacina F, et al. Obesity-Induced metabolic stress leads to biased effector memory CD4(+) T cell differentiation via PI3K p110delta-Akt-mediated signals. *Cell Metab.* (2017) 25:593–609. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.01.008
- Kintscher U, Hartge M, Hess K, Foryst-Ludwig A, Clemenz M, Wabitsch M, et al. T-lymphocyte infiltration in visceral adipose tissue: a primary event in adipose tissue inflammation and the development of obesitymediated insulin resistance. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2008) 28:1304– 10. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.165100
- Deiuliis J, Shah Z, Shah N, Needleman B, Mikami D, Narula V, et al. Visceral adipose inflammation in obesity is associated with critical alterations in tregulatory cell numbers. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e16376. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016376
- Rocha VZ, Folco EJ, Sukhova G, Shimizu K, Gotsman I, Vernon AH, et al. Interferon-gamma, a Th1 cytokine, regulates fat inflammation: a role for adaptive immunity in obesity. *Circ Res.* (2008) 103:467–76. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.177105
- Endo Y, Asou HK, Matsugae N, Hirahara K, Shinoda K, Tumes DJ, et al. Obesity drives Th17 cell differentiation by inducing the lipid metabolic kinase, ACC1. *Cell Rep.* (2015) 12:1042–55. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.07.014
- Cho KW, Morris DL, DelProposto JL, Geletka L, Zamarron B, Martinez-Santibanez G, et al. An MHCII-dependent activation loop between adipose tissue macrophages and CD4+ T cells controls obesity-induced inflammation. *Cell Rep.* (2014) 9:605–17. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014. 09.004

applications remains a great challenge, waiting for a further understanding of the mechanisms regulating the interaction between AT-resident immune cells and adipocytes under both physiological and pathological conditions.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HZ organized and wrote the draft. FL revised the whole manuscript and figures and offered constructive comments.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Basic Research Program of China (Grant No. 2014CB910501 to FL), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 81730022 to FL) and the National Nature Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 81600671 to HZ).

- Bertola A, Ciucci T, Rousseau D, Bourlier V, Duffaut C, Bonnafous S, et al. Identification of adipose tissue dendritic cells correlated with obesityassociated insulin-resistance and inducing Th17 responses in mice and patients. *Diabetes* (2012) 61:2238–47. doi: 10.2337/db11-1274
- Deng T, Liu J, Deng Y, Minze L, Xiao X, Wright V, et al. Adipocyte adaptive immunity mediates diet-induced adipose inflammation and insulin resistance by decreasing adipose Treg cells. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:15725. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15725
- Zhu J, Yamane H, Paul WE. Differentiation of effector CD4T cell populations (*). Annu Rev Immunol. (2010) 28:445–89. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-030409-101212
- 15. Zhu J, Paul WE. CD4T cells: fates, functions, and faults. *Blood* (2008) 112:1557-69. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-05-078154
- Holgate ST. Innate and adaptive immune responses in asthma. Nat Med. (2012) 18:673–83. doi: 10.1038/nm.2731
- Zhou H, Wang Y, Lian Q, Yang B, Ma Y, Wu X, et al. Differential IL-10 production by DCs determines the distinct adjuvant effects of LPS and PTX in EAE induction. *Eur J Immunol.* (2014) 44:1352–62. doi: 10.1002/eji.201343744
- Bazzazi H, Aghaei M, Memarian A, Asgarian-Omran H, Behnampour N, Yazdani Y. Th1-Th17 ratio as a new insight in Rheumatoid arthritis disease. *Iran J Allergy Asthma Immunol.* (2018) 17:68–77.
- Burzyn D, Benoist C, Mathis D. Regulatory T cells in nonlymphoid tissues. Nat Immunol. (2013) 14:1007–13. doi: 10.1038/ni.2683
- Szabo SJ, Sullivan BM, Stemmann C, Satoskar AR, Sleckman BP, Glimcher LH. Distinct effects of T-bet in TH1 lineage commitment and IFNgamma production in CD4 and CD8T cells. *Science* (2002) 295:338–42. doi: 10.1126/science.1065543
- Zhu J, Min B, Hu-Li J, Watson CJ, Grinberg A, Wang Q, et al. Conditional deletion of Gata3 shows its essential function in T(H)1-T(H)2 responses. *Nat Immunol.* (2004) 5:1157–65. doi: 10.1038/ni1128
- Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, et al. Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. *Nat Immunol.* (2005) 6:1123–32. doi: 10.1038/ni1254
- Zheng Y, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 in control of the regulatory T cell lineage. Nat Immunol. (2007) 8:457–62. doi: 10.1038/ni1455
- Ilan Y, Maron R, Tukpah AM, Maioli TU, Murugaiyan G, Yang K, et al. Induction of regulatory T cells decreases adipose inflammation and alleviates insulin resistance in ob/ob mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:9765– 70. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0908771107
- Lumeng CN, Saltiel AR. Inflammatory links between obesity and metabolic disease. J Clin Invest. (2011) 121:2111–7. doi: 10.1172/JCI57132

- Boyman O, Kovar M, Rubinstein MP, Surh CD, Sprent J. Selective stimulation of T cell subsets with antibody-cytokine immune complexes. *Science* (2006) 311:1924–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1122927
- Lynch L, Michelet X, Zhang S, Brennan PJ, Moseman A, Lester C, et al. Regulatory iNKT cells lack expression of the transcription factor PLZF and control the homeostasis of T(reg) cells and macrophages in adipose tissue. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:85–95. doi: 10.1038/ni.3047
- Kolodin D, van Panhuys N, Li C, Magnuson AM, Cipolletta D, Miller CM, et al. Antigen- and cytokine-driven accumulation of regulatory T cells in visceral adipose tissue of lean mice. *Cell Metab.* (2015) 21:543–57. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.03.005
- Pichery M, Mirey E, Mercier P, Lefrancais E, Dujardin A, Ortega N, et al. Endogenous IL-33 is highly expressed in mouse epithelial barrier tissues, lymphoid organs, brain, embryos, and inflamed tissues: *in situ* analysis using a novel Il-33-LacZ gene trap reporter strain. *J Immunol.* (2012) 188:3488–95. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101977
- Molofsky AB, Van Gool F, Liang HE, Van Dyken SJ, Nussbaum JC, Lee J, et al. Interleukin-33 and interferon-gamma counter-regulate group 2 innate lymphoid cell activation during immune perturbation. *Immunity* (2015) 43:161–74. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.05.019
- Cipolletta D, Feuerer M, Li A, Kamei N, Lee J, Shoelson SE, et al. PPARgamma is a major driver of the accumulation and phenotype of adipose tissue Treg cells. *Nature* (2012) 486:549–53. doi: 10.1038/nature11132
- Molofsky AB, Nussbaum JC, Liang HE, Van Dyken SJ, Cheng LE, Mohapatra A, et al. Innate lymphoid type 2 cells sustain visceral adipose tissue eosinophils and alternatively activated macrophages. J Exp Med. (2013) 210:535–49. doi: 10.1084/jem.20121964
- Miller AM, Asquith DL, Hueber AJ, Anderson LA, Holmes WM, McKenzie AN, et al. Interleukin-33 induces protective effects in adipose tissue inflammation during obesity in mice. *Circ Res.* (2010) 107:650–8. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.218867
- Winer S, Chan Y, Paltser G, Truong D, Tsui H, Bahrami J, et al. Normalization of obesity-associated insulin resistance through immunotherapy. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:921–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.2001
- Schipper HS, Prakken B, Kalkhoven E, Boes M. Adipose tissue-resident immune cells: key players in immunometabolism. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* (2012) 23:407–15. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2012.05.011
- Lumeng CN, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR. Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. J Clin Invest. (2007) 117:175–84. doi: 10.1172/JCI29881
- Nishimura S, Manabe I, Nagasaki M, Eto K, Yamashita H, Ohsugi M, et al. CD8+ effector T cells contribute to macrophage recruitment and adipose tissue inflammation in obesity. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:914–20. doi: 10.1038/nm.1964
- Strissel KJ, DeFuria J, Shaul ME, Bennett G, Greenberg AS, Obin MS. T-cell recruitment and Th1 polarization in adipose tissue during dietinduced obesity in C57BL/6 mice. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* (2010) 18:1918–25. doi: 10.1038/oby.2010.1
- Stolarczyk E, Vong CT, Perucha E, Jackson I, Cawthorne MA, Wargent ET, et al. Improved insulin sensitivity despite increased visceral adiposity in mice deficient for the immune cell transcription factor T-bet. *Cell Metab.* (2013) 17:520–33. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.02.019
- Martinez FO, Gordon S. The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. *F1000Prime Rep.* (2014) 6:13. doi: 10.12703/P6-13
- Lighvani AA, Frucht DM, Jankovic D, Yamane H, Aliberti J, Hissong BD, et al. T-bet is rapidly induced by interferon-gamma in lymphoid and myeloid cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2001) 98:15137–42. doi: 10.1073/pnas.261570598
- Deng T, Lyon CJ, Minze LJ, Lin J, Zou J, Liu JZ, et al. Class II major histocompatibility complex plays an essential role in obesity-induced adipose inflammation. *Cell Metab.* (2013) 17:411–22. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.02.009
- Fabbrini E, Cella M, McCartney SA, Fuchs A, Abumrad NA, Pietka TA, et al. Association between specific adipose tissue CD4+ T-cell populations and insulin resistance in obese individuals. *Gastroenterology* (2013) 145:366–74 e1-3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.04.010
- O'Rourke RW, Lumeng CN. Obesity heats up adipose tissue lymphocytes. *Gastroenterology* (2013) 145:282–5. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013. 06.026

- Chuang HC, Sheu WH, Lin YT, Tsai CY, Yang CY, Cheng YJ, et al. HGK/MAP4K4 deficiency induces TRAF2 stabilization and Th17 differentiation leading to insulin resistance. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:4602. doi: 10.1038/ncomms5602
- 46. Jhun J-Y, Yoon B-Y, Park M-K, Oh H-J, Byun J-K, Lee S-Y, et al. Obesity aggravates the joint inflammation in a collagen-induced arthritis model through deviation to Th17 differentiation. *Exp Mol Med.* (2012) 44:424. doi: 10.3858/emm.2012.44.7.047
- Garidou L, Pomie C, Klopp P, Waget A, Charpentier J, Aloulou M, et al. The gut microbiota regulates intestinal CD4T cells expressing RORgammat and controls metabolic disease. *Cell Metab.* (2015) 22:100–12. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.06.001
- Shin JH, Shin DW, Noh M. Interleukin-17A inhibits adipocyte differentiation in human mesenchymal stem cells and regulates proinflammatory responses in adipocytes. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2009) 77:1835–44. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2009.03.008
- Zuniga LA, Shen WJ, Joyce-Shaikh B, Pyatnova EA, Richards AG, Thom C, et al. IL-17 regulates adipogenesis, glucose homeostasis, and obesity. J Immunol. (2010) 185:6947–59. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1001269
- Kohlgruber AC, Gal-Oz ST, LaMarche NM, Shimazaki M, Duquette D, Nguyen HN, et al. γδ T cells producing interleukin-17A regulate adipose regulatory T cell homeostasis and thermogenesis. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:464–74. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0094-2
- Morris DL, Cho KW, Delproposto JL, Oatmen KE, Geletka LM, Martinez-Santibanez G, et al. Adipose tissue macrophages function as antigenpresenting cells and regulate adipose tissue CD4+ T cells in mice. *Diabetes* (2013) 62:2762–72. doi: 10.2337/db12-1404
- Chen Y, Tian J, Tian X, Tang X, Rui K, Tong J, et al. Adipose tissue dendritic cells enhances inflammation by prompting the generation of Th17 cells. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e92450. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0092450
- Odegaard JI, Chawla A. Alternative macrophage activation and metabolism. *Annu Rev Pathol.* (2011) 6:275–97. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-011110-130138
- Moraes-Vieira PM, Yore MM, Dwyer PM, Syed I, Aryal P, Kahn BB. RBP4 activates antigen-presenting cells, leading to adipose tissue inflammation and systemic insulin resistance. *Cell Metab.* (2014) 19:512–26. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.01.018
- Morris DL, Oatmen KE, Mergian TA, Cho KW, DelProposto JL, Singer K, et al. CD40 promotes MHC class II expression on adipose tissue macrophages and regulates adipose tissue CD4+ T cells with obesity. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2016) 99:1107–19. doi: 10.1189/jlb.3A0115-009R
- Hill DA, Lim HW, Kim YH, Ho WY, Foong YH, Nelson VL, et al. Distinct macrophage populations direct inflammatory versus physiological changes in adipose tissue. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2018) 115:E5096–105. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1802611115
- 57. Zhang SY, Lv Y, Zhang H, Gao S, Wang T, Feng J, et al. Adrenomedullin 2 improves early obesity-induced adipose insulin resistance by inhibiting the class II MHC in adipocytes. *Diabetes* (2016) 65:2342–55. doi: 10.2337/db15-1626
- Oh DY, Morinaga H, Talukdar S, Bae EJ, Olefsky JM. Increased macrophage migration into adipose tissue in obese mice. *Diabetes* (2012) 61:346–54. doi: 10.2337/db11-0860
- Kim D, Kim J, Yoon JH, Ghim J, Yea K, Song P, et al. CXCL12 secreted from adipose tissue recruits macrophages and induces insulin resistance in mice. *Diabetologia* (2014) 57:1456–65. doi: 10.1007/s00125-014-3237-5
- Poggi M, Jager J, Paulmyer-Lacroix O, Peiretti F, Gremeaux T, Verdier M, et al. The inflammatory receptor CD40 is expressed on human adipocytes: contribution to crosstalk between lymphocytes and adipocytes. *Diabetologia* (2009) 52:1152–63. doi: 10.1007/s00125-009-1267-1
- Duffaut C, Zakaroff-Girard A, Bourlier V, Decaunes P, Maumus M, Chiotasso P, et al. Interplay between human adipocytes and T lymphocytes in obesity: CCL20 as an adipochemokine and T lymphocytes as lipogenic modulators. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2009) 29:1608–14. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.192583
- De Rosa V, Procaccini C, Cali G, Pirozzi G, Fontana S, Zappacosta S, et al. A key role of leptin in the control of regulatory T cell proliferation. *Immunity* (2007) 26:241–55. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.01.011

- Matarese G, Di Giacomo A, Sanna V, Lord GM, Howard JK, Di Tuoro A, et al. Requirement for leptin in the induction and progression of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol.* (2001) 166:5909–16. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.10.5909
- 64. Zeyda M, Wernly B, Demyanets S, Kaun C, Hammerle M, Hantusch B, et al. Severe obesity increases adipose tissue expression of interleukin-33 and its receptor ST2, both predominantly detectable in endothelial cells of human adipose tissue. *Int J Obes.* (2013) 37:658–65. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2012.118
- Zheng H, Zhang X, Castillo EF, Luo Y, Liu M, Yang XO. Leptin enhances TH2 and ILC2 responses in allergic airway disease. J Biol Chem. (2016) 291:22043–52. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.743187
- Reis BS, Lee K, Fanok MH, Mascaraque C, Amoury M, Cohn LB, et al. Leptin receptor signaling in T cells is required for Th17 differentiation. *J Immunol.* (2015) 194:5253–60. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.14 02996
- 67. Yu Y, Liu Y, Shi FD, Zou H, Matarese G, La Cava A. Cutting edge: leptin-induced RORgammat expression in CD4+ T cells promotes Th17 responses in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Immunol.* (2013) 190:3054–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1203275
- Lord GM, Matarese G, Howard JK, Baker RJ, Bloom SR, Lechler RI. Leptin modulates the T-cell immune response and reverses starvation-induced immunosuppression. *Nature* (1998) 394:897–901. doi: 10.1038/29795
- Cheng X, Folco EJ, Shimizu K, Libby P. Adiponectin induces proinflammatory programs in human macrophages and CD4+ T cells. *J Biol Chem.* (2012) 287:36896–904. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.409516
- Jung MY, Kim HS, Hong HJ, Youn BS, Kim TS. Adiponectin induces dendritic cell activation via PLCgamma/JNK/NF-kappaB pathways, leading to Th1 and Th17 polarization. *J Immunol.* (2012) 188:2592–601. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102588
- Walcher D, Hess K, Berger R, Aleksic M, Heinz P, Bach H, et al. Resistin: A newly identified chemokine for human CD4-positive lymphocytes. *Cardiovasc Res.* (2010) 85:167–74. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvp278
- 72. Haus JM, Kashyap SR, Kasumov T, Zhang R, Kelly KR, Defronzo RA, et al. Plasma ceramides are elevated in obese subjects with type 2 diabetes and correlate with the severity of insulin resistance. *Diabetes* (2009) 58:337–43. doi: 10.2337/db08-1228
- Kue CS, Jung MY, Cho D, Kim TS. C6-ceramide enhances Interleukin-12-mediated T helper type 1 cell responses through a cyclooxygenase-2-dependent pathway. *Immunobiology* (2012) 217:601–9. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2011.10.021
- Park J, Li Q, Chang YT, Kim TS. Inhibitory activity of a ceramide library on interleukin-4 production from activated T cells. *Bioorg Med Chem.* (2005) 13:2589–95. doi: 10.1016/j.bmc.2005. 01.027
- Hou TY, McMurray DN, Chapkin RS. Omega-3 fatty acids, lipid rafts, and T cell signaling. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2016) 785:2–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2015.03.091
- Monk JM, Hou TY, Turk HF, Weeks B, Wu C, McMurray DN, et al. Dietary n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) decrease obesity-associated Th17 cell-mediated inflammation during colitis. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e49739. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0049739
- Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature* (1998) 392:245–52. doi: 10.1038/ 32588
- Cho KW, Zamarron BF, Muir LA, Singer K, Porsche CE, DelProposto JB, et al. Adipose tissue dendritic cells are independent contributors to obesity-induced inflammation and insulin resistance. *J Immunol.* (2016) 197:3650–61. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.16 00820
- Patsouris D, Li P-P, Thapar D, Chapman J, Olefsky JM, Neels JG. Ablation of CD11c-positive cells normalizes insulin sensitivity in obese insulin resistant animals. *Cell Metab.* (2008) 8:301–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2008. 08.015
- Poltorak MP, Schraml BU. Fate mapping of dendritic cells. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:199. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00199
- Coombes JL, Siddiqui KR, Arancibia-Carcamo CV, Hall J, Sun CM, Belkaid Y, et al. A functionally specialized population of mucosal CD103+ DCs

induces Foxp3+ regulatory T cells via a TGF-beta and retinoic aciddependent mechanism. *J Exp Med.* (2007) 204:1757–64. doi: 10.1084/jem.200 70590

- Medrikova D, Sijmonsma TP, Sowodniok K, Richards DM, Delacher M, Sticht C, et al. Brown adipose tissue harbors a distinct subpopulation of regulatory T cells. *PLoS ONE* (2015) 10:e0118534. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0118534
- Powell JD, Pollizzi KN, Heikamp EB, Horton MR. Regulation of immune responses by mTOR. Annu Rev Immunol. (2012) 30:39–68. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075024
- Walker JA, Barlow JL, McKenzie AN. Innate lymphoid cells-how did we miss them?. Nat Rev Immunol. (2013) 13:75–87. doi: 10.1038/nri3349
- Liu X, Huh JY, Gong H, Chamberland JP, Brinkoetter MT, Hamnvik OP, et al. Lack of mature lymphocytes results in obese but metabolically healthy mice when fed a high-fat diet. *Int J Obes.* (2015) 39:1548–57. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2015.93
- Moysidou M, Karaliota S, Kodela E, Salagianni M, Koutmani Y, Katsouda A, et al. CD8+ T cells in beige adipogenesis and energy homeostasis. *JCI Insight* (2018) 3:95456. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.95456
- Perez-Martinez L, Perez-Matute P, Aguilera-Lizarraga J, Rubio-Mediavilla S, Narro J, Recio E, et al. Maraviroc, a CCR5 antagonist, ameliorates the development of hepatic steatosis in a mouse model of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). J Antimicrob Chemother. (2014) 69:1903–10. doi: 10.1093/jac/dku071
- Wu H, Ghosh S, Perrard XD, Feng L, Garcia GE, Perrard JL, et al. T-cell accumulation and regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted upregulation in adipose tissue in obesity. *Circulation* (2007) 115:1029–38. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.6 38379
- Bigorgne AE, Bouchet-Delbos L, Naveau S, Dagher I, Prevot S, Durand-Gasselin I, et al. Obesity-induced lymphocyte hyperresponsiveness to chemokines: a new mechanism of Fatty liver inflammation in obese mice. *Gastroenterology* (2008) 134:1459–69. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008. 02.055
- Matter CM, Handschin C. RANTES (regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted), inflammation, obesity, and the metabolic syndrome. *Circulation* (2007) 115:946–8. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.685230
- 91. Bachelerie F, Ben-Baruch A, Burkhardt AM, Combadiere C, Farber JM, Graham GJ, et al. International union of basic and clinical pharmacology. [corrected]. LXXXIX. Update on the extended family of chemokine receptors and introducing a new nomenclature for atypical chemokine receptors. *Pharmacol Rev.* (2014) 66:1–79. doi: 10.1124/pr.113.007724
- Conroy MJ, Galvin KC, Kavanagh ME, Mongan AM, Doyle SL, Gilmartin N, et al. CCR1 antagonism attenuates T cell trafficking to omentum and liver in obesity-associated cancer. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2016) 94:531–7. doi: 10.1038/icb.2016.26
- Biddinger SB, Kahn CR. From mice to men: insights into the insulin resistance syndromes. *Annu Rev Physiol.* (2006) 68:123–58. doi: 10.1146/annurev.physiol.68.040104.124723
- Luczynski W, Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek N, Ilendo E, Bossowski A, Glowinska-Olszewska B, Kretowski A, et al. Generation of functional Tregulatory cells in children with metabolic syndrome. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp.* (2012) 60:487–95. doi: 10.1007/s00005-012-0198-6
- Belghith M, Bluestone JA, Barriot S, Megret J, Bach JF, Chatenoud L. TGFbeta-dependent mechanisms mediate restoration of self-tolerance induced by antibodies to CD3 in overt autoimmune diabetes. *Nat Med.* (2003) 9:1202–8. doi: 10.1038/nm924
- Chatenoud L, Bluestone JA. CD3-specific antibodies: a portal to the treatment of autoimmunity. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2007) 7:622–32. doi: 10.1038/nri2134
- Daniel C, Wennhold K, Kim HJ, von Boehmer H. Enhancement of antigenspecific Treg vaccination *in vivo*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:16246– 51. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1007422107
- Mozaffarian D, Hao T, Rimm EB, Willett WC, Hu FB. Changes in diet and lifestyle and long-term weight gain in women and men. *N Engl J Med.* (2011) 364:2392–404. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1014296

- 99. Kim KA, Gu W, Lee IA, Joh EH, Kim DH. High fat diet-induced gut microbiota exacerbates inflammation and obesity in mice via the TLR4 signaling pathway. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e47713. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0047713
- 100. Chi Y, Lin Y, Zhu H, Huang Q, Ye G, Dong S. PCBs-high-fat diet interactions as mediators of gut microbiota dysbiosis and abdominal fat accumulation in female mice. *Environ Pollut.* (2018) 239:332–41. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2018.04.001
- 101. Ley RE, Turnbaugh PJ, Klein S, Gordon JI. Microbial ecology: human gut microbes associated with obesity. *Nature* (2006) 444:1022–3. doi: 10.1038/4441022a
- Poutahidis T, Kleinewietfeld M, Smillie C, Levkovich T, Perrotta A, Bhela S, et al. Microbial reprogramming inhibits Western diet-associated obesity. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e68596. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0068596
- 103. Roselli M, Devirgiliis C, Zinno P, Guantario B, Finamore A, Rami R, et al. Impact of supplementation with a food-derived microbial community

on obesity-associated inflammation and gut microbiota composition. *Genes Nutr.* (2017) 12:25. doi: 10.1186/s12263-017-0583-1

 Hong CP, Park A, Yang BG, Yun CH, Kwak MJ, Lee GW, et al. Gut-specific delivery of T-Helper 17 cells reduces obesity and insulin resistance in mice. *Gastroenterology* (2017) 152:1998–2010. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.02.016

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Zhou and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Identifying a Novel Role for Fractalkine (CX3CL1) in Memory CD8⁺ T Cell Accumulation in the Omentum of Obesity-Associated Cancer Patients

Melissa J. Conroy¹, Stephen G. Maher¹, Ashanty M. Melo¹, Suzanne L. Doyle², Emma Foley¹, John V. Reynolds^{1,3}, Aideen Long⁴ and Joanne Lysaght^{1*}

¹ Department of Surgery, St. James's Hospital, Trinity College Dublin, Trinity Translational Medicine Institute, Dublin, Ireland, ² School of Biological Sciences, Dublin Institute of Technology, Dublin, Ireland, ³ Gastro-Intestinal Medicine and Surgery, St. James's Hospital, Dublin, Ireland, ⁴ Department of Clinical Medicine, St. James's Hospital, Trinity College Dublin, Trinity Translational Medicine Institute, Dublin, Ireland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Loretta Tuosto, Sapienza Università di Roma, Italy

Reviewed by: Krisztina Judit Kovacs,

Institute of Experimental Medicine (MTA), Hungary Koji Yasutomo, Tokushima University, Japan

> *Correspondence: Joanne Lysaght

jlysaght@tcd.ie

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 31 May 2018 Accepted: 30 July 2018 Published: 13 August 2018

Citation:

Conroy MJ, Maher SG, Melo AM, Doyle SL, Foley E, Reynolds JV, Long A and Lysaght J (2018) Identifying a Novel Role for Fractalkine (CX3CL1) in Memory CD8⁺ T Cell Accumulation in the Omentum of Obesity-Associated Cancer Patients. Front. Immunol. 9:1867. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01867 The omentum is enriched with pro-inflammatory effector memory CD8+ T cells in patients with the obesity-associated malignancy, esophagogastric adenocarcinoma (EAC) and we have identified the chemokine macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha as a key player in their active migration to this inflamed tissue. More recently, others have established that subsets of memory CD8⁺ T cells can be classified based on their surface expression of CX3CR1; the specific receptor for the inflammatory chemokine fractalkine. CD8+ T cells expressing intermediate levels (CX3CR1™) are defined as peripheral memory, those expressing the highest levels (CX3CR1^{HI}) are effector memory/ terminally differentiated and those lacking CX3CR1 (CX3CR1^{NEG}) are classified as central memory. To date, the fractalkine:CX3CR1 axis has not been examined in the context of CD8⁺ T cell enrichment in the omentum and here we examine this chemokines involvement in the accumulation of memory CD8⁺ T cells in the omentum of EAC patients. Our data show that fractalkine is significantly enriched in the omentum of EAC patients and drives migration of T cells derived from EAC patient blood. Furthermore, CX3CR1 is endocytosed specifically by CD8⁺ T cells upon encountering fractalkine, which is consistent with the significantly diminished frequencies of CX3CR1^{INT} and CX3CR1^{HI} CD8⁺ T cells in the fractalkine-rich environment of omentum in EAC, relative to matched blood. Fractalkine-mediated endocytosis of CX3CR1 by CD8+ T cells is sustained and is followed by enhanced surface expression of L-selectin (CD62L). These novel data align with our findings that circulating CX3CR1^{NEG} CD8⁺ T cells express higher levels of L-selectin than CX3CR1^{INT} CD8⁺ T cells. This is consistent with previous reports and implicates fractalkine in the conversion of CX3CR1^{INT} CD8⁺ T cells to a CX3CR1^{NEG} phenotype characterized by alterations in the migratory capacity of these T cells. For the first time, these findings identify fractalkine as a driver of T cell migration to the omentum in EAC and indicate that CD8⁺ T cells undergo sequenced fractalkine-mediated alterations in CX3CR1 and L-selectin expression. These data implicate fractalkine as more than a chemotactic cytokine in obesity-associated meta-inflammation and reveal a role for this chemokine in the maintenance of the CX3CR1^{NEG} CD8⁺ T cell populations.

Keywords: fractalkine, CX3CR1, T cells, obesity, upper gastrointestinal cancer, inflammation, adhesion, omentum

INTRODUCTION

The flexibility and multifaceted functionality of chemokines together with their involvement in multiple inflammatory diseases has ignited an interest in their potential as targets for immunotherapy (1, 2). Indeed, there has been a paradigm shift in the classification of chemokines as solely chemotactic cytokines and emerging evidence has uncovered their additional functions in the generation of effector and memory T cells and the co-stimulation of cytokine secretion by T cells (3–5). Most recently, the specific receptor for the inflammatory chemokine fractalkine, CX3CR1 has been used to classify memory CD8⁺ T cell subsets (5).

Fractalkine (CX3CL1) exists in both a soluble and transmembrane form, and plays a role in both immune cell migration and adhesion and has been implicated in multiple inflammatory diseases such as asthma, dermatitis, diabetes, and neuropathic pain (6-12). The involvement of this chemokine in several inflammatory disorders is facilitated through its induction by inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IFN- γ , and IL-1 (13). In the context of obesity, fractalkine has already been implicated in obesity-associated diseases such as diabetes and cardiovascular disease and in the chronic inflammation that precedes metabolic dysfunction; meta-inflammation (7, 8, 10, 14). Fractalkine is known to be expressed by endothelial cells and facilitates vascular recruitment and adhesion of macrophages, NK cells, and T cells, however, its expression by both the stromal vascular fraction (SVF) and the adipocyte fraction has been demonstrated in the adipose tissue (8). Most studies have focused on the role of fractalkine in macrophage-mediated adipose tissue inflammation (8, 15, 16), with previous work demonstrating a role for fractalkine in macrophage recruitment and macrophage-adipocyte adhesion in adipose tissue but, to our knowledge there are no reports of fractalkine-driven migration of T cells in obesity (8).

The omentum forms the largest component of the visceral adipose tissue (VAT) compartment and is enriched with leukocyte aggregates which liken it to the follicles of secondary lymphoid tissues and promote immune responses and inflammation (17). We have previously shown that the omentum is a hot bed of T cell-mediated inflammation in patients with esophagogastric adenocarcinoma (EAC), a malignancy that arises in a background of inflammation and importantly has one of the strongest associations with obesity of all malignancies (18). Furthermore, we have identified the macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha $(MIP-1\alpha)/CCR1$ axis as a key pathway governing T cell migration to the omentum of EAC patients and reported its therapeutic potential in the space of obesity-associated inflammation (19). However, the fractalkine pathway may present a more attractive and more specific therapeutic target in this setting as there is only one known receptor for this chemokine (CX3CR1), in contrast to the redundancy observed in other chemokine pathways (1, 20, 21). We have already demonstrated that the omentum of EAC patients is primed for fractalkine-mediated inflammation through an abundance of TNF-α-producing CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells and secreted IL-1ß and here, we address the role of fractalkine in inflammatory and cytotoxic T cell trafficking and retention in this inflamed tissue (22, 23). These questions are extremely relevant

at a time when the global obesity problem has reached epidemic proportions and shows no signs of abating (www.who.int).

For the first time, this study identifies a role for fractalkine in the recruitment of T cells to the inflamed omentum of EAC patients implicating this chemokine as a player and potential therapeutic target in pathological T cell-mediated inflammation in obesity and obesity-associated malignancies. Importantly, our data also reveal fractalkine-mediated regulation of CX3CR1 and L-selectin expression by CD8⁺ T cells, placing this inflammatory chemokine as an orchestrator of cytotoxic T cell trafficking and memory in EAC. The data generated here has ramifications for fractalkine as a therapeutic target for inflammation particularly in the context of cancer indicating that antagonism of this pathway might have consequences for L-selectin-dependent cytotoxic T cell homing to lymph nodes and anti-tumor immunity.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

Forty-seven consecutive consenting patients with EAC, attending the National Esophageal and Gastric Center at St. James's Hospital, Dublin from 2011 to 2018 were enrolled in this study. The patient cohort was similar in age and ethnicity, and 81% had received neoadjuvant chemo-radiotherapy. The patient group included 37 males and 10 females, representative of the male predominance in EAC, with an average age of 65.9 years. The mean BMI at time of surgery was 26.4 and CT-defined visceral fat area (VFA) was 126.54 cm² (**Table 1**). Control blood and omentum were taken from a group of non-cancer control patients attending St. James's Hospital, Dublin for laparoscopic cholecystectomy. All

TABLE 1 | Demographic data.

Age (range years)	65.9 (35–93)		
Sex ratio (M:F)	37:10		
Esophageal adenocarcinoma	38		
Gastric adenocarcinoma	9		
Tumor stage ^a			
ТО	4		
T1	11		
T2	8		
Т3	20		
T4	1		
Nodal status ^a			
Positive	21		
Negative	23		
Mean BMI (kg/m²) (range) ^b	26.4 (17.8–36.4)		
Underweight (BMI < 19.9)	4		
Normal weight (BMI 20–24.9)	12		
Overweight (BMI 25–29.9)	13		
Obese (BMI > 30)	14		
Mean waist circumference (cm) (range)	93.8 (68–115)		
Centrally obese by waist circumference ^c	57.75%		
Mean visceral fat area (VFA) (cm ²) (range)	126.54 (4.65–353.05)		
Viscerally obese by VFA ^d	30%		
Received Neoadjuvant CRT	81%		

^aTumor stage and nodal status was not available for three patients.

^bBMI was not available for four patients.

°Obese waist circumference \geq 94 cm for men and \geq 80 cm for women (25).

"Obese VFA >160 cm² for men and >80 cm² for women (24).

cancer patients were evaluated by a dietician. Body mass index, waist circumference, and anthropometric variables were measured as described previously (23). VFA was assessed by computer tomography as previously described, with more than 160 and 80 cm² defining visceral obesity in males and females, respectively (24). Serum C-reactive protein (CRP) levels were determined as part of routine testing at time of surgery. Metabolic syndrome was measured as per the IDF definition (25).

Ethics Approval Statement

The work was performed in accordance with The Code of Ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki) for experiments involving humans. Patients provided informed consent for sample and data acquisition and the study received full ethical approval from the St. James's Hospital Ethics Review Board. Patient samples were pseudonymized to protect the privacy rights of the patients.

Sample Preparation

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were isolated by density centrifugation using Ficoll-PaqueTM Plus (GE Healthcare, Uppsala, Sweden). Omental samples (10 g from each patient) were digested enzymatically to obtain SVF as previously described (22, 23). Adipose tissue conditioned media (ACM) was prepared as previously described (22).

Quantification of Soluble Fractalkine and CX3CR1 Levels in Serum and Omentum

The V-PLEX[™] Fractalkine plate (Meso Scale Discovery) was used to detect the levels of fractalkine in the serum and ACM of 19 EAC patients according to the manufacturer's instructions and read using an MSD Sector S600. The Human CX3CR1 ELISA Kit (ELISA Genie) was used to measure secreted CX3CR1 in the serum and ACM of 10 EAC patients and read using a VersaMax[™] ELISA microplate reader.

Examining Secreted Adhesion Molecule Levels in the Omentum of EAC Patients

The Evidence Investigator Adhesion Molecules Array (RANDOX) was used to detect the concentrations of VCAM-1, ICAM-1, L-selectin, P-selectin, and E-selectin in the ACM of five EAC patients according to the manufacturer's instructions and read using a RANDOX Evidence Investigator.

T Cell Chemotaxis Assays

To activate the T cells for chemotaxis, PBMC were prepared from the blood of five EAC patients and three non-cancer controls, and incubated with CD3/CD28 T-cell expander Dynabeads (Invitrogen) at a bead:cell ratio of 1:1. Following activation, the beads were removed and the T cells were counted and resuspended at densities of 2×10^6 cells/ml serum-free RPMI media. Chemotaxis was assessed using a 5-µm pore transwell filter system (Corning Inc., USA). Cells were added to the top chamber in a volume of 100 µl RPMI, while the bottom chamber contained 600 µl of the following; M199 media alone (negative control) or M199 media supplemented with fractalkine at a concentration of 30 ng/ml (based on the mean concentration in EAC ACM) or ACM derived from four obese and three non-obese EAC patients or ACM derived from two obese and three non-obese non-cancer controls. The assay was incubated for 2 h at 37°C before removal of the insert. The media in the bottom chambers were taken and centrifuged at 1,300 RPM for 3 min and then stained for CD3 expression. CountBright Absolute Counting Beads (Invitrogen) were used to enumerate the absolute number of CD3⁺ T cells that had migrated.

Quantification of CX3CR1 Expressing T Cells in Blood and Omentum and Phenotyping of CX3CR1^{NEG} and CX3CR1^{INT} CD8⁺ T Cell Populations

Freshly isolated PBMC and SVF were stained with monoclonal antibodies specific for human surface markers; PE-efluor-labeled CD3 and APC-eFluor780-labeled CD27 (eBioscience, Hatfield, UK), PE-Cy5.5-labeled CD4, APC-labeled ICAM-1 (CD54), V500-labeled CD45RA, and BV421-labeled CD8 (BD Biosciences, Oxford, UK), PE-Cy5-labeled L-selectin (Abcam, Cambridge, UK), and PE-labeled CX3CR1 (Miltenyi Biotec, Germany). Cells were acquired using CyAn ADP flow cytometer (Beckman Coulter) and analyzed with FlowJo software (TreeStar Inc.).

CX3CR1 Surface Expression by T Cells Following Recombinant Fractalkine Treatment

To examine the effects of fractalkine on CX3CR1 expression by CD8⁺ T cells, PBMC from 17 EAC patients were seeded in RPMI media at 1×10^6 cells/ml and treated with M199 media or 30 ng/ ml of recombinant fractalkine for 15 min, 30 min, 1 h, 2 h, and 24 h and subsequently analyzed for CX3CR1 surface expression using flow cytometry, as described above. To test whether CX3CR1 was endocytosed, PBMC from 10 EAC patients were treated with M199 media (untreated) or 30 ng/ml of recombinant fractalkine for 2 h at 4°C (cold treatment) or in the presence of 80 µM of the GTPase inhibitor dynasore (Sigma Aldrich). To examine whether CX3CR1 is recycled to the surface of CD8+ T cells following fractalkine treatment, PBMC from three donors were seeded in RPMI media at 1×10^6 cells/ml and treated with M199 media alone or 30 ng/ml of recombinant fractalkine for 2 h. Following 2 h, cells were washed and placed in fractalkine-free media for 24 and 48 h or placed in fractalkine-free media supplemented with 50 ng/ml of TNF- α or 100 ng/ml of IFN- γ , IL-6, IL-7, IL-17, IL-18, IL-15, or IL-36 or 50 U/ml of IL-2 for 24 h and subsequently analyzed for CX3CR1 surface expression using flow cytometry.

Examining CX3CR1 Protein Expression Following Treatment With Recombinant Fractalkine

CD8⁺ T cells from three healthy control subjects were isolated from PBMC using the EasySepTM Human CD8⁺ T Cell Isolation Kit (Stemcell Technologies) and subsequently seeded at a density of 1 × 10⁶ cells/ml RPMI media and treated with 30 ng/ml of fractalkine for 24 and 48 h. Flow cytometry was used to confirm reduction of CX3CR1 surface expression on a subset of treated



FIGURE 1 | Both soluble fractalkine and CX3CR1 are secreted in abundance in the omentum of esophagogastric adenocarcinoma (EAC) patients and fractalkine can drive migration of EAC patient-derived T cells. (A) Scatter plots showing the fractalkine (top) and soluble CX3CR1 levels (bottom) in paired samples of serum and adipose tissue conditioned media (ACM) from 10 to 19 EAC patients. (B) Bar charts showing significant fold change migration of peripheral blood-derived T cells from five EAC patients to M199 media supplemented with 30 ng/ml of recombinant fractalkine, relative to M199 alone negative control. (C) Bar charts showing the levels of soluble VCAM-1, ICAM-1, E-selectin, P-selectin, and L-selectin in omental adipose tissue conditioned media (ACM) from five EAC patients. (D) Bar charts showing the fractalkine levels in serum and ACM from 3 non-cancer control subjects and 20 EAC patients, from 9 non-obese and 11 obese EAC patients, and 17 EAC patients with serum C-reactive protein (CRP) <5 mg/l (low CRP) and 3 EAC patients with serum CRP >5 mg/l (high CRP). (E) Bar charts showing significant fold change migration of peripheral blood-derived T cells to ACM from three non-obese and four obese EAC patients and three non-obese and two obese non-cancer controls. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 by paired, unpaired *t* tests and one-way ANOVA with Tukey *post hoc* analysis.

and untreated cells after 24 h and the remainder of the cells were lysed. Protein was extracted using a 6 M urea lysis buffer (15 min on ice). Protein was quantified against a standard curve using the Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermofisher). Protein (60 µg per sample) was loaded onto a 10% SDS page gel and electrophoresed for 80 min. Separated protein was subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. Membrane was blocked in 0.5% Bovine Serum Albumin (in TBST) for 1.5 h at room temperature. The membrane was incubated for 1.5 h at room temperature with mouse antihuman CX3CR1 antibody (H-70) (Santa Cruz) at 1:1,000 dilution in 0.5% BSA TBST. The membrane was incubated for 1 h at room temperature with secondary antibody (goat anti-mouse IgG-HRP at 1:5,000 dilution in 0.5% BSA TBST). Bands were visualized using the West Pico chemiluminescent substrate on a gel doc. Beta-actin primary mouse anti-human at 1:10,000 dilution (Santa Cruz) was used as a loading control. Protein extract quality was confirmed visually via coomassie blue staining (10% gel, 20 µg protein per sample). CD8⁺ T cells from three control subjects were isolated from PBMC using the EasySep[™] Human CD8⁺ T Cell Isolation Kit (Stemcell Technologies) and subsequently seeded in RPMI media at 1×10^6 cells/ml and treated with 30 ng/ml of fractalkine for 24 and 48 h. Cell supernatant was collected after 24 and 48 h and the Human CX3CR1 ELISA Kit (ELISA Genie) was used to compare secreted CX3CR1 in the untreated and fractalkine-treated cells.

Assessing Integrin and Adhesion Molecule Expression Together With Memory Phenotype of CD8⁺ T Cells Following Fractalkine Treatment

To examine the effects of fractalkine on CX3CR1 expression by CD8⁺ T cells, PBMC from six EAC patients were treated with M199 media alone or M199 media supplemented with 30 ng/ml of recombinant fractalkine for 24 h and subsequently analyzed for VLA-4, LFA-1, alpha4 integrin, beta7 integrin, ICAM-1, L-selectin, CD45RA, and CD27 surface expression using flow cytometry, as described above.

Statistical Analyses

Statistical analysis was carried out using Prism GraphPad Version 5.0. Differences between groups were assessed using two-tailed paired, Wilcoxon sign-rank test, unpaired non-parametric Mann–Whitney *U* tests, and one-way ANOVA with Tukey *post hoc* analysis where appropriate. Significant associations between fractalkine, CX3CR1, and clinical parameters were investigated using Spearman's rank-order correlation test. *p* Values of <0.05 were considered to be significant.

RESULTS

Significantly High Levels of Soluble Fractalkine in the Omentum of EAC Patients Can Drive Migration of EAC Patient-Derived T Cells

Secreted fractalkine was quantified by MSD V-Plex ELISA in the matched serum and omental adipose tissue conditioned media

(ACM) of 19 EAC patients revealing that levels of this chemokine were significantly higher in ACM (mean: 23.66 ng/ml) compared to serum (mean: 10.56 ng/ml) (p < 0.001, Figure 1A). Soluble CX3CR1 ELISA revealed that the soluble form of the fractalkine receptor was also significantly abundant in the ACM of 10 EAC patients, compared to matched serum suggesting that the fractalkine receptor can be shed in the omental microenvironment (mean: 18.1 versus 9.3 ng/ml, p < 0.01, Figure 1A). To confirm whether T cells respond and migrate toward fractalkine-elicited chemotactic signals in EAC, patient-derived T cell chemotaxis to 30 ng/ml of fractalkine was measured using a transwell system. Significantly higher fold-levels of T cell migration toward recombinant fractalkine, compared to serum-free M199 media were observed supporting our hypothesis of fractalkine-driven T cell migration to omentum in EAC (M199 versus fractalkine fold change: 1 versus 2.456, p < 0.05, Figure 1B). An adhesion molecule array was used to screen omentum-derived ACM from five EAC patients for soluble adhesion molecules and ICAM-1 and L-selectin were shown to be most abundant, indicative of the adhesive properties of the omental microenvironment (Figure 1C). Secreted fractalkine levels were significantly higher in omentum compared to matched serum regardless of patient obesity status and interestingly, there were significantly higher levels of soluble fractalkine in the omentum of EAC patients with elevated serum CRP, i.e., >5 mg/l compared to those with lower serum CRP, i.e., <5 mg/l (mean: 65.8 versus 13.87 ng/ml, p < 0.05) (Figure 1D; Table 2). Furthermore, our data show significant levels of T cell migration to ACM in both non-cancer and EAC patients, irrespective of obesity status (Figure 1E).

Low Frequencies of CX3CR1⁺ CD8⁺ T Cells in the Omentum of EAC Patients Are due to Significantly Diminished Frequencies of Both the CX3CR1^{INT} and CX3CR1^{HI} Subsets of CD8⁺ T Cells

The frequencies of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells expressing the chemokine receptor CX3CR1 were examined in the blood and omentum of a total of 24 EAC patients by flow cytometry. Our results identified significantly higher frequencies of CX3CR1⁺ CD8⁺ T cells in the circulation compared to their CD8⁺ counterparts in omentum (blood versus omentum mean: 48.87 versus 23.64%, p = 0.0002, **Figure 2A**) and compared to proportions of

TABLE 2 | Correlations of CX3CL1 levels and frequencies of CX3CR1^{NEG} expressing T cells with waist circumference, visceral fat area (VFA), and body mass index.

<i>R</i> ² values for correlations of CX3CR1 and the following measurements	Waist circumference <i>R</i> ² value	VFA R ² value	Body mass index <i>R</i> ² value	
Serum CX3CL1	0.028	0.058	0.119	
Omental CX3CL1	0.003	0.126	0.134	
Peripheral CX3CR1+ CD4+ T cells	-0.15	0.008	-0.054	
Omental CX3CR1 ⁺ CD4 ⁺ T cells	0.193	0.159	0.036074	
Peripheral CX3CR1+ CD8+ T cells	-0.298	-0.216	-0.164	
Omental CX3CR1+ CD8+ T cells	0.464	0.044	0.073	



FIGURE 2 | Frequencies of CX3CR1⁺ CD8⁺ T cells are significantly lower in omentum of esophagogastric adenocarcinoma (EAC) patients compared to frequencies of both peripheral blood CX3CR1⁺ CD8⁺ T cells and CX3CR1⁺ CD4⁺ T cells. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells and stromal vascular fraction of omentum were isolated from EAC patients. **(A)** Scatterplots show the frequencies of CX3CR1⁺ CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells in the blood and omentum of a total of 24 EAC patients. **(B)** Representative dot plots of CX3CR1⁺ CD8⁺ and CX3CR1⁺ CD4⁺ T cells (gated on and shown as a percentage of total CD3⁺ population) in blood and omentum. **(C)** Bar chart showing the frequencies of CD8⁺ cells expressing no CX3CR1 (CX3CR1^{NEG}), intermediate (CX3CR1^{NTI}), and high levels of CX3CR1 (CX3CR1^{NEG}), intermediate levels of CX3CR1 (CX3CR1^{NEG}), intermediate levels of CX3CR1 (CX3CR1^{NTI}), and high levels of CX3CR1 (CX3CR1^{NEI}) in the blood (white) and omentum (black) of 24 EAC patients. **(D)** Representative dot plot of circulating CD8⁺ T cells expressing no CX3CR1 (CX3CR1^{NEI}), intermediate levels of CX3CR1 (CX3CR1^{NEI}), and high levels of CX3CR1 (CX3CR1^{NEI}), and high levels of CX3CR1 (CX3CR1^{NEI}) in the blood and omentum of 8 non-cancer control subjects and 24 EAC patients (left) and 14 non-obese and 10 obese EAC patients (right). **p* < 0.05, **p* < 0.01, ****p* < 0.001 by paired and unpaired *t* tests.

circulating CX3CR1⁺ CD4⁺ T cells (mean: 14.48%, p < 0.0001, Figure 2A). These differences were paralleled by substantially but not significantly higher frequencies of CX3CR1⁺ CD4⁺ T cells in EAC omentum (mean: 30.76%, Figures 2A,B) compared to blood. Further analysis revealed that the diminished numbers of CX3CR1+ CD8+ T cells within the omentum were due to significantly lower frequencies of CD8⁺ T cells expressing both intermediate and high levels of CX3CR1 and significantly higher frequencies of CX3CR1^{NEG} populations in omentum, compared to blood (blood versus omentum mean of CX3CR1^{NEG}: 60.24 versus 81.03%, p < 0.01, CX3CR1^{INT}: 36.34 versus 18.25%, p < 0.01, CX3CR1^{HI}: 3.41 versus 0.72%, p < 0.05, **Figure 2C**). The highest proportions of circulating CX3CR1⁺ cells were identified within the CX3CR1^{INT} CD8⁺ T cell population (Figures 2C,D). While such observations in CX3CR1 expression by T cells were consistent among obese and non-obese EAC patients, there were significantly higher frequencies of CX3CR1+ CD8+ T cells in the circulation of non-cancer controls, compared to EAC patients (non-cancer versus EAC: 70.33 versus 48.87%, *p* < 0.05, Figure 2E; Table 2).

CX3CR1 Expression by Peripheral Blood but Not Omental CD8⁺ T Cells Is Significantly Diminished Following Treatment With Recombinant Fractalkine

To ascertain why enrichments of CX3CR1⁺ CD4⁺ T cells were detected in the omentum, while highest frequencies of CX3CR1⁺ CD8⁺ T cells were detected in the circulation, we assessed whether

CX3CR1⁺ CD8⁺ T cells convert to CX3CR1^{NEG} CD8⁺ T cells upon encountering their ligand, which is secreted in abundance in the omental microenvironment. Blood-derived T cells from 17 EAC patients were treated with M199 media or recombinant fractalkine for 2 h to simulate the effects of the high fractalkine levels in the omental microenvironment. Flow cytometric analysis revealed that surface expression of CX3CR1 was significantly decreased on peripheral blood CD8+ but not CD4+ T cells or omental CD8+ T cells following 2 h treatment with recombinant fractalkine (untreated versus treated CD8⁺ T cells: 52.2 versus 4.238, p = 0.0001, Figures 3A,B). Further analysis revealed that CX3CR1 expression by peripheral blood CD8+ T cells is reduced between 15 and 30 min post-treatment with most significant reductions observed at 2 and 24 h post-treatment (Figure 3C, p < 0.001). Fractalkine treatments performed at a temperature of 4°C or in combination with treatment of 80 µM dynasore, a GTPase inhibitor, demonstrated significantly reduced efficacy to decrease CX3CR1 expression on CD8+ T cells thus confirming that the observed reductions were due to endocytosis (Figure 4A).

CX3CR1 Internalization by CD8⁺ T Cells Is Sustained Following Treatment With Recombinant Fractalkine and the Receptor Is Not Degraded or Recycled to the Cell Surface

Surface expression of CX3CR1 by CD8⁺ T cells was not restored when 2 h treatment with fractalkine was followed by culture







FIGURE 4 | CX3CR1 is endocytosed following fractalkine treatment and is not subsequently recycled to the surface of CD8⁺ T cells or secreted but, intracellular accumulations of the protein are detectable. **(A)** Frequencies of CX3CR1⁺ cells, as a percentage of CD8⁺ T cells following treatment with M199 media alone (NT), 30 ng/ml recombinant fractalkine alone (treatment alone), 30 ng/ml recombinant fractalkine at 4°C and 30 ng/ml recombinant fractalkine plus 80 µM Dynasore (n = 10). **(B)** Bar chart showing frequencies of CX3CR1⁺ cells, as a percentage of CD8⁺ T cells following treatment with M199 media alone (NT) or 30 ng/ml of recombinant fractalkine, light gray dot pattern) followed by removal from a fractalkine-free environment for 24 h (fractalkine, dark gray no pattern) or 48 h (fractalkine, light gray no pattern) (n = 6). **(C)** Bar chart showing frequencies of CX3CR1⁺ cells, as a percentage of CD8⁺ T cells following treatment with M199 media alone (NT) or 30 ng/ml of recombinant fractalkine for 24 h (fractalkine, light gray no pattern) or 48 h (fractalkine, light gray no pattern) (n = 6). **(C)** Bar chart showing frequencies of CX3CR1⁺ cells, as a percentage of CD8⁺ T cells following treatment with M199 media alone (NT) or 30 ng/ml of recombinant fractalkine for 24 h (fractalkine, light gray dot pattern) followed by removal from a fractalkine-free environment for 24 h and treatment with 50 ng/ml of TNF- α , 100 ng/ml of IFN- γ , IL-17, IL-6, IL-7, IL-15, IL-18, IL-36, and 50 U/ml of IL-2 (n = 3). **(D)** Western Blot (left) showing CX3CR1 and beta-actin protein in peripheral blood-derived CD8⁺ T cells from three donors following 24 h of no treatment (N1, N2, and N3) or fractalkine treatment (F1, F2, and F3) and densitometry data (right) from this western blot displayed as fold change bar chart. **(E)** Soluble CX3CR1 levels in the supernatant of peripheral blood mononuclear cells treated with M199 alone or fractalkine for 24 or 48 h (n = 3). *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01 by paired *t*

in fractalkine-free media for 24 and 48 h, suggesting that the receptor is not recycled to the surface following endocytosis (**Figure 4B**). Stimulation with 50 ng/ml of TNF- α or 100 ng/ml of IFN- γ , IL-6, IL-7, IL-17, IL-18, IL-15, or IL-36 or 50 U/ml of IL-2 for 24 h following removal of fractalkine, did not induce recycling of CX3CR1 to the surface of CD8⁺ T cells (**Figure 4C**). Western blot revealed that there are consistent accumulations of CX3CR1 protein levels in CD8⁺ T cells following 24 h fractalkine treatment compared to untreated CD8⁺ T cells demonstrating that the receptor is not degraded following fractalkine-mediated endocytosis (**Figure 4D**). Furthermore, ELISA revealed that the levels of CX3CR1 shed by T cells are not increased following 24 or 48 h of fractalkine treatment (**Figure 4E**).

CX3CR1^{NEG} and CX3CR1^{INT} Populations of CD8⁺ T Cells in the Peripheral Blood Have Significantly Different Memory Phenotype and Adhesion Molecule Expression

Since the CX3CR1⁺ compartments of CD8⁺ T cells were predominantly CX3CR1^{INT} and this subpopulation has been shown to have the potential to convert to CX3CR1^{NEG} CD8⁺ T cells, we focused our phenotypical comparisons between this subset and the CX3CR1^{NEG} CD8⁺ T cell subset [Figure 2C; (5)]. Significant differences in memory phenotype were identified between the CX3CR1^{NEG} and CX3CR1^{INT} CD8⁺ T cells based on their CD45RA and CD27 surface expression using the Dieli scheme; terminally differentiated (CD45RA+CD27-), naive (CD45RA+CD27+), effector memory (CD45RA-CD27-), and central memory (CD45RA⁻CD27⁺) (26). Our data revealed that circulating CX3CR1^{INT} CD8⁺ T cells were significantly different to CX3CR1^{NEG} CD8⁺ T cells in memory phenotype; CX3CR1^{INT} CD8⁺ T cells were predominantly central memory and effector memory phenotype while CX3CR1^{NEG} CD8⁺ T cells contained more naive and terminally differentiated cells (Figure 5A, central memory: p = 0.0001, effector memory: p < 0.05, naive: p = 0.001, terminally differentiated: p = 0.002). These phenotypical differences were attributable to significantly lower CD45RA surface expression and significantly higher CD27 surface expression within the CX3CR1^{INT} CD8+ T cell population (CX3CR1^{INT} versus CX3CR1^{NEG} CD45RA: 27.2 versus 96.4%, *p* < 0.001, CD27, 94.9 versus 68.8%, *p* < 0.05, Figure 5B). To elucidate whether our data compared to previous reports of lower L-selectin surface expression within CX3CR1 $^{\mbox{\scriptsize INT}}$ T cell population, we examined the expression of L-selectin and

ICAM-1 on circulating CX3CR1^{NEG} and CX3CR1^{INT} CD8⁺ T cells (5). Our data revealed significantly lower frequencies of ICAM-1⁺ and L-selectin⁺ cells within the CX3CR1^{INT} CD8⁺ T cell population compared to their CX3CR1^{NEG} counterparts, indicating differential migratory and adhesive properties of these subsets (CX3CR1^{NEG} versus CX3CR1^{INT} ICAM-1: 68.4 versus 47.1%, p = 0.02, L-selectin: 60.4 versus 35.4%, p = 0.02, **Figure 5C**).

Increased L-Selectin Surface Expression Follows Fractalkine-Mediated CX3CR1 Endocytosis on CD8⁺ T Cells

To simulate the high fractalkine levels in the omental microenvironment and examine whether this affects adhesion molecule expression and memory phenotype; fractalkine treatment of peripheral blood T cells from three donors was performed for 24 h. Fractalkine treatment induced a significant increase in surface expression of L-selectin but not ICAM-1 on CD8⁺ T cells following 24 h, indicating that it alters their adhesiveness and lymphoid tissue homing capacity (L-selectin: 24.6 versus 35.5%, p < 0.05, **Figure 6A**). Fractalkine treatment had no significant effects on ICAM-1, LFA-1, VLA-4, or integrin alpha4 and beta7 surface expression or memory phenotype of CD8⁺ T cells defined by CD45RA and CD27 expression (**Figures 6B–D**). In data not shown, 24 h fractalkine treatment had no significant effects on pro-inflammatory cytokine production by the CD8⁺ T cells.

DISCUSSION

High Levels of Soluble Fractalkine in Omentum Can Drive T Cell Migration and May Represent a Hallmark of Meta-Inflammation in Obesity-Associated Cancer Patients

For the first time, this study has revealed significantly high levels of soluble fractalkine in the omental adipose tissue conditioned media (ACM) derived from patients with the obesity-associated cancer EAC. This is in line with previous observations of fractalkine enrichment in VAT (8). Known inducers of fractalkine include the inflammatory cytokines IFN- γ , TNF- α , and IL-1 β (13). Such an abundance of fractalkine was unsurprising as we have reported enrichments of IFN- γ and TNF- α producing T cells together with secreted IL-1 β in



phenotypes, L-selectin, and ICAM-1 expression. (A) Bar charts showing the frequencies of naive, central memory, effector memory, and terminally differentiated CD8+ T cells, characterized by CD45RA and CD27 expression within the CX3CR1^{NEG} and CX3CR1^{NET} populations in peripheral blood of six non-cancer controls. (B) Bar chart showing frequencies of peripheral blood-derived CD8+ T cells expressing CD45RA (top) and CD27 (bottom) within CX3CR1^{NEG} and CX3CR1^{NT} populations (n = 3). (C) Bar chart showing frequencies of peripheral blood-derived CD8+ T cells ICAM-1 and L-selectin within CX3CR1^{NEG} and CX3CR1^{INT} populations (n = 3). p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 by unpaired *t* tests.

the omentum of EAC patients (13, 22, 23). Interestingly, significantly higher fractalkine levels were observed in the patients with highest serum CRP levels, which is indicative of its role in meta-inflammation and in line with previous reports of the circulating levels of CRP and fractalkine in metabolic dysfunction (7, 27). However, this is the first reported association of high fractalkine in the omentum and high serum CRP in obesityassociated cancer. Soluble fractalkine levels were significantly high in both obese and non-obese omentum in both cancer and non-cancer subjects. Furthermore, soluble cues from both obese and non-obese and both cancer and non-cancer omental microenvironments drove T cell migration suggesting that this tissue is a rich source of this chemokine and recruits significant numbers of T cells, regardless of obesity status. Interestingly, while fractalkine was secreted in abundance in the omentum and could drive *in vitro* EAC-derived T cell migration, this was not paralleled by high frequencies of T cells expressing its specific receptor in this tissue. In fact, the highest proportions of CX3CR1^{INT} cells were identified in circulating CD8⁺ T cell populations and not the omentum. Such frequencies were still significantly lower than CD8⁺ T cell frequencies in non-cancer controls suggesting that the fractalkine:CX3CR1 axis might be perturbed by malignancy in this study cohort. Together with our previously reported data, our investigations suggest that fractalkine together with MIP-1 α in the omentum recruit inflammatory T cells to this tissue in EAC, most likely



FIGURE 6 | The fractalkine-mediated CX3CR1^{N/T} to CX3CR1^{N/EG} conversion of CD8⁺ T cells is followed by enhanced L-selectin expression. (**A**) Bar charts showing frequencies of peripheral blood-derived CD8⁺ T cells expressing L-selectin (top) and ICAM-1 (bottom) following treatment with M199 media alone (untreated, black) or 30 ng/ml of recombinant fractalkine for 24 h (fractalkine, white pattern) (n = 6). (**B**) Bar chart (top) showing frequencies of peripheral blood-derived CD8⁺ T cells expressing alpha4 and beta7 integrins following treatment with M199 media alone (untreated, black) or 30 ng/ml of recombinant fractalkine for 24 h (fractalkine, white pattern) (n = 6). (**B**) Bar chart (bottom) showing frequencies of peripheral blood-derived CD8⁺ T cells expressing LFA-1 and VLA-4 following treatment with M199 media alone (untreated, black) or 30 ng/ml of recombinant fractalkine for 24 h (fractalkine, white pattern) (n = 6). (**C**) Bar chart showing the frequencies of total CD45RA⁺ and CD27⁺ populations of CD8⁺ T cells following treatment with M199 media alone (untreated, black) or 30 ng/ml of recombinant fractalkine for 24 h (fractalkine, white pattern) (n = 6). (**D**) Bar chart showing the frequencies of naive, effector memory, central memory, and terminally differentiated CD8⁺ T cells, characterized by CD45RA and CD27 expression following treatment with M199 media alone (untreated, black) or 30 ng/ml of recombinant fractalkine for 24 h (fractalkine, white pattern) (n = 6). (**P**) Bar chart showing the frequencies of naive, effector memory, central memory, and terminally differentiated CD8⁺ T cells, characterized by CD45RA and CD27 expression following treatment with M199 media alone (untreated, black) or 30 ng/ml of recombinant fractalkine for 24 h (fractalkine, white pattern) (n = 6). *p < 0.05 by paired *t* tests.

contributing to the pathological adipose tissue inflammation at the expense of effective anti-tumor immunity (19). As other studies have shown that fractalkine serves distinctive roles in different inflammatory diseases such as diabetes, dermatitis, asthma, and neuropathic pain, we propose that it may also serve functions additional to T cell chemotaxis in the omentum of EAC patients (8, 11, 12, 28).

Diminished Frequencies of CX3CR1⁺ CD8⁺ T Cells and Increased Frequencies of CX3CR1^{NEG} CD8⁺ T Cells in Omentum Are Indicative of Fractalkine-Mediated CX3CR1^{INT} to CX3CR1^{NEG} Conversion

Our data reveal significantly higher proportions of CX3CR1^{HI} and CX3CR1^{INT} CD8⁺ T cells in the peripheral blood of EAC patients and significantly diminished frequencies in the omentum. CX3CR1^{HI} and CX3CR1^{INT} CD8⁺ T cells represent two of three distinct memory CD8+ T cell subsets which have recently been defined by their CX3CR1 expression (5). This classification includes a central memory CX3CR1^{NEG} population that expresses higher levels of L-selectin and is more prevalent in the lymphoid tissue, a CX3CR1^{INT} population that expresses lower levels of L-selectin and circulates between the peripheral tissue and the blood, and a CX3CR1^{HI} population that lacks L-selectin and the migratory capacity of the other populations and is predominantly effector memory/terminally differentiated in phenotype (5). CX3CR1^{INT} CD8⁺ T cells have been described as peripheral memory T cells (5). They undergo more homeostatic divisions than any other memory subset to maintain self-renewal and can also convert to CX3CR1^{NEG} to feed the central memory pool of CD8⁺ T cells (5). However, the trigger or mediators for such transition have not been previously identified. To date, few studies have looked at the tissue localization of CX3CR1+ CD8+ T cell populations with recent reports of their migration to lymph nodes, spleen, bone marrow, lung, and liver in murine models of viral infection (5, 29). Here, treatment of peripheral blood CD8⁺ T cells with the CX3CR1 ligand fractalkine resulted in significant reduction in their CX3CR1 surface expression and thus expanded the CX3CR1^{NEG} pool of CD8⁺ T cells. Due to the abundance of fractalkine in the omentum and due to previous reports that CX3CR1^{INT} CD8⁺ T cells can replenish the CX3CR1^{NEG} CD8⁺ T cell pool, we propose that fractalkine recruits circulating T cells to omentum and subsequently mediates the conversion from CX3CR1^{INT} CD8⁺ T cells to CX3CR1^{NEG} CD8⁺ T cells, thus implicating the omentum as a key site in the accumulation of the memory CD8⁺ T cell pool in EAC and potentially other conditions. While CX3CR1 is the specific receptor for fractalkine, it must be noted that Eotaxin-3 (CCL26) has been identified as a functional chemoattractant for CX3CR1⁺ CD8⁺ T cells (30). However, our data have revealed that EAC omentum is not an abundant source of Eotaxin-3 (data not shown), compared to chemokines such as MIP-1 α and fractalkine thus reducing the likelihood of this chemokine governing CX3CR1+ CD8+ T cell trafficking to omentum in EAC.

Fractalkine Mediates CX3CR1^{INT} to CX3CR1^{NEG} Conversion in Peripheral Blood-Derived CD8⁺ T Cells *via* Receptor Endocytosis

CX3CR1 has recently been identified as a marker of CD8⁺ T cell memory during viral infection in murine models but the role if any of fractalkine in the differentiation of such T cells has not been described (5). Here, a significant decrease in CX3CR1 surface expression following fractalkine treatment was observed in the CD8⁺ T cell compartment in the peripheral blood but not in the T cell populations containing lower levels of CX3CR1 expression; circulating CD4⁺ T cells or omental CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells. Such cell type- and compartment-specific cell surface regulation of a chemokine receptor is not unique to CX3CR1 and similar findings have been reported with CXCR4 (31). Indeed, the internalization of CXCR4 facilitated its association with the T cell receptor and enhanced co-stimulation of cytokine production by T cells thus emphasizing the multifaceted functions of chemokines in immunity (3). Further work performed in this study has revealed that the reduction in CX3CR1 expression is due to endocytosis in line with previous reports on macrophages in sepsis patients (32). To our knowledge, this is the first report of CX3CR1 endocytosis on CD8+ T cells following ligand binding and implicates fractalkine as master regulator of CX3CR1^{INT} to CX3CR1^{NEG} conversion. Such endocytosis is not followed by CX3CR1 recycling to surface within 48 h of ligand binding even when fractalkine is removed. Furthermore, fractalkine-mediated endocytosis of its receptor does not lead to increased levels of CX3CR1 shedding. In fact, our western blot data show that the protein accumulates within the cell and stimulation with an array of inflammatory cytokines simulating the soluble cues of an inflammatory microenvironment could not trigger its recycling to the cell surface. These data suggest that fractalkine elicits significant and long-lasting changes in CD8⁺ T cells, which may culminate in their retention in the omentum.

Enhanced L-Selectin Expression by Peripheral Blood-Derived CD8⁺ T Cells Following Fractalkine-Mediated Conversion From a CX3CR1^{INT} to a CX3CR1^{NEG} Phenotype

An abundance of soluble ICAM-1 and L-selectin levels were detected in the omentum-derived ACM of EAC patients, suggesting their shedding by cells in this inflamed tissue and may be indicative of their role in immune cell arrest and retention in the VAT. Significant higher frequencies of ICAM-1⁺ and L-selectin⁺ cells within the CX3CR1^{NEG} CD8⁺ T cell population are also reported here. Since CX3CR1^{NEG} CD8⁺ T cells are the predominant subset within the omentum, our data suggest that such cells have altered adhesive and migratory properties and this may serve a function in retention within the omentum. Interestingly, our data also revealed significantly different memory phenotypes between the peripheral blood CX3CR1^{NEG} and CX3CR1^{INT} CD8⁺ T cell subsets and such characteristics

Fractalkine-Mediated Regulation of CX3CR1

have been previously described together with differences in their migratory properties and those of CX3CR1^{HI} CD8⁺ T cells (5). Others have shown that CX3CR1^{INT} CD8⁺ T cells in mice can increase their L-selectin expression and convert to CX3CR1NEG CD8⁺ T cells, unlike CX3CR1^{HI} CD8⁺ T cells (5). For the first time, we identify fractalkine as a mediator of increased L-selectin expression by peripheral blood CD8+ T cells following their fractalkine-mediated conversion from a CX3CR1^{INT} to CX3CR1^{NEG} phenotype and we propose that these sequenced alterations occur in the fractalkine-rich environment of the omentum changing the migratory properties of CD8⁺ T cells in EAC. While soluble fractalkine induces changes in L-selectin surface expression, that of ICAM-1, VLA-4, LFA-1, alpha-4, and beta-integrin together with memory phenotype are unchanged. Contrary to ICAM-1 expression being highest within the CX3CR1NEG CD8+ T cell population in blood, these data reveal that fractalkine-mediated conversion of CX3CR1^{INT} to CX3CR1^{NEG} CD8⁺ T cells is not accompanied by an increase in ICAM-1 expression and this event may be mediated by another soluble factor. These data identify a novel role for fractalkine in the alteration of migratory and lymphoid tissue homing capacity of CD8⁺ T cells and align with previous reports of fractalkine and CX3CR1 regulating immune cell responses via distinct disease-dependent mechanisms (28, 32). For instance, this chemokine axis promotes T cell survival in asthma, while it promotes T cell retention in inflamed skin in dermatitis and plays a role in immune paralysis in sepsis (11, 28, 32). However, for the first time, this study identifies fractalkine as a player in T cell recruitment to omentum and a master regulator of CX3CR1 expression, CX3CR1^{INT} to CX3CR1^{NEG} conversion and L-selectin expression. Together with our previously published data, we propose that such alterations change the fate of CD8⁺ T cell trafficking and CD8⁺ T cell-mediated immunity in EAC and may lead to their retention in the fractalkine-rich omentum where they contribute to pathological inflammation to the detriment of effective anti-tumor immunity.

CONCLUSION

Fractalkine-driven migration of T cells to omentum in EAC is likely to contribute to the CD8⁺ T cell-mediated adipose tissue inflammation previously demonstrated in these patients (22, 23). In pilot data not shown, we have also found lower levels of soluble fractalkine in tumor compared to omentum in our patient cohort. Since the fractalkine:CX3CR1 pathway has been shown to have a

REFERENCES

- Horuk R. Chemokine receptor antagonists: overcoming developmental hurdles. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2009) 8:23–33. doi:10.1038/nrd2734
- Lazennec G, Richmond A. Chemokines and chemokine receptors: new insights into cancer-related inflammation. *Trends Mol Med* (2010) 16:133–44. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2010.01.003
- Kumar A, Humphreys TD, Kremer KN, Bramati PS, Bradfield L, Edgar CE, et al. CXCR4 physically associates with the T cell receptor to signal in T cells. *Immunity* (2006) 25:213–24. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.06.015
- Groom JR, Luster AD. CXCR3 in T cell function. *Exp Cell Res* (2011) 317:620–31. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2010.12.017

selective bias for cytotoxic lymphocytes such as CD8⁺ T cells and NK cells, the preferential migration of CD8⁺ T cells to omentum over tumor might be detrimental for anti-tumor immunity in EAC and other obesity-associated cancers (33). Antagonizing the CX3CR1:fractalkine pathway might attenuate CD8⁺ T cellmediated inflammation in the omentum but secondary to this it might prevent the CX3CR1^{INT} to CX3CR1^{NEG} conversion and disrupt frequencies and migration of peripheral and central memory CD8⁺ T cells, which would also be detrimental to anti-tumor immunity. Therefore, our findings place fractalkine as more than a chemotactic cytokine driving T cell-mediated inflammation in EAC. Further in vivo work will be necessary to elucidate the consequences of blocking this pathway in obesity-associated cancer. These novel data advance our knowledge on the multifaceted functionality of fractalkine and may inform T cell therapies and chemokine-targeted therapies in the future.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MC obtained Irish Research Council funding; performed the acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of data; drafted and finalized the manuscript; completed the statistical analysis; and drove study concept and design. SM performed the acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of data. SD acquired data. AM, EF, and JR provided material support. AL provided technical support and performed a critical revision of the manuscript for intellectual content. JL obtained Health Research Board funding and provided technical and material support, drove study concept and design, and performed a critical revision of the manuscript for intellectual content.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank all of the patients and staff at the esophageal unit at St. James's Hospital for their participation in this study.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the Irish Research Council Award GOIPD/2015/272, Health Research Board of Ireland Health Research Award HRA_POR/2011/91, and CROSS (Cancer Research of the Oesophagus and Stomach at S. James's Hospital) (Charity Number: CHY389874).

- Gerlach C, Moseman EA, Loughhead SM, Alvarez D, Zwijnenburg AJ, Waanders L, et al. The chemokine receptor CX3CR1 defines three antigen-experienced CD8 T cell subsets with distinct roles in immune surveillance and homeostasis. *Immunity* (2016) 45:1270-84. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.10.018
- Souza GR, Talbot J, Lotufo CM, Cunha FQ, Cunha TM, Ferreira SH. Fractalkine mediates inflammatory pain through activation of satellite glial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110:11193–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1307 445110
- Xueyao Y, Saifei Z, Dan Y, Qianqian P, Xuehong D, Jiaqiang Z, et al. Circulating fractalkine levels predict the development of the metabolic syndrome. *Int J Endocrinol* (2014) 2014:715148. doi:10.1155/2014/715148

- Shah R, Hinkle CC, Ferguson JF, Mehta NN, Li M, Qu L, et al. Fractalkine is a novel human adipochemokine associated with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* (2011) 60:1512–8. doi:10.2337/db10-0956
- Dorgham K, Ghadiri A, Hermand P, Rodero M, Poupel L, Iga M, et al. An engineered CX3CR1 antagonist endowed with anti-inflammatory activity. *J Leukoc Biol* (2009) 86:903–11. doi:10.1189/jlb.0308158
- Morari J, Anhe GF, Nascimento LF, de Moura RF, Razolli D, Solon C, et al. Fractalkine (CX3CL1) is involved in the early activation of hypothalamic inflammation in experimental obesity. *Diabetes* (2014) 63:3770–84. doi:10.2337/db13-1495
- Mionnet C, Buatois V, Kanda A, Milcent V, Fleury S, Lair D, et al. CX3CR1 is required for airway inflammation by promoting T helper cell survival and maintenance in inflamed lung. *Nat Med* (2010) 16:1305–12. doi:10.1038/ nm.2253
- Staniland AA, Clark AK, Wodarski R, Sasso O, Maione F, d'Acquisto F, et al. Reduced inflammatory and neuropathic pain and decreased spinal microglial response in fractalkine receptor (CX3CR1) knockout mice. *J Neurochem* (2010) 114:1143–57. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2010.06837.x
- Cefalu WT. Fractalkine: a cellular link between adipose tissue inflammation and vascular pathologies. *Diabetes* (2011) 60:1380–2. doi:10.2337/ db11-0239
- Ikejima H, Imanishi T, Tsujioka H, Kashiwagi M, Kuroi A, Tanimoto T, et al. Upregulation of fractalkine and its receptor, CX3CR1, is associated with coronary plaque rupture in patients with unstable angina pectoris. *Circ J* (2010) 74:337–45. doi:10.1253/circj.CJ-09-0484
- Morris DL, Oatmen KE, Wang T, Delproposto JL, Lumeng CN. CX3CR1 deficiency does not influence trafficking of adipose tissue macrophages in mice with diet-induced obesity. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* (2012) 20:1189–99. doi:10.1038/oby.2012.7
- Polyak A, Winkler Z, Kuti D, Ferenczi S, Kovacs KJ. Brown adipose tissue in obesity: fractalkine-receptor dependent immune cell recruitment affects metabolic-related gene expression. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2016) 1861:1614–22. doi:10.1016/j.bbalip.2016.07.002
- Meza-Perez S, Randall TD. Immunological functions of the omentum. *Trends Immunol* (2017) 38:526–36. doi:10.1016/j.it.2017.03.002
- Renehan AG, Tyson M, Egger M, Heller RF, Zwahlen M. Body-mass index and incidence of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. *Lancet* (2008) 371:569–78. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(08)60269-X
- Conroy MJ, Galvin KC, Kavanagh ME, Mongan AM, Doyle SL, Gilmartin N, et al. CCR1 antagonism attenuates T cell trafficking to omentum and liver in obesity-associated cancer. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2016) 94:531–7. doi:10.1038/ icb.2016.26
- Schall TJ, Proudfoot AE. Overcoming hurdles in developing successful drugs targeting chemokine receptors. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2011) 11:355–63. doi:10.1038/nri2972
- D'Haese JG, Friess H, Ceyhan GO. Therapeutic potential of the chemokine-receptor duo fractalkine/CX3CR1: an update. *Expert Opin Ther Targets* (2012) 16:613–8. doi:10.1517/14728222.2012.682574
- Conroy MJ, Galvin KC, Doyle SL, Kavanagh ME, Mongan AM, Cannon A, et al. Parallel profiles of inflammatory and effector memory T cells in visceral fat and liver of obesity-associated cancer patients. *Inflammation* (2016) 39:1729–36. doi:10.1007/s10753-016-0407-2

- Lysaght J, Allott EH, Donohoe CL, Howard JM, Pidgeon GP, Reynolds JV. Tlymphocyte activation in visceral adipose tissue of patients with oesophageal adenocarcinoma. *Br J Surg* (2011) 98:964–74. doi:10.1002/bjs.7498
- Doyle SL, Bennett AM, Donohoe CL, Mongan AM, Howard JM, Lithander FE, et al. Establishing computed tomography-defined visceral fat area thresholds for use in obesity-related cancer research. *Nutr Res* (2013) 33:171–9. doi:10.1016/j.nutres.2012.12.007
- Alberti KG, Zimmet P, Shaw J. Metabolic syndrome a new world-wide definition. A Consensus Statement from the International Diabetes Federation. *Diabet Med* (2006) 23:469–80. doi:10.1111/j.1464-5491. 2006.01858.x
- Dieli F, Poccia F, Lipp M, Sireci G, Caccamo N, di Sano C, et al. Differentiation of effector/memory Vdelta2 T cells and migratory routes in lymph nodes or inflammatory sites. *J Exp Med* (2003) 198:391–7. doi:10.1084/jem.20030235
- 27. Sindhu S, Akhter N, Arefanian H, Al-Roub AA, Ali S, Wilson A, et al. Increased circulatory levels of fractalkine (CX3CL1) are associated with inflammatory chemokines and cytokines in individuals with type-2 diabetes. *J Diabetes Metab Disord* (2017) 16:15. doi:10.1186/s40200-017-0297-3
- Staumont-Salle D, Fleury S, Lazzari A, Molendi-Coste O, Hornez N, Lavogiez C, et al. CX(3)CL1 (fractalkine) and its receptor CX(3)CR1 regulate atopic dermatitis by controlling effector T cell retention in inflamed skin. *J Exp Med* (2014) 211:1185–96. doi:10.1084/jem.20121350
- Bottcher JP, Beyer M, Meissner F, Abdullah Z, Sander J, Hochst B, et al. Functional classification of memory CD8(+) T cells by CX3CR1 expression. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:8306. doi:10.1038/ncomms9306
- Nakayama T, Watanabe Y, Oiso N, Higuchi T, Shigeta A, Mizuguchi N, et al. Eotaxin-3/CC chemokine ligand 26 is a functional ligand for CX3CR1. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:6472–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0904126
- Clift IC, Bamidele AO, Rodriguez-Ramirez C, Kremer KN, Hedin KE. beta-Arrestin1 and distinct CXCR4 structures are required for stromal derived factor-1 to downregulate CXCR4 cell-surface levels in neuroblastoma. *Mol Pharmacol* (2014) 85:542–52. doi:10.1124/mol.113.089714
- Ge XY, Fang SP, Zhou M, Luo J, Wei J, Wen XP, et al. TLR4-dependent internalization of CX3CR1 aggravates sepsis-induced immunoparalysis. *Am J Transl Res* (2016) 8:5696–705.
- Nishimura M, Umehara H, Nakayama T, Yoneda O, Hieshima K, Kakizaki M, et al. Dual functions of fractalkine/CX3C ligand 1 in trafficking of perforin+/granzyme B+ cytotoxic effector lymphocytes that are defined by CX3CR1 expression. *J Immunol* (2002) 168:6173–80. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.12.6173

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Conroy, Maher, Melo, Doyle, Foley, Reynolds, Long and Lysaght. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

